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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2015-06-12 | Complaint | JA1-JA31
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Douglas

McEachern I JA32-JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Ellen Cotter I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Guy Adams I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Margaret Cotter I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - RDI I JA42-JA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — Timothy Storey I JA44-JA45
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — William Gould I JA46-JA47
2015-08-10 | Motion to Dismiss Complaint I JA48-JA104
2015-08-20 | Reading International, Inc.

("RDI")'s Joinder to Margaret

Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas

McEachern, Guy Adams, & I JA105-JA108

Edward Kane ("Individual

Defendants") Motion to Dismiss

Complaint
2015-08-28 | T2 Iflamtlffs Ver1f1€3d Shareholder I JA109-JA126

Derivative Complaint
2015-08-31 | RDI's Motion to Compel

Arbitration ! JA127-JA148
2015-09-03 In.dw}dual Defer}dants Motion to I JA149-JA237

Dismiss Complaint
2015-10-06 | Transcript of 9-10-15 Hearing on

Defendants' Motion to Dismiss &

Plaintiff Cotter Jr. ("Cotter Jr.")'s L1 JA238-JA256

Motion for Preliminary Injunction
2015-10-12 | Order Denying RDI's Motion to

Compel Arbitration 11 JA257-]A259
2015-10-19 8rder Rgz Motion to Dismiss I JA260-JA262

omplaint

2015-10-22 | First Amended Verified Complaint I JA263-JA312
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order

Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial
Conference and Calendar Call

II

JA313-JA316
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-02-12 | T2 Plamjaffs First Amended 1 JA317-JA355
Complaint
2016-02-23 | Transcript of 2-18-16 Hearing on
Motion to Compel & Motion to II JA356-JA374
File Document Under Seal
2016-03-14 | Individual Defendants' Answer to
Cotter's First Amended Complaint Il JA375-JA396
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to Cotter, Jr.'s First
Amended Complaint 11 JA397-JA418
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to T2 Plaintiffs' First
Amended Complaint 11 JA419-JA438
2016-04-05 | Codding and Wrotniak's Answer
to T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended IT JA439-JA462
Complaint
2016-06-21 | Stipulation and Order to Amend
Deadlines in Scheduling Order Il JA463-JA468
2016-06-23 | Transcript of 6-21-16 Hearing on
Defendants' Motion to Compel & IT JA469-]A493
Motion to Disqualify T2 Plaintiffs
2016-08-11 | Transcript of 8-9-16 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, Motion to IL I | JA494-JASIS
Compel & Motion to Amend
2016-09-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended
Verified Complaint 1 JAS19-JAS75
2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould III, 1V,
(”Gould”)'s MS] V, VI ]A576']A1400
2016-09-23 | MIL to Exclude Expert Testimony
of Steele, Duarte-Silva, Spitz, VI JA1401-JA1485
Nagy, & Finnerty
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA1486-JA2216
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1)
Sy . O VI, VII, (FILED
R Pt Temnation | VIf X | UNDER sEat
JA2136A-D)

MS]J No. 1)




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2)
Re: The Issue of Director

Independence ("Partial MSJ No. 2")

IX, X

JA2217-TA2489

(FILED
UNDER SEAL
JA2489A-HH)

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Purported Unsolicited Offer
("Partial MSJ No. 3")

X, XI

JA2490-JA2583

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Executive Committee ("Partial MSJ
No. 4")

XI

JA2584-JA2689

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5)
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the
Appointment of Ellen Cotter as
CEOQO ("Partial MSJ No. 5")

XI, XII

JA2690-JA2860

2016-09-23

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6)
Re Plaintiff's Claims Re Estate's
Option Exercise, Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, Compensation
Packages of Ellen Cotter and
Margaret Cotter, and related
claims Additional Compensation
to Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams ("Partial MSJ No. 6")

XII, XIII,
XIV

JA2861-JA3336

2016-09-23

Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment ("MPS]")

X1V, XV

JA3337-JA3697

2016-10-03

Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
to Compel Production of
Documents & Communications Re
the Advice of Counsel Defense

XV

JA3698-JA3700




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAIL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-03 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion to

Permit Certain Discovery re XV JA3701-JA3703

Recent "Offer"
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to MIL to Exclude XV JA3704-JA3706

Expert Testimony
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Partial-MSJ No. 1 XV JA3707-JA3717
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 2 XV JA3718-JA3739
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 3 JA3740-JA3746
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 4 JA3747-JA3799
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV

Defendants' Partial MS] No. 5 JA3800-JA3805
2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV, XVI )

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 6 JA3806-JA3814
2016-10-13 | Individual Defendants' Opposition XVI )

to Cotter Jr.'s MPSJ JA3815-]JA3920
2016-10-13 | RDI's Joinder to Individual

Defendants' Opposition to Cotter XVI JA3921-JA4014

Jr.'s MPS]
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's XVI JA4015-JA4051

MS]J
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVI, )

MSJ No. 1 XVII JA4052-JA4083
2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial E

MS]J No. 2 XVII | JA4084-JA4111
2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial )

MS] No. 6 XVII | JA4112-JA4142
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4143-JA4311

ISO Opposition to Individual XVII (FILED

Defendants Partial MS] No. 1 XVIII UNDER SEAL

JA4151A-C)




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits

ISO Opposition to Individual XVII | JA4312-JA4457

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits i

ISO Opposition to Gould's MSJ] XVIL | JA4458-JA4517
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO

of Partial MSJ No. 1 XVIII | JA4518-JA4549
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XVIII,

Partial MS] No. 2 Xix_ | JA4550-JA4567
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 XIX JA4568-JA4577
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual )

Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2 XIX JA4578-JA4588
2019-10-21 | RDI's Consolidated Reply ISO

Individual Defendants' Partial MS] XIX JA4589-JA4603

Nos.3,4,5& 6
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Gould's MSJ XIX JA4604-]A4609
2016-10-21 | Gould's Reply ISO MSJ XIX JA4610-JA4635
2016-10-21 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's

Reply ISO MS] XIX JA4636-]A4677
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO

Partial MS] Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 XIX | JA4678-JA4724
2016-10-26 | Individual Defendants' Objections

to Declaration of Cotter, Jr.

Submitted in Opposition to Partial XIX JA4725JA4735

MSJs
2016-11-01 g/}‘ar}scrlpt of 10-27-16 Hearing on XIX, XX | JA4736-JA4890

otions

2016-12-20 | RDI's Answer to Cotter Jr.'s

Second Amended Complaint XX JA4891-JA4916
2016-12-21 | Order Re Individual Defendants'

Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to XX JA4917-]A4920

Exclude Expert Testimony
2016-12-22 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Partial

MS]J Nos. 1-6 and MIL to Exclude XX JA4921-JA4927

Expert Testimony
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2017-10-04

First Amended Order Setting Civil
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference,
and Calendar Call

XX

JA4928-JA4931

2017-10-11

Individual Defendants' Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing Re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4932-JA4974

2017-10-17

Gould's Joinder to Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4975-JA4977

2017-10-18

RDI's Joinder to Motion for
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

XX

JA4978-JA4980

2017-11-09

Individual Defendants'
Supplement to Partial MSJ Nos. 1,
2,3,5,and 6

XX

JA4981-JA5024

2017-11-21

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Supplement to Partial
MSJ Nos. 1,2,3,5 &6

XX

JA5025-JA5027

2017-11-27

Transcript of 11-20-17 Hearing on

Motion for Evidentiary Hearing re
Cotter Jr.'s Adequacy & Motion to
Seal

XX

JA5028-JA5047

2017-11-28

Individual Defendants' Answer to
Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended
Complaint

XX, XXI

JA5048-JA5077

2017-12-01

Gould's Request For Hearing on
Previously-Filed MS]J

XXI

JA5078-JA5093

2017-12-01

Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 1 &
2 & Gould MSJ

XXI

JA5094-JA5107

2017-12-01

Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to
Partial MSJ] Nos. 1 & 2 & Gould
MSJ

XXI

JA5108-JA5118




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MS]J Nos. 2 & XXI JA5119-JA5134
5 & Gould MS]J
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to )
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 5 & Gould XXL 1 JAS135-JA5252
MSJ
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & XXI JA5253-JA5264
6 & Gould MSJ
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to )
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 6 & Gould XXT | JA5265-]A5299
MSJ
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental XXI
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 2 & XXIi JA5300-JA5320
3 & Gould MSJ
2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to R
So-Called MSJ Nos. 2 & 3 & Gould XXII JA5321-JA5509
MSJ
2017-12-04 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO
Renewed Partial MSJ Nos. 1 & 2 XXIL | JA5510-JA5537
2017-12-04 Sfoltl/[lgj s Supplemental Reply ISO XXII | JA5538-JA5554
2017-12-05 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's XXII,
Supplemental Reply ISO MSJ xxi | JA5955JA5685
2017-12-08 | Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum XXIII | JA5686-JA5717
2017-12-11 | Transcript of 12-11-2017 Hearing
on [Partial] MS]Js, MILs, and Pre- XXIIT | JA5718-JA5792
Trial Conference
2017-12-19 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration of Ruling on XXIII
Partial MSJ Nos. 1, 2 & 3 and XXTV JA5793-JA5909

Gould's MSJ on OST ("Motion for
Reconsideration")




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX

Date

Description

Vol. #

Page Nos.

2017-12-26

Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion For
Reconsideration

XXIV

JA5910-JA5981

2017-12-27

Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration

XXIV

JA5982-JA5986

2017-12-27

Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's
Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Reconsideration

XXV,
XXV

JA5987-JA6064

2017-12-28

Order Re Individual Defendants'
Partial MSJs, Gould's MSJ, and
MILs

XXV

JA6065-JA6071

2017-12-28

Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Stay on OST

XXV

JA6072-TA6080

2017-12-29

Notice of Entry of Order Re
Individual Defendants' Partial
MS]Js, Gould's MSJ, and MIL

XXV

JA6081-JA6091

2017-12-29

Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay on OST

XXV

JA6092-JA6106

2017-12-29

Transcript of 12-28-17 Hearing on
Motion for Reconsideration and
Motion for Stay

XXV

JA6107-JA6131

2018-01-02

Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6132-JA6139

2018-01-03

RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6140-JA6152

2018-01-03

RDI's Errata to Joinder to
Individual Defendants' Opposition
to Motion for Rule 54(b)
Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6153-JA6161

2018-01-03

RDI's Motion to Dismiss for
Failure to Show Demand Futility

XXV

JA6162-JA6170

2018-01-03

Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay

XXV

JA6171-]S6178




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-01-04 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Rule 54(b) Certification XXV | JA6179-]A6181
2018-01-04 | Notice of Entry of Order Granting
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV | JA6182-JA6188
Certification
2018-01-04 | Order Denying Cotter Jr.'s Motion
for Reconsideration and Stay XXV | JA6189-JA6191
2018-01-04 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA6192-]A6224
for Judgment as a Matter of Law (FILED
XXV | UNDER SEAL
JA6224A-F)
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to XXV | JA6225-JA6228
Show Demand Futility
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to
Defendants' Motion for Judgment XXV | JA6229-JA6238
as a Matter of Law
2018-01-05 | Declaration of Krum ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Opposition to Motion for XXV | JA6239-JA6244
Judgment as a Matter of Law
2018-01-05 | Transcript of 1-4-18 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV | JA6245-JA6263
Certification
2018-01-08 | Transcript of Hearing on Demand
Futility Motion and Motion for XXV | JA6264-JA6280
Judgment
2018-01-10 | Transcript of Proceedings of 01-8-
18 Jury Trial-Day 1 XXV | JA6281-JA6294
2018-02-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXV | JA6295-JA6297
2018-04-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel XXV,
(Gould) XXVI JA6298-JA6431
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-04-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Omnibus JA6432-JA6561

Relief on OST

XXVL | i rR AL
XXVII
JA6350A;
JA6513A-C)

2018-04-24 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s

Motion to Compel XXVII | JA6562-]A6568
2018-04-24 | Gould's Declaration ISO

Opposition to Motion to Compel XXVIL | JA6569-JA6571
2018-04-24 | Bannett's Declaration ISO Gould's

Opposition to Motion to Compel XXVIL | JA6572-JA6581
2018-04-27 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion to

Compel (Gould) XXVII | JA6582-]A6599
2018-04-27 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter's

Motion for Omnibus Relief XXVIL | JA6600-]A6698
2018-05-03 | Transcript of 4-30-18 Hearing on

Motions to Compel & Seal XXVIL | JA6699-JA6723
2018-05-04 | Second Amended Order Setting

Jury Trial, Pre-trial Conference, XXVII | JA6724-JA6726

and Calendar Call
2018-05-07 | Transcript of 5-2-18 Hearing on XXVII,

Evidentiary Hearing XXVIIl | 1A6727-JA6815
2018-05-11 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's

Motion for Leave to File Motion XXVIIL | JA6816-JA6937
2018-05-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXVIII

to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX ” | JA6938-JA7078

Expert Fee Payments on OST
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Motion

to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX | JA7079-JA7087

Expert Fee Payments
2018-05-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Pre-

Trial Memo XXIX | JA7088-JA7135
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Pre-Trial Memo XXIX | JA7136-JA7157
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-05-24 | Transcript of 05-21-18 Hearing on
Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXIX | JA7158-JA7172
to Compel
2018-06-01 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion
for Summary Judgment XXIX | JA7173-JA7221
("Ratification MSJ")
2018-06-08 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel on XXIX,
OST XXX, |JA7222-JA7568
XXXI
2018-06-12 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Relief Based
on Noncompliance with Court's
May 2, 2018 Rulings on OST XXXL | JA7569-]A7607
("Motion for Relief")
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to
Ratification MS] XXXI | JA7608-JA7797
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXXI,
Demand Futility Motion xxxi | JA7798-]A7840
2018-06-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Reply
ISO of Ratification MS] XXXIL | JA7841-]A7874
2018-06-18 | RDI's Combined Opposition to
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXII | JA7875-JA7927
Motion for Relief
2018-06-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Combined Opposition to XXXII,
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & xxxi | JA7928-JA8295
Motion for Relief
2018-06-18 | Gould's Joinder to RDI's
Combined Opposition to Cotter
Jr.'s Motion to Compel & Motion XXXIL | JA8296-JA8301
for Relief
2018-06-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for XXXIII,
Relief Re: 05-02-18 Rulings xxx1y | JA8302-]A8342
2018-06-20 | Transcript of 06-19-18 Omnibus
Hearing on discovery motions and | XXXIV | JA8343-JA8394

Ratification MSJ

12




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-07-12 | Order Granting In Part Cotter Jr.'s
Motion to Compel (Gould) & XXXIV | JA8395-JA8397
Motion for Relief
2018-07-12 | Order Granting in Part Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Omnibus Relief & XXXIV | JA8398-JA8400
Motion to Compel
2018-08-14 | Findings of Fact and Conclusions XXXIV | JA8401-JA8411
of Law and Judgment
2018-08-16 | Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law and XXXIV | JA8412-JA8425
Judgment
2018-08-24 | Memorandum of Costs submitted
by RDI for itself & the director XXXIV | JA8426-JA8446
defendants
2018-08-24 | RDI's Appendix of Exhibits to XXXIV,
Memorandum of Costs XXXV, | JA8447-JA8906
XXXVI
2018-09-05 | Notice of Entry of SAO Re Process
for Filing Motion for Attorney's XXXVI | JA8907-JA8914
Fees
2018-09-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs XXXVI | JA8915-JA9018
2018-09-07 | RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees XXXVI,
y Vi | JA9019-JA9101
2018-09-12 Egloi Motion for Judgment in Its XXXVII | JA9102-JA9107
2018-09-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXXVII | JA9108-JA9110
2018-09-14 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion fc? Retax Costs XXXVIL | JA91T1-JA9219
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix ISO Opposition to | XXXVII,
Motion to Retax ("Appendix") Part | XXXVIII, | JA9220-JA9592
1 XXXIX
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 2 XXXIX, | JA9593-
XL, XLI | JA10063
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 3 XLI, JA10064-
XLIL - A 10801
XLIII
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 4 XLIII, | JA10802-
XLIV | JA10898
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix Part 5 XLIV, |JA10899-
XLV | JA11270
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 6 XLV, |JA11271-
XLVI | JA11475
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 7 XLVI,
XLVII, |JA11476-
XLVII, |JA12496
XLIX, L
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 8 JA12497-
L, LI, LII TA12893
2018-09-14 | Suggestion of Death of Gould LI JA12894-
Upon the Record ’ JA12896
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply to RDI's Opp'n to LI JA12897-
Motion to Retax Costs JA12921
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA12922-
ISO Reply to RDI's Opposition to LII, LIII JA13112
Motion to Retax Costs
2018-10-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's LI JA13113-
Motion for Judgment in its Favor JA13125
2018-10-02 | Transcript of 10-01-18 Hearing on LI JA13126-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs JA13150
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Letter to Court LI JA13151-
Objecting to Proposed Order JA13156
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Errata to Letter to JA13157-
Court Objecting to Proposed LIII JA13162
Order
2018-11-06 | Order Granting in Part Motion to JA13163-
Retax Costs & Entering Judgment LIII JA13167
for Costs ('Cost Judgment")
2018-11-06 | Notice of Entry of Order of Cost LI JA13168-
Judgment JA13174
2018-11-16 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LI JA13175-
Attorneys' Fees JA13178
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS

FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

CHRONOILOGICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-11-06 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LIII JA13179-
Judgment in Its Favor JA13182

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying LI JA13183-
RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees JA13190

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying JA13191-
RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its LIII JA13198
Favor

2018-11-26 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13199-
Cost Judgment, for Limited Stay of JA13207
Execution on OST

2018-11-30 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration and LI JA13208-
Response to Motion for Limited JA13212
Stay of Execution on OST

2018-11-30 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s JA13213-
Motion for Reconsideration and LIII JA13215
Response to Motion for Limited
Stay of Execution

2018-12-06 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13216-
Judgment for Costs and for JA13219
Limited Stay

2018-12-06 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal from LI JA13220-
Cost Judgment JA13222

2018-12-07 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Reconsideration & LIII JA13223-
Amendment of Cost Judgment JA13229
and for Limited Stay

2018-12-14 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Posting Cost LI JA13230-
Bond on Appeal JA13232
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-06-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Combined Opposition to XXXII, | JA7928-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXIII | JA8295
Motion for Relief
2018-11-30 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Joinder
to RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s JA13213-
Motion for Reconsideration and LIII JA13215
Response to Motion for Limited
Stay of Execution
2018-01-04 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA6192-
for Judgment as a Matter of Law JA6224
FILED
XXV | (NDER
SEAL
JA6224A-F)
2018-06-01 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion JA7173-
for Summary Judgment XXIX JA7221
("Ratification MSJ")
2018-05-15 | Adams and Cotter gisters' Motion XXVIIL, | JA6938-
to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX | JA7078
Expert Fee Payments on OST
2018-05-18 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Pre- XXIX JA7088-
Trial Memo JA7135
2018-06-15 | Adams and Cotter sisters' Reply xxxqp | JA7841-
ISO of Ratification MS] JA7874
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Douglas
McEachern 5 I JA32-]JA33
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Edward Kane I JA34-JA35
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - Ellen Cotter I JA36-JA37
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS - Guy Adams I JA38-JA39
2015-06-18 | Amended AQS - Margaret Cotter I JA40-JA41
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS - RDI | JA42-JA43
2015-06-18 | Amended AQOS — Timothy Storey I JA44-JA45
2015-06-18 | Amended AOS — William Gould I JA46-JA47
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-04-24 | Bannett's Declaration ISO Gould's XXVII JA6572-
Opposition to Motion to Compel JA6581
2016-04-05 | Codding and Wrotniak's Answer JA439-
to T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended II JA462
Complaint
2015-06-12 | Complaint I JA1-JA31
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits XVIII JA4458-
ISO Opposition to Gould's MSJ JA4517
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4143-
ISO Opposition to Individual JA4311
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 XVIL (FILED
XVIII UNDER
SEAL
JA4151A-C)
2016-10-17 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA4312-
ISO Opposition to Individual XVIII JA4457
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 2
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Appendix of Exhibits JA12922-
ISO Reply to RDI's Opposition to LII, LIII JA13112
Motion to Retax Costs
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Errata to Letter to JA13157-
Court Objecting to Proposed LIIT JA13162
Order
2018-11-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Letter to Court LI JA13151-
Objecting to Proposed Order JA13156
2018-04-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Omnibus JA6432-
Relief on OST JA6561
(FILED
Xxvii | UNDER
JA6350A;
JA6513A-C)
2016-09-23 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial XIV. XV JA3337-
Summary Judgment ("MPS]") ’ JA3697
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2018-11-26 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13199-
Cost Judgment, for Limited Stay of JA13207
Execution on OST
2017-12-19 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration of Ruling on
Partial MS] Nos. 1,2 & 3 and >><(>><<111\1/ }ﬁgggg'
Gould's MSJ on OST ("Motion for
Reconsideration")
2018-06-12 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Relief Based
on Noncompliance with Court's xxx| | JA7569-
May 2, 2018 Rulings on OST JA7607
("Motion for Relief")
2017-12-29 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6092-
Certification and Stay on OST JA6106
2018-04-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel XXV, | JA6298-
(Gould) XXVI | JA6431
2018-06-08 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel on XXIX, JA7222-
OST XXX, JA7568
XXXI
2018-09-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs XXXV] }ﬁgg%g—
2017-12-28 | Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Stay on OST XXV JA6072-
JA6080
2018-02-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXV JA6295-
JA6297
2018-09-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal XXXVII }ﬁg%(l)g-
2018-12-06 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Appeal from LI JA13220-
Cost Judgment JA13222
2018-12-14 | Cotter Jr.'s Notice of Posting Cost LI JA13230-
Bond on Appeal JA13232
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to JA6229-
Defendants' Motion for Judgment XXV JA6238

as a Matter of Law
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Gould's XVI JA4015-
MSJ JA4051
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Motion JA7079-
to Compel Production of Docs re XXIX A7087
Expert Fee Payments J
2016-10-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVI, | JA4052-
MSJ No. 1 XVII | JA4083
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to xxx] | JA7608-
Ratification MSJ JA7797
2018-06-13 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXXI, | JA7798-
Demand Futility Motion XXXII | JA7840
2018-10-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's LI JA13113-
Motion for Judgment in its Favor JA13125
2018-05-11 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's XXVIII JA6816-
Motion for Leave to File Motion JA6937
2018-01-05 | Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to RDI's JA6225-
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to XXV JA6228
Show Demand Futility
2018-05-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Pre-Trial Memo XXIX JA7136-
JA7157
2018-06-18 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for XXXIII, | JA8302-
Relief Re: 05-02-18 Rulings XXXIV | JA8342
2018-01-03 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion for xxy |JA6171-
Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay ]S6178
2018-04-27 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply ISO Motion to XXVII JA6582-
Compel (Gould) JA6599
2018-09-24 | Cotter Jr.'s Reply to RDI's Opp'n to LI JA12897-
Motion to Retax Costs JA12921
2016-09-02 | Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended 10 JA519-
Verified Complaint JA575
2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental A5094
Opposition to Partial MS] Nos. 1 & XXI } A51 07-

2 & Gould MS]J
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental
Opposition topIEartial MSJ Nos. 2 & ;8(% }ﬁgggg_
3 & Gould MS]

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental JA5119-
Opposition to Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & XXI JA5134
5 & Gould MS]

2017-12-01 | Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental JA5253-
Opposition to Partial MS]J Nos. 2 & XXI JA5264
6 & Gould MSJ

2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial xvi | 1A4084-
MSJ No. 2 JA4111

2016-10-13 | Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Partial XVII JA4112-
MSJ No. 6 JA4142

2017-12-27 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's
?ppositior} to Cotter Jr.'s Motion >§(>§R,/’ }ﬁgggi_

or Reconsideration

2016-10-21 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's XIX JA4636-
Reply ISO MSJ JA4677

2017-12-05 | Declaration of Bannett ISO Gould's | XXII, | JA5555-
Supplemental Reply ISO MSJ XXHII | JA5685

2018-01-05 | Declaration of Krum ISO Cotter JA6239-
Jr.'s Opposition to Motion for XXV JA6244
Judgment as a Matter of Law

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5108-
Partial MSJ Nos. 1 & 2 & Gould JA5118
MS]

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5135-
Partial MS] Nos. 2 & 5 & Gould JA5252
MSJ

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to XXI JA5265-
Partial MSJ Nos. 2 & 6 & Gould JA5299

MS]

20




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-01 | Declaration of Levin ISO Cotter
Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to xxp | JAS321-
So-Called MSJ Nos. 2 & 3 & Gould JA5509
MSJ

2016-09-23 | Defendant William Gould I, IV, | JA576-
("Gould")'s MSJ V, VI | JA1400

2018-08-14 | Findings of Fact and Conclusions xxx1y | JA8401-
of Law and Judgment JA8411

2017-10-04 | First Amended Order Setting Civil JA4928-
Jury Trial, Pre-Trial Conference, XX JA4931
and Calendar Call

2015-10-22 | First Amended Verified Complaint I JA263-

JA312

2018-04-24 | Gould's Declaration ISO XXV JA6569-
Opposition to Motion to Compel JA6571

2017-10-17 | Gould's Joinder to Motion for JA4975-
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4977
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff

2018-06-18 | Gould's Joinder to RDI's
Combined Opposition to Cotter xxxirp | JA8296-
Jr.'s Motion to Compel & Motion JA8301
for Relief

2017-12-27 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXIV JAS5982-
Motion for Reconsideration JA5986

2018-04-24 | Gould's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXVII JA6562-
Motion to Compel JA6568

2016-10-21 | Gould's Reply ISO MS] XIX JA4610-

JA4635

2017-12-01 | Gould's Request For Hearing on XXI JA5078-
Previously-Filed MS]J JA5093

2017-12-04 | Gould's Supplemental Reply ISO xxqp | JAS538-
of MSJ JA5554

2017-11-28 | Individual Defendants' Answer to JA5048-
Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended XX, XXI JA5077

Complaint
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-03-14 | Individual Defendants' Answer to I JA375-
Cotter's First Amended Complaint JA396
2017-10-11 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA4932-
Evidentiary Hearing Re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4974
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA1486-
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1) JA2216
Re: Plaintiff's Termination and VI VII (FILED
Reinstatement Claims ("Partial VIIL IX UNDER
JA2136A-D)
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for JA2217-
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) JA2489
Re: The Issue of Director (FILED
Independence ("Partial MSJ No. 2") IX, X UNDER
SEAL
JA2489A-
HH)
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) JA2490-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the X, XI JA2583
Purported Unsolicited Offer
("Partial MSJ No. 3")
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4) JA2584-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the XI JTA2689
Executive Committee ("Partial MS]
No. 4")
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5) JA2690-
On Plaintiff's Claims Related to the | XI, XII JTA2860

Appointment of Ellen Cotter as

CEO ('"Partial MSJ No. 5")

22




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2016-09-23 | Individual Defendants' Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6)
Re Plaintiff's Claims Re Estate's
Option Exercise, Appointment of
Margaret Cotter, Compensation XII, XIII, | JA2861-
Packages of Ellen Cotter and XIV JA3336
Margaret Cotter, and related
claims Additional Compensation
to Margaret Cotter and Guy
Adams ("Partial MSJ No. 6")
2015-09-03 | Individual Defendants' Motion to I JA149-
Dismiss Complaint JA237
2016-10-26 | Individual Defendants' Objections
to Declaration of Cotter, Jr. XIX JA4725-
Submitted in Opposition to Partial JA4735
MSJs
2017-12-26 | Individual Defendants' Opposition JA5910-
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion For XXIV
Reconsideration JAS981
2018-01-02 | Individual Defendants' Opposition JA6132-
to Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) | XXV JA6139
Certification and Stay
2016-10-13 | Individual Defendants' Opposition XVI | JA3815-
to Cotter Jr.'s MPSJ JA3920
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO v | JA4518-
of Partial MSJ No. 1 JA4549
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XVIII, | JA4550-
Partial MSJ No. 2 XIX JA4567
2016-10-21 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO JA4678-
Partial MSJ Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 XIX JA4724
2017-12-04 | Individual Defendants' Reply ISO XXII JA5510-
Renewed Partial MS] Nos. 1 & 2 JA5537
2017-11-09 | Individual Defendants' JA4981-
Supplement to Partial MS] Nos. 1, XX JA5024

2,3,5,and 6
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-08 | Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum XXIII JA5686-
JA5717

2018-08-24 | Memorandum of Costs submitted JA8426-
by RDI for itself & the director XXXIV JTA8446
defendants

2016-09-23 | MIL to Exclude Expert Testimony JA1401-
of Steele, Duarte-Silva, Spitz, VI JA1485
Nagy, & Finnerty

2015-08-10 | Motion to Dismiss Complaint I JA48-JA104

2018-08-16 | Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law and XXXIV JA8412-
Judgment JA8425

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying LI JA13183-
RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees JA13190

2018-11-20 | Notice of Entry of Order Denying JA13191-
RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its LIII JA13198
Favor

2018-01-04 | Notice of Entry of Order Granting JA6182-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6188
Certification

2018-11-06 | Notice of Entry of Order of Cost LI JA13168-
Judgment JA13174

2018-12-07 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Cotter
Jr.'s Motion for Reconsideration & LI JA13223-
Amendment of Cost Judgment JA13229
and for Limited Stay

2017-12-29 | Notice of Entry of Order Re JA6081-
Individual Defendants' Partial XXV JA6091
MSJs, Gould's MS]J, and MIL

2016-12-22 | Notice of Entry of Order Re Partial JA4921-
MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to Exclude XX JA4927
Expert Testimony

2018-09-05 | Notice of Entry of SAO Re Process JA8907-
for Filing Motion for Attorney's XXXVI JA8914

Fees
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-01-04 | Order Denying Cotter Jr.'s Motion XXV JA6189-
for Reconsideration and Stay JA6191

2018-11-16 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LIII JA13175-
Attorneys' Fees JA13178

2018-11-06 | Order Denying RDI's Motion for LI JA13179-
Judgment in Its Favor JA13182

2015-10-12 | Order Denying RDI's Motion to I JA257-
Compel Arbitration JA259

2018-01-04 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion xxy | 1A6179-
for Rule 54(b) Certification JA6181

2016-10-03 | Order Granting Cotter Jr.'s Motion
to Compel Production of XV JA3698-
Documents & Communications Re JA3700
the Advice of Counsel Defense

2018-07-12 | Order Granting in Part Cotter Jr.'s JA8398-
Motion for Omnibus Relief & XXXIV JA8400
Motion to Compel

2018-07-12 | Order Granting In Part Cotter Jr.'s JA8395-
Motion to Compel (Gould) & XXXIV JA8397
Motion for Relief

2018-11-06 | Order Granting in Part Motion to JA13163-
Retax Costs & Entering Judgment LIII JA13167
for Costs ("Cost Judgment")

2018-12-06 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion for
Reconsideration & Amendment of LI JA13216-
Judgment for Costs and for JA13219
Limited Stay

2016-10-03 | Order Re Cotter Jr.'s Motion to JA3701-
Permit Certain Discovery re XV JA3703
Recent "Offer"

2016-12-21 | Order Re Individual Defendants' JA4917-
Partial MSJ Nos. 1-6 and MIL to XX JA4920

Exclude Expert Testimony
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-12-28 | Order Re Individual Defendants' JA6065-
Partial MSJs, Gould's MS]J, and XXV JA6071
MILs
2015-10-19 | Order Re Motion to Dismiss I JA260-
Complaint JA262
2016-12-20 | RDI's Answer to Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4891-
Second Amended Complaint JA4916
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to Cotter, Jr.'s First I JA397-
Amended Complaint JA418
2016-03-29 | RDI's Answer to T2 Plaintiffs' First 1 JA419-
Amended Complaint JA438
2018-08-24 | RDI's Appendix of Exhibits to XXXV, JA8447-
Memorandum of Costs XXXV, JA8906
XXXVI
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix ISO Opposition to | XXXVII, JA9220-
Motion to Retax ("Appendix") Part | XXXVIII JA9592
1 , XXXIX
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 2 XXXIX, |JA9593-
XL, XLI | JA10063
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 3 XLI, JA10064-
XLII,
LI JA10801
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 4 XLIII, |JA10802-
XLIV | JA10898
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix Part 5 XLIV, |JA10899-
XLV |[JA11270
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 6 XLV, JA11271-
XLVI [ JA11475
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 7 XLVI,
XLVII, |JA11476-
XLVIII, |JA12496
XLIX, L
2018-09-14 | RDI's Appendix, Part 8 JA12497-
PP L, LL LI | 1215893

26




JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-06-18 | RDI's Combined Opposition to JA7875-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel & XXXII JA7927
Motion for Relief

2019-10-21 | RDI's Consolidated Reply ISO JA4589-
Individual Defendants' Partial MSJ XIX JA4603
Nos.3,4,5&6

2018-01-03 | RDI's Errata to Joinder to
Individual Defendants' Opposition xxy | JA6153-
to Motion for Rule 54(b) JA6161
Certification and Stay

2016-10-13 | RDI's Joinder to Individual JA3921-
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter XVI JA4014
Jr.'s MPSJ

2018-01-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual
Defendants' Opposition to Cotter xxy |JA6140-
Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) JA6152
Certification and Stay

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3707-
Defendants' Partial-MSJ No. 1 JA3717

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3718-
Defendants' Partial MSJ] No. 2 JA3739

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3740-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 3 JA3746

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3747-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 4 JA3799

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV JA3800-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 5 JA3805

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to Individual XV, XVI | JA3806-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 6 JA3814

2017-11-21 | RDI's Joinder to Individual JA5025-
Defendants' Supplement to Partial XX JA5027
MSJ Nos. 1,2,3,5&6

2016-10-03 | RDI's Joinder to MIL to Exclude XV JA3704-
Expert Testimony JA3706
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX
Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.
2017-10-18 | RDI's Joinder to Motion for JA4978-
Evidentiary Hearing re Cotter Jr.'s XX JA4980
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff
2018-09-07 | RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees XXXVI, [JA9019-
XXXVII | JA9101
2018-09-12 | RDI's Motion for Judgment in Its JA9102-
Favor 5 XXXVIL 749107
2015-08-31 | RDI's Motion to Compel I JA127-
Arbitration JA148
2018-01-03 | RDI's Motion to Dismiss for XXV JA6162-
Failure to Show Demand Futility JA6170
2018-11-30 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s
Motion for Reconsideration and LI JA13208-
Response to Motion for Limited JA13212
Stay of Execution on OST
2018-09-14 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter Jr.'s XXXVII JA9111-
Motion to Retax Costs JA9219
2018-04-27 | RDI's Opposition to Cotter's xxvyp | 1A6600-
Motion for Omnibus Relief JA6698
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Gould's MS] XIX JA4604-
JA4609
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual XIX JA4568-
Defendants' Partial MSJ No. 1 JA4577
2016-10-21 | RDI's Reply ISO Individual XIX JA4578-
Defendants' Partial MSJ] No. 2 JA4588
2015-08-20 | Reading International, Inc.
("RDI")'s Joinder to Margaret
Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas JA105-
McEachern, Guy Adams, & I JA108
Edward Kane ("Individual
Defendants") Motion to Dismiss
Complaint
2015-11-10 | Scheduling Order and Order JA313-
Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial II JA316

Conference and Calendar Call
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JOINT APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEFS
FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2018-05-04 | Second Amended Order Setting JA6724-
Jury Trial, Pre-trial Conference, XXVII JA6726
and Calendar Call

2016-06-21 | Stipulation and Order to Amend I JA463-
Deadlines in Scheduling Order JA468

2018-09-14 | Suggestion of Death of Gould LI JA12894-
Upon the Record ’ JA12896

2016-02-12 | T2 Plaintiffs' First Amended I JA317-
Complaint JA355

2015-08-28 | T2 Plaintiffs' Verified Shareholder I JA109-
Derivative Complaint JA126

2015-10-06 | Transcript of 9-10-15 Hearing on
Defendants' Motion to Dismiss & L1 JA238-
Plaintiff Cotter Jr. ("Cotter Jr.")'s ’ JA256
Motion for Preliminary Injunction

2016-02-23 | Transcript of 2-18-16 Hearing on JA356-
Motion to Compel & Motion to I JA374
File Document Under Seal

2016-06-23 | Transcript of 6-21-16 Hearing on JA469-
Defendants' Motion to Compel & I JA493
Motion to Disqualify T2 Plaintiffs

2016-08-11 | Transcript of 8-9-16 Hearing on
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Partial 10 JA494-
Summary Judgment, Motion to ’ JA518
Compel & Motion to Amend

2016-11-01 | Transcript of 10-27-16 Hearing on XIX. XX JA4736-
Motions ! JA4890

2017-11-27 | Transcript of 11-20-17 Hearing on
Motion for Evidentiary Hearing re XX JA5028-
Cotter Jr.'s Adequacy & Motion to JA5047
Seal

2017-12-11 | Transcript of 12-11-2017 Hearing JA5718-
on [Partial] MSJs, MILs, and Pre- XXIII JA5792

Trial Conference
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FOR CASE NOS. 77648 & 76981

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Date Description Vol. # Page Nos.

2017-12-29 | Transcript of 12-28-17 Hearing on JA6107-
Motion for Reconsideration and XXV JA6131
Motion for Stay

2018-01-05 | Transcript of 1-4-18 Hearing on JA6245-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion for Rule 54(b) XXV JA6263
Certification

2018-01-08 | Transcript of Hearing on Demand JA6264-
Futility Motion and Motion for XXV JA6280
Judgment

2018-01-10 | Transcript of Proceedings of 01-8- xxy |JA6281-
18 Jury Trial-Day 1 JA6294

2018-05-03 | Transcript of 4-30-18 Hearing on XXVII JA6699-
Motions to Compel & Seal JA6723

2018-05-07 | Transcript of 5-2-18 Hearing on XXVII, | JA6727-
Evidentiary Hearing XXVIIT | JA6815

2018-05-24 | Transcript of 05-21-18 Hearing on JA7158-
Adams and Cotter sisters' Motion XXIX JA7172
to Compel

2018-06-20 | Transcript of 06-19-18 Omnibus JA8343-
Hearing on discovery motions and | XXXIV JA8394
Ratification MS]J

2018-10-02 | Transcript of 10-01-18 Hearing on LII JA13126-
Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs JA13150
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May 19, 2016

NRAaTan

EMTERMNAYIRZRAL

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90045

PROXY STATEMENT

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Thursday, June 2, 2016

INTRODUCTION

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of Reading International,
Inc. (the “Company,” “Reading,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) of proxies for use at our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Annual Meeting”) to be held on Thursday, June 2, 2016, at 11:00 a.m.. local time, at Courtyard by Marriott Los Angeles
Westside, located at 6333 Bristol Parkway, Culver City, California 90230, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. This
Proxy Statement and form of proxy are first being sent or given to stockholders on or about May 19, 2016.

At our Annual Meeting. vou will be asked to (1) elect nine Directors to our Board of Directors (the “Board”) to serve
until the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. and (2) act on any other business that may properly come before the Annual
Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting.

As of April 22, 2016, the record date for the Annual Meeting (the “Record Date™), there were 1,680,590 shares of our
Class B Voting Common Stock (“Class B Stock™) outstanding.

When proxies are properly executed and received, the shares represented thereby will be voted at the Annual Meeting in
accordance with the directions noted thereon. If no direction is indicated, the shares will be voted: FOR each of the nine nominees
named in this Proxy Statement for election to the Board under Proposal 1.

ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Why am I receiving these proxy materials?

This Proxy Statement is being sent to all of our stockholders of record as of the close of business on April 22, 2016, by
Reading’s Board to solicit the proxy of holders of our Class B Stock 1o be voted at Reading’s 2016 Annual Meeting, which will be
held on Thursday, June 2, 2016, at 11:00 a.m. local time, at Courtyard by Marriott Los Angeles Westside, located at 6333 Bristol
Parkway, Culver City, California 90230.

What items of business will be voted on at the Annual Meeting?
There is one item of business scheduled to be voted on at the 2016 Annual Meeting:
e PROPOSAL I: Election of nine Directors to the Board.

We will also consider any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or
postponements thereof] including approving any such adjournment, if necessary. Please note that at this time we are not aware of
any such business.
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How does the Board of Directors recommend that I vote?
Our Board recommends that you vote:
o On PROPOSAL 1: “FOR™ the election of its nominees to the Board.
What happens if additional matters are presented at the Annual Meeting?

Other than the item of business described in this Proxy Statement, we are not aware of any other business to be acted
upon at the Annual Meeting. If you grant a proxy, the persons named as proxies will have the discretion to vote your shares on any
additional matters properly presented for a vote at the Annual Meeting.

Am I eligible to vote?

Y ou may vote your shares of Class B Stock at the Annual Meeting if you were a holder of record of Class B Stock at the
close of business on April 22, 2016. Your shares of Class B Stock are entitled to one vote per share. At that time, there were
1,680,590 shares of Class B Stock outstanding, and approximately 350 holders of record. Each share of Class B Stock is entitled
to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Annual Meeting.

What if I own Class A Nonvoting Common Stock?

If you do not own any Class B Stock. then you have received this Proxy Statement only for your information. You and
other holders of our Class A Nonvoting Commeon Stock (“Class A Stock™) have no voting rights with respect to the matters to be
voted on at the Annual Meeting.

What should I do if I receive more than one copy of the proxy materials?

You may receive more than one copy of this Proxy Statement and multiple proxy cards or voting instruction cards. For
example, if you hold your shares in more than one brokerage account, you may receive a separate notice or a separate voting
instruction card for each brokerage account in which you hold shares. If you are a stockholder of record and your shares are
registered in more than one name, you may receive more than one copy of this Proxy Statement or more than one proxy card.

To vote all of your shares of Class B Stock by proxy card. you must either (i) complete, date. sign and return each proxy
card and voting instruction card that you receive or (ii) vote over the Internet or by telephone the shares represented by each notice
that you receive.

What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

Many stockholders of our Company hold their shares through a broker, bank or other nominee rather than directly in their
own name. As summarized below, there are some differences in how stockholders of record and beneficial owners are treated.

Stockholders of Record . If your shares of Class B Stock are registered directly in your name with our Transfer Agent,
you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares and the proxy materials are being sent directly to you by
Reading. As the stockholder of record of Class B Stock, you have the right to vote in person at the meeting. 1f you choose to do
s0, you can vole using the ballot provided at the Annual Meeting. Even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we recommend
that you vote your shares in advance as described below so that your vote will be counted if you decide later not to attend the
Annual Meeting.

Beneficial Owner . If you hold your shares of Class B Stock through a broker, bank or other nominee rather than directly
in your own name, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name and the proxy materials are being
forwarded to you by your broker, bank or other nominee, who is considered the stockholder of record with respect to those
shares. As the beneficial owner, you are also invited to attend the Annual Meeting. Because a beneficial owner is not the
stockholder of record, you may not vote these shares in person at the Annual Meeting, unless you obtain a proxy from the broker,
trustee or nominee that holds your shares, giving you the right to vote the shares at the meeting. You will need to contact your
broker. trustee or nominee to obfain a proxy, and you will need to bring it to the Annual Meeting in order to vote in person.
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How do I vote?

Proxies are solicited to give all holders of our Class B Stock who are entitled to vote on the matters that come before the
Annual Meeting the opportunity to vote their shares, whether or not they attend the Annual Meeting in person. If you are a holder
of record of shares of our Class B Stock, you have the right to vote in person at the Annual Meeting. If you choose to do so, you
can vote using the ballot provided at the Annual Meeting. Even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we recommend that you
vote your shares in advance as described below so that your vote will be counted if you decide later not to attend the Annual
Meeting. You can vote by one of the following manners:

e By Internet — Holders of record of our Class B Stock may submit proxies over the Internet by following the
instructions on the proxy card. Holders of our Class B Stock who are benelicial owners may vote by Internet by
following the instructions on the voting instruction card sent to them by their bank, broker, trustee or
nominee. Proxies submitted by the Internet must be received by 11:59 p.m., local time, on June 1, 2016 (the day
before the Annual Meeting).

e By Telephone — Holders of record of our Class B Stock who live in the United Siates or Canada may submit
proxies by telephone by calling the toll-free number on the proxy card and following the instructions. Holders
of record of our Class B Stock will need to have the control number that appears on their proxy card available
when voting. In addition, holders of our Class B Stock who are beneficial owners of shares living in the United
States or Canada and who have received a voting instruction card by mail from their bank, broker. trustee or
nominee may vote by phone by calling the number specified on the voting instruction card. Those stockholders
should check the voting instruction card for telephone voting availability. Proxies submitted by telephone must
be received by 11:59 pun., local time, on June 1, 2016 (the day before the Annual Meeting).

e By Mail — Holders of record of our Class B Stock who have received a paper copy of a proxy card by mail may
submit proxies by completing, signing and dating their proxy card and mailing it in the accompanying pre-
addressed envelope. Holders of our Class B Stock who are beneficial owners who have received a voting
instruction card from their bank, broker or nominee may return the voting instruction card by mail as set forth on
the card. Proxies submitted by mail must be received by the Inspector of Elections before the polls are closed at
the Annual Meeting.

e In Person — Holders of record of our Class B Stock may vote shares held in their name in person at the Annual
Meeting. You also may be represented by another person at the Annual Meeting by executing a proxy
designating that person. Shares of Class B Stock for which a stockholder is the beneficial owner, but not the
stockholder of record. may be voted in person at the Annual Meeting only il such stockholder obtains a proxy
from the bank, broker or nominee that holds the stockholder’s shares, indicating that the stockholder was the
beneficial owner as of the record date and the number of shares for which the stockholder was the beneficial
owner on the record date.

Holders of our Class B Stock are encouraged to vote their proxies by Internet, telephone or by completing, signing, dating
and returning a proxy card or voting instruction card, but not by more than one method. If you vote by more than one method, or
vote multiple times using the same method, only the last-dated vote that is timely received by the Inspector of Elections will be
counted, and each previous vote will be disregarded. If you vote in person at the Annual Meeting, you will revoke any prior proxy
that you may have given. You will need to bring a valid form of identification (such as a driver’s license or passport) to the
Annual Meeting to vote shares held of record by you in person.

What if my shares are held of record by an entity such as a corporation, limited liability company, general partnership,
limited partnership or trust (an “Entity™), or in the name of more than one person, or I am voting in a representative or
fiduciary capacity?

Shares held of record by an Entity . In order to vote shares on behalf of an Entity. you need to provide evidence (such as
a sealed resolution) of your authority to vote such shares. unless you are listed as a record holder of such shares.
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Shares held of record by a trust . The trustee of a trust is entitled to vote the shares held by the trust. either by proxy or
by attending and voting in person at the Annual Meeting. If you are voting as a trustee, and are not identified as a record
owner of the shares, then you must provide suitable evidence of your status as a trustee of the record trust owner. If the
record owner is a trust and there are multiple trustees, then if only one trustee votes, that trustee’s vote applies to all of the
shares held of record by the trust. If more than one trustee votes, the votes of the majority of the voting trustees apply to
all of the shares held of record by the trust. If more than one trustee votes and the votes are split evenly on any particular
Proposal, each trustee may vote proportionally the shares held of record by the trust.

Shares held of record in the name of more than one person . If only one individual votes, that individual’s vote applies to
all of the shares so held of record. If more than one person votes, the votes of the majority of the voting individuals apply
to all of such shares. If more than one individual votes and the votes are split evenly on any particular Proposal. each
individual may vote such shares proportionally.

What is a broker non-vote?

Applicable rules permit brokers to vote shares held in street name on routine matters. Shares that are not voted on non-
routine matters, such as the election of Directors or any proposed amendment of our Articles or Bylaws, are called broker non-
votes. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the vote for the election of Directors. but could affect the outcome of any matter
requiring the approval of the holders of an absolute majority of the Class B Stock. We are not currently aware of any matter to be
presented to the Annual Meeting that would require the approval of the holders of an absolute majority of the Class B Stock.

What routine matters will be voted on at the annual meeting?
None.
What non-routine matters will be voted on at the annual meeting?

The election of nine Directors to the Board is the only non-routine matter included among the Board's proposals on which
brokers may not vote. unless they have received specific voting instructions from beneficial owners of our Class B Stock.

How are abstentions and broker non-votes counted?

Abstentions and broker non-votes are included in determining whether a quorum is present. In tabulating the voting
results for the items to be voted on at the 2016 Annual Meeting, shares that constitute abstentions and broker non-votes are not
considered entitled to vote and will not affect the outcome of any matter being voted on at the meeting. unless the matter requires
the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Stock.

How can I change my vote after I submit a proxy?

If you are a stockholder of record, there are three ways you can change your vote or revoke your proxy after you have
submitted your proxy:

s First, you may send a written notice to Reading International, Inc., postage or other delivery charges pre-paid,
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, CA, 90045, c/o Annual Meeting Secretary, stating that you revoke
your proxy. To be effective, the Inspector of Elections must receive your written notice prior to the closing of
the polls at the Annual Meeting.

« Second, you may complete and submit a new proxy in one of the manners deseribed above under the caption,
“How do I vote?” Any earlier proxies will be revoked automatically.

e  Third, you may attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person. Any earlier proxy will be revoked. However,
attending the Annual Meeting without voting in person will not revoke your proxy.

JA2812



How will you solicit proxies and who will pay the costs?

We will pay the costs of the solicitation of proxies. We may reimburse brokerage lirms and other persons representing
beneficial owners of shares for expenses incurred in forwarding the voting materials to their customers who are beneficial owners
and obtaining their voting instructions. In addition to soliciting proxies by mail, our board members, officers and employees may
solicit proxies on our behalf, without additional compensation, personally or by telephone.

Is there a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

The names of stockholders of record entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available at the Annual Meeting and
for ten days prior to the Annual Meeting, at our corporate offices, 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, CA, 90045 between
the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.. local time, for any purpose relevant to the Annual Meeting. To arrange to view this list
during the times specified above, please contact the Secretary of the Company.

What constitutes a quorum?

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of record of a majority of our outstanding shares of Class B Stock
entitled to vote will constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Each share of our Class B Stock entitles the holder of record to
one vote on all matters to come before the Annual Meeting.

How are votes counted and who will certify the results?

First Coast Results, Inc. will act as the independent Inspector of Elections and will count the votes, determine whether a
quorum is present, evaluate the validity of proxies and ballots, and certify the results. A representative of First Coast Results. Inc.
will be present at the Annual Meeting. The final voting results will be reported by us on a Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed
with the SEC within four business days following the Annual Meeting.

What is the vote required for a Proposal to pass?

The nine nominees for election as Directors at the Annual Meeting who receive the highest number of “FOR” votes will
be elected as Directors. This is called plurality voting. Unless you indicate otherwise, the persons named as your proxies will vote
your shares FOR all the nominees for Directors named in Proposal 1. If your shares are held by a broker or other nominee and you
would like to vote yvour shares for the election of Directors in Proposal 1, vou must instruct the broker or nominee to vote “FOR”
for each of the candidates for whom vou would like to vote. If you give no instructions to your broker or nominee, then your
shares will not be voted. If you instruet your broker or nominee to “WITHHOLD,” then your vote will not be counted in
determining the election.

Only votes "FOR™ Proposal | at the Annual Meeting will be counted as votes cast and abstentions; votes withheld and
broker non-votes will not be counted for voting purposes.

Is my vote Kept confidential?

Proxies, ballots and voting tabulations identifying stockholders are kept confidential and will not be disclosed to third
parties, except as may be necessary to meet legal requirements.

How will the Annual Meeting be conducted?

In accordance with our Bylaws, Ellen M. Cotter, as the Chair of the Board, will be the Presiding Officer of the Annual
Meeting. Craig Tompkins has been designated by the Board to serve as Secretary for the Annual Meeting.

Ms. Cotter and other members of management will address attendees following the Annual Meeting. Stockholders
desiring to pose questions to our management are encouraged to send their questions to us, care of the Annual Meeting Secretary,
in advance of the Annual Meeting, so as to assist our management in preparing appropriate responses and to facilitate compliance
with applicable securities laws.

The Presiding Officer has broad authority to conduct the Annual Meeting in an orderly and timely manner. This authority
includes establishing rules for stockholders who wish to address the meeting or bring matters before the
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Annual Meeting. The Presiding Officer may also exercise broad discretion in recognizing stockholders who wish to speak and in
determining the extent of discussion on each item of business. In light of the need to conelude the Annual Meeting within a
reasonable period of time, there can be no assurance that every stockholder who wishes to speak will be able to do so. The
Presiding Officer has authority, in her discretion, to at any time recess or adjourn the Annual Meeting. Only stockholders are
entitled to attend and address the Annual Meeting. Any questions or disputes as o who may or may not attend and address the
Annual Meeting will be determined by the Presiding Officer.

Only such business as shall have been properly brought before the Annual Meeting shall be conducted. Pursuant to our
governing documents and applicable Nevada law. in order to be properly brought before the Annual Meeting, such business must
be brought by or at the direction of (1) the Chair, (2) our Board, or (3) holders of record of our Class B Stock. At the appropriate
time, any stockholder who wishes to address the Annual Meeting should do so only upon being recognized by the Presiding
Officer.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Director Leadership Structure

Ellen M. Cotter is our current Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer. Ellen M. Cotter has been with our Company
for more than 18 years, focusing principally on the cinema operations aspects of our business. During this time period, we have
grown our Domestic Cinema Operations from 42 to 248 screens and our cinema revenues have grown from US $15.5 million to
US $132.9 million. Historically. we have combined the roles of the Chair and the Chief Executive Officer, except for the period
from August 2014 until June 12, 2015, when the roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer were held by two executives of the
Company following the resignation for health reasons of our founder, James J. Cotter, Sr. At the present time, we believe that the
combined roles (i) allow for consistent leadership, (ii) continue the tradition of having a Chair and Chief Executive Officer, who is
also a controlling stockholder of the Company. and also (iii) reflect our status as a “controlled company” under relevant NASDAQ
Listing Rules

Margaret Cotter is our current Viee-Chair and she also serves as our Executive Vice President — Real Estate Management
and Development - NYC. Margaret Cotter has been responsible for the operation of our live theaters for more than 17 years and
has for more than the past five years been actively involved in the re-development of our New York properties. On March 10,
2016, our Board appointed Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President-Real Estate Management and Development-NYC.

Ellen M. Cotier has a substantial stake in our business, owning directly 799,765 shares of Class A Stock and 50,000
shares of Class B Stock. Margaret Cotter likewise has a substantial stake in our business, owning directly 804,173 shares of Class
A Stock and 35,100 shares of Class B Stock. Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter are the Co-Executors of their father’s (James J.
Cotter, Sr.) estate (the “Cotter Estate™) and Co-Trustees of a trust (the “Cotter Trust”) established for the benefit of his
heirs. Together, they have shared voting control over an aggregate of 1,208,988 shares or 71.9% of our Class B Stock. Ellen M.
Cotter and Margaret Cotter have informed the Board that they intend to vote the shares beneficially held by them [or each of the
nine nominees named in this Proxy Statement for election to the Board under Proposal 1.

James Cotter, Jr. alleges that he has the right to vote the shares held by the Cotter Trust. The Company believes that,
under applicable Nevada Law, where there are multiple trustees of a trust that is a record owner of voting shares of a Nevada
corporation, and more than one trustee votes, the votes of the majority of the voting trustees apply to all of the shares held of
record by the trust. If more than one trustee votes and the votes are split evenly on any particular proposal, each trustee may vote
proportionally the shares held of record by the trust. Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter, who collectively constitute a majority of
the Co-Trustees of the Cotter Trust, have informed the Board that they intend to vote the shares held by the Cotter Trust for each of
the nine nominees named in this Proxy Statement for election to the Board under Proposal 1. Accordingly, the Company believes
that Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter collectively have the power and authority to vote all of the shares of Class B Stock held
of record by the Cotter Trust, which, when added to the other shares they report as being beneficially owned by them, will
constitute 71.9% of the shares of Class B Stock entitled to vote for Directors at the Annual Meeting.

The Company has elected to take the “controlled company’ exemption under applicable listing rules of The NASDAQ
Capital Stock Market (the *NASDAQ Listing Rules”). Accordingly. the Company is exempted from the requirement to have an
independent nominating committee and to have a board composed of at least a majority of
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independent directors, as that term is defined in the NASDAQ Listing Rules ("Independent Directors™). We are nevertheless
nominating a majority of Independent Directors for election to our Board. We currently have an Audit and Conflicts Committee
(the “Audit Committee™) and a Compensation and Stock Options Commiitee (“Compensation Committee™) composed entirely of
Independent Directors. We currently have a four member Executive Committee composed of our Chair and Vice-Chair and
Messrs. Guy W. Adams and Edward L. Kane. Due to this structure, the concurrence of at least one non-management member of
the Executive Committee is required in order for the Executive Committee to take action.

We believe that our Directors bring a broad range of leadership experience to our Company and regularly contribute to
the thoughtful discussion involved in effectively overseeing the business and affairs of the Company. We believe that all Board
members are well engaged in their responsibilities and that all Board members express their views and consider the opinions
expressed by other Directors. A majority of our Board is independent under the NASDAQ Listing Rules and SEC rules, and
William D. Gould serves as the Lead Independent Director among our Independent Directors (“Lead Independent Director”). In
that capacity, Mr. Gould chairs meetings of the Independent Directors and acts as liaison beiween our Chair. President and Chief
Executive Officer and our Independent Directors. Our Independent Directors are involved in the leadership structure of our Board
by serving on our Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee, each of which has a separate independent
Chair. Nominations to our Board for the Annual Meeting were made by our entire Board, consisting ol'a majority of Independent
Directors.

Since our last Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we have (i) adopted a best practices Charter for our Compensation
Committee, (ii) adopted a new best practices Charter for our Audit Committee, and (iii) completed. with the assistance of
compensation consultants Willis Towers Watson and outside counsel Greenberg Traurig, LLP, a complete review of our
compensation practices, in order to bring them into alignment with current best practices. Immediately prior to our last Annual
Meeting we adopted a new supplemental policy restricting trading in our stock by our Directors and executive officers.

Management Succession

On August 7, 2014, James J. Cotter, Sr., our then controlling stockholder, Chair and Chief Executive Officer, resigned
from all positions at our Company, and passed away on September 13, 2014. Upon his resignation, Ellen M. Cotter was appointed
Chair, Margaret Cotter, her sister, was appointed Vice Chair and James Cotter, Jr.. her brother, was appointed Chief Executive
Officer, while continuing his position as President.

On June 12, 2015, the Board terminated the employment of James Cotter, Jr. as our President and Chief Executive
Officer, and appointed Ellen M. Cotter to serve as the Company’s interim President and Chief Executive Officer. The Board
established an Executive Search Committee (the “*Search Committee™) initially composed of Ellen M. Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and
Independent Directors William Gould and Douglas McEachern, and retained Kom Ferry to evaluate candidates for the Chief
Executive Officer position. Ellen M. Cotter resigned from the Search Committee when she concluded that she was a serious
candidate for the position. Korn Ferry screened over 200 candidates and ultimately presented six external candidates to the Search
Committee. The Search Committee evaluated those external candidates and Ellen M. Cotter in meetings in December 2015 and
January 2016, considering numerous factors, including, among others, the benefits of having a President and Chief Executive
Officer who has the confidence of the existing senior management team, Ms. Cotter’s prior performance as an executive of the
Company and her performance as the interim President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, the qualifications, experience
and compensation demands of the external candidates, and the benefits and detriments of having a Chair, President and Chief
Executive Officer who is also a controlling stockholder of the Company. The Search Committee recommended the appointment of
Ellen M. Cotter as permanent President and Chief Executive Officer and the Board appointed her on January 8, 2016, with seven
Directors voting yes, one Director (James Cotter, Jr.) voting no, and Ellen M. Cotter abstaining.

Board’s Role in Risk Oversight
Qur management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risks we face as a Company, while our Board, as a
whole and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, our Board has

the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and implemented by management are adequate and
functioning as designed.
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The Board plays an important role in risk oversight at Reading through direct decision-making authority with respect to
significant matters. as well as through the oversight of management by the Board and its committees. In particular, the Board
administers its risk oversight funetion through (1) the review and discussion of regular periodic reports by the Board and its
committees on topics relating to the risks that the Company faces, (2) the required approval by the Board (or a committee of the
Board) of significant transactions and other decisions, (3) the direct oversight of specific areas of the Company s business by the
Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee, and (4) regular periodic reports from the auditors and other outside
consultants regarding various areas of potential risk, including, among others, those relating to our internal control over financial
reporting. The Board also relies on management (o bring significant matters impacting the Company to the attention of the Board.

“Controlled Company” Status

Under section 5615(c)(1) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules. a “controlled company” is a company in which 50% of the
voting power for the election of Directors is held by an individual, a group or another company. Together, Ellen M. Cotter and
Margaret Cotter beneficially own 1,208,988 shares or 71.9% of our Class B Stock. Our Class A Stock does not have voting
rights. Based on advice of counsel, our Board has determined that the Company is therefore a ““controlled company” within the
NASDAQ Listing Rules.

After reviewing the benefits and detriments of taking advantage of the exemptions to certain corporate governance rules
available to a “controlled company™ as set forth in the NASDAQ) Listing Rules, our Board has determined to take advantage of
those exemptions. In reliance on a “controlled company” exemption, the Company does not maintain a separate standing
Nominating Committee. The Company nevertheless at this time maintains a full Board composed of a majority of Independent
Directors and a fully independent Audit Committee, and has no present intention to vary from that structure. Our Board, consisting
of a majority of Independent Directors, approved the nominees for our 2016 Annual Meeting. See ** Consideration and Selection
of the Board's Director Nominees .” below. Each of the nominees, in each case the nominee abstaining from the vote, was
approved by at least a majority of our Directors.

Board Committees

Our Board has a standing Executive Committee, Audit Committee, and Compensation Committee. The Tax Oversight
Committee has been inactive since November 2, 2015 in anticipation that its functions would be moved to the Audit Committee
under its new charter. That new charter was approved on May 5, 2016. These committees, other than the Tax Oversight
Committee, are discussed in greater detail below.

Executive Committee . The Executive Committee operates pursuant to a Charter adopted by our Board. Our Executive
Committee is currently composed of Ms. Ellen M. Cotter, Ms. Margaret Cotter and Messrs. Adams and Kane. Pursuant to its
Charter, the Executive Committee is authorized, to the fullest extent permitted by Nevada law and our Bylaws, to take any and all
actions that could have been taken by the full Board between meetings of the full Board. The Executive Committee held six
meetings during 2015,

Audit Committee . The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a Charter adopted by our Board that is available on our
website at http:/www.readingrdi.com/Committee-Charters . The Audit Committee reviews, considers. negotiates and approves or
disapproves related party transactions (see the discussion in the section entitled ** Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions " below). In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for, among other things, (i) reviewing and discussing with
management the Company’s financial statements, earnings press releases and all internal conirols reports. (ii) appoiniing,
compensating and overseeing the work performed by the Company’s independent auditors, and (iii) reviewing with the
independent auditors the findings of their audits.

Qur Board has determined that the Audit Committee is composed entirely of Independent Directors (as defined in
section 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules), and that Mr. McEachern, the Chair of our Audit Committee, is qualified as an
Audit Committee Finaneial Expert. Our Audit Committee is currently composed of Mr. McEachern, who serves as Chair,

Mr. Kane and Mr. Wrotniak. Mr. Timothy Storey, who served on our Board through October 11, 2015, served on our Audit
Committee through the same date. The Audit Committee held four meetings during 2015.

Compensation Committee . Our Board has established a standing Compensation Committee consisting of three of our
non-employee Directors, and is currently composed of Mr. Kane, who serves as Chair. Dr. Codding and Mr.
McEachern. Mr. Storey served on our Compensation Committee through October 11, 2015 and Mr. Adams served
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through May 14, 2016. As a Controlled Company, we are exempt from the NASDAQ Listing Rules regarding the determination of
executive compensation solely by Independent Directors. Notwithstanding such exemption. we adopted a Compensation
Committee charter on March 10, 2016 requiring our Compensation Committee members to meet the independence rules and
regulations of the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market. As a part of the transition to this new compensation committee structure,
the compensation for 2016 of the President. Chief Executive Officer, all Executive Vice Presidents, and all Managing Directors
was reviewed and approved by the Board at that March 10, 2016 meeting.

The Compensation Committee charter is available on our website at http://www readingrdi.com/charter-of-our-
compensation-stock-options-committee/ . The Compensation Committee evaluates and makes recommendations to the full Board
regarding the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer. Under its new Charter, the Compensation Committee has delegated
authority to establish the compensation for all executive officers other than the President and Chief Executive Officer; provided
that compensation decisions related to members of the Cotter Family remain vested in the full Board. In addition, the
Compensation Committee establishes the Company’s general compensation philosophy and objectives (in consultation with
management), approves and adopts on behalf of the Board incentive compensation and equity-based compensation plans. subject
to stockholder approval as required, and performs other compensation related functions as delegated by our Board. The
Compensation Committee held three meetings during 2015.

Consideration and Selection of the Board’s Director Nominees

The Company has elected to take the “Controlled Company” exemption under applicable NASDAQ Listing
Rules. Accordingly. the Company does not maintain a standing Nominating Committee. Our Board. consisting of a majority of
Independent Directors, approved the Board nominees for our 2016 Annual Meeting.

Qur Board does not have a formal policy with respect to the consideration of Director candidates recommended by our
stockholders. No non-Director stockholder has, in more than the past ten years, made any formal proposal or recommendation to
the Board as to potential nominees. Neither our governing documents nor applicable Nevada law place any restriction on the
nomination of candidates for election to our Board directly by our stockholders. In light of the facts that (i) we are a Controlled
Company under the NASDAQ) Listing Rules and exempted from the requirements for an independent nominating process. and (ii)
our governing documents and Nevada law place no limitation upon the direct nomination of Director candidates by our
stockholders, our Board believes there is no need for a formal policy with respect to Director nominations.

Our Board will consider nominations from our stockholders, provided written notice is delivered to our Secretary at our
principal executive offices not less than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date that this Proxy Statement is sent to
stockholders, or such earlier date as may be reasonable in the event that our annual stockholders meeting is moved more than 30
days from the anniversary of the 2016 Annual Meeting. Such written notice must set forth the name, age. address. and principal
occupation or employment of such nominee, the number of shares of our common stock that are beneficially owned by such
nominee, and such other information required by the proxy rules of the SEC with respect to a nominee of our Board.

Qur Directors have not adopted any formal criteria with respect to the qualifications required to be a Director or the
particular skills that should be represented on our Board, other than the need to have at least one Director and member of our Audit
Committee who qualifies as an “‘audit committee financial expert,” and have not historically retained any third party to identify or
evaluate or to assist in identifying or evaluating potential nominees. We have no poliey of considering diversity in identifying
Director nominees.

Our Board oversees risk by remaining well-informed through regular meetings with management and our Chair’s
personal involvement in our day-to-day business including any matters requiring specific risk management oversight. Qur Chair,
President and Chief Executive Officer chairs regular senior management meetings, which are typically held weekly, one
addressing domestic issues and the other addressing overseas issues. The risk oversight function of our Board is enhanced by the
fact that our Audit Committee is comprised entirely of Independent Directors.

We encourage, but do not require, our Board members to attend our Annual Meeting. All of our nine then-incumbent
Directors attended last year’s annual meeting.
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Following a review of the experience and overall qualifications of the Director candidates. our Board resolved to
nominate, each of the incumbent Directors named in Proposal 1 for election as Directors of the Company at our 2016 Annual
Meeting.

The Board, in reaching the decision to nominate Mr. James Cotter, Jr. for re-election to the Board, took a number of
factors into consideration. Without attempting to place any particular priority on any particular consideration, the Board
considered Mr. Cotter Jr.'s pending litigation against certain of the other Directors: his pending arbitration proceedings with the
Company related to his prior termination as the President and Chief Executive Officer of our Company: his litigation against the
Company seeking reimbursement and future advancement of his legal fees and expenses incurred in such arbitration proceedings:
the Board’s June 2015 determination to terminate Mr. Cotter, Jr. as our Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer: the
potential that this personal action and legal proceedings have and will likely continue to cause dissension among Board members
and impact the otherwise collegial nature of Board meetings: Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s longevity on the Board and his broad knowledge of
our Company: Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s beneficial holdings of the Company's securities: the fact that, depending on the ultimate resolution
of certain litigation as to the terms of the Cotter Trust. Mr. Cotter, Jr. could periodically or ultimately hold voting control over our
Company, and the fact that Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter had notified the Board that, as the beneficial owners of over 70%
of the voting power of our Company, they supported Mr. Cotter Jr.’s ongoing participation on the Board. After considering these
factors, the Board nominated Mr. Cotter, Jr. to serve another term as a Director of the Company.

Each of the nominees received at least seven (7) Yes votes, with each such nominee abstaining as to his or her
nomination. Director Cotter, Jr. abstained with respect to the nomination of each of the nominees other than Ellen M. Cotter and
Margaret Cotter. and voted Yes for Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter. Director Adams voted No with respect to the nomination
of James Cotter, Jr.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics designed to help our Directors and employees resolve ethical issues. Our Code of
Ethies applies to all Directors and employees, including the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, principal
accounting officer, controller and persons performing similar functions. Our Code of Ethics is posted on our website at
bttpy/ e readingrdi comvUovernance-Documents

The Board has established a means for employees to report a violation or suspected violation of the Code of Ethics
anonymously. In addition, we have adopted a “"Whistleblower Policy.” which is posted on our website, at
bttoswww readingrdi com/Giovernance-Documerts , that establishes a process by which employees may anonymously disclose to
the Audit Committee alleged fraud or violations of accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

The Audit Committee adopted a written charter for approval of transactions between the Company and its Directors,
Director nominees, executive officers, greater than five percent beneficial owners and their respective immediate family members,
where the amount involved in the transaction exceeds or is expected to exceed $120.000 in a single calendar year and the party to
the fransaction has or will have a direct or indirect interest. A copy of this charter is available at www.readingrdi.com under the
“Investor Relations” caption. For additional information. see the section entitled ** Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions .

Material Legal Proceedings

On June 12, 2015, the Board terminated James Cotter, Jr, as the President and Chief Executive Officer of our
Company. That same day, Mr. Cotter, Jr. filed a lawsuit, styled as both an individual and a derivative action. and titled “James
Cotter, Jr., individually and derivatively on behalf of Reading International, Inc. vs. Margaret Cotter, et al.” Case No.: A-15-
719860-V, Dept. XI (the “Cotter Jr. Derivative Action” and the “Cotter. Jr. Complaint,” respectively) against the Company and
each of our other then sitting Directors (Ellen M. Cotter, Margaret Cotter, Guy Adams, William Gould, Edward Kane, Douglas
McEachern. and Tim Storey, the “Original Defendant Directors™) in the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada for
Clark County (the “Nevada District Court™). On October 22, 2015, Mr. Cotter, Jr., amended his complaint to drop his individual
claims (the “Amended Cotter Jr. Derivative Complaint”). Accordingly, the Amended Cotter, Jr. Complaint presently purports to
assert only purportedly derivative claims and to seek remedies
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only on behalf of the Company. The lawsuit currently alleges. among other things, that the Original Defendant Directors breached
their fiduciary duties to the Company by terminating Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and Chief Executive Officer, continuing to make
use of the Executive Committee that has been in place for more than the past ten years, making allegedly potentially misleading
statements in its press releases and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), paying certain compensation to
Ms. Ellen M. Cotter, and allowing the Cotter Estate to make use of Class A Common Stock to pay for the exercise of certain long
outstanding stock options held of record by the Cotter Estate. He seeks reinstatement as President and Chief Executive Officer and
alleges as damages fluctuations in the price for our Company’s shares after the announcement of his termination as President and
Chief Executive Officer and certain unspecified damages to our Company’s reputation.

In a derivative action, the stockholder plaintiff seeks damages or other relief for the benefit of the Company, and not for
the stockholder plaintiff’s individual benefit. Accordingly, the Company is. at least in theory, only a nominal defendant in such a
derivative action. However, as a practical matter, because Mr. Cotter, Ir. is also seeking, among other things, an order that our
Board’s determination to terminate Mr. Cotter Jr. was ineffective and that he should be reinstated as the President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and also that our Board's Executive Committee be disbanded (an injunctive remedy that, if
granted, would be binding on the Company), and as he asserts potentially misleading statements in certain press releases and
filings with the SEC, the Company is incurring significant cost and expense defending the decision to terminate Mr. Cotter, Jr. as
President and Chief Executive Officer, its Board committee structure, and the adequacy of those press releases and filings. Also,
the Company continues to incur costs promulgating and responding to discovery demands and satisfying indemnity obligations to
the Original Defendant Directors.

Qur Directors and Officers Insurance liability insurer is providing insurance coverage. subject to a $500,000 deductible
(which has now been exhausted) and its standard reservation of rights, with respect to the defense of the Original Director
Defendants. Our new Directors, Dr. Judy Codding and Mr. Michael Wrotniak, are not named in the Cotter Jr. Derivative Action as
they were not Directors at the time of the breaches of fiduciary duty alleged by Mr. Cotter. Jr.

Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Cotter Jr.’s employment agreement with the Company, disputes relating to his employment
are to be arbitrated. Accordingly, on July 14, 2015, the Company filed an arbitration demand with the American Arbitration
Association against Mr. Cotter, Jr. The demand seeks declaratory relief, among other things, that Mr. Cotter, Jr."s employment and
employment agreement with the Company have been validly terminated and that the Board validly removed him from his positions
as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and positions with the Company’s subsidiaries.

Mr. Cotter, Jr. has filed a counter-complaint in the arbitration, asserting claims for breach of his employment contract,
declaratory relief, and contractual indemnification. Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s counsel has advised that Mr. Cotter is seeking a variety of
damages, including consequential damages, and that such claimed damages total no less than $1,000,000. On April 19, 2016, Mr.
Cotter, Jr. filed an action in the District Court, Clark County, Nevada seeking to recover his costs of defending the Arbitration, plus
compensatory damages and interest at the maximum legal rate. The Company intends to vigorously defend these claims.

On Aungust 6, 2015, the Company received notice that a Motion to Intervene in the Cotter Jr. Derivative Action and that a
proposed derivative complaint had been filed in the Nevada District Court captioned T2 Partners Management, LP, a Delaware
limited partnership, doing business as Kase Capital Management; T2 Accredited Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, doing
business as Kase Fund: T2 Qualified Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, doing business as Kase Qualified Fund; Tilson
Offshore Fund, Ltd, a Cayman Islands exempted company; T2 Partners Management I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, doing business as Kase Management; T2 Pariners Management Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
doing business as Kase Group: JMG Capital Management. LLC, a Delaware limited liability company: and Pacific Capital
Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, derivatively on behalf of Reading International, Inc. vs. Margaret Cotter,
Ellen M. Cotter. Guy Adams, Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, Timothy Storey, William Gould and Does 1 through 100,
inclusive, as defendants, and. Reading International. Inc., a Nevada corporation, as Nominal Defendant (the “T2 Derivative
Action™ ). On August 11, 2015, the Court granted the motion of T2 Partners Management, LP et. al. (the *T2 Plaintifts™), allowing
these plaintif1s fo file their complaint (the “T2 Derivative Complaint™).
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On September 9, 2015, certain of the Original Defendant Directors filed a Motion to Dismiss the T2 Derivative
Complaint. The Company joined this Motion to Dismiss on September 14, 2015. The hearing on this Motion to Dismiss was
vacated as the T2 Plaintiffs voluntarily withdrew the T2 Derivative Complaint, with the parties agreeing that T2 Plaintiffs would
have leave to amend the Complaint. On February 12, 2016, the T2 Plaintiffs filed an amended T2 Derivative Complaint (the
“Amended T2 Derivative Complaint™).

The T2 Plaintiffs allege in their Amended T2 Derivative Complaint various violations of fiduciary duty, abuse of control,
gross mismanagement and corporate waste by the Amended T2 Complaint Director Defendants (as such term is defined
below). More specifically the Amended T2 Derivative Complaint seeks certain monetary damages. as well as equitable injunctive
relief, attorney fees and costs of suit. Onee again, the Company has been named as a nominal defendant. However, because the
Amended T2 Derivative Complaint also seeks the reinstatement of Mr. Cotter, Jr., as our President and CEQ, it is being defended
by the Company. In addition, the Company continues to incur costs promulgating and responding to discovery demands and
satisfying indemnity obligations to the Amended T2 Complaint Director Defendants. The defendants in the Amended T2
Complaint are the same as named in the Cotter Jr. Derivative Action as well as our two new Directors, Dr. Judy Codding and
Michael Wrotniak, and Company legal counsel, Craig Tompkins. Mr. Storey was not named as a defendant in the Amended T2
Complaint. The cost of the defense of Directors Codding and Wrotniak is likewise being covered by our Directors and Officers
Liability Insurance carrier with the same reservations of right as in the Cotter Jr. Derivative Action, but without any separate
deductible. The coverage under our Directors and Officers Liability Insurance of the cost of the defense of Mr. Tompkins is being
reviewed by the insurer and is currently being covered by the Company under its indemnity agreement with him. The Directors
named in the T2 Derivative Complaint are referred to herein as the “Amended T2 Complaint Director Defendants™ and the
Directors named in the Amended Cotter, Jr. Derivative Complaint are referred to herein as the Amended Cotter Jr. Complaint
Director Defendants.

The Amended T2 Derivative Complaint has deleted its request for an order disbanding our Executive Committee and an
order “collapsing the Class A and B stock structure into a single class of voting stock.” The Amended T2 Complaint has added a
request for an order setting aside the election results from the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, based on an allegation that
Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter were not entitled to vote the shares of Class B Common Stock held by the Cotter Estate and
the Cotter Trust. The Company and the other defendants contest the allegations of the T2 Plaintiffs. The Company followed
applicable Nevada law in recognizing that Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter had the legal right and power to vote the shares of
Class B Common Stock held of record by the Cotter Estate and the Cotter Trust, and the independent Inspector of Elections has
certified the results of that election. Furthermore, even if the election results were to be overturned or voided, this would have no
impact on the current composition of our Board, as all of the nominees were standing for re-clection and accordingly retain their
directorships until their replacements are elected. The Company will vigorously contest any assertions by the T2 Plaintiffs
challenging the voting at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and believes that the court will rule for the Company should
this issue ever reach the court. The case is currently set for trial in November, 2016.

On May 2, 2016, the T2 Plaintiffs filed a petition on order shortening time seeking a preliminary injunction (1) enjoining
the Inspector of Elections from counting any proxies purporting to vote either the 327,808 Class B shares represented by stock
certificate BO00S (held of record by the Cotter Estate) or the 696,080 Class B shares represented by stock certificate RDIB 0028
(held of record by the Cotter Trust) at the upcoming June 2, 2016 Annual Meeting, and (2) enjoining Ellen M. Cotter, Margaret
Cotter and James Cotter, Jr. from voting the above referenced shares at the 2016 Annual Meeting.  The Company believes that the
above referenced shares are currently held of record by the Cotter Estate and the Cotter Trust. and that such shares can be voted by
the Co-Executors of the Cotter Estate and the Trustees of the Cotter Trust, as applicable.

The Company believes that the claims set forth in the Amended Cotter Jr. Derivative Complaint and the Amended T2
Derivative Complaint are entirely without merit and seek equitable remedies for which no relief can be given. The Company
intends to defend vigorously against our Directors and Officers and against any attempt to reinstate Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and
Chief Executive Officer or to effect any changes in the rights of our Company’s stockholders. Mr. Storey has been dismissed by
stipulation as a defendant in the James Cotter Jr. Derivative Action.

On May 13, 2016, Directors Adams, Codding, Ellen M. Cotter, Margaret Cotter, Kane, McEachern and Wrotniak filed a
motion in the T2 Derivative Action to disquality the T2 Plaintiffs on the grounds that at least one of the T2 Plaintiffs had engaged
in trading in our Company’s Class A Common Stock after production by the Company and the
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Amended T2 Complaint Director Defendants of confidential information in the discovery process.

PROPOSAL 1: Election of Directors
Nominees for Election

Nine Directors are to be elected at our Annual Meeting to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in
2017 or until their successors are duly elected and qualified. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote the proxies
received by us “FOR" the election of the nominees below, all of whom currently serve as Directors. The nine nominees for
election 1o the Board who receive the greatest number of votes cast for the election of Directors by the shares present and entitled
to vote will be elected Directors. If any nominee becomes unavailable for any reason, it is intended that the proxies will be voted
for a substitute nominee designated by the Board. The nominees named have consented to serve if elected.

The names of the nominees for Director, together with certain information regarding them. are as follows:

Name Age Position
“Hllen M. Cotter . S [
Guy W. Adams .
Judy Codding .
James Cotter, Jr.
Margaret C

Director ™
46 Director

William D. Gould
Edward L. Kane
Douglas J. McEachern
- Michael Wromniak ...

g8 Director M@
64 Director *
AR Dhrector ™o

(1) Member of the Executive Committee.

(2) Member of the Compensation and Stock Options Committee.

(3) Member of the Tax Oversight Committee. This committee has been inactive since November 2, 2015, in anticipation that its
functions would move to the Audit Committee under its new charter. That new charter was approved on May 5, 2016.

(4) Lead Independent Director.

(5) Member of the Audit and Conflicts Committee.

Ellen M. Cotter. Ellen M. Cotter has been a member of our Board since March 13, 2013, and currently serves as a
member of our Executive Committee. Ms. Cotter was appointed Chair of our Board on August 7. 2014 and served as our interim
President and Chief Executive Officer from June 12, 2015 until January 8, 2016, when she was appointed our permanent President
and Chief Executive Officer. She joined the Company in March 1998. Ms. Cotter is a graduate of Smith College and holds a Juris
Doctor from Georgetown Law School. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Cotter spent four years in private practice as a corporate
attorney with the law firm of White & Case in New York City. Ms. Cotter is the sister of Margaret Cotter and James Cotter,

Jr. For more than the past ten years, Ms. Cotter served as the Chief Operating Officer (“COO™) of our domestic cinema operations,
in which capacity she had, among other things, responsibility for the acquisition and development, marketing and operation of our
cinemas in the United States. Prior to her appointment as COO of Domestic Cinemas, she spent a year in Australia and New
Zealand, working to develop our cinema and real estate assets in those countries. Ms. Cotter is the Co-Executor of the Cotter
Estate, which is the record owner of 427,808 shares of our Class B Stock (representing 25.5% of such Class B Stock). Ms. Cotter
is also a Co-Trustee of the Cotter Trust, which is the record owner of 696,080 shares of Class B Stock (representing an additional
41.4% of such Class B Stock).

Ms. Cotter brings to our Board her 18 years of experience working in our Company’s cinema operations in the United
States, Australia and New Zealand. She has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of Reading’s subsidiary.
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Consolidated Entertainment, LLC, which operates substantially all of our cinemas in Hawaii and California. In addition, with her
direct ownership of 799,765 shares of Class A Stock and 50,000 shares of Class B Stock, and her positions as Co-Executor of the
Cotter Estate and Co-Trustee of the Cotter Trust, Ms. Cotter is a significant stakeholder in our Company. In recognition of her
contributions to the independent film industry, Ms. Cofter was awarded the first Gotham Appreciation Award at the 2015 Gotham
Independent Film Awards. She was also inducted that same year into the ShowEast Hall of Fame.

Guy W. Adams . Guy W. Adams has been a Director of the Company since January 14, 2014, currently serves as the
chair of our Executive Committee, and until May 14, 2016, served as a member of our Compensation Committee . For more than
the past ten years, he has been a Managing Member of GWA Capital Partners, LLC. a registered investment adviser managing
GWA Investments, LLC. a fund investing in various publicly traded securities . Over the past fifteen years, Mr. Adams has served
as an independent director on the boards of directors of Lone Star Steakhouse & Saloon, Mercer International, Exar Corporation
and Vitesse Semiconductor . At these companies, he has held a variety of board positions, including lead director, audit
committee chair, and compensation committee chair. He has spoken on corporate governance topics before such groups as the
Council of Institutional Investors, the USC Corporate Governance Summit and the University of Delaware Distinguished Speakers
Program. Mr. Adams provides investment advice to private clients and currently invests his own capital in public and private
equity transactions . He has served as an advisor to James J. Cotter, Sr. and continues to provide professional advisory services to
various enterprises now owned by either the Cotter Estate or the Cotter Trust. Mr. Adams received his Bachelor of Science degree
in Petroleum Engineering from Louisiana State University and his Masters of Business Administration from Harvard Graduate
School of Business Administration.

Mr. Adams brings many years of experience serving as an independent direcior on public company boards, and in
investing and providing financial advice with respect to investments in public companies.

Dr. Judy Codding . Dr. Judy Codding has been a Director of our Company since October 5, 2015, and currently serves as
a member of our Compensation Committee. Dr. Codding is a globally respected education leader. From October 2010 until
October 2015 she served as the Managing Director of “The System of Courses,” a division of Pearson, PLC (NYSE: PSQ), the
largest education company in the world that provides education products and services to institutions, governments, and direct to
individual learners. Prior to that time, Dr. Codding served as the Chief Executive Officer and President of America's Choice, Inc.,
which she founded in 1998, and which was acquired by Pearson in 2010. America’s Choice, Inc. was a leading education
company offering comprehensive, proven solutions to the complex problems educators face in the era of accountability. Dr.
Codding has a Doctorate in Education from University of Massachusetts at Ambherst, and completed postdoctoral work and served
as a teaching associate in Education at Harvard University where she taught graduate level courses focused on moral leadership.
Dr. Codding has served on various boards, including the Board of Trustees of Curtis School, Los Angeles, CA (2011 to present)
and the Board of Trustees of Educational Development Center, Inc. (EDC) since 2012. Through family entities, Dr. Codding has
been and continues to be involved in the real estate business, through the ownership of hotels, shopping centers and buildings in
Florida and the exploration of mineral, oil and gas rights in Maryland and Kentucky.

Dr. Codding brings to our Board her experience as an entrepreneur, as an author, advisor and researcher in the areas of
leadership training and decision-making as well as her experience in the real estate business.

James Cotter, Jr. James Cotter, Jr. has been a Director of our Company since March 21, 2002, and served as a member of
our Tax Oversight Committee. The Tax Oversight Committee has been inactive since November 2, 2015, in anticipation that its
functions would be moved to the Audit Committee under its new charter. That new charter was adopted on May 5, 2016. Mr.
Cotter, Jr. served as our Vice Chair from June 2007 until August 7. 2014, Mr. Cotter, Jr. served as our President from June 1, 2013
through June 12, 2015, and as our Chief Executive Officer from August 7, 2014 through June 12, 2015, He is currently the lead
director of Cecelia Packing Corporation (a Cotter family -owned citrus grower, packer and marketer) and served as the Chief
Executive Officer of that company from July 2004 until 2013. Mr. Cotter, Jr. served as a Director of Cecelia Packing Corporation
from February 1996 to September 1997, and as a Director of Gish Biomedical from September 1999 to March 2002. He was an
attorney in the law firm of Winston & Strawn (and its predecessor), specializing in corporate law, from September 1997 to May
2004. Mr. Cotter, JIr. is the brother of Margaret Cotter and Ellen M. Cotter. Mr. Cotter, Jr. has advised the Company that he is a
Co-Trustee of the Cotter Trust, which is the record owner of 696,080 shares of Class B Stock (representing 41.4% of such Class B
Stock). The Company understands that Mr. Cotter’s status as a trustee of the Cotter Trust is disputed by his sisters. Ellen M. Cotter
and Margaret Cotter.
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James Cotter, Jr. brings to our Board his experience as a business professional and corporate attorney, as well as his many
years of experience in, and knowledge of. the Company’s business and affairs. In addition, with his direct ownership of 770,186
shares of our Company’s Class A Common Stock and his position as Co-Trustee of the Cotier Trust, Mr. Cotter, Jr. is a significant
stakeholder in our Company. Further, depending on the outcome of ongoing Trust Litigation, in the future Mr. Cotter, Jr. may be a
controlling stockholder in the Company.

Margaret Cotter . Margaret Cotter has been a Director of our Company since September 27, 2002, and on August 7, 2014
was appointed Vice Chair of our Board and currently serves as a member of our Executive Committee. On March 10, 2016, our
Board appointed Ms. Cotter as Executive Vice President-Real Estate Management and Development-NYC. In this position, Ms.
Cotter is responsible for the management of our live theater properties and operations. including oversight of the re-development of
our Union Square and Cinemas 1, 2, 3 properties. Ms. Cotter is the owner and President of OBI1. LLC (“OBI"). which, from 2002
until her appointment as Executive Vice President-Real Estate Management and Development-NYC, managed our live-theater
operations under a management agreement. Pursuant to the OBI management agreement, Ms. Cotter also served as the President
of Liberty Theaters, LLC, the subsidiary through which we own our live theaters. The OBI management agreement was
terminated with Ms. Cotter’s appointment as Executive Vice President-Real Estate Management and Development-

NYC. Ms. Cotler is also a theatrical producer who has produced shows in Chicago and New York and is a board member of the
League of Off-Broadway Theaters and Producers. Ms. Cotter, a former Assistant District Attorney for King's County in Brooklyn,
New York, graduated from Georgetown University and Georgetown University Law Center. She is the sister of Ellen M. Cotter
and James Cotter, Jr. Ms. Margaret Cotter is a Co-Executor of the Cotter Estate, which is the record owner of 427.808 shares of
our Class B Stock (representing 25.5% of such Class B Stock). Ms. Margaret Cotter is also a Co-Trustee of the Cotter Trust,
which is the record owner of 696,080 shares of Class B Voting Common Stock (representing an additional 41.4% of such Class B
Stock).

Ms. Cotter brings to the Board her experience as a live theater producer. theater operator and an active member of the
New York theater community, which gives her insight into live theater business trends that affect our business in this
sector. Operating and overseeing these properties for over 17 years, Ms. Cotter contributes to the strategic direction for our
developments. In addition, with her direct ownership of 804,173 shares of Class A Stock and 35,100 shares of Class B Stock and
her positions as Co-Executor of the Cotter Estate and Co-Trustee of the Cotter Trust, Ms. Cotter is a significant stakeholder in our
Company.

William D. Gould . William D. Gould has been a Director of our Company since October 15, 2004, and currently serves
as our Lead Independent Director. Mr. Gould has been a member of the law firm of TroyGould PC since 1986. Previously, he was
a partner of the law firm of O’Melveny & Myers. We have from time to time retained TroyGould PC for legal advice. Total fees
payable to Mr. Gould's law firm for calendar year 2015 were $61,000.84.

Mr. Gould is an author and lecturer on the subjects of corporate governance and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Gould
brings to our Board more than fifty years of experience as a corporate lawyer and advisor focusing on corporate governance,
mergers and acquisitions.

Edward L. Kane . Edward L. Kane has been a Director of our Company since October 15, 2004. Mr. Kane was also a
Director of our Company from 1985 to 1998, and served as President from 1987 to 1988, Mr. Kane currently serves as the chair of
our Compensation Committee, and served as chair of our Tax Oversight Committee. That committee has been inactive since
November 2, 2015, in anticipation that its functions would be moved to the Audit Committee under its new charter. The new
charter for the Audit Committee was approved on May 5, 2016. He also serves as a member of our Executive Committee and our
Audit Committee. Mr. Kane practiced as a tax attorney for many years in San Diego, California. Since 1996, Mr. Kane has acted
as a consultant and advisor to the health care industry, serving as the President and sole shareholder of High Avenue Consulting, a
healthcare consulting firm, and as the head of its successor proprietorship. During the 1990s, Mr. Kane also served as the Chair
and Chief Executive Officer of ASMG Outpatient Surgical Centers in southern California, and he served as a director of BDI
Investment Corp., which was a regulated invesiment company based in San Diego. Ior over a decade, he was the Chair of Kane
Miller Books, an award-winning publisher of children’s books. At various times during the past three decades, Mr. Kane has been
Adjunct Professor of Law at two of San Diego’s law schools, most recently in 2008 and 2009 at Thomas Jefferson School of Law.
and prior thereto at California Western School of Law.

In addition to his varied business experience, Mr. Kane brings to our Board his many years as a tax attorney and law
professor. Mr. Kane also brings his experience as a past President of Craig Corporation and of Reading Company,
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two of our corporate predecessors, as well as his experience as a former member of the boards of directors of several publicly held
corporations.

Douglas J. McFachern. Douglas J. McEachern has been a Director of our Company since May 17, 2012 and chair of our
Audit Committee since August 1, 2012 and serves as a member of our Compensation Committee since May 14, 2016 . He has
served as a member of the board and of the audit and compensation committee for Willdan Group, a NASDAQ listed engineering
company, since 2009, From June 2011 until October 2015, Mr. McEachern was a director of Community Bank in Pasadena,
California and a member of its audit committee. Mr. McEachern served as the chair of the board of Community Bank from
October 2013 until October 2015 . He also is a member of the finance committee of the Methodist Hospital of Arcadia. From
September 2009 to December 2015, Mr. McEachern served as an instructor of auditing and accountancy at Claremont McKenna
College . Mr. McEachern was an audit partner from July 1985 to May 2009 with the audit {irm of Deloitte and Touche, LLP, with
client concentrations in financial institutions and real estate . Mr. McEHachern was also a Professional Accounting Fellow with the
Federal Home Loan Bank board in Washington DC. from June 1983 to July 1985 . From June 1976 to June 1983, Mr. McEachern
was a staff member and subsequently a manager with the audit firm of Touche Ross & Co. (predecessor to Deloitte & Touche,
LLP). Mr. McEachern received a B.S. in Business Administration in 1974 from the University of California, Berkeley, and an
M.B.A. in 1976 from the University of Southern California.

Mr. McEachern brings to our Board his more than 38 years’ experience meeting the accounting and auditing needs of
financial institutions and real estate clients, including our Company . Mr. McEachern also brings his experience reporting as an
independent auditor to the boards of directors of a variety of public reporting companies and as a board member himself for
various companies and not-for-profit organizations.

Michael Wrotniak . Michael Wrotniak has been a Director of our Company since October 12, 2015, and has served as a
member of our Audit Committee since October 25, 2015. Since 2009, Mr. Wrotniak has been the Chief Executive Officer of
Aminco Resources, LLC (“Aminco™), a privately held international commodities trading firm. Mr. Wrotniak joined Aminco in
1991 and is credited with expanding Aminco’s activities in Europe and Asia. By establishing a joint venture with a Swiss
engineering company, as well as creating partmerships with Asia-based businesses, Mr. Wrotniak successfully diversified
Aminco’s product portfolio. Mr. Wrotniak became a partner of Aminco in 2002, Mr. Wrotniak has been for more than the past six
years, a trustee of St. Joseph's Church in Bronxville, New York, and is a member of the Board of Advisors of the Little Sisters of
the Poor ai their nursing home in the Bronx. New York since approximately 2004. Mr. Wrotniak graduated from Georgetown
University in 1989 with a B.S. in Business Administration (cum laude).

Mr. Wrotniak is a specialist in foreign trade, and brings to our Board his considerable experience in international
business, including foreign exchange risk mitigation.

Please see footnote 12 of the Beneficial Ownership of Securities table for information regarding the election of Ellen M.
Cotter, Margaret Cotter and James Cotter, Ir. to the Board.
Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

During the year ended December 31, 2015, our Board met 13 times. The Audit Committee held four meetings, the
Compensation Committee held three meetings, and the Tax Oversight Commitiee held one meeting. Each Director attended at
least 75% of these Board meetings and at least 75% of the meetings of all committees on which he or she served.

Indemnity Agreements

We currently have indemnity agreements in place with each of our current Directors and senior officers, as well as certain
of the Directors and senior officers of our subsidiaries. Under these agreements, we have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, to
indemnity each of these individuals against all expenses, liabilities and losses incurred in connection with any threatened, pending
or contemplated action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or eriminal, administrative or investigative, to which such individual is a
party or is threatened to be made a party, in any manner, based upon, arising from, relating 1o or by reason of the fact that such
individual is, was, shall be or has been a Director. officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of the Company.

17

JA2824



Compensation of Directors

During 2015, we paid our non-employee Directors $50,000 per year. We paid the Chair of our Audit Committee an
additional $7,000 per year, the Chair of our Compensation Commitiee an additional $5,000 per year, the Chair of our Tax
Oversight Committee an additional $18,000 per year and the Lead Independent Director an additional $5,000 per year.

In 2015, we also paid an additional one-time fee of $25,000 to each of Messrs. Adams, Gould, McEachern and Kane, and
an additional one-time fee of $75,000 to Mr. Storey. These fees were awarded in each case in recognition of their service on our
Board and Commitiees.

In March 2016, the Board approved additional special compensation to be paid for extraordinary services to the Company
and devotion of time in providing such services, as follows:

Guy W. Adams: $50.000
Edward L. Kane: $10,000
Douglas J. McEachern: $10.000

Some portion of such additional special compensation was for services rendered during 2015.

Upon joining our Board, new Directors historically received immediately vested five-year stock options to purchase
20.000 shares of our Class A Stock at an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant. However, this
process was discontinued in 2015, and Directors Codding and Wrotniak did not receive such grants. In January, 2015 and January,
2016, each of our then non-employee Directors received an annual grant of stock options to purchase 2,000 shares of our Class A
Stock. The options awarded have a term of five years, an exercise price equal to the market price of Class A Stock on the grant
date and were fully vested immediately upon grant. As discussed below. our outside director compensation was changed for the
remainder of 2016 and the years thereafler. See ™ 2016 and Future Director Compensation " below.

Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation to persons who served as our non -employee
Directors during 2015 for their services as Directors.

Fees Earned or Option All Other Compensation
Name Paid in Cash (8)  Awards ($)(1) (%) Total ($)
Judy Codding. 11,9: i (L1957
Margaret Cotter 35,000 42,656

Guy W. Adams 75000 82,656
William D. Gould 80,000 87.656
Edward L. Kane E 2105656
Douglas J.

McEachemn 89,656

Tim Storey & 21,1361 140,292

Michael Wrotniak 0 0 11,005

(1) Fair value of the award computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718,

(2) Until March 10, 2016, in addition to her Director’s fees, Ms. Margaret Cotter received a combination of fixed and incentive
management fees under the OBI management agreement described under the caption “Certain Transactions and Related Party
Transactions - OBI Management Agreement,” below.

(3) Mr. Storey served on our Board and Compensation Committee through October 11, 2015.

(4) Represents fees paid to Mr. Storey as the sole independent Director of our Company’s wholly owned New Zealand
subsidiary.
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2016 and Future Director Compensation

As discussed below in “Compensation Discussion and Analysis.” the Executive Committee of our Board, upon the
recommendation of our Chief Executive Officer, requested the Compensation Committee to evaluate the Company's compensation
policy for outside directors and to establish a plan that encompasses sound corporate practices consistent with the best interests of
the Company. Our Compensation Committee undertook to review, evaluate, revise and recommend the adoption of new
compensation arrangements for executive and management officers and outside directors of the Company. In January 2016, the
Compensation Committee retained the international compensation consulting firm of Willis Towers Watson as its advisor in this
process and also relied on our legal counsel, Greenberg Traurig, LLP.

The process followed by our Compensation Committee was similar to that in scope and approach used by the
Compensation Committee in considering executive compensation. Willis Towers Watson reviewed and presented to the
Compensation Committee the competitiveness of the Company’s outside director compensation. The Company’s outside director
compensation was compared to the compensation paid by the 15 peer companies (identified “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis™). Willis Towers Watson's key findings were:

e Ourannual Board retainer was slightly above the 50th percentile while the total cash compensation paid to
outside Directors was close to the 25th percentile.

s Due to our minimal annual Director equity grants, total direct compensation to our outside Directors was the
lowest among the peer group.

s We should consider increasing our committee cash compensation and annual Director equity grants to be in line
with peer practices.

The foregoing observations and recommendations were studied, questioned and thoroughly discussed by our
Compensation Committee. Willis Towers Watson and legal counsel over the course of our Compensation Committee
meetings. Among other things, our Compensation Committee discussed and considered the recommendations made by Willis
Towers Watson regarding Director retainer fees and equity awards for Directors. Following discussion, our Compensation
Committee recommended and our Board authorized that:

The Board retainer currently paid to outside Directors will not be changed.
The committee chair retainers will be increased to $20,000 for our Audit Committee and our Executive
Committee and $15,000 for our Compensation Committee.

e The committee member fees will be $7,500 for our Audit and Executive Committees and $5,000 for our
Compensation Committee.
The Lead Independent Director fee will be increased to $10,000.
The annual equity award value to Directors will be $60,000 as a fixed dollar value based on the closing price on
the date of the grant and. that the equity award be restricted stock units and that such restricted stock units have
a twelve month vesting period.

e Our Board also approved additional special compensation to be paid to certain directors for extraordinary
services provided to us and devotion of time in providing such services as follows:

o Guy W. Adams, $50,000
o Edward L. Kane, $10,000
o Douglas J. McEachern, $10,000

Our Board compensation was made effective for the year 2016 and equity grants were made on March 10, 2016 based
upon the closing of the Company's Class A Common Stock on such date.

Vote Required
The nine nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be elected to the Board.

The Board has nominated each of the nominees discussed above to hold office until the 2017 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and thereafter until his or her respective successor has been duly elected and qualified. In the event that
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any nominee shall be unable or unwilling to serve as a Director, the Board shall reserve discretionary authority to vote for a
substitute or substitutes. The Board has no reason to believe that any nominee will be unable or to serve and all nominees named
have consented to serve if elected.

Recommendation of the Board
THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” EACH OF THE DIRECTOR NOMINEES.

Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter, who together have shared voting control over an aggregate of 1.208.988 shares, or
71.9%, of our Class B Stock, have informed the Board that they intend to vote the shares beneficially held by them in favor of the
nine nominees named in this Proxy Statement for election to the Board under Proposal 1. Of the shares of Class B Stock
beneficially held by them, 696,080 shares are held of record by the Cotter Trust. James Cotter, Jr. alleges he has the right to vote
the shares held by the Cotter Trust. The Company believes that. under applicable Nevada Law, where there are multiple trustees of
a trust that is a record owner of voting shares of a Nevada corporation, and more than one trustee votes, the votes of the majority of
the voting trustees apply to all of the shares held of record by the trust. If more than one trustee votes and the votes are split evenly
on any particular proposal, each trustee may vote proportionally the shares held of record by the trust. Ellen M. Cotter and
Margaret Cotter, who collectively constitute a majority of the Co-Trustees of the Cotter Trust, have informed the Board that they
intend to vote the shares held by the Cotter Trust for the nine nominees named in this Proxy Statement for election to the Board
under Proposal 1. Accordingly, the Company believes that Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter collectively have the power and
authority to vote all of the shares of Class B Stock held of record by the Cotter Trust.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The following is the report of the Audit Committee of our Board with respect to our audited financial statements for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC or subject
to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), except to the extent that
we specifically incorporate it by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange
Act.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its general oversight of our financial reporting, internal
controls and aundit functions. The Audit Committee operates under a written Charter adopted by our Board. The Charter is
reviewed periodically and subject to change. as appropriate. The Audit Committee Charter describes in greater detail the full
responsibilities of the Audit Comumittee.

In this context, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited financial statements with
management and Grant Thornton LLP, our independent auditors. Management is responsible for: the preparation, presentation
and integrity of our financial statements: accounting and financial reporting principles: establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e})); establishing and maintaining internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(1)): evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures:
evaluating the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting: and evaluating any change in internal control over financial
reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting. Grant
Thornton LLP is responsible for performing an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements and expressing an
opinion on the contformity of those financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, as well as an opinion on (i) management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and
(ii) the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has discussed with Grant Thornton LLP the matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard
No. 16, “Communications with Audit Committees” and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5, “An Audit of Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting that is Integrated with Audit of Financial Statements.” In addition, Grant Thornton LLP has provided the
Audit Committee with the written disclosures and the letter required by the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as
amended, “Independence Discussions with Audit Committees,” and the Audit Committee has discussed with Grant Thornton LLP
their firm’s independence.
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Based on their review of the consolidated financial statements and discussions with and representations from management
and Grant Thornton LLP referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board that the audited financial statements
be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2015 for filing with the SEC.

It is not the duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s financial
statements are complete and accurate and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, That is
the responsibility of management and the Company's independent registered public accounting firm. In giving its recommendation
to the Board, the Audit Committee relied on (1) management’s representation that such financial statements have been prepared
with integrity and objectivity and in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and (2) the
report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm with respect to such financial statements.

Respectfully submitted by the Audit Committee.

Douglas J. McEachern, Chair
Edward L. Kane
Michael Wrotniak

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES

Except as described below. the following table sets forth the shares of Class A Stock and Class B Stock beneficially
owned on April 22, 2016 by:

each of our incumbent Directors and Director nominees;

each of our incumbent executive officers and named executive officers set forth in the Summary Compensation
Table of this Proxy Statement;

each person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Class B Stock: and

all of our incumbent Directors and incumbent executive officers as a group.

Except as noted, and except pursuant to applicable community property laws, we believe that each beneficial owner has
sole voting power and sole investment power with respect to the shares shown. An asterisk (*) denotes beneficial ownership of
less than 1%.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership (1)

Class A Stock Class B Stock

Name and Address of Percentage of Number of Percentage of
Beneficial Owner Number of Shares Stock Shares Stock
Directors and Named Executive Officers

Ellen M. Cotter (2)12) 5 i s s 3 6968 s i Ty s S LT3 BB o 608
James Cotter, Jr. (12)(13) 3,084,976 14.2 696,080 414
Margaret Cotter: (3123 i e e eRRRSIOT2 s R R SRIOBR. i s 6000
Guy W. Adams (8) 2,000 * - -
Wy Cadding (01 e e
William D. Gould (4) 56,340 * - -
(Hdward Lo Kane {9 i R e R e
Andrzej J. Matyczynski (16) 50,880 * - -
Bouglas T MeBachern (6) - i 30800 e B B Dl
Michael Wrotniak (10) 2,000 - - -
‘Robert F. Smer']iug-_'(.?)'_ .............................. AITS0 e
Wayne Smith (11) 3,000 * -- --
SWilliam BHIS (PR i i i i 00 i s n R e

Dev Ghose (18) 25,000 * -
$%or Greater Stockholders e
James J. Cotter Living Trust (12)
Estate of James I,
(12

1897.649 88 696080 414
427808 ..... :)_55
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Mark Cuban (14) 72,164 = 207,913 124
5424 Deloache Avenue
Dallas, Texas 75220

Jaml..:s I. Cotter Fo.mld.alim] 102,751 *

Cotter 2005 Grandchildren’s Trust = cnn i BREO0 i LEE N
All Directors and executive officers as a 5,032,094 232 1.209,088 71.9

group (14 persons]

(1) Percentage ownership is determined based on 21,654,302 shares of Class A Stock and 1,680,590 shares of Class B Stock
outstanding on April 22, 2016. Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with SEC rules. Shares subject to
options that are currently exercisable, or exercisable within 60 days following the date as of which this information is
provided, and not subject to repurchase as of that date, which are indicated by footnote, are deemed to be beneficially owned
by the person holding the options and are deemed to be outstanding in computing the percentage ownership of that person, but
not in computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

(2) The Class A Stock shown includes 20,000 shares subject to stock options as well as 799,765 shares held directly. The Class
A Stock shown also includes 102,751 shares held by the James I. Cotter Foundation (the “Cotter Foundation™). Ellen M.
Cotter is Co-Trustee of the Cotter Foundation and, as such, is deemed to beneficially own such shares. Ms. Cotter disclaims
beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of her pecuniary interest, if any, in such shares. The Class A Stock
shown also includes 297.070 shares that are part of the Estate of James J. Cotter, Deceased (the “Cotter Estate™) that is being
administered in the State of Nevada and 29,730 shares from the Cotter Profit Sharing Plan. On December 22, 2014, the
District Court of Clark County, Nevada, appointed Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter as co-executors of the Cotter
Estate. As such, Ellen M. Cotter would be deemed to beneficially own such shares. The shares of Class A Stock shown also
include 1,897.649 shares held by the James J. Cotter Living Trust (the “Cotter Trust”). See footnote (12) to this table for
information regarding beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Cotter Trust. As Co-Trustees of the Cotter Trust, the
three Cotter family members would be deemed to beneficially own such shares depending upon the outcome of the matters
described in footmote (12). Together Margaret Cotter and Ellen M. Cotter beneficially own 1,208,988 shares of Class B Stock.

(3) The Class A Stock shown includes 17,000 shares subject to stock options as well as 804,173 shares held directly. The Class
A Stock shown also includes 289,390 shares held by the Cotter 2005 Grandchildren’s Trust and 29,730 shares from the Cotter
Profit Sharing Plan. Margaret Cotter is Co-Trustee of the Cotter 2005 Grandchildren’s Trust and, as such, is deemed to
beneficially own such shares. Ms. Cotler disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of her pecuniary
interest, if any, in such shares. The Class A Stock shown includes 297,070 shares of Class A Stock that are part of the Cotter
Estate. As Co-Executor of the Cotier Estate, Ms. Cotter would be deemed to beneficially own such shares. The shares of
Class A Stock shown also include 1,897,649 shares held by the Cotter Trust. See footnotes (12) for information regarding
beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Cotter Trust. As Co-Trustees of the Cotter Trust, the three Cofter family
members would be deemed to beneficially own such shares depending upon the outcome of the matters described in footnote
(12). Together Margaret Cotter and Ellen M. Cotter beneficially own 1,208,988 shares of Class B Stock.

(4) The Class A Stock shown includes 19,000 shares subject to stock options.
(5) The Class A Stock shown includes 4,000 shares subject to stock options.
(6) The Class A Stock shown includes 29,000 shares subject to stock options.
(7) The Class A Stock shown consists of 43,750 shares subject to stock options.

(8) The Class A Stock shown consists of 2,000 shares subject to stock options.
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(9) The Class A Stock shown consists of 2,000 shares subject to stock options.
(10) The Class A Stock shown consists of 2,000 shares subject to stock options.
(11) The Class A Stock shown consists of 3,000 restricted stock grants.

(12) On June 5, 2013, the Declaration of Trust establishing the Cotter Trust was amended and restated (the “2013 Restatement™)
to provide that, upon the death of James I. Cotter, Sr., the Trust’s shares of Class B Stock were to be held in a separate trust, to
be known as the “Reading Voting Trust,” for the benefit of the grandchildren of Mr. Cotter, Sr. Mr. Cotter. Sr. passed away on
September 13, 2014, The 2013 Restatement also names Margaret Cotter the sole trustee of the Reading Voting Trust and
names James Cotter, Jr. as the first alternate trustee in the event that Ms. Cotter is unable or unwilling to act as trustee. The
trustees of the Cotter Trust, as of the 2013 Restatement, were Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter. On June 19, 2014,
Mr. Cotter, Sr. signed a 2014 Partial Amendment to Declaration of Trust (the “2014 Amendment”) that names Margaret Cotter
and James Cotter, Jr. as the co-trustees of the Reading Voting Trust and provides that, in the event they are unable 1o agree
upon an important trust decision. they shall rotate the trusteeship between them annually on each January Ist. It further directs
the trustees of the Reading Voting Trust to, among other things, vote the Class B Stock held by the Reading Voting Trust in
favor of the appointment of Ellen M. Cotter, Margaret Cotter and James Cotter, Jr. to our Board and to take all actions to
rotate the chairmanship of our Board among the three of them. The 2014 Amendment states that James Cotter, Jr., Ellen M.
Cotter and Margaret Cotter are Co -Trustees of the Cotter Trust. On February 5, 2015, Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter
filed a Peiition in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, captioned In re James J. Cotter Living
Trust dated August 1, 2000 (Case No. BP159755). The Petition, among other things, seeks relief that could determine the
validity of the 2014 Amendment and who between Margaret Cotter and James Cotter Jr. will have authority as trustee or co-
trustees of the Reading Voting Trust to vote the shares of Class B Stock shown (in whole or in part) and the scope and extent
of such authority. Mr. Cotier, Jr. has filed an opposition to the Petition. The 696,080 shares of Class B Stock shown in the
table as being beneficially owned by the Cotter Trust are reflected on the Company’s stock register as being held by the Cotter
Trust and not by the Reading Voting Trust. The information in the table reflects direct ownership of the 696,080 shares of
Class B Stock by the Cotter Trust in accordance with the Company’s stock register and beneficial ownership of such shares as
being held by each of the three potential Co-Trustees, Mr. Cotter, Jr.. Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter, who, unless a court
determines otherwise, are deemed to share voting and investment power of the shares held by the Cotter Trust.

(13) The Class A Stock shown includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options as well as 770,186 shares held directly. The Class
A Stock shown also includes 289,390 shares held by the Cotter 2005 Grandehildren’s Trust and 102,751 held by the Cotter
Foundation. Mr. Cotter, Jr. is Co-Trustee of the Cotter 2005 Grandchildren’s Trust and of the Cotter Foundation and. as such,
is deemed to beneficially own such shares. Mr. Cotter, Jr. disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent
of his pecuniary interest, if any, in such shares. The Class A Stock shown also includes 1,897,649 shares held by the Cotter
Trust, which became irrevocable upon Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s death on September 13, 2014. See footnote (12) above for
information regarding beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Cotter Trust. As Co-Trustees of the Cotter Trust, the
three Cotter family members would be deemed to beneficially own such shares depending upon the outcome of the matters
described in footote (12). The Class A Stock shown includes 770,186 shares pledged as security for a margin loan.

(14) Based on Mr. Cuban’s Form 5 filed with the SEC on February 19, 2016 and Schedule 13D/A filed on February 22, 2016.

(15) Based on the PICO Holdings, Inc. and PICO Deferred Holdings. LLC Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on January 14, 2009,

(16) The Class A Stock shown includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options.

(17) The Class A Stock shown includes 8,815 shares subject to stock options.

(18) The Class A Stock shown includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and Directors, and persons who own more than 10% of
our common stock, to file reports regarding ownership of, and transactions in, our securities with the SEC and to provide us with
copies of those filings. Based solely on our review of the copies received by us and on the written representations of certain
reporting persons, we believe that the following Forms 3 and 4 for transactions that occurred in
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2015 were not filed or filed later than is required under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:

Filer Form Transaction Date Date of Filing
Andrzej J. Matyezynski 4 December 31. 2015 Not filed "
Andrzej J. Matyeczynski 4 December 31, 2014 Not filed @
Andrzej 1. Matyczynski 4 December 31. 2013 ‘Not filed
Mark Cuban 4 November 11, 2015 Not filed
Estate of James J. Cotter 4 December 31. 2014 Qctober 9, 2015
James J. Cotter Living Trust | 3 September 13, 2014 October 9, 2015
Fillen M. Cotter 4 April 16, 2015 October 9, 2015
Margaret Cotter 4 April §, 2015 QOctober 9, 2015
William Gould 4 April 6, 2015 October 8, 2015
James Cotter Jr. 4 March 10, 2016 March 15, 2016
James Cotfer Jr. ! November 25, 2015 December 1, 2015
James Cotter Jr. 4 August 17, 2015 August 24, 2015
James Cotter Jr. 4 July 16, 2015 July 31,2015
James Cotter Jr. 4 June 30, 2015 @ July 16, 2015
James Cofter; Ir. 4 June 4, 20167 July 16,2015
Wayne Smith 4 July 16, 2015 July 31, 2015

(1) This transaction was reported on Form 5 on April 22, 2016, which is later than required under Section 16(a) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934.

(2) This transaction was reported on Form 5 on March 17,

Exchange Act of 1934,

(3) This transaction was reported on Form 5 on March 12,

Exchange Act of 1934,

2015, which is later than required under Section 16(a) of the Securities

2014, which is later than required under Section 16(a) of the Securities

(4) This transaction was reported on Form 5 on February 19, 2016, which is later than required under Section 16(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

(5) An additional Form 4 for Mr. Cotter Jr. was reported with a typographical error in the transaction date. The transaction date
was reported as December 1. 2012, but should have been reported as December 1, 2015, This Form 4 was timely filed on

December 3, 2015.

(6) Pursuant to Form 4/A filed August 24, 2015, the earliest transaction date was changed from July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2015.
(7) Pursuvant to Form 4/A filed November 17, 2015, the earliest transaction date was changed from July 1, 2015 to June 4, 2015.

In addition to the above, the following Forms 5 for transactions that occurred in 2013, 2014 and 2015 were filed later than
is required under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Filer

Andrzej J. Matyczynski
Andrzej J. Matyczynski
Andrzej J. Matyczynski
Mark Cuban

Form

L Lh L L

Transaction Date

December 31, 2015
December 31,2014
December 31, 2013
November 11,2015

Insofar as we are aware, all required filings have now been made.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers. other than Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret
Cotter, whose information is set forth above under “Proposal 1: Election of Directors — Nominees for Election.”

_N.Emg Agg. Eﬂ_&. R
Dev Ghose 62 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and

Corporate Secretary
- Robert F. Smerling SR President - Domestic Cinemas
Wayne D. Smith 58 Managing Director — Australia and New Zealand
- Andizej J. Matyczynski 63 Dxeculive Vice President - (ilobal Operations

Devasis (“Dev™) Ghose . Dev Ghose was appointed Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on May 11, 2015, Executive
Viee President on March 10, 2016 and Corporate Secretary on April 28, 2016. Owver the past 25 years, Mr. Ghose served as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and in a number of senior finance roles with three NYSE-listed
companies: Skilled Healthcare Group (a health services company, now part of Genesis HealthCare) from 2008 to 2013, Shurgard
Storage Centers, Inc. (an international company focused on the acquisition, development and operation of self-storage centers in
the US and Europe; now part of Public Storage) from 2004 to 2006, and HCP, Inc.. (which invests primarily in real estate serving
the healthcare industry) from 1986 to 2003, and as Managing Director-International for Green Street Advisors (an independent
research and trading firm concentrating on publicly traded real estate corporate securities in the US & Europe) from 2006 to
2007. Prior thereto, Mr. Ghose worked for 10 years for PricewaterhouseCoopers in the U.S. from 1975 to 1985, and KPMG in the
UK. He qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the U.S. and a Chartered Accountant in the U.K.. and holds an Honors
Degree in Physics from the University of Delhi, India and an Executive M.B.A. from the University of California, Los Angeles.

Robert I'. Smerling . Robert I'. Smerling has served as President of our domestic cinema operations since
1994, Mr. Smerling has been in the cinema industry for 58 years and, immediately before joining our Company, served as the
President of Loews Theatres Management Corporation.

Wayne D. Smith . Wayne D. Smith joined our Company in April 2004 as our Managing Director - Australia and New
Zealand, after 23 years with Hoyts Cinemas. During his time with Hoyts, he was a key driver, as Head of Property, in growing that
company’s Australian and New Zealand operations via an AUD$250 million expansion to more than 50 sites and 400
sereens. While at Hoyts, his career included heading up the group’s car parking company. cinema operations, representing Hovts
as a director on various joint venture interests, and coordinating many asset acquisitions and disposals the company made.

Andrzej J. Matyezynski . On March 10, 2016, Mr. Matyczynski was appointed as our Executive Vice President—Global
Operations. From May 11, 2015 until March 10, 2016, Andrzej J. Matyczynski acted as the Strategic Corporate Advisor to the
Company. Mr. Matyczynski served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer from November 1999 until May 11, 2015 and as
Corporate Secretary from May 10, 2011 to October 20, 2014. Prior to joining our Company, he spent 20 years in various senior
roles thronghout the world at Beckman Coulter Inc., a U.S. based multi-national. Mr. Matyczynski earned a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration from the University of Southern California.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Role and Authority of the Compensation Committee

Our Board has established a standing Compensation Committee consisting of three of our non-employee Directors. Asa
Controlled Company, we are exempt from the NASDAQ) Listing Rules regarding the determination of executive compensation
solely by independent directors. Notwithstanding such exemption. we adopted a Compensation Committee charter on March 10,
2016 requiring our Compensation Committee members to meet the independence rules
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and regulations of the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Prior to the adoption of our Compensation Committee Charter on March 10, 2016, it was our practice that the
Compensation Committee would recommend to the full Board the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and of the other
Cotter family members who serve as officers of our Company. Qur Board, with the Cotter family Directors abstaining, typically
accepted without modification the compensation recommendations of the Compensation Committee, but reserved the right to
modify the recommendations or take other compensation actions of'its own. Prior to his resignation as our Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. James I. Cotter, Sr. was delegated responsibility by our Board for determining the compensation of our executive
officers other than himself and his family members. The Board exercised oversight of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s executive compensation
decisions as a part of his performance as our former Chief Executive Officer.

Earlier this year, our Board adopted a number of actions intended to bring certain of our governance practices into line
with best practices, including substantial steps in the area of Executive Compensation, which are discussed below under "2016 and
Future Compensation Structure." First, this discussion will address our executive compensation for 2015,

2015 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The individuals named in the Summary Compensation Table, below, are referred to as the “named executive officers.”

Chief Executive Officer Compensation

As a matter of general practice prior to 2016, the Compensation Conunittee recommended to our Board the annual
compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, based primarily upon the Compensation Committee’s annual review of peer group
practices and the advice of an independent third-party compensation consultant engaged annually to assist the Compensation
Committee. The Compensation Committee had established three components of our Chief Executive Officer’s compensation —a
base cash salary, a discretionary annual cash bonus, and a fixed stock grant. The objective of each element was to reasonably
reward our Chief Executive Officer for his or her performance and leadership.

The Compensation Committee engaged executive compensation consultants Towers Watson (now known as Willis
Towers Watson) in 2012 to analyze our Chiel Executive Officer’s total direct compensation compared (o a peer group of
companies. In preparing that analysis. Willis Towers Watson, in consultation with our management, including James J. Cotter, Sr..
identified a peer group of companies in the real estate and cinema exhibition industries, our two business segments, based on
market value, industry, and business description.

Prior to the work commenced in early 2016, Willis Towers Watson had most recently updated its analysis of our Chief
Executive Officer’s compensation in 2014, when Mr. Cotter, St. held that position. The Willis Towers Watson analysis focused on
the competitiveness of’ Mr. Cotter, Sr."s annual base salary, total cash compensation and total direct compensation ( i.e .. total cash
compensation plus expected value of long-term compensation) relative to a peer group of 17 United States and Australian
companies and published compensation survey data, and to our Company's compensation philosophy, which was to target
Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s total direct compensation to the 66th percentile of the peer group. The peer group consisted of the following 17
companies:

Acadia Realty Trust Inland Real Estate Corp.
Amalgamated Holdings Ltd. Kite Realty Group Trust

Associated Estates Realty Corp. LTC Properties Inc.

Carmike Cinemas Inc. Ramco-Gershenson Properties Trust
Cedar Shopping Centers Inc. Regal Entertainment Group
Cinemark Holdings Inc. The Marcus Corporation
Entertainment Properties Trust Urstadt Biddle Properties Inc.
Glimeher Realty Trust Village Roadshow Ltd.

IMAX Corporation

Following his appointment on August 7, 2014 as our Chief Executive Officer and until his termination from that position
on June 12, 2015, James Cotter, Jr. continued 1o receive the same base salary of $335.000 that he had previously
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been receiving in his capacity as our President. Mr. Cotter, Jr. was not awarded a discretionary cash bonus for 2014 or 2015.

On June 12, 2015. our Board appointed Ellen M. Cotter as our interim President and Chief Executive Officer. No new
compensatory arrangements were entered into with Ms. Cotter in connection with her appointment as interim President and Chief
Executive Officer, and she continued to receive the same base salary of $402,000 that she received at the time of her appointment.

In early 2016, the Compensation Commitiee, with the assistance of Willis Towers Watson and Ms. Cotter, adopted new
procedures regarding officer compensation. As a part thereof, unlike prior years, the Compensation Committee evaluated the
performance of our Chief Executive Officer and our named executive officers and determined their 2015 cash bonus
awards. Having had the benefit of further analysis of the Company's executive compensation and revisions of the Company’s
compensation philosophy. the Compensation Committee approved a $250.000 bonus for Ellen M. Cotter for her 2015 performance
as interim President and Chief Executive Officer.

Total Direct Compensation

In 2015, we and our Compensation Committee had no policy regarding the amount of salary and cash bonus paid to our
Chief Executive Officer or other named executive officers in proportion to their total direct compensation.

Compensation of Other Named Executive Officers

Until the reassessment of compensation practices in early 2016, the compensation of the Cotter family members as
executive officers of our Company was determined by the Compensation Committee based on the same compensation philosophy
used to determined Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s compensation prior to his retirement. The Cotter family members’ respective compensation
packages each consisted of a base cash salary, discretionary cash bonus and, on occasion, discretionary grants of stock options.

Historically, our Chief Executive Officer determined the base salaries of our executive officers other than himself and
members of his family. Our Chief Executive Officer considered the following guidelines in setting the type and amount of
executive compensation:

1. Executive compensation should primarily be used to:

e attract and retain talented executives;

« reward executives appropriately for their individual efforts and job performance; and

o  afford executives appropriate incentives to achieve the short-term and long-term business objectives established
by management and our Board.

2. In support of the foregoing. the total compensation paid to our named executive officers should be:

e fair, both to our Company and to the named executive officers:
e  reasonable in nature and amount; and
s« competitive with market compensation rates.

Personal and Company performances were just two factors historically considered in establishing base salaries. We had
no pre-established policy or target for allocating total executive compensation between base and discretionary or incentive
compensation, or between cash and stock-based incentive compensation. Historically. including in 2015, a majority of total
compensation to our named executive officers has been in the form of annual base salaries and discretionary cash bonuses,
although stock bonuses have been granted from time to time under special circumstances.

These elements of our executive compensation are discussed further below.
Salary : Amnual base salary was intended to compensate named executive officers for services rendered during the fiscal
year in the ordinary course of performing their job responsibilities. Factors considered in setting the base salaries prior to 2015

included (i) the negotiated terms of each executive’s employment agreement or the original terms of employment, (ii) the
individual's position and level of responsibility with our Company, (iii) periodic review of the
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executive's compensation, both individually and relative to our other named executive officers, and (iv) a subjective evaluation of
individual job performance of the executive.

Cash Bonus : Historically, we had awarded annual cash bonuses to supplement the base salaries of our named executive
officers, and our Board delegated to our former Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Cotter, Sr., the authority to determine in his
discretion the annual cash bonuses, if any, to be paid to our executive officers other than the Cotter family executives.

In early 2016, following the reassessment of the Company’s compensation structure discussed below, the Compensation
Committee, meeting in executive session, approved a 2015 performance bonus for the Chiefl Executive Officer as well as our other
named executive otficers.

Stock Bonus : Equity incentive bonuses were available for award to align our executives’ long-term compensation to
appreciation in stockholder value over time. Historically, awards have not been granted on any fixed schedule, but instead were
granted from time to time to new hires and for the recognition and retention of executives.

If awarded, it has generally been our policy to value stock options and resiricied stock at the closing price of our common
stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market on the date the award was approved or on the date of hire, if the stock is granted
as a recruitment incentive. When stock was granted as bonus compensation for a particular transaction, the award may have been
based on the market price on a date calculated from the closing date of the relevant transaction. Stock options granted to our
employees generally have a five year term and vest over four years in equal installments upon the annual anniversaries of the date
of the grant. subject to continued employment upon each vesting date. Awards may also have been subject to vesting and
limitations on voting or other rights.

As discussed below, our Board substantially changed these practices for 2016 and future years.

Other than James Cotter, Jr."s role as Chief Executive Officer and thereafter, Ms. Ellen M. Cotter’s role as Chief
Executive Officer, none of our executive officers played a role in determining the compensation of our named executive officers
during 2015.

2015 Base Salaries and Bonuses

We have historically established base salaries and target discretionary cash bonuses for our named executive officers
through negotiations with the individual named executive officer, generally at the time the named executive officer commenced
employment with us, subject to additional increases from time 1o time based on performance and tenure, with the intent of
providing annual cash compensation at a level sufficient to attract and retain talented and experienced individuals.

QOur Compensation Committee recommended and our Board approved the following base salaries for Mr. Cotter, Jr. and
Ellen M. Cotter for 2015:

Name . & - . ®
Ellen M. Cotter 335,000 402,000
James Cotter, Ir ¥ © 335,000 335,000

(1) Ellen M. Cotter was appointed Interim President and Chief Executive Officer on June 12, 2015 and President and Chief
Executive Officer on January 8, 2016.

(2) James Cotter, Jr. served as President from June 1, 2013 through June 12, 2015, and Chief Executive Officer from August
7, 2014 through June 12, 2015. Mr. Cotter, Jr. had an annual base salary of $335,000 for 2015. When his employment
ended, Mr. Cotter, Jr. earned a prorated base salary of $195.417 for 2015, which includes his severance payment paid
through the end of July 2015.

With the exception of Mr. Ghose, who was appointed Chief Financial Officer on May 11, 2015, Mr. Matyczynski, whose
base salary was $324,000 in 2015, and Mr. Smith, whose base salary was $274.897. the base salaries of our other named executive
officers generally remained at the levels established for 2014, as shown in the following table:
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2014 Base Salary 2015 Base Salary
_Name ($) (%)
Dev Ghose ™ :

309,000 324,000

Andrzej J. Matyczynski
WilllamBHIS 2 BEABOT 350,000
Robert F. Smerling 350,000 350,000
Z3W§Yﬂé.Sm'ith'ii LR e L R R

(1) Dev Ghose was appointed Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on May 11, 2015, For 2015, Mr. Ghose earned a
prorated base salary of $257,692.

(2) Andrzej J. Matyczynski, our former Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary, has a written agreement
with our Company that provides certain severance and deferred compensation benefits. Mr. Matyezynski resigned as
Corporate Secretary on October 20, 2014 and as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer effective May 11, 2015,
however he continued as an employee to assist in the transition of our new Chief Financial Officer. and was appointed
Executive Vice President-- Global Operations on March 10, 2016. Under Mr. Matyczynski’s employment contract, upon
his retirement and provided there has been no termination for cause, he will become entitled under his agreement to a
lump-sum severance payment of $50.000, subject to certain offsets, and to the payment of his vested benefit under his
deferred compensation plan discussed below in this section.

(3) William Ellis submitted his resignation on February 18, 2016, effective March 11, 2016. For 2014, Mr. Ellis earned a
prorated base salary of $71,795.

(4) Mr. Smith’s salary was paid in Australian Dollars in the amounts of AUDS359.250 in 2014 (shown in the table in U.S.
Dollars using exchange rate 0.9027). and AUD$365,360 in 2015 (shown in the table in U.S. Dollars using exchange rate
0.7524).

Prior to 2016, all named executive officers were eligible to receive a discretionary annual cash bonus. Cash bonuses are
typically prorated to reflect a partial year of service.

In connection with consideration of 2015 performance bonuses for members of management, the Chief Executive Officer
prepared and submitted recommendations for each of the executive and management team members, other than herself. In
considering these recommendations, the Compensation Committee had the benefit of its extensive deliberations as well as the data
provided by Willis Towers Watson. In executive session, the Compensation Committee considered and approved a 2015
performance bonus for the Chief Executive Officer. The proposed bonus amounts were reviewed and approved by the Board in
February 2016. The Board approval covered the named executive officers set forth below, as well as select other officers and
executives.

The following are the 2015 Performance Bonuses approved pursuant to the above process:

2015 Performance Bonus

Name (%)
:Z E]‘lt‘:n M._'C'o"rter O
Dev Ghose 75,000

(1) Pursuant to his employment agreement. in 2015 Mr. Ellis received a guaranteed bonus of $60.000, and as such, it was not
subject to the process above. Mr. Ellis submitted his resignation on February 18, 2016.

(2) Mr. Smith’s bonus was paid in Australian Dollars in the amount of AUD$95.000 (shown in the table in U.S. Dollars
using exchange rate 0.7524).

In the past, we have offered stock options and stock awards to our employees, including named executive
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officers, as the long-term incentive component of our compensation program. We sometimes granted equity awards to new hires
upon their commencing employment with us and from time to time thereafter. Our stock options allow employees to purchase
shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant and may or
may not be intended to qualify as “incentive stock options™ for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Generally, the stock options we
granted to our employees vest over four years in equal installments upon the annual anniversaries of the date of grant, subject to
their continued employment with us on each vesting date.

Employment Agreements

James Cotter. Jr. On June 12, 2013, the Board terminated the employment of James Cotter, Jr. as our President and Chief
Executive Officer. Under Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s employment agreement with the Company, he is entitled to the compensation and
benefits he was receiving at the time of a termination without cause for a period of twelve months from notice of termination. At
the time of termination, Mr. Cotter Jr.’s annual salary was $335,000, and the Company paid Mr. Cotter Jr. severance payments in
the amount of $43.750. A dispute has arisen between the Company and Mr. Cotter as to whether the Company is required to
continue to make these payments. which dispute is currently subject to arbitration.  Mr. Cotter’s employment agreement also
provided for the grant of options to purchase 100,000 shares of Class A Stock at an exercise price of $6.31 per share. Mr. Cotter,
Jr. has previously exercised options to purchase 50,000 of such shares.  Mr. Cotter, Jr. has asserted that the options to exercise the
remainder of the 50,000 options survived the termination of his employment. The Company’s position is that all unvested options
expired upon the termination of Mr. Cotter, Ir."s employment. This matter is currently under review by the Compensation
Committee.

Dev Ghose . On April 20, 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Dev Ghose, pursuant to which he
agreed to serve as our Chief Financial Officer for a one-year term commencing on May 11, 2015. The employment agreement
provides that Mr. Ghose is to receive an annual base salary of $400,000, with an annual target bonus of $200,000, and employee
benefits in line with those received by our other senior executives. Mr. Ghose was also granted stock options to purchase 100,000
shares of Class A Stock at an exercise price equal to the closing price of our Class A Stock on the date of grant and which will vest
in equal annual increments over a four-year period, subject to his remaining in our continuous employ through each annual vesting
date.

Under his employment agreement, we may terminate Mr. Ghose’s employment with or without cause (as defined) at any
time. If we terminate his employment without cause or fail to renew his employment agreement upon expiration without cause,
Mr. Ghose will be entitled to receive severance in an amount equal to the salary and benefits he was receiving for a period of 12
months following such termination or non-renewal. If the termination is in connection with a “change of control” (as defined), Mr.
Ghose would be entitled to severance in an amount equal to the compensation he would have received for a period two years from
such termination.

William D. Ellis . On October 20, 2014, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. William D. Ellis, which was
amended in September 2015, pursuant to which he agreed to serve as our General Counsel for a term of three years. The
employment agreement provided that Mr. Ellis was to receive an annual base salary of $350,000, with an annual guaranteed bonus
of at least $60,000. In addition, Mr. Ellis was granted stock options to purchase 60,000 shares of Class A Stock at an exercise
price equal to the closing price of our Class A Stock on the date of grant and which will vest in equal annual increments over a
three-year period, subject to his remaining in our continuous employ through each annual vesting date.

On February 18, 2016, Mr. Ellis submitted his resignation as our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary. On March
11, 2016, we entered into an agreement with Mr. Ellis, pursuant to which, in consideration of the payment to Mr. Ellis of $205,010
(to be paid in 19 equal semi-monthly installments of $10,790) and the vesting of options to acquire 20,000 shares of our Class A
Common Stock on October 15, 2016, Mr. Ellis has agreed to be available to advise us on matters on which he previously worked
until December 31, 2016. Mr. Ellis' last day of employment was March 11, 2016.

Andrzej J. Matvezynski . Mr. Matyczynski, our former Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary, has a
written agreement with our Company that provides for a lump-sum severance payment of $50,000, provided there has been no
termination for cause and subject to certain offsets, and to the payment of his vested benetit under his deferred compensation plan
discussed below in the section entitled "Other Elements of Compensation.” Mr. Matyezynski resigned as our Corporate Secretary
on October 20, 2014 and as our Chief Financial Officer and
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Treasurer effective May 11, 2015, but continued as an employee in order to assist in the transition of our new Chief Financial
Officer. He was appointed EVP-Global Operations in March 2016.

2016 AND FUTURE COMPENSATION STRUCTURE
Background

In early 2016, our Compensation Committee conducted a thorough evaluation of our compensation policy for executive
officers and outside directors 10 establish a plan that encompasses best corporate practices consistent with our best interests. Qur
Compensation Committee undertook to review. evaluate, revise and recommend the adoption of new compensation arrangements
for our executive and management officers and outside directors. In January 2016, our Compensation Committee retained the
international compensation consulting firm of Willis Towers Watson as its advisor in this process and also relied on the advice of
our legal counsel, Greenberg Traurig, LLP.

Compensation Committee Charter

On February 29, 2016, our Board adopted the Charter of the Compensation Committee, or the Compensation Committee
Charter. In keeping with our intent to implement best practices, the Compensation Committee Charter delegated the following
responsibilities to our Compensation Committee:

e in consultation with our senior management, to establish our compensation philosophy and objectives;

e toreview and approve all compensation, including salary, bonus, incentive and equity compensation, for our Chief
Executive Officer and our executive officers. provided that our Chief Executive Officer may not be present during
voting or deliberations on his or her compensation:

e toapprove all employment agreements, severance arrangements, change in control provisions and agreements and
any special or supplemental benefits applicable to our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers:

e toapprove and adopt, on behalf of our Board, incentive compensation and equity-based compensation plans, or, in
the case of plans requiring stockholder approval, to review and recommend such plan to the stockholders:

e toreview and discuss with our management and our counsel and auditors. the disclosures made in Compensation
Discussion and Analysis and advise our Board whether, in the view of the Committee, the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis is, in form and substance, satisfactory for inclusion in our annual report on Form 10-K and proxy
statement for the annual meeting of stockholders;

e 10 prepare an annual compensation committee report for inclusion in our proxy statement for the annual meeting of
stockholders in accordance with the applicable rules of the SEC;

e to periodically review and reassess the adequacy of this charter and recommend any proposed changes to the Board
for approval:

e to administer our equity-based compensation plans, including the grant of stock options and other equity awards
under such plans, the exercise of any discretion accorded to the administrator of all such plans and the interpretation
of the provisions of such plans and the terms of any awards made under the plans: and

e toconsider the results of the most recent stockholder advisory vote on executive compensation required by Section
14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 when determining compensation policies and making decisions on
executive compensation.

Under the Compensation Committee Charter, “executive officer” is defined to mean the chief executive officer,
president, chief financial officer. chiel operating officer, general counsel, principal accounting officer, any executive vice president
of the Company and any Managing Director of Reading Entertainment Australia Pty Ltd and/or Reading New Zealand, Ltd..
provided that any compensation determinations pertaining to Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret Cotter will be subject to review and
approval by our Board.

As noted above, the Compensation Committee Charter was adopted as part of our Board's implementation of additional
corporate best practices measures. The Compensation Committee Charter will apply for the remainder of 2016 and the future,
subject to further amendments and modifications by our Board. The Compensation Committee’s charter is available on our
website at http://'www readingrdi.com/Committee-Charters .

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation policies and practices effecting employees in addition to
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those applicable to executive officers. The Compensation Committee has determined that it is not reasonably likely that our
compensation policies and practices for its employees would have a material adverse effect on our Company.

Execntive Compensation

In carly 2016, our Compensation Committee met with Willis Towers Watson, our Chief Executive Officer, and our legal
counsel, to review the Company’s compensation levels, programs and practices. As part of its engagement, Willis Towers Watson
reviewed our compensation paid to executive and management officers by position, in light of each person’s duties and
responsibilities. Willis Towers Watson then compared our top executive and management positions to (i) executive compensation
paid by a peer group, and (ii) two surveys, the 2015 Willis Towers Watson Data Services Top Management Survey Report and the
2015 Mercer MBD Executive Compensation Survey. in each case, identified by office position and duties performed by the
officer. The peer group utilized by Willis Towers Watson included the following 15 companies:

Arcadia Realty Trust Inland Real Estate Corp.

Associated Estates Realty Corp. Kite Realty Group Trust

Carmike Cinemas Inc. Marcus Corporation

Cedar Realty Trust Inc. Pennsylvania Real Estate Investment Trust
Charter Hall Group Rameco-Gershenson Properties Trust

EPR Properties Urstadt Biddle Properties Inc.

Vicinity Centres Village Roadshow Ltd.

IMAX Corporation

Willis Towers Watson selected the above peer group noting that the companies selected (i) included 12 United States
based companies and three Australian based companies to reflect our geographic operations. and (ii) were comparable to us based
on the key finaneial criteria of being between 1/3 “and three times our revenue.

The executive pay assessment prepared by Willis Towers Watson measured our executive and management compensation
against compensation paid by peer group companies and the companies listed in the two surveys based on the 25th. 50th and 75th
percentile of such peer group and surveyed companies. The 50th percentile was the median compensation paid by such peer group
and surveyed companies to executives performing similar responsibilities and duties.

The Willis Towers Watson assessment compared the base salary, the short term incentive (cash bonus) and long term
incentive (equity awards) of the peer and surveyed companies to the base salary, short term incentive and long term incentive
provided to our executives. The assessment concluded that, except in a few positions, we were generally competitive in base
salary, however, we were not competitive when short-term incentives and long term incentives were included in the total
compensation paid to our executives and management.

As a result of the foregoing factors, Willis Towers Watson recommended that we:

e Implement a formal annual incentive opportunity for all executives: and
s Implement a regular annual grant program for long-term incentives.

Our Compensation Committee recommended, and our Board subsequently adopted, a compensation philosophy for our
management team members to:

Attract and retain talented and dedicated management team members:

Provide overall compensation that is competitive in its industry:

Correlate annual cash incentives to the achievement of its business and financial objectives; and

Provide management team members with appropriate long-term incentives aligned with stockholder value.

As part of the compensation philosophy, our compensation focus will be to (1) drive our strategic plan on growth, (2)
align officer and management performance with the interests of our stockholders, and (3) encourage retention of our officers and
management team members.
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In furtherance of the compensation policy and as a result of the extensive deliberations. including consideration of the
Willis Towers Watson recommendations, our Compensation Committee adopted an executive and management officer
compensation structure for 2016 consisting of:

A base salary comparable with job description and industry standard;
A short-term incentive plan based on a combination of factors including overall corporate and division
performance as well as individual performance with a target bonus opportunity to be denominated as a percent
of base salary with specific goals weightings and pay-out ranges: and

o A long-term incentive or equity awards in line with job description, performance, and industry standards.

Our Compensation Committee's intention is that the compensation structure approved for 2016 will remain in place
indefinitely. However, it will review performance and results after the first year and thereafier and evaluate from time to time
whether enhancements, changes or other compensation structures are in our and our stockholders best interests.

Reflecting the new approach, our Compensation Committee established (i) 2016 annual base salaries at levels that it
believed (based heavily on the data provided by Willis Towers Watson) are generally competitive with executives in our peer
group and in other comparable publicly-held companies as described in the executive pay assessment prepared by Willis Towers
Watson, (ii) short term incentives in the form of discretionary annual cash bonuses based on the achievement of identified goals
and benchmarks. and (iii) long-term incentives in the form of employee stock options and restricted stock units will be used as a
retention ool and as a means to further align an executive’s long-term interests with those of our stockholders. with the ultimate
objective of affording our executives an appropriate incentive to help drive increases in stockholder value.

Our Compensation Committee will evaluate both executive performance and compensation to maintain our ability to
attract and retain highly-qualified executives in key positions and to assure that compensation provided to executives remains
competitive when compared to the compensation paid to similarly situated executives of companies with whom we compete for
executive talent or that we consider comparable to our Company.

Role of Chief Executive Officer in Compensation Decisions

In connection with the implementation of the new compensation structure, our Compensation Committee conducted the
thorough review of executive compensation discussed above. Our Compensation Committee engaged in extensive discussions
with, and considered with great weight the recommendations of, the Chief Executive Officer as to compensation for executive and
management team members other than for the Chief Executive Officer.

Our Compensation Committee expects to perform an annual review of executive compensation, generally in the first
quarter of the year following the year in review, with a presentation by the Chief Executive Officer regarding each element of the
executive compensation arrangements. At our Compensation Committee’s direction, our Chief Executive Officer prepared an
executive compensation review for each executive officer (other than the Chief Executive Officer), as well as the full executive
team, which included recommendations for:

2016 Base Salary
A proposed year-end short -lerm incentive in the form of a target cash bonus based on the achievement of
certain objectives; and
e A long-term incentive in the form of stock options and restricted stock units for the yvear under review.

As part of the compensation review, our Chief Executive Officer may also recommend other changes to an executive's
compensation arrangements such as a change in the executive’s responsibilities. Our Compensation Committee will evaluate the
Chief Executive Officer’s recommendations and, in its diseretion, may accept or reject the recommendations. subject to the terms
of any written employment agreements.

Our Compensation Committee met in executive session without our Chief Executive Officer to consider the Chiel’
Executive Officer's compensation, including base salary, cash bonus and equity award, if any. Prior to such executive sessions, our
Compensation Committee interviewed our Chief Executive Officer to obtain a better understanding of factors contributing to the
Chief Executive Officer's compensation. With the exception of these
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executive sessions of our Compensation Committee, as a rule, our Chief Executive Officer participated in all deliberations of the
Compensation Committee relating to executive compensation. However, our Compensation Committee also asked our Chief
Executive Officer to be excused for certain deliberations with respect to the compensation recommended for Margaret Cotter, the
sister of our Chiet Executive Officer.

In conjunction with the year-end annual compensation review, or as soon as practicable after the year-end, our Chief
Executive Officer will recommend to our Compensation Committee our objectives and other criteria to be utilized for purposes of
determining cash bonuses for certain senior executive officers. Our Compensation Committee, in its discretion, may revise the
Chief Executive Officer’s recommendations. At the end of the year, our Compensation Committee, in consultation with our Chief
Executive Officer. will review each performance goal and determine the extent to which the officer achieved such goals. In
establishing performance goals, our Compensation Committee expects to consider whether the goals could possibly result in an
incentive for any executives to take unwarranted risks in our Company’s business and intend to seek to avoid creating any such
incentives.

Base Salaries

Our Compensation Committee reviewed the executive pay assessment prepared by Willis Towers Watson and other
factors and engaged in extensive deliberation and then recommended the following 2016 base salaries (the 2015 base salaries are
shown for comparison purposes) for the following officers. Our Board approved the recommendations of our Compensation
Committee on March 10, 2016 for the President and Chiel Executive Officer, Chiel Financial Officer and our named executive
officers, other than William D. Ellis and our prior Chief Executive Officers James J. Cotter, Sr. and James Cotter, Jr.

Title 2015 Base Salary 2016 Base Salary
tand Chi ti $402.000 $450.000

400,000

EVP. Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Corporate
Secretary

Dev Ghose 400.000

Robert F. Smerling

(1) Ellen M. Cotter was appointed Interim President and Chief Executive Officer on June 12, 2015 and President and Chief
Executive Officer on January 8, 2016.

(2)  Dev Ghose was appointed Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on May 11, 2015, For 2015, Mr. Ghose earned a
prorated base salary of $257,692.

(3)  Andrzej J. Matyczynski was the Company's Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer until May 11, 2015 and thereafter he
acted as Strategic Corporate Advisor to the Company. He was appointed EVP-Global Operations on March 10, 2016.

(4} Mr. Smith was paid in Australian dollars in the amount of AUDS365,360 (shown in U.S. Dollars i n the table above,
using the conversion rate of 0.7524). In 2016, Mr. Smith will be paid in Australian dollars in the amount of
AUDS$370,000 (shown abovein U.S. Dollars using the exchange rate of 0.76349).

Short Term Incentives

The Short Term Incentives authorized by our Compensation Committee and our Board provides our executive officers
and other management team members, who are selected to participate. with an opportunity to earn an annual cash bonus based
upon the achievement of certain company financial goals, division goals and individual goals, established by our Chief Executive
Officer and approved by our Compensation Committee and our Board (in future
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years, under the Compensation Committee Charter approved by our Board on March 10, 2016, our Compensation Committee will
have full authority to approve these matters). Specifically, a participant in the short-term incentive plan will be advised of his or
her annual potential target bonus expressed as a percentage of the participant’s base salary and by dollar amount. The participant
will be eligible for a short-term incentive bonus once the participant achieves goals identified at the beginning of the year for a
threshold target. the potential target or potential maximum target bonus opportunity. The bonus will vary depending upon the
achievements made by the individual participants, the division and the corporation. Corporate goals for 2016 will include levels of
earnings before interest, depreciation, taxes and amortization (“non-GAAP Operating Income™) and property development
milestones. Division goals for 2016 will include levels of division cash flow and division milestones and individual goals will
include specific unique performance goals specific to the individual's position with us. Each of the corporate, division and
individual goals carries a different percentage weight in determining the officer’s or other team member’s bonus for the year.

Ms. Ellen M. Cotter, our President and Chief Executive Officer, has a potential target bonus opportunity of 95% of Base
Salary, or $427.500 at target based on Ms. Cotter’s achievement of her performance goals and over achievement of corporate goals
discussed above. Of that potential target bonus opportunity, a threshold bonus of $213,750 may be achieved based upon Ms.
Cotter’s achievement of certain performance goals and our achievement of certain corporate goals, and a potential maximum target
of $641.250 is based on achieving additional performance goals. Ms. Cotter's aggregate annual bonus opportunity can range from
$0 to $641,250. Mr. Dev Ghose, our EVP, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary, has a potential target bonus
opportunity of 50% of Base Salary, or $200,000 at target, which is based on achievement of his performance goals and our
achievement of corporate goals, as discussed above. Mr. Ghose’s aggregate annual bonus opportunity can range from $0 to
$300,000 (the maximum potential target if additional performance goals are met by Mr. Ghose). Mr. Andrzej J. Matyczynski, our
EVP - Global Operations, has a target bonus opportunity of 50% of Base Salary, or $168,000 at target, which is based on
achievement of his performance goals, our achievement of corporate goals and certain divisional goals. Mr. Matyczynski's
aggregate annual bonus opportunity can range from S0 to $252.000 (the maximum potential target if additional performance goals
are met by Mr. Matyczynski). Mr. Robert Smerling. President, US Cinemas, has a target bonus opportunity of 30% of base pay, or
$112.500 at target. which is based on achievement of his performance goals, our achievement of corporate goals and certain
divisional goals. Mr. Smerling’s aggregate annual bonus opportunity can range from 80 to $168.750 {the maximum potential target
if additional performance goals are met by Mr. Smerling). Mr. Wayne Smith, Managing Director, Australia and New Zealand, has
a target bonus opportunity of 40% of Base Salary. or A$148,000 at target, which is based on achievement of his performance
goals, our achievement of corporate goals and certain divisional goals. Mr. Smith’s aggregate annual bonus opportunity can range
from A$0 to A$222,000 (the maximum potential target if additional performance goals are met by Mr. Smith). The positions of
other management team members have target bonus opportunities ranging from 20% to 30% of Base Salary based on achievement
certain goals. The highest level of achievement, participants may be eligible to receive up to a maximum of 150% of his or her
target bonus amount.

Long-Term Incentives
Long-Term incentives will utilize the equity-based plan under our 2010 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended (the “2010
Plan"). For 2016, executive and management team participants will receive awards in the following forms: 50% time-based

restricted stock units and 50% non-statutory stock options. The grants of restricted stock units and options will vest ratably over a
four (4) vear period with 1/4th vesting on each anniversary date of the grant date.

On March 10, 2016, the following grants were made:

Dollar Amount of Dollar Amount of Non-
Restricted Stock Statutory Stock
Name Title Units Options "

150000 $T50.000

Dev Ghose EVP. Chief Financial 0 0
Officer. Treasurer and
Corporate Seeretary

EVP Global Operations
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Robert F. Smerling President. US Cinemas 50,000 50,000

Managing Directo
Australia and N

(1) The number of shares of stock to be issued will be caleulated using the Black Scholes pricing model as of the date of grant
of the award.

(2) Mr. Dev Ghose was awarded 100,000 non-statutory stock options vesting over a 4-year period on commencing on Mr.
Ghose's first day of employment or May 11, 2015.

(3) Although Mr. Smith was paid 50% of $75.000 in Australian Dollars, the amount shown above is quoted in U.S. Dollars.

All long-term incentive awards will be subject to other terms and conditions set forth in the 2010 Plan and award grant.
Other Elements of Compensation
Retirement Plans

We maintain a 401(k) retirement savings plan that allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation,
within limits preseribed by the Internal Revenue Code, on a pre-tax basis through contributions to the plan. Our named executive
officers other than Mr. Smith, who is a non-resident of the U.S., are eligible to participate in the 401(k) plan on the same terms as
other full-time employees generally. Currently, we match contributions made by participants in the 401(k) plan up to a specified
percentage, and these matching contributions are fully vested as of the date on which the contribution is made. We believe that
providing a vehicle for tax-deferred retirement savings though our 401(k) plan, and making fully vested matching contributions,
adds to the overall desirability of our executive compensation package and further incentivizes our employees, including our
named executive officers, in accordance with our compensation policies.

Other Retirement Plans

During 2012, Mr, Matyczynski was granted an unfunded, nonqualified deferred compensation plan (“*DCP") that was
partially vested and was to vest further so long as he remained in our continuous employ. The DCP allowed Mr. Matyczynski to
defer part of the cash portion of his compensation, subject to annual limits set forth in the DCP. The funds held pursuant to the
DCP are not segregated and do not accrue interest or other earnings. 1f Mr. Matyezynski were to be terminated for cause, then the
total vested amount would be reduced to zero. The incremental amount vested each year was made subject to review and approval
by our Board. Please see the * Nongualified Deferred Compensation ™ table for additional information. In addition, Mr.
Matyczynski is entitled to a lump-sum severance payment of $50,000, provided there has been no termination for cause and subject
to certain offsets, upon his retirement.

Upon the termination of Mr. Matyczynski's employment, he will also be entitled under the DCP agreement to payment of
the vested benefits under his DCP in annual installments following the later of (a) 30 days following Mr. Matyczynski's 65th
birthday or (b) six months after his separation from service for reasons other than his death or termination for cause. The DCP was
to vest over seven years and with full vesting to oceur in 2019 at $1,000,000 in deferred compensation. However, in connection
with his changed employment to EVP - Global Operations, the Company and Mr. Matyczynski agreed that the Company would
cease making contributions to the DCP on April 15, 2016 and that the final contributions by the Company to the DCP would be
$150,000 for 2015, and $21,875 for 2016, satisfying the Company’s total contribution obligations under the DCP at an amount of
$621,875.

The DCP is an unfunded contractual obligation of the Company. DCP benefits are paid from the general assets of the
Company. However, the Company reserves the right to establish a grantor trust from which DCP benefits may be paid.
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In March 2016, the Compensation Commitiee approved a one-time retirement benefit for Robert Smerling, President,
Cinema Operations, due to his significant long term service to the Company. The retirement benefit an amount equal to the average
of the two highest total cash compensation (base salary plus cash bonus) years paid to Mr. Smerling in the then most recently
completed five year period.

‘We currently maintain no other retirement plan for our named executive officers.
Key Person Insurance

We maintain life insurance on certain individuals who we believe to be key to our management. In 2015, these
individuals included James Cotter, Jr. (through September 13, 2015), Ellen M. Cotter, Margaret Cotter, William Ellis, Dev Ghose,
Andrzej Matyczynski, Robert Smerling, Craig Tompkins and Wayne Smith. If such individual ceases to be our employee, Director
or independent contractor, as the case may be, she or he is permitted, by assuming responsibility for all future premium payments,
to replace our Company as the beneficiary under such policy. These policies allow each such individual to purchase up to an equal
amount of insurance for such individual’s own benefit. In the case of our employees, the premium for both the insurance as to
which we are the beneficiary and the insurance as to which our employee is the beneficiary, is paid by us. In the case of named
executive officers. the premium paid by us for the benefit of such individual is reflected in the Compensation Table in the column
captioned “All Other Compensation.”

Employee Benefits and Perquisites

Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in our health and welfare plans to the same extent as all full-time
employees generally. We do not generally provide our named executive officers with perquisites or other personal
benefits. Historically, many of our other named executive officers also received an automobile allowance. The table below shows
car allowances granted to certain officers under their employment agreements or arrangements. From time to time, we may
provide other perquisites to one or more of our other named executive officers.

Officer Annual Allowance ($)
William Ellis 15,000
CAndeer T NhRSRRSE s p
Ellen M. Cotler 13,800
“James Cotter. Jr. 1 5,000
Robert F. Smerling 18,000

(1) Mr. Ellis and Mr. Cotter, Jr. are no longer employees of the Company.

Tax and Accounting Considerations
Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Subject to an exception for “performance-based compensation,” Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally
prohibits publicly held corporations from deducting for federal income tax purposes annual compensation paid to any senior
executive officer to the extent that such annual compensation exceeds $1.0 million. Our Compensation Commitiee and our Board
consider the limits on deductibility under Section 162(m) in establishing executive compensation, but retain the discretion to
authorize the payment of compensation that exceeds the limit on deductibility under this Section.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

We believe we are operating, where applicable, in compliance with the tax rules applicable to nonqualified deferred
compensation arrangements.
Sayv on Pay
At our Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 15, 2014, we held an advisory vote on executive compensation. Our

stockholders voted in favor of our Company's executive compensation. The Compensation
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Committee reviewed the results of the advisory vote on executive compensation in 2014 and did not make any changes to our
compensation based on the results of the vote. We expect that our next advisory vote of our stockholders on executive
compensation will be at our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
Our Compensation Committee is currently composed of Mr. Kane, who serves as Chair, Dr. Codding, and Mr.
McEachern. Mr. Storey, who served on our Board until October 11, 2015, served on our Compensation Committee until that
date. Mr. Adams served until May 14, 2016, and was succeeded by Mr. McEachern. None of the members of the Compensation
Committee was an officer or employee of the Company at any time during 2015. None of our executive officers serves as a
member of the board of directors or compensation conunittee of any entity that has or had one or more executive officers serving
as a member of our Boardor Compensation Committee.

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the “Compensation Discussion and
Anmnalysis” required by Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K and, based on such review and discussions, has recommended to our Board
that the foregoing “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” be included in this Proxy Statement.

Respectfully submitted,

Edward L. Kane, Chair
Guy W. Adams
Judy Codding

Executive Compensation
This section discusses the material components of the compensation program for our executive officers named in the
2015 Summary Compensation Table below. In 2015, our named executive officers and their positions were as lollows:

e Ellen M. Cotter, Chair of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, interim President and Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer — Domestic Cinemas and Chief Executive Officer of Consolidated
Entertainment, LLC.

Dev Ghose, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer.

William D. Ellis, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Robert F. Smerling, President — Domestic Cinema Operations.

o Wayne Smith, Managing Director — Australia and New Zealand.

James Cotter, Jr., former Vice Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Andrzej J. Matyczynski, former Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows the compensation paid or accrued during the last three fiscal years ended December 31, 2015
to (i) Mr. James Cotter, Jr., who served as our principal executive officer until June 12, 2015, (ii) Ellen M. Cotter, who served as
our interim principal executive officer from June 12, 2015 through December 31, 2015, (iii) Mr. Andrzej J. Matyczynski, who
served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer until May 11, 2015, and (iv) Mr. Dev Ghose, who served as our Chief
Financial Officer starting May 11, 2015, and (v) the other three most highly compensated persons who served as executive officers
in 2015. The following executives are herein referred to as our “named executive officers.”
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Ellen M. Cotter

@
Interim
President and
Chief
Executive
Officer, Chiel
Operating
Officer -
Domestic
Cinemas
James Cotter, Jr.
(539)
Former
President and
Chief
Executive
Officer

Dev Ghose @
Chief
Financial
Officer and
Treasurer

Andrzej J.
Matyczynski
(]

Former Chief
Financial
Officer and
Treasurer
William Ellis
General
Counsel ™

Robert F.
Smerling
President
Domestic
Cinema
Operations

an

Wayne Smith
Managing
Director -
Australia and
New Zealand

Change in

Pension Value

and
Nongualified
Stock Option Deferred All Other
Salary Bonus  Awards  Awards  Compensation Compensation Total
Year (&3] (%) ($)1) ($)1) Earning (%) (%) (%)
2015 402,000 250,000 - - - 25465 © 677.465
2014 335,000 - -- - - 75,190 & 410,190
2013 335,000 -- -- - - 24915 @ 359,915
2015 195417 - - 50,027 -- 16,161 261,605
2014 335,000 - - 50,027 - 26,051 7 411,078
2013 195417 - —  25,182— - 9346 233,945
2015 257,692 75,000 382,334 - 15730 @ 407,005
2014 - - - - - -- -
2013 - - - - - - -
2015 324,000 33,010 150,000 (8) 27,140 © 534,150
2014 308.640 33,010 150,000 (8) 26,380 © 518,030
2013 308,640 35,000 - 33,010 50,000 (8) 257557 9 452,405
2015 350,000 60,000 57,194 28,330 © 495,524
2014 71,795 10,000 9,532 2,500 ¥ 93,827
2013 - - - - - -- -
2015 350.000 75,000 - - - 22,899 @ 447,899
2014 350,000 65,000 - - - 22421 @ 437.421
2013 350,000 25,000 - - - 21,981 @ 396,981
2015 274897 71478 - - - 2,600 © 348,975
2014 324295 72216 - - - 2340 @ 398,851
2013 340393 48.420 -- - - 2075 @ 390,888

(1) Amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of awards computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718, excluding the
effects of any estimated forfeitures. The assumptions used in the valuation of these awards are discussed in the Notes to our
consolidated financial statements. Amounts do not include the value of restricted stock units that will not vest within 60 days
following the date of which this information is provided.

(2) Ms. Ellen M. Cotter was appointed our interim President and Chief Executive Officer on June 12, 2015.

(3) Includes our matching employer contributions under our 401(k) plan, the imputed tax of key person insurance, and any
automobile allowances. Aside from the car allowances only the employer contributions for the 401(k) plan exceeded $10,000,
see table below. See the table in the section entitled ** Employee Benefits and Perquisites ™ for the
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amount of each individual’s car allowance,

Employer Contribution for 401(k) Plan

Name 2015 2014 2013
Ellen M. Cotter 0 810400 5 510,200
James Cotter, Jr.

10,400 0
Dev Ghose 000 0. 0
Andrzej J. Matyezynski 10,600 10,400 10,200

William Ellis SECIRSAn. 0
Robert F. Smerling 0 0 0
Wayne Smith

(4) Includes a $50,000 tax gross-up for taxes incurred as a result of the exercise of nonqualified stock options that were intended
to be issued as incentive stock options.

(5) Mr. Cotter, Jr., served as our Chief Executive Officer until June 12, 2015, In the case of Mr. Cotter Jr., the “All Other
Compensation” column includes $43,750 in severance payments paid pursuant to Mr. Cotter Jr.’s employment agreement. Of
this amount, the Company has a claim against Mr. Cotter Ir. for approximately $ 18.000 , which, if the Company is successful
in this claim, may be recovered from Mr. Cotter Jr.

(6) Mr. Ghose became Chiel Financial Officer and Treasurer on May 11, 2015, as such, he was paid a prorated amount of his
$400,000 salary for 2015.

(7) Mr. Matyezynski resigned as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on May 11, 2015, and acted as our Strategic
Corporate Advisor until March 10, 2016.

(8) Represents the increase in the vested benefit of the DCP for Mr. Matyczynski. Payment of the vested benefit under his DCP
will be made in accordance with the terms of the DCP.

(9) Mr. Cotter, Jr. had an annual base salary of $335,000 for 2015. As his employment ended in June 2015, Mr. Cotter, Jr.
earned a prorated base salary of $195.417 for 2015, which includes his severance payment paid through the end of July 2015.

(10) Mr. Ellis became General Counsel and Corporate Secretary on October 20, 2014 as such he was paid a prorated amount of
his $350.000 salary in 2014. Mr. Ellis submitted his resignation on February 18, 2016.

(11) Mr. Smith is paid in Australian Dollars. Amounts in the table above are shown in U.S. Dollars, using the conversion rates of

0.9684 for 2013, 0.9027 for 2014 and 0.7524 for 2015.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The tollowing table contains information concerning the stock grants made to our named executive otficers for the year
ended December 31, 2015:

Estimated Future Payouts All Other  All Other
Under Estimated Futures Payouts  Stock Option
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Under Equity Incentive ~ Awards:  Awards: Grant Date
Awards Plan Awards Number of Number of Exercise or  Fair Value

Shares of Securities Base Price of Stock and
Stock or Underlying  of Option Option
rant Threshold Target MaximumThreshold Target Maximum Units (#) Options Award  Awards ($
Neme  Date () (8 8 M A B 00O (A2 Gshaad @)
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100,000

Andrzej J. - - 2 =5 = = 4 s & i
Matyczynski
William Ellis =~ : :
Robert F. - - - s - = & = - -
Smerling

(1) Mr. Wayne Smith was issued an award of restricted Class A Common Stock, which vests in equal installments on May 13,
2015 and May 13. 2016. The closing price per share for the Class A Common Stock on the date of grant was $14.00. The
awards issued to Mr. Wayne Smith are related to his prior-year performance.

(2) Mr. Dev Ghose was issued an option to purchase 100,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at the commencement of his
employment, which award vests in four equal installments.

(3) Options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price per share on the date of grant.
(4) Represents the total option value estimated as per ASC 718.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Executive Registrant Aggreg?fe Aggregate Aggregate balance at
Name confributions contributions ear;;;;? "™ \ithdrawals/distributions December 31, 2015
in 2015 in 2015 $ 3
o ® ) 3) ¥

See * Potential Payments upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control " .

On May 13, 2010, our stockholders approved the Plan at the annual meeting of stockholders in accordance with the
recommendation of the Board of the Company. The Plan provides for awards of stock options, restricted stock, bonus stock, and
stock appreciation rights to eligible employees, Directors, and consultants. The Board approved an amendment to the Plan to
permit the award of restricted stock units on March 10, 2016. The Plan permits issuance of a maximum of 1,250,000 shares of
Class A Stock. The Plan expires automatically on March 11, 2020.

Equity incentive bonuses may be awarded to align our executives’ long-term compensation to appreciation in stockholder
value over time and. so long as such grants are within the parameters of the Plan, historically were entirely discretionary on the
part of Mr. Cotter, Sr. Other stock grants are subject to Board approval. Fquity awards may include stock options, restricted
stock, bonus stock, or stock appreciation rights.

If awarded, it is generally our policy to value stock options and restricted stock at the closing price of our common stock
as reported on the NASDAQ) Stock Market on the date the award is approved or on the date of hire, if the stock is granted as a
recruitment incentive. When stock is granted as bonus compensation for a particular transaction, the award may be based on the
market price on a date calculated from the closing date of the relevant transaction. Awards may also be subject to vesting and
limitations on voting or other rights.
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Outstanding Equity Awards
The following table sets forth outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2015
under the Plan:

Outstanding Equity Awards at Year Ended

December 31, 2015
Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of Number of
Shares Shares Shares or
Underlying Underlying Units of Market Value
Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock that of Shares or
Options Options Exercise Expiration Have Not  Units that Have
Class Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Date Vested Not Vested (8)
James Cotter; A 25000 20,000 631 06/02/2018 0 0
Ty
Ellen M. Cotter A 20,000 -- 5.55 03/06/2018 0 0
William Ellis 7 A 8.815 40,000 8.94 123112016 0 0
Dev Ghose A 25,000 75,000 13.42  05/10/2020 0 0
Andrzej ), A 25,000 =~ 6.02: 08/22/2022 0 0
Matyczynski
Robert F. A 43,750 - 1024 05/08/2017 0 0
Smerling
Wayte Smith A - = - == 3,000 42,000

(1) Mr. Cotter, Jr. has stated that he has unvested options to acquire 50,000 shares of Class A Stock at an exercise price of
$6.31 per share, expiring February 6, 2018, of an original stock option grant of 100,000 Class A Stock. Mr. Cotter, Jr.
exercised 50,000 stock options in June 2015. The Company's position is that all unvested options expired upon the
termination of Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s employment. The matter is under review by the Compensation Committee.

(2) Mr. Ellis submitted his resignation on February 18, 2016, effective March 11, 2016. As part of his separation agreement,
20.000 of the 40,000 remaining unvested shares will vest on October 20, 2016. Thereafter. no additional options will
vest.

(3) 25,000 of Mr. Ghose’s options vested on May 11, 2016.

(4) Mr. Smith was granted 6,000 restricted shares of Class A stock on July 16, 2015, which vest over two years in annual
installments.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested
The following table contains information for our named executive officers concerning the option awards that were
exercised and stock awards that vested during the year ended December 31, 2015:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Class Number of Number of
Shares Value Shares

Acquired on Realized on Acquired on Value Realized
Name Exercise Exercise ($) Vesting on Vesting ($)
James J. Cotter, Sr. B 100,000 1,024,000 & =
James Cotter, Jr. " A 50,000 315,500 - -
James Cotter, Jr. A 12500 48.375 - -
James Cotter, Jr. A 10,000 83,500 - -
Ellen M. Cotter B3 50,000 512,000 - -
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Andrzej J. Matyezynski A 35,100 180,063 - -

(1) Mr. Cotter, Jr. has stated that he has unvested options to acquire 50,000 shares of Class A Stock at an exercise price of
$6.31 per share, expiring February 6, 2018, of an original stock option grant of 100,000 Class A Stock. Mr. Cotter, Jr.
exercised 50,000 stock options in June 2015. The Company’s position is that all unvested options expired upon the
termination of Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s employment. The matter is under review by the Compensation Committee.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2015, a summary of certain information related to our equity incentive
plans under which our equity securities are authorized for issuance:

Number of securities
remaining available for
Weighted average future issuance under equity

Number of securities to be exercise price of compensation plans
issued upon exercise of outstanding (excluding securities reflected
outstanding options, options, warrants in column (a))
Plan Category warrants and rights (a) and rights (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans 486,565 2) 8 : 551,800
“approved by security 8.68
holders
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders
Total 486.5635

(1) These plans are the Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan and 2010 Stock Incentive Plan.

(2) Represents outstanding options only.

Pension Benefits

The following table contains information concerning pension plans for each of the named executive officers for the year
ended December 31, 2015:

Present Value of

Number of Years of Accumulated Benefit Payments During
Name Plan Name Credited Service as of 12/31/2015 ($) Last Fiscal Year ($)
Andrzej I. Matyezynski nep: 6 600000 e T

Potential Payments upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control
The following paragraphs provide information regarding potential payments to each of our named executive officers in
connection with certain termination events, including a termination related to a change of control of the Company, as of
December 31, 2015:
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Mr. Dev Ghose — Termination without Cause . Under his employment agreement, we may terminate Mr. Ghose’s
employment with or without cause (as defined) at any time . If we terminate his employment without cause or fail to renew his
employment agreement upon expiration without cause, Mr. Ghose will be entitled to receive severance in an amount equal to the
salary and benefits he was receiving for a period of 12 months following such termination or non-renewal . If the termination is in
connection with a “change of control” (as defined). Mr. Ghose would be entitled to severance in an amount equal to the
compensation he would have received for a period two years from such termination .

Mr. William Fllis — Termination without Cause . Mr. Ellis resigned his employment effective March 11, 2016. We have
entered into a separation agreement with Mr. Ellis which provides, among other things, that, in consideration of the payment to Mr.
Ellis 0f $205,010 (to be paid in 19 equal semi-monthly installments of $10,790) and the vesting of options to acquire 20,000 shares
of our Class A Common Stock on October 15, 2016, Mr. Ellis has agreed to be available to advise us on matiers on which he
previously worked until December 31, 2016. Mr. Ellis” employment agreement contained a noncompetition clause that did not
extend beyond his termination.

mith — Termination of Employment for Failing to Meet Performance Standards . If Mr. Smith’s
employment is terminated by the Board for failing to meet the standards of his anticipated performance, Mr. Smith will be entitled
to a severance payment of six months® base salary.

Mr. Andrzej J. Matvezynski — Deferred Compensation Benefits . During 2012, Mr. Matyczynski was granted an
unfunded, nonqualified deferred compensation plan (“IDCP”) that was partially vested and was to vest further so long as he
remained in our continuous employ. If Mr. Matyczynski were to be terminated for cause, then the total vested amount would be
reduced to zero. The incremental amount vested each year was made subject to review and approval by our Board. Please see the
* Nonqualified Deferved Compensation ™ table for additional information.

Upoen the termination of Mr. Matyczynski’s employment, he will be entitled under the DCP agreement to payment of the
vested benefits under his DCP in annual installments following the later of (a) 30 days following Mr. Matyczynski’s 65th birthday
or (b) six months after his separation from service for reasons other than his death or termination for cause. The DCP was to vest
over seven years and with full vesting to occur in 2019 at $1,000,000 in deferred compensation. However, in connection with his
employment as EVP Global Operations, the Company and Mr. Matyczynski agreed that the Company would cease making
contributions to the DCP on April 15, 2016 and that the final contributions by the Company to the DCP would be $150,000 for
2015 and $21,875 for 2016, satislying the Company’s obligations under the DCP. Mr. Matyczynski's agreement contains
nonsolicitation provisions that extend for one year afier his retirement.

Under Mr. Matyczynski’s agreement. on his retirement date and provided there has not been a termination for cause, Mr.
Matyczynski will be entitled to a lump sum severance payment in an amount equal to $50,000, less certain offsets.

Robert F. Smerling — Retirement Benefit . In March 2016, the Compensation Committee approved a one-time retirement
benefit for Robert Smerling, President, Cinema Operations, due to his significant long-term service to the Company. The
retirement benefit is the average of the two highest total cash compensation (base salary plus cash bonus) years paid to Mr.
Smerling in the then most recently completed five year period.

No other named executive officers currently have employment agreements or other arrangements providing benefits upon
termination or a change of control. The table below shows the maximum benefits that would be payable to each person listed
above in the event of such person’s termination without cause or termination in connection with a change in control. if such events
had occurred on December 31, 2015, at price equal to the closing price of the Class A stock on that date, which was of $13.11.

Mr. Ellis® agreement terminated when his employment ended as of March 11, 2016. As such, his information is excluded
from the table below.
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Payable on upon Termination without Payable upon Termination in Payable

Cause (%) Connection with a Change in upon
Control (%) Retirement
%)
Severance Value of Value of Severance  Valueof  Value of Benefits
Payments Vested Health FPayments Vested Unvested Payable
Stock Benefits Stock Stock under
Options Options Options Retirement
Accelerated Plans or the
DCP

Ellen Cotter
‘Dev Ghose
Wayne Smith
Andrzej J.

Matyczynski
Rabert E
:'Sﬁlcﬂiné

(1) Represents value of restricted stock award rather than stock option.

(2) Mr. Matyczynski’s severance payment is payable upon his retirement, and is subject to certain offsets as set forth in his
agreement, and is subject to certain offsets.

(3) Mr. Smerling’s one-time retirement benefit is based on the average of the two highest total cash compensation years paid fo
Mr. Smerling in the most recently completed five-year period. The figure quoted in the table represents the average of total
compensation paid for years 2015 and 2014.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The members of our Audit Committee are Douglas McEachern, who serves as Chair, Edward Kane, and Michael
Wrotniak. Management presents all potential related party transactions to the Audit Committee for review. Our Audit Committee
reviews whether a given related party transaction is beneficial to our Company, and approves or bars the transaction after a
thorough analysis. Only Committee members disinterested in the transaction in question participate in the determination of
whether the transaction may proceed. See the discussion entitled ** Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related
Persons ™ for additional information regarding the review process.

Sutton Hill Capital

In 2001, we entered into a transaction with Sutton Hill Capital, LLC ("SHC") regarding the master leasing, with an option
to purchase, of certain cinemas located in Manhattan including our Village East and Cinemas 1. 2, 3 theaters. In connection with
that transaction, we also agreed (i) to lend certain amounts to SHC, to provide liquidity in its investment, pending our
determination whether or not to exercise our option to purchase and (ii) to manage the 86th Street Cinema on a fee basis. SHC is a
limited liability company owned in equal shares by the Cotler Estate and/or the Cotter Trust and a third party.

As previously reported, over the vears, two of the cinemas subject to the master leasing agreement have been redeveloped
and one (the Cinemas 1, 2, 3 discussed below) has been acquired. The Village East is the only cinema that remains subject to this
master lease. We paid an annual rent of $590,000 for this cinema to SHC in each 0f 2015, 2014, and 2013, During this same
period, we received management fees from the 86 “ Street Cinema of $151,000, $123.000 and $183,000.

In 2003, we acquired (i) from a third party the fee interest underlying the Cinemas 1, 2, 3, and (ii) from SHC its interest in
the ground lease estate underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2, 3. The ground lease estate and the
improvements acquired from SHC were originally a part of the master lease transaction, discussed above.
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In connection with that transaction, we granted to SHC an option to acquire at cost a 25% interest in the special purpose entity
(Sutton Hill Properties, LLC (“SHP”) formed to acquire these fee. leasehold and improvements interests. On June 28, 2007, SHC
exercised this option, paying $3.0 million and assuming a proportionate share of SHP's liabilities. At the time of the option
exercise and the closing of the acquisition of the 25% interest, SHP had debt of $26.9 million, including a $2.9 million, non-
interest bearing intercompany loan from the Company. As of December 31, 2015, SHP had debt of $19.4 million (again, including
the intercompany loan). Since the acquisition by SHC of its 25% interest, SHP has covered its operating costs and debt service
through cash flow from the Cinemas 1, 2, 3, (ii) borrowings from third parties, and (iii) pro-rata contributions from the

members. We receive an annual management fee equal to 5% of SHP’s gross income for managing the cinema and the property,
amounting to $153,000, $123,000 and $183,000 in 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. This management lee was modified in
20135, as discussed below, retroactive to December 1, 2014,

On June 29, 2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC of the Village East Cinema by 10 years, with a new
termination date of June 30, 2020, This amendment was reviewed and approved by our Audit Committee. The Village East lease
includes a sub-lease of the ground underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an
unrelated third party that expires in June 2031 (the “cinema ground lease”). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant
to which Reading may purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a
put option pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema lease
and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019. SHC’s put option may be exercised on one
or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. We recorded the Village East Cinema building as a property asset
of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost carry-over basis from an entity under common control with a corresponding
capital lease liability of $5.9 million.

In February 2015, SHP and we entered into an amendment to the management agreement dated as of June 27, 2007
between SHP and us. The amendment, which was retroactive to December 1, 2014, memorialized our undertaking to SHP with
respect to $750,000 (the “Renovation Funding Amount™) of renovations to Cinemas 1, 2. 3 funded or to be funded by us. In
consideration of our funding of the renovations. our annual management fee under the management agreement was increased
commencing January 1. 2015 by an amount equivalent to 100% of any incremental positive cash flow of Cinemas 1, 2. 3 over the
average annual positive cash flow of the Cinemas 1, 2, 3 over the three-year period ended December 31, 2014 (not to exceed a
cumulative aggregate amount equal to the Renovation Funding Amount), plus a 15% annual cash-on-cash return on the balance
outstanding from time to time of the Renovation Funding Amount, payable at the time of the payment of the annual management
fee. Under the amended management agreement, we are entitled to retain ownership of (and any right to depreciate) any furniture,
fixtures and equipment purchased by us in connection with such renovation and have the right (but not the obligation) to remove
all such furniture, fixtures and equipment (at our own cost and expense) from the Cinemas upon the termination of the
management agreement. The amendment also provides that, during the term of the management agreement, SHP will be
responsible for the cost of repair and maintenance of the renovations. In 2015, we received a management fee of $153,000. This
amendment was approved by SHC and by the Audit Committee of our Board.

OBI Management Agreement

Pursuant to a Theater Management Agreement (the "Management Agreement™), our live theater operations were, until
recently, managed by Off-Broadway Investments, LLC (“*OBI Management™), which is wholly owned by Ms. Margaret Cotter, the
daughter of the late Mr. James J. Cotter, Sr., the sister of Ellen M. Cotter and James Cotter, Jr., and a member of our Board. The
Management Agreement was terminated effective March 10, 2016 in connection with the retention by our Company of Margaret
Cotter as a full time employee. The Theater Management Agreement generally provided for the payment of a combination of fixed
and incentive fees for the management of our four live theaters. Historically, these fees have equated to approximately 21% of the
net cash flow generated by these properties. OBI was paid $589,000 with respect to 2015. This includes $389,000 for theater
management services performed in 2015 and $200,000 for property development services with respect to our Company's Union
Square and Cinemas 1,2.3 properties, some of which property development services were provided in periods prior to 2015 and
during the period ended March 10, 2016. We paid $397.000 and $401.000 in fees for theater management services with respect to
2014, and 2013, respectively. No fees were paid in these periods for property development services. We also reimbursed OBI for
certain iravel expenses, shared the cost of an administrative assistant, and provided office space at our New York offices. The fees
payable to OBI for the period January 1, 2016 through and including March 9. 2016, will be prorated.
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OBI Management historically conducted its operations from our office facilities on a rent-free basis. and we shared the
cost of one administrative employee of OBI Management. We reimbursed travel related expenses for OBI Management personnel
with respect to travel between New York City and Chicago in connection with the management of the Royal George
complex. Other than these expenses, OBI Management was responsible for all of its costs and expenses related to the performance
of its management functions. The Management Agreement renewed automatically each year unless either party gave at least six
months’ prior notice of its determination to allow the Management Agreement to expire. In addition, we could terminate the
Management Agreement at any time for cause.

Effective March 10, 2016, Margaret Cotter became a full time employee of the Company and the Management
Agreement was terminated. As Executive Vice-President Real Estate Management and Development - NYC, Ms. Cotter will
continue to be responsible for the management of our live theater assets, will continue her role heading up the pre-redevelopment
of our New York properties and will be our senior executive responsible for the actual redevelopment of our New York
properties. Pursuant to the termination agreement, Ms. Cotter has given up any right she might otherwise have, through OBI, to
income from STOMP.

Ms. Cotter's compensation as Executive Vice-President was set as part of an extensive executive compensation
process. For 2016, Ms. Cotter's base salary will be $350,000, she will have a short term incentive target bonus opportunity of
$105,000 (30% of her base salary). and she was granted a long term incentive of'a stock option for 19,921 shares of Class A
common stock and 4,184 restricted stock units under the Company's 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, which long term
incentives vest over a four year period.

Live Theater Play Investment

From time to time, our officers and Directors may invest in plays that lease our live theaters. The play STOMP has been
playing in our Orpheum Theatre since prior to the time we acquired the theater in 2001, The Cotter Estate and/or the Cotter Trust
and Mr. Michael Forman own an approximately 5% interest in that play, an interest that they have held since prior to our
acquisition of the theater.

Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C

Director Guy Adams has performed consulting services for James J. Cotter, Sr., with respect to certain holdings that are
now controlled by the Cotter Estate and/or the Cotter Trust (collectively the “Cotter Interests™). These holdings include a 50%
non-controlling membership interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC (the “Shadow View Investment” and “Shadow
View" respectively). certain agricultural interests in Northern California (the “Cotter Farms”), and certain land interests in Texas
(the “Texas Properties™). In addition, Mr. Adams is the CFO of certain captive insurance entities, owned by a certain frust for the
benefit of Ellen M. Cotter, James Cotter, Jr.. and Margaret Cotter (the “captive insurance entities”).

Shadow View is a consolidated subsidiary of the Company. The Company has from time to time made capital
contributions to Shadow View. The Company has also, from time to time, as the managing member, funded on an interim basis
certain costs incurred by Shadow View, ultimately billing such costs through to the two members. The Company has never paid
any remuneration to Shadow View. Mr. Adams’ consulting fees with respect to the Shadow View Interest were to have been
measured by the profit. if any. derived by the Cotter Interests from the Shadow View Investment. He has no beneficial interest in
Shadow View or the Shadow View Investment. His consulting fees with respect to Shadow View were equal to 5% of the profit, if
any, derived by the Cotter Interests from the Shadow View Investment after recoupment of its investment plus a return of’

100%. To date, no profits have been generated by Shadow View and Mr. Adams has never received any compensation with
respect to these consulting services. His consulting fee would have been calculated only afier the Cotter Interests had received
back their costs and expenses and two times their investment in Shadow View. Mr. Adams’ consulting fees would have been 2.5%
of the then-profit. if any. recognized by Shadow View, considered as a whole.

The Company and its subsidiaries (i) do not have any interest in. (ii) have never conducted any business with, and (iii)
have not made any payments to, the Cotier Family Farms, the Texas Properties and/or the captive insurance entities.
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Document Storage Agreement

In consideration of the payment of $100 per month, our Company has agreed o allow Ellen M. Cotter and Margaret
Cotter to keep certain files related to the Cotter Estate and/or the Cotter Trust at our Los Angeles Corporate Headquarters. This
arrangement, however, has not been implemented.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

The Audit Committee has adopted a written charter, which includes responsibility for approval of “Related Party
Transactions.” Under its charter, the Audit Commitiee performs the functions of the “Conflicts Committee™ of the Board and is
delegated responsibility and authority by the Board to review, consider and negotiate, and to approve or disapprove on behall of
the Company the terms and conditions of any and all Related Party Transactions (defined below) with the same effect as though
such actions had been taken by the full Board. Any such matter requires no further action by the Board in order to be binding upon
the Company, except in the case of matters that, under applicable Nevada Law, cannot be delegated to a committee of the Board
and must be determined by the full Board. In those cases where the authority of the Board cannot be delegated, the Audit
Committee nevertheless provides its recommendation to the full Board.

As used in the Audit Committee’s Charter, the term “*Related Party Transaction” means any transaction or arrangement
between the Company on one hand, and on the other hand (i) any one or more directors, executive officers or stockholders holding
more than 10% of the voting power of the Company (or any spouse, parent, sibling or heir of any such individual), or (ii) any one
or more entities under common control with any one of such persons. or (iii) any entity in which one or more such persons holds
more than a 10% interest. Related Party Transactions do not include matters related to employment or employee compensation
related issues.

The charter provides that the Audit Committee reviews transactions subject to the policy and determines whether or not to
approve or ratify those transactions. In doing so, the Audit Committee takes into account, among other factors it deems
appropriate:

o the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the transaction and whether the transaction is material to
us;

o  whether the terms are fair to us, have resulted from arm’s length negotiations and are on terms at least as
favorable as would apply if the transaction did not involve a Related Person:
the purpose of, and the potential benefits to us of, the transaction:
whether the transaction was undertaken in our ordinary course of business;

e the Related Person’s interest in the transaction, including the approximate dollar value of the amount of the
Related Person's interest in the transaction without regard to the amount of any profit or loss:
required public disclosure, if any: and
any other information regarding the transaction or the Related Person in the context of the proposed transaction
that would be material to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction .

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Summary of Principal Accounting Fees for Professional Services Rendered

QOur independent public accountants, Grant Thornton LLP, have audited our financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015, and are expected to have a representative present at the Annual Meeting, who will have the opportunity to
make a statement if he or she desires to do so and is expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees for professional services for the audit of our financial statements, audit of internal controls related to
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the reviews of the financial statements included in our Forms 10-K and 10-Q provided by Grant
Thornton LLP for 2015 and 2014 were approximately $931,500 and $661,700, respectively.
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Audit-Related Fees
Grant Thornton LLP did not provide us any audit related services for 2015 or 2014.
Tax Fees

Grant Thornton LLP did not provide us any products or any services for tax compliance, tax advice, or tax planning for

2015 or 2014.
All Other Fees

Grant Thornton LLP did not provide us any services for 2015 or 2014, other than as set forth above.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee must pre-approve. to the extent required by applicable law, all audit services and permissible non-
audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm, except for any de minimis non-audit services. Non-
audit services are considered de minimis if (i) the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services constitutes less than 5% of the
total amount of revenues we paid to our independent registered public accounting firm during the fiscal year in which they are
provided; (ii) we did not recognize such services at the time of the engagement to be non-audit services: and (iii) such services are
promptly submitted to our Audit Committee for approval prior to the completion of the audit by our Audit Committee or any of its
members who has authority to give such approval. Our Audit Committee pre-approved all services provided to us by Grant
Thornton LLP for 2015 and 2014.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS
Annual Report

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 is being provided with this
Proxy Statement.

Stockholder Communications with Directors

It is the policy of our Board that any communications sent to the attention of any one or more of our Directors in care of’
our executive offices will be promptly forwarded to such Directors. Such communications will not be opened or reviewed by any
of our officers or employees, or by any other Director, unless they are requested to do so by the addressee of any such
communication. Likewise, the content of any telephone messages left for any one or more of our Directors (including call-back
number, if any) will be promptly forwarded to that Director.

Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Any stockholder who, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the proxy rules of the SEC, wishes to submit a
proposal for inclusion in our Proxy Statement for our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, must deliver such proposal in writing
to the Annual Meeting Secretary at the address of our Company’'s principal executive offices at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los
Angeles, California 90045. Unless we change the date of our 2017 annual meeting by more than 30 days from the anniversary of
the prior year’s meeting, such written proposal must be delivered to us no later than December 23, 2016 to be considered timely. If
our 2017 Annual Meeting is not held within 30 days of the anniversary of our 2016 Annual Meeting, to be considered timely.
stockholder proposals must be received no later than ten days after the earlier of (a) the date on which notice of the 2017 Annual
Meeting is mailed, or (b) the date on which the Company publicly discloses the date of the 2017 Annual Meeting, including
disclosure in an SEC filing or through a press release. If we do not receive notice of a stockholder proposal on or before March 8,
2017, the proxies that we hold may confer discretionary authority to vote against such stockholder proposal, even though such
proposal is not discussed in our Proxy Statement for that meeting.

Qur Boards will consider written nominations for Directors from stockholders. Nominations for the election of Directors
made by our stockholders must be made by written notice delivered to our Secretary at our principal executive offices not less than
120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date that this Proxy Statement is first sent to stockholders. Such written notice must
set forth the name, age, address, and principal occupation or employment of such
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nominee, the number of shares of our Company’s common stock that is beneficially owned by such nominee and such other
information required by the proxy rules of the SEC with respect to a nominee of the Board.

Under our governing documents and applicable Nevada law, our stockholders may also directly nominate candidates from
the floor at any meeting of our stockholders held at which Directors are to be elected.

OTHER MATTERS

We do not know of any other matters to be presented for consideration other than the proposals described above, but if
any matlers are properly presented, it is the intention of the persons named in the accompanying proxy to vote on such matters in
accordance with their judgment.

DELIVERY OF PROXY MATERIALS TO HOUSEHOLDS

As permitted by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, only one copy of the proxy materials are being delivered to our
stockholders residing at the same address, unless such stockholders have notified us of their desire to receive multiple copies of the
proxy materials.

We will promptly deliver without charge, upon oral or written request, a separate copy of the proxy materials to any
stockholder residing at an address to which only one copy was mailed. Requests for additional copies should be directed to our
Corporate Seeretary by telephone at (213) 235-2240 or by mail to Corporate Secretary, Reading International, Inc.. 6100 Center
Drive. Suite 900, Los Angeles, California 90045.

Stockholders residing at the same address and currently receiving only one copy of the proxy materials may contact the
Corporate Secretary as described above to request multiple copies of the proxy materials in the future.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Ellen M. Cotter
Chair of the Board

May 19, 2016
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0064
COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|[EDWARDS
H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com

255 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 100

Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

Telephone: (702) 823-3500

Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

Electronically Filed
09/23/2016 12:55:25 PM

A b S

CLERK OF THE COURT

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN, LLP

CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ.
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice
christayback@quinnemanuel.com
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ.
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice
marshallsearcy(@quinnemanuel.com
865 South Figueroa Street, 10" Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 443-3000

Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter,
Ellen Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams,
Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Case No.: A-15-719860-B

JAMES J. COTTER, JR. individually and Dept. No.: Xl

derivatively on behalf of Reading

International, Inc., Case No.: P-14-082942-E
Dept. No.: X1

Plaintiffs,
V. Related and Coordinated Cases

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,

BUSINESS COURT

McEACHERN, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, JUDY| FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

CODDING, TIMOTHY STOREY, WILLIAM | (NO. 6) RE PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS
GOULD, and DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, | RELATED TO THE ESTATE’S OPTION

EXERCISE, THE APPOINTMENT OF

Defendants. MARGARET COTTER, THE

COMPENSATION PACKAGES OF

AND ELLEN COTTER AND MARGARET

COTTER, AND THE ADDITIONAL
COMPENSATION TO MARGARET
COTTER AND GUY ADAMS

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada | Judge: Hon. Elizabeth Gonzalez
corporation, Date of Hearing: 10/25/16

Nominal Defendant.

Time of Hearing:

8§:30 AM
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TO ALL PARTIES, COUNSEL, AND THE COURT:

Pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 56, Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen
Cotter, Guy Adams, Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak
(collectively, the “Individual Defendants™), by and through their counsel of record,
Cohen|Johnson|Parker|Edwards and Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP, hereby submit
this Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 6) as to the First, Second, Third, and Fourth
Causes of Action in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (“SAC™), to the extent that they
assert claims and damages related to a stock option exercise by the Estate of James Cotter, Sr.,
the appointment of Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President, Ellen Cotter and Margaret
Cotter’s compensation packages,, the additional consulting fee compensation to Margaret Cotter,
and the additional compensation to Guy Adams.

This Motion is based upon the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the
accompanying Declaration of Noah S. Helpern and exhibits thereto, the pleadings and papers on
file, and any oral argument at the time of a hearing on this motion.

Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
I/
I/
Iy
Iy
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Dated: September 23, 2016
COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|[EDWARDS

By: /s/ H. Stan Johnson
H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson{@cohenjohnson.com
MICHAEL V. HUGHES, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13154
mhughes(@cohenjohnson.com
255 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone: (702) 823-3500
Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
SULLIVAN, LLP

CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ.
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice
christayback@quinnemanuel.com
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ.
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice
marshallsearcy@quinnemanuel.com
865 South Figueroa Street, 10™ Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 443-3000

Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen
Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams,
Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael
Wrotniak
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NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: ALL COUNSEL, PARTIES, AND THE COURT:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the above Motion will be heard on

2016 at 8:30 AM in Department XXVII of the above designated Court or as soon

thereafter as counsel can be heard.

Dated: September 23, 2016

October 25

COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|EDWARDS

By: /s/ H. Stan Johnson

H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com
MICHAEL V. HUGHES, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 13154
mhughes(@cohenjohnson.com

255 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

Telephone: (702) 823-3500

Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
SULLIVAN, LLP

CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ.
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice
christayback(@quinnemanuel.com
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ.
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice
marshallsearcy@quinnemanuel.com
865 South Figueroa Street, 10" Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 443-3000

Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen

Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams,
Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael
Wrotniak
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L. INTRODUCTION

Among the laundry list of claims in the Second Amended Complaint are allegations that
some or all of the Individual Defendants breached their fiduciary duties because:
o they approved the exercise of an option by the Estate of James Cotter, Sr., using Class A
shares;
¢ they allegedly awarded Margaret Cotter a position she was not qualified to hold,;
e they awarded compensation packages to Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter;

¢ they allegedly gifted $200,000 to Margaret Cotter; and

they allegedly gifted $50,000 to Guy Adams.

The Court should grant summary judgment in favor of the Individual Defendants because there is
no disputed material fact as to any of these claims. The only evidence relating to these
allegations shows that all members of Reading International, Inc.’s (“RDI1” or the “Company™)
Board of Directors (the “RDI Board” or “Board™) acted rationally and in an informed manner at
all times and that the Company suffered no injury. Plaintiff’s unsupported allegations,
suspicions, and conspiracy theories are not evidence.

Though Plaintiff alleges that virtually every action taken by any Reading Director was to
serve the whims and desires of Ellen and Margaret Cotter, the evidence shows just the opposite.
The above-referenced decisions were made pursuant to long-standing Company and Board
practices, after conferring with outside consultants, after reviewing relevant contracts and
documents, after cxtensive Board and committee discussions about the Company’s best interests,
and in service of maximizing the long-term value of the Company to its stockholders. Plaintiff
may genuinely believe that Ellen and Margaret Cotter should not hold any power at the
Company, but the evidence shows his view is, for good reasons, not shared by the Board.
Similarly, Plaintiff may be frustrated that he got fired and Ellen and Margaret Cotter received
compensation packages, but ecach and every one of the Board’s compensation decisions was

supported by research, documentation, and precedent.
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Under the business judgment rule, directors may not be held liable for their decision-
making—even if their decisions are wrong—except under very limited circumstances. None of
those circumstances are present here. Moreover, Nevada law provides an additional protection
to members of boards of directors. Under Nevada Revised Statute § 78.138(7), a director cannot
be personally liable for breach of fiduciary duty unless “the breach of those duties involved
intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law.” Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138(7). Here,
Plaintiff cannot produce cognizable evidence to support an allegation of an actionable breach of
duty by any director. Finally, even if Plaintiff could overcome the business judgment rule and
Nevada Revised Statute § 78.138(7), his claims would still fail because he cannot show that
Reading was injured, a deficiency fatal to his breach of fiduciary duty claims.

IL FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The RDI Board, Through the Compensation and Stock Options Committee,
Approves the Estate’s Option Exercise

Until his death on Scptember 13, 2014, James J. Cotter, Sr. was the Company’s
controlling stockholder. (Attached Declaration of Noah S. Helpern (“HD”) 9 2.)! Mr. Cotter,
Sr. had the sole power to vote more than two-thirds (approximately 66.9%) of the outstanding
voting stock (i.e., Class B shares) of the Company. (/d.) Upon Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s death, these
shares were divided between his Living Trust (696,080 shares) and his Estate (427,808 shares).
(Id.) Based upon this division, the Living Trust was vested with approximately 41.4% of the
voting power, and the Estate with approximately 25.5%. (/d.) The total number of outstanding
Reading Class B shares, as of April 26, 2016, was 1,680,590. (/d.)

On or about September 17, 20135, Ellen and Margaret Cotter, acting as executors of Mr.
Cotter, Sr.’s Estate, exercised an option held by the Estate to acquire an additional 100,000

shares of Reading Class B stock (the “Option™). The Estate’s ownership of the Option as of

' The documentary and testimonial evidence supporting this Motion is attached to the

Declaration of Noah S. Helpern. The citations to the “HD” refer to the paragraph of that
Declaration that authenticate and correspond to the relevant supporting evidence.

_2.
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September 2015 is not in dispute.” The 100,000 Class B shares obtained through exercise of the
Option represent approximately 6% of the stockholder voting power. The Compensation and
Stock Options Committee (the “Compensation Committee”), whose members included
Defendants Kane and Adams, approved the use of Class A Common Stock (as opposed to cash)
to pay the exercise price of this Option, pursuant to the terms of Reading’s Stock Option Plan.
(See Id. 9 4, Ex. 3 at 6.1.6(b) and id. § 3.)

B. Margaret Cotter Operates and Oversees RDI’s Live Theater Properties

Margarct Cotter is the owner and President of OBI, LLC (“OBI”™), which has, since 2002
and through the 2016 termination of that agreement, managed RDI’s live-theater operations
pursuant to an agreement dated January 1, 2002 between RDI’s subsidiary, Liberty Theaters, Inc.
(predecessor to Liberty Theaters, LLC) and OBI, LLC (the “Theater Management Agreement”).
(See HD q 5, Ex. 4, at 4.) Margaret Cotter, through OBI and Liberty Theaters, LLC, also
managed the real estate which houses each of RDI’s four live theaters in Manhattan and Chicago.
(Id.) Margaret Cotter has operated and overseen these properties for over 16 years. (/d.)
Margaret Cotter has secured leases, managed tenancies, overseen maintenance and regulatory
compliance of these properties and headed up the re-development process with respect to these
properties and RDI’s Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 property. (/d..) Margaret Cotter has been actively
involved in the re-development of RDI’s New York properties for more than the past five years.
(Id.)

Pursuant to the OBI management arrangement, Margaret Cotter also served as the
President of Liberty Theaters, LLC, the subsidiary through which RDI owns its live theaters.
(Id.) Prior to March 10, 2016, while she received management fees through OBI, Margaret

Cotter received no compensation for her duties as President of Liberty Theaters, LLC, other than

2 See Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint, 4 10 (“Plaintiff is informed and believes that, on
September 17, 2015 . . . EC and MC acted to exercise an option held by the Estate, of which
they are executors, to acquire 100,000 shares of RDI class B voting stock.”) (emphasis added);
Plaintiff’s April 22, 2016, Renewed Petition for Partial Distribution of Assets at 4 (“Co-
Executors acquired an additional 100,000 shares of RDI Class B stock by exercising the Estate’s
option.”) (emphasis added).

-3
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the right to participate in RDI’s medical insurance program. (/d.) Regarding Margaret Cotter’s
uncompensated work, Douglas McEachern testified:

My understanding is that Margaret has been . . . on an uncompensated basis

worked through the process of getting the Union Square Building through the

Landmark Commission, which, by the way, was a 12-year period for which she

was paid no money to get it entitled and get the building expanded by some

25,000 square feet. The mere ability to get that — and these will be rough numbers

— created enormous value in that building by getting it entitled for redevelopment

from the Landmark Commission . . . .

(Id. 4 6, Ex. 5, at 262:11-263:10.)

The Theater Management Agreement generally provided for the payment of a
combination of fixed and incentive fees for the management of RDI’s four live theaters. (See
HD 9| 5, Ex. 4, at 5.) Historically, these fees have equated to approximately 21% of the net cash
flow generated by these properties. (/d.) Asked how her compensation at Liberty Theatres was
determined prior to the time she became an Executive Vice President at RDI in March 2016,
Margaret Cotter testified: “I would receive . . . a small amount of money every month if there
was a booked show. And then | would receive 20 percent of the cash flow after a certain break-
even at year-end.” (/d. 9 7.)

C. The Full Board, and Two Separate Committees, Evaluate and Approve
Margaret Cotter’s Employment in February 2016

1. The Compensation Committee Approved Margaret Cotter’s
Employment on February 17

At a Compensation Committee meeting on February 17, 2016, Ellen Cotter presented her
view that (1) “the roles provided by Ms. Margaret Cotter were better performed as a full-time
employee and management team member for the Company and not as an independent
contractor[;]” and (2) because “[t]he services provided by Ms. Margaret Cotter often extended
well outside of the parameters of the live theater management agreement[,]” Ellen Cotter
“believed that it would make sense to integrate Ms. Margaret Cotter into the employed

management team.” (/d. 4 8.)
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Joining the Compensation Committee meeting via phone, Margaret Cotter participated in
a portion of the meeting. (/d.) The members of the Compensation Committee, Ellen Cotter, and
Margaret Cotter discussed the Union Square and the Cinema 1 2 3 projects spearheaded by
Margaret Cotter in 2015 and earlier. (/d.) Additionally, the Committee discussed the agreement
pursuant to which Margaret Cotter manages RDI’s live theaters through a wholly-owned limited
liability company, OBI, LLC (the “Theater Management Agreement”). (/d.) Members of the
Compensation Committee asked Margaret Cotter about (1) whether she would agree to terminate
the Theater Management Agreement; (2) whether Margaret Cotter would agree to waive
additional fees payable to OBI, LLC in the event of the termination of the Theater Management
Agreement; and (3) whether she would agree to become an RDI employee subject to agreeing to
employment terms. (/d..) Margaret Cotter advised that she was willing to agree to those
concepts. (Id.)

Margaret Cotter and Ellen Cotter left the Compensation Committee meeting. (/d.)
Following discussion, the Compensation Committee unanimously approved, among others, the
following resolutions:

Resolved Further, that the Committee recommends to the Audit and Conflicts

Committee and to the Board of Directors the approval of the termination of the

Theater Management Agreement subject to (i) OBI, LLC’s agreement to waive

any additional fees payable to OBI, LLC due to the termination of the Theater

Management Agreement and (ii) Ms. Margaret Cotter agreeing to become an

employee of the Company; Resolved Further, that the Committee approves that

Ms. Margaret Cotter become an employee of the Company and the Committee

recommends to the Board of Directors that the Board approve the employment of

Ms. Margaret Cotter . . . .

(Id.)
I
I
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2. The Full Board Conditionallv Approved Margaret Cotter’s
Employment on February 18

At the RDI Board meeting on February 18, 2016, the Compensation Committee provided
its recommendations about “the change in employment status of Margaret Cotter, subject . . . to
certain further steps, including, but not limited to, Audit and Conflicts Committee review.” (/d.
19.) After Margaret Cotter left from the call, further discussion was held on Margaret Cotter’s
qualifications and service to RDI. (See id.) With Plaintiff voting against the motion, Ellen
Cotter abstaining, and Margaret Cotter absent, the RDI Board approved the following resolution:

The transition of Margaret Cotter from independent contractor to employee

and . . . the mutually agreed termination of the Theater Management Agreement

dated as of January 2, 2002 between the Company’s subsidiary and OBI, LLC, are

approved, subject, however, to the final negotiation of terms on settlement of

rights of the parties thereunder and the review and approval of the Audit and

Conflicts Committee, and further, upon such employment, Margaret Cotter will

become Executive Vice President of the Company.

(1d.)

3. The Audit and Conflicts Committee Approved Margaret Cotter’s
Emplovment on February 29

RDI’s Audit and Conflicts Committee met on February 29, 2016. (/d. 9 10.) Following
discussion, the Audit and Conflicts Committee unanimously approved employment of Margaret
Cotter as an Executive Vice President, approved the termination of the OBI Management
Agreement in light of the Compensation Committee’s recommendations for compensation to
Margaret Cotter, and authorized management to enter into an agreement of termination with
OBIL LLC. (Id.)

D. The Compensation Committee Evaluates Ellen and Margaret Cotter’s

Compensation With the Assistance of a Top Executive Compensation
Consultant

In January 2016, the Compensation Committee engaged Willis Towers Watson, an
international compensation consulting firm, as its advisor. (/d. 9 5, Ex. 6 at *5.) As part of its

engagement, Willis Towers Watson compared the compensation paid to RDI’s executive and

-6-
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management officers to executive compensation paid by (1) a peer group selected by Willis
Towers Watson; and (2) companies surveyed in the 2015 Towers Watson Data Services Top
Management Survey Report and the 2015 Mercer MBD Executive Compensation Survey. (/d. 9
5, Ex. 6, at 5.) Regarding the peer group used in 2016, Edward Kane testified:

I wanted a peer group that was reflective of Reading. And so I asked [Willis

Towers Watson] to . . . do one which reflects the company of Reading, and they

came back with a . . . peer group whose revenues and net income was reflective of

ours. It's not easy to do, because we’'re in two lines of business, but they did

come up with one. And that’s what we used for 2016.

(Id. 9 11, Ex. 10, at 468:12-469:9.)> The assessment prepared by Willis Towers Watson
compared the “base salary, the short term incentive (cash bonus) and long term incentive (equity
awards)” of the peer and surveyed companies to that of RDI executives. (/d. 9 5, Ex. 6 at 6.)
Willis Towers Watson’s assessment concluded that, while RDI was generally competitive in
base salary, RDI was not competitive when short term incentives and long term incentives were
included. (/d. 9 5, Ex. 6 at 6.) In particular, Willis Towers Watson determined that (1) the base
salary paid to RDI’s President and CEO was below the 25™ percentile; and (2) the total
compensation (i.e., base salary, short term incentive, and long term incentive) paid to RDI’s
President and CEQ was also below the 25™ percentile. (/d. 5, Ex. 6, at 7.)

At the Compensation Committee meeting on February 17, 2016, the Compensation
Committee discussed the process for establishing the base salary, short term incentive targets,
and long term incentive targets for Ellen Cotter as CEO. (/d. 9 8.) The Compensation
Committee “discussed potential compensation issues in light of the ‘Executive Competitive Pay
Assessment’ prepared by Willis Towers Watson which assessment was distributed to the

Committee Members at a prior meeting.” (/d. 9| 8).

3 In his report, Plaintiff’s purported expert, Tiago Duarte-Silva, points to this peer group as

valid.
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E. The RDI Board Approves Margaret Cotter’s Employment and Margaret
Cotter and Ellen Cotter’s Compensation Packages on March 10, 2016

Prior to the RDI Board meeting on March 10, 2016, Ellen Cotter presented detailed
schedules and proposed individual goals and benchmarks to be used for the senior level
executives to the Compensation Committee. (/d. 9 11.) The Compensation Committee reviewed
and unanimously approved the recommendations. (/d.) Before recommending the 2016 base
salary for Ellen Cotter, the Compensation Committee reviewed the executive pay assessment
prepared by Willis Towers Watson. (/d. 9| 5, Ex. 6 at 10.)

In advance of the RDI Board meeting, each director was provided with a schedule
showing each senior executive officer’s proposed 2016 compensation package. (/d. 9 12.) For

Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter, the following was proposed:

Executive Proposed 2016 Base | Proposed 2016 Proposed 2016 Long
Salary Short Term Term Incentive

Incentive Bonus

Potential

Ellen Cotter $450,000 $427,500 $300,000
(95% of Base Salary)

Margaret Cotter $350,000 $105,000 $100,000
(30% of Base Salary)

(Id.912.)

At the RDI Board meeting on March 10, 2016, in Margaret Cotter’s absence, Ellen Cotter
gave a summary of (1) her assessment of the reasons for Margaret Cotter’s new position as
Executive Vice President; and (2) the factors she had used in recommending the compensation
package for Margaret Cotter. (/d.) After directors asked questions, Ellen Cotter was excused.
({1d.) With Plamntiff abstaining and Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter absent, the RDI Board

adopted the following resolution:
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It Is Hereby Resolved that the schedule of proposed 2016 executive compensation
for Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter and the title of Executive Vice President -
Real Estate Management and NYC Development be given to Margaret Cotter, as
set forth on Exhibit A to these minutes, as unanimously recommended by the
Compensation Committee, be approved.

(Id)

F. Two Board Committees Approve Additional Consulting Fee Compensation
to Margcaret Cotter Totaling $200,000

In connection with Margaret Cotter’s hiring as an RDI employee, the Audit and Conflicts
Committee authorized the mutual termination of the Theater Management Agreement dated
January 1, 2002, between Liberty Theaters, Inc. (an RDI subsidiary) and OBI, LLC (owned by
Margaret Cotter). (/d. 9 5, Ex. 6 at 4.) The Compensation Committee and the Audit and
Conflicts Committee each approved “additional consulting fee compensation to Margaret Cotter
totaling $200,000 for services rendered by her to the Company in recent years outside of the
scope of the Theater Management Agreement, including, but not limited to: (i) predevelopment
work on the Company’s Union Squarc and Cinecmas 1, 2 & 3 propertics, (ii) management of the
New York properties, and (iii) management of Union Square tenant matters.” (/d.)

When considering this additional consulting fee for past work completed, the
Compensation Committee also noted that “OBI, LLC had agreed to include as a part of its
termination agreement with the Company certain waivers and releases including the termination
of any rights it might have to receive compensation with respect to any show continuing at any
of our theaters after the date of such termination.” (/d.) Douglas McEachern testified:

[1]f we were to terminate that contract with Liberty Theaters, Margaret Cotter . . .

would be entitled to that same compensation in perpetuity until such time as the

shows that were playing in those theaters ended. So her compensation is

contractual, . . . based upon performance of the theaters, not based upon any

discretion of the compensation committee.

(Id. 9 6, Ex. 5, at 246:1-247:5) Edward Kane testified:

-9.
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Margaret Cotter had a contract. And if she was terminated, it’s my understanding
she would continue to get compensation from plays that were in her theaters,
including Stomp. And when we made her employee she gave that up. But that
was a lucrative result. So I think the company benefited actually from making her
an employee.

(Id. 9 11, Ex. 10, at 169:21-170:5.) Edward Kane further testified:
And [Margaret Cotter] gave up quite a bit to become an employee, because she
gave up any residual rights to any of the plays which she otherwise would have
had even if she was terminated, compensation. So I think Margaret gave up more
than she received. . . . [I]t would have been substantial.

(Id. 9 11, Ex. 10, at 474:11-475:3.)

G. The RDI Board Approves Additional Compensation to Guv Adams for
Extraordinary Services

At the RDI Board meeting on March 10, 2016, Ellen Cotter requested that the RDI Board
consider additional compensation for Guy Adams. (/d. 9 12.) In the absence of Guy Adams,
Ellen Cotter summarized “the extraordinary services and time devoted by Mr. Adams above and
bevond the usual role of a director in the past year.” (/d.) Ellen Cotter noted that Guy Adams
had provided the following extraordinary services: (1) “assisting Ms. Cotter in a variety of
support services as the Company underwent the stresses and controversies of the last year;” (2)
“assisting Ms. Cotter in an advisory capacity in her transition of roles into interim CEO and
permanent CEQ;” (3) “advice on investor relations;” (4) “personal travel to New York to assist
in the evaluation of the Union Square project.” (5) “assistance with evaluation of certain
potential transactions;” (6) “significant commitment of time in evaluating potential new
executive compensation practices before the same was considered by the Compensation
Committee;” and (7) “extraordinary services on the Executive Committee.” (/d.) After
discussion, with Plaintiff voting against the motion and Guy Adams not participating, the
following resolution was adopted: “It Is Hereby Resolved that Guy Adams be compensated

$50,000 in recognition of extraordinary services to the Board of Directors.” (/d.)
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The Board had an established precedent of providing additional compensation to
directors in recognition of extraordinary service. In 2015, in recognition of directors’ service on
RDI’s Board and committees, RDI had paid an additional one-time fee of $75,000 to Timothy
Storey and additional one-time fees of $25,000 to each of William Gould, Douglas McEachern,
and Edward Kane, and Guy Adams. (/d. 9 13, Ex. 12, at 18). Plaintiff voted in favor of these
2015 payments to directors for extraordinary services. (/d. § 14, Ex. 13, Response No. 12.)

III. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is warranted under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 56 whenever the
“pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any, that are
properly before the court demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724,
731 (2005). “The substantive law controls which factual disputes are material and will preclude
summary judgment; other factual disputes are irrelevant.” Id.; see also Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986) (“Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will
not be counted.”). A factual dispute is “genuine” only “when the evidence is such that a rational
trier of fact could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Holcomb v. Ga. Pac., LLC, 289
P.3d 188, 192 (Nev. 2012) (citation omitted).

While the pleadings and other proof are “construed in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party,” LaMantia v. Redisi, 118 Nev. 27, 29 (2002), that party “bears the burden to
more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the operative facts in order to
avoid summary judgment.” Wood, 121 Nev. at 732 (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted) (rejecting the “slightest doubt” standard). The nonmoving party “is not entitled to build
a case on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation, and conjecture,” id. (citation omitted),
but instead must identify “admissible evidence” showing “a genuine issue for trial.” Posadas v.
City of Reno, 109 Nev. 448, 452 (1993); Shuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nev., Inc., 126
Nev. 434, 436 (2010) (“bald allegations without supporting facts™ are insufficient); LaMantia,
118 Nev. at 29 (nonmovant must “show specific facts, rather than general allegations and

conclusions”). A nonmoving party that fails to make this showing will “*have summary judgment
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entered against him.” Wood, 121 Nev. at 732 (citation omitted).
IV. ARGUMENT

A. Summary Judgment Is Warranted Because Individual Defendants Are
Protected by the Business Judegment Rule

Summary judgment is warranted for Plaintiff’s claims related to the approval of the
Option exercise, appointment of Margaret Cotter, Margaret Cotter and Ellen Cotter’s
compensation packages, additional consulting fee compensation paid to Margaret Cotter, and
additional compensation paid to Guy Adams because the Individual Defendants are protected by
the business judgment rule.

The business judgment rule is a “presumption that in making a business decision the
directors of a corporation acted on an informed basis, in good faith and in the honest belief that
the action taken was in the best interests of the company.” Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122
Nev. 621, 632 (2006) (citation omitted); see also NRS 78.138(3) (codifying the rule under
Nevada law). “The business judgment rule postulates that if directors’ actions can arguably be
taken to have been done for the benefit of the corporation, then the directors are presumed to
have been exercising their sound business judgment rather than to have been responding to self-
interest motivation.” Horwitz v. Southwest Forest Indus., Inc., 604 F. Supp. 1130, 1135 (Nev.
1985). “An application of the traditional business judgment rule places the burden on the ‘party

233

challenging the [board’s] decision to establish facts rebutting the presumption.”” Unitrin, Inc. v.
Am. Gen. Corp., 651 A.2d 1361, 1373 (Del. 1995) (citing Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d at 812).
“[TThe business judgment rule shields directors from personal liability if, upon review, the court
concludes the directors’ decision can be attributed to any rational business purpose.” Unitrin,
Inc. v. Am. Gen. Corp., 651 A.2d 1361, 1373 (Del. 1995). “[E]ven a bad decision is generally
protected by the business judgment rule.” Shoen, 122 Nev. at 636.
Each of the following Board decisions were made according to a rational business

purpose:

e Approving the Estate’s exercise of the Option using Class A shares pursuant to a

Stock Option Plan that plainly and unequivocally authorizes such an exercise,
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stating that payment for an option can be made by “delivery by the optionee of
shares of Common Stock already owned by the optionee for all or part of the
Option price.” (/d. 4 4, Ex. 3, at 6.1.6(b).) The Estate, acting through Ellen and
Margaret Cotter as Co-Executors, was the optionee. See N.R.S. 78.010(1)(i)
(defining “stockholder of record” as a person whose name appears on the stock
ledger of the corporation). The Compensation Committee, in approving the
Estate’s request, acted consistently with the Company’s policy and practice of
repurchasing available Class A shares. In May 2014, the Board authorized—and

Plaintiff supported—a formal repurchase initiative with respect to Class A stock.

(Id. 4 15.)

Appointing Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice president to ensure that RDI’s
management team included an individual who was responsible for an important
part of RDI’s business and officially integrating a person, on a full-time basis,
who performed an important role for RDI onto RDI’s management team. (See id.
13).

Approving, after receiving an outside consultant’s report, overall executive
compensation packages for Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter that were in line and
competitive with peer companies. (Seeid. ¥ 5.)

Approving a $200,000 additional consulting fee to Margaret Cotter to compensate
her for past work as a consultant in connection with her transition from a
consultant to an employee of RDI and to facilitate the buyout of a contract under
which a subsidiary of RDI was obligated to pay compensation to OBI, LLC.*

(See id. q 5, Ex. 4.) Testimony from Douglas McEachern and Edward Kane

* When considering the additional consulting fee, the Compensation Committee noted that
“OBI, LLC had agreed to include as a part of its termination agreement with the Company
certain waivers and releases including the termination of any rights it might have to receive
compensation with respect to any show continuing at any of our theaters after the date of such
termination.” (See id. 9 5, Ex. 4 at4.)
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shows that RDI Board members were cognizant of the Company’s contractual
obligations.’

¢ Deciding to provide additional compensation to Guy Adams to compensate him
for extraordinary services, including “assisting Ms. Cotter in a variety of support
services as the Company underwent the stresses and controversies of the last
year;” (2) “assisting Ms. Cotter in an advisory capacity in her transition of roles
into interim CEQ and permanent CEQ;” (3) “advice on investor relations;” (4)
“personal travel to New York to assist in the evaluation of the Union Square
project;” (5) “assistancc with cvaluation of certain potential transactions;” (6)
“significant commitment of time in evaluating potential new executive
compensation practices before the same was considered by the Compensation
Committee;” and (7) “extraordinary services on the Executive Committee.” (/d.
112)

B. In the Absence of Gross Negligence, Defendants Did Not Lose the Protections
of the Business Judgment Rule

The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that, “[w]ith regard to the duty of care, the
business judgment rule does not protect the gross negligence of uninformed directors and
officers[.]” Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 640, 137 P.3d 1171, 1184 (2006).

G6é

Gross negligence is the “‘reckless indifference to or a deliberate disregard of the whole body of

stockholders’ or actions which are ‘without the bounds of reason’.” Kahn v. Roberts, No. C.A.

> Douglas McEachern testified: “[1]f we were to terminate that contract with Liberty
Theaters, Margaret Cotter . . . would be entitled to that same compensation in perpetuity until
such time as the shows that were playing in those theaters ended. So her compensation is
contractual .. ..” (/d. 96, Ex. 5, at 246:1-247:5.)

Edward Kane testified: “Margaret Cotter had a contract. And if she was terminated, it’s my
understanding she would continue to get compensation from plays that were in her theaters,
including Stomp. And when we made her employee she gave that up. . . . So I think the
company benefited actually from making her an employee.” (/d. q 11, Ex. 10, at 169:21-170:5.)
Edward Kane further testified: “And [Margaret Cotter] gave up quite a bit to become an
employee, because she gave up any residual rights to any of the plays which she otherwise would
have had even if she was terminated, compensation. So I think Margaret gave up more than she
received.” (Id. 9 11, Ex. 10, at 474:11-475:3.)
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12324, 1995 WL 745056, at *4, 8, 9 (Del. Ch. Dec. 6, 1995) (finding “no evidence from which
any reasonable person could infer Defendants were grossly negligent” and granting defendants’
motion for summary judgment dismissing plaintiff’s claims for breach of the duty of care and
breach of duty of candor) (citations omitted), aff 'd sub nom. Kahn on Behalf of DeKalb Genetics
Corp. v. Roberts, 679 A.2d 460 (Del. 1996).

Here, there is no evidence of “reckless indifference to or a deliberate disregard of the
whole body of stockholders’ or actions which are ‘without the bounds of reason’.” Kahn v.
Roberts, 1995 WL 745056, at *4. Nor can Plaintiff produce evidence that the Individual
Defendants’ actions were “so egregious” as to be grossly negligent. See McMillan v. Intercargo
Corp., 768 A.2d 492, 505 (Del. Ch. 2000) (stating that a plaintiff is “obligat[ed] to set forth facts
from which one could infer that the defendants’ lack of care was so egregious as to meet
Delaware’s onerous gross negligence standard[]” and granting directors’ motion for judgment on
the pleadings).

In connection with the Estate’s Option exercise, the uncontroverted evidence reflects a

Stock Option Plan allowing exercise of options using Class A shares and a Company policy of
repurchasing Class A shares when they were available. (/d. 9194, 15.) The uncontroverted
evidence further shows that the Compensation Committee, through Kane and Adams, was acting
in conformance with and knowledge of the terms of the Stock Option Plan when evaluating the
Estate’s Option exercise. (/d. 99 3, 4, 15.) Plaintiff therefore cannot meet his burden of
demonstrating any gross negligence here.

In connection with the appointment of Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President, the

uncontroverted evidence reflects: (1) discussion by the Compensation Committee on February
17, 2016; (2) discussion by the RDI Board on February 18, 2016; (3) discussion by the Audit and
Conflicts Committee on February 29, 2016; and (4) discussion by the RDI Board, again, on
March 10, 2016. (/d. 94 8-10, 12). The uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that Edward
Kane and Guy Adams viewed Margaret Cotter as competent to be the senior executive at RDI in

charge of its real estate development activities in New York. (/d. 9 11, Ex. 10, at 72:12-18; 4|
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16.) Such evidence shows that Plaintiff cannot meet the gross negligence showing for claims
related to Margaret Cotter’s appointment as Executive Vice President.

In connection with Ellen and Margaret Cotter’s executive compensation packages and the

additional $200.000 payment to Margaret Cotter, the uncontroverted evidence reflects: (1) the

engagement of Willis Towers Watson to prepare an assessment comparing the “base salary, the
short term incentive (cash bonus) and long term incentive (equity awards)” of the peer and
surveyed companies to that of RDI executives; (2) discussion, in light of the Executive
Competitive Pay Assessment prepared by Willis Towers Watson, by the Compensation
Committee at their meeting on February 17, 2016; (3) review and unanimous approval by the
Compensation Committee of the compensation package recommended for Margaret Cotter; (4)
review of the Executive Competitive Pay Assessment prepared by Willis Towers Watson prior to
the Compensation Committee’s recommendation of Ellen Cotter’s salary for 2016; (5) discussion
by the RDI Board at its meeting on March 10, 2016; and (6), with respect to the $200,000
buyout, approval by two RDI committees—i.e., the Compensation Committee and the Audit and
Conflicts Committee. (/d. 9 5, 8-10, 12.) In light of such evidence, Plaintiff cannot meet the
gross negligence showing for claims related to Margaret Cotter and Ellen Cotter’s compensation
packages.

In connection with the additional $50.000 in compensation paid to Guy Adams for his

Board duties, the uncontroverted evidence shows a precedent for such payments to Board
members for extraordinary scrvices and Plaintiff’s own approval of similar payments. (/d. 9 13,
Ex. 12, at 18; 9 14, Ex. 13, Response No. 12.) In light of these previous payments to directors,
the payment of additional compensation to Guy Adams for extraordinary services is clearly not
“egregious.”

C. Summary Judgment Is Warranted Because There Is No Intentional
Misconduct, Fraud, or a Knowing Violation of the Law

Even if Individual Defendants had breached some fiduciary duty (they did not), another
independent reason to grant Individual Defendants’ motion is that they are statutorily immune to

individual liability where, like here, the purported breach did not involve intentional misconduct,
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fraud, or a knowing violation of law. Nevada Revised Statute § 78.138(7) provides, in relevant
part:

[A] director or officer is not individually liable to the corporation or its

stockholders or creditors for any damages as a result of any act or failure to act in

his or her capacity as a director or officer unless it is proven that: . . . (b) The

breach of those duties involved intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing

violation of law.

In other words, “directors and officers may only be found personally liable for breaching
their fiduciary duty of loyalty if that breach involves intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing
violation of the law.” Shoen, 122 Nev. at 640 (citing Nev. Rev. Stat. § 78.138(7)). In re AgFeed
USA, LLC, 546 B.R. 318, 330-31 (Bankr. D. Del. 2016) (citing Shoen and concluding that “the
second cause of action fail[ed] to state a claim for breach of the duty of loyalty because the
complaint [fell] well short of alleging intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of
the law.”); see also Stewart v. Kroeker, No. CV04-2130L, 2006 WL 167938, at *1, 2, 6-7 (W.D.
Wash. Jan. 23, 20006) (stating that “plaintiffs are required to show not only that defendants’

actions or omissions constituted a breach of their fiduciary duties, but also that the ‘breach of

EEE)

those duties involved intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law[,]”” applying
NRS § 78.138(7)(b) to multiple claims, and granting motion for summary judgment).

“As for the terms knowing violation and intentional misconduct,” the Tenth Circuit has
stated that “both require knowledge that the conduct was wrongful.” In re ZAGG Inc. S holder
Derivative Action, No. 15-4001, 2016 WL 3389776, at *7, 11 (10th Cir. June 20, 2016)
(affirming dismissal of complaint because Plaintiffs failed to adequately plead that presuit
demand on the Board would have been futile) (emphasis in original). Thus, in order for Plaintiff
to avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff must show either that (1) each Defendant engaged in
misconduct or a violation of law, knowing that the conduct was wrongful; or (2) each Defendant
engaged in fraud.

1/
1
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1. Plaintiff Cannot Show Intentional Misconduct or a Knowing
Violation of the Law

Plaintiff cannot produce cognizable evidence showing that, in connection with the
Estate’s Option exercise, the appointment of Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President,
Margaret Cotter or Ellen Cotter’s compensation packages, the additional consulting fee
compensation paid to Margaret Cotter, or the additional compensation paid to Guy Adams,
Individual Defendants engaged in misconduct or a violation of the law, knowing that the conduct
was wrongful, because no such evidence exists.

2. Plaintiff Cannot Show Fraud

Furthermore, these claims fail because Plaintiff cannot show they involved fraud.
Plaintiff alleges that statements in a proxy statement or SEC filings were materially misleading;
Plaintiff, however, cannot show fraud through such statements because they were made
subsequent to the supposed breaches of fiduciary duty at issue. Even if subsequent misleading
statements could show fraud under Nevada Revised Statute § 78.138(7), for the reasons
discussed below, the purportedly misleading statements identified by Plaintiff do not show
fraud.

First, Plaintiff alleges that (1) RDI’s 2015 and 2016 Proxy Statements describe “the role
of MC with respect to the Company’s live theatre operations, and say[] that she ‘heads up the re-
development process with respect to these properties and our Cinemas 1, 2 & 3.’ but fail[] to
disclose that [Margaret Cotter] successfully has ended the search by the Company for an
experienced real estate executive to lead its real estate development efforts, in the United States,
including for the NYC Properties[;]” and (2) “[a]mong the reasons [Margaret Cotter] did so was
to create a purported basis for seeking and securing employment with the Company|[.]” (SAC
99 135(i), 136(g).) Even if these allegations were true (they are not), disclosure of such
statements was not required because they were not germane. See Seibert v. Harper & Row,
Publishers, Inc., No. CIV. A. 6639, 1984 WL 21874, at *6 (Del. Ch. Dec. 5, 1984) (“Proxy
materials are only required to disclose all germane facts. They need not include opinions or

possibilities, legal theories or plaintiffs characterization of the facts.”); Backman v. Polaroid
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Corp., 910 F.2d 10, 16 (1st Cir. 1990) (“revealing one fact” does not mean that “one must reveal
all others that, too, would be interesting, market-wise, but means only such others, if any, that are
needed so that what was revealed would not be so incomplete as to mislead”) (internal quotations
omitted).®

Second, noting that the Form 8-K filed on March 15, 2016 “stated, among other things,
that the RDI Board of Directors Compensation Committee and its Audit and Conflicts
Committee each had approved payment of so-called ‘additional consulting fee compensation’ of
$200,000 to MC “for services rendered by her to the Company in recent years outside the scope’
of a Theater Management Agreement[,]” Plaintiff allcges that the Form 8-K was “materially
misleading if not inaccurate because, among other things, [the payment was] awarded for reasons
other and/or additional to those set in the Form 8-K.” (SAC 9 101(g) .) To the extent that
Plaintiff is suggesting that Form 8-K failed to disclose that the $200,000 payment was awarded
as part of a buyout of contractual obligations, the Form 8-K was not misleading because it
disclosed that “[t]he Compensation Committee also noted, when considering this additional
consulting fee, that OBI, LLC had agreed to include as a part of its termination agreement with
the Company certain waivers and releases including the termination of any rights it might have
to receive compensation with respect to any show continuing at any of our theaters after the date
of such termination.” (HD Y 5, Ex. 4, at 4.) To the extent that Plaintiff is suggesting that the
$200,000 payment was awarded for some other undisclosed reason, Plaintiff cannot produce
cognizable evidence of such a reason, because there was none.

Third, noting that the Form 8-K filed on March 15, 2016 “stated that the RDI Board of

Directors approved ‘additional special compensation’ of $50,000 to be paid to Adams ‘for

¢ See also Khanna v. McMinn, No. CN.4. 20545-NC, 2006 WL 1388744, at *32 (Del. Ch.
May 9,2006) (holding that the plaintiffs’ claim that the “real reasons” behind the termination of
one of the plaintiffs should have been disclosed would require that the board “engage in classic
‘self-flagellation’” because it would “constitute admissions of wrongdoing, which the
Defendants contest, before a final adjudication on the merits™); /n re Amerco, 252 P.2d at 701
(“[S]imply alleging that the public filings did not contain enough information . . . does not
demonstrate that respondents engaged in intentional misconduct or fraud.”).
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extraordinary services provided the Company and devotion of time in providing such

233

services[,]”” Plaintiff alleges that the Form 8-K was “materially misleading if not inaccurate
because, among other things, [the payment was] awarded for reasons other and/or additional to
those set in the Form 8-K.” (SAC 9 101(g) .) However, Plaintiff cannot produce cognizable
evidence of such a reason, because there was none.

Thus, in the absence of intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of the law,
Individual Defendants are therefore statutorily immune from any potential liability based on the

these claims.

D. Summary Judgment Is Warranted Because There Are No Damages

Another independent reason to grant Individual Defendants’ motion is that Plaintiff
cannot demonstrate any injury. To avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff must produce cognizable
evidence showing damages to the Company, an essential element of a breach of fiduciary duty
claim. See Brown v. Kinross Gold U.S.A., Inc., 531 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1245 (D. Nev. 2008) (A
claim for breach of fiduciary duty requires a plaintiff to demonstrate “the existence of a fiduciary
duty, the breach of that duty, and that the breach proximately caused the damages.”) (applying
Nevada law). “To recover on a claim of corporate waste, the plaintiffs must shoulder the burden
of proving that the exchange was “so one sided that no business person of ordinary, sound
judgment could conclude that the corporation has received adequate consideration.”” n re Walt
Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 74 (Del. 2006). “A claim of waste will arise only in
the rare, ‘unconscionable case where directors irrationally squander or give away corporate
assets.”” Id.

1. There Are Not Damages, As a Matter of Law, from Allowing the
Estate to Exercise the Option

Plaintiff has not offered any evidence that the additional 100,000 shares obtained by the
Estate through the Option exercise had any impact on any vote at the 2015 ASM, or at any other
time. Every director elected to the Board at the 2015 ASM received approximately 1.3 million
votes, i.e., the votes of more than 75% of the Class B stockholders. (/d. 9 17.) The 100,000

shares obtained by the Estate through exercising the Option did not make, and could not have
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made, any difference to the outcome of the vote. Thus, Plaintiff cannot demonstrate any impact
on the Company, let alone damage to the Company—a deficiency fatal to all claims relating to
exercise of the Option.

2. There Are No Damages, As a Matter of Law, from the Appointment
of Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President

Plaintiff’s testimony exposes his inability to demonstrate any damages from the
appointment of Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President. Asked about Margaret Cotter’s
performance at his deposition on May 17, 2016, Plaintiff claimed: “I haven’t been given enough
information to assess her performance.” (/d. 9 18.)

Furthermore, Plaintiff’s allegation that Individuals Defendants have wasted corporate
assets by “caus[ing] the Company to spend and continue to spend substantial sums of money,
believed to be at least in the millions of dollars, to pay outside consultants because [they]
effectively acquiesced to MC’s insistence that RDI not hire an executive experienced in real
estate development, and because all of the individual defendants instead approved hiring
[Margaret Cotter] as EVP-RED-NYC[,]” (SAC 9] 167), fails as a matter of law. Here, there is no
genuine dispute that the exchange RDI’s money for outside consultants’ services was not “so one
sided” as to be “unconscionable.” Thus, Plaintiff cannot demonstrate injury from Margaret
Cotter’s appointment as Executive Vice President.

3. There Are No Damages, As a Matter of Law, from Ellen Cotter and
Margaret Cotter’s Compensation Packages

To the extent that Plaintiff’s ambiguous allegation of “payment of duplicative or
redundant compensation[,]” (SAC 9 167), refers to the compensation packages of either Ellen
Cotter or Margaret Cotter, Plaintiff’s allcgation fails as a matter of law. Here, there is no
genuine dispute that the exchanges of RDI’s money for Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter’s
services were not “so one sided” as to be “unconscionable.” Thus, Plaintiff cannot demonstrate
injury from Ellen Cotter or Margaret Cotter’s compensation packages.

I

4. There Are No Damages. As a Matter of Law, from Additional
Consulting Fee Compensation Paid to Margaret Cotter
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Plaintiff’s allegation that “[t]he individual defendants’ complained of conduct constitutes
waste and has caused monetary damages to RDI, including what amounted to . . . a $200,000 gift
to [Margaret Cotter][,]” (SAC 9 166), fails as a matter of law. Here, because there is no genuine
dispute that Margaret Cotter rendered services to RDI for which she was not compensated, the
payment for those uncompensated services was not so one sided as to be unconscionable.
Furthermore, the payment of money in light of waivers and releases, including the termination of
any rights to receive compensation with respect to shows continuing at RDI theatres, was not “so
onc sided” as to be “unconscionable.” Thus, Plaintiff cannot demonstrate injury from the
additional consulting fee compensation paid to Margaret Cotter therefore fail.

5. There Are No Damages, As a Matter of Law, from Additional
Compensation Paid to Guv Adams

Plaintiff’s allegation that “[t]he individual defendants’ complained of conduct constitutes
waste and has caused monetary damages to RDI, including what amounted to . . . a $50,000 gift
to Adams[,]” (SAC 9 166), fails as a matter of law. Here, because there is no genuine dispute
that Guy Adams rendered extraordinary services to RDI, the payment for those extraordinary
services was not “‘so onc sided” as to be “unconscionable.” Thus, Plaintiff cannot demonstrate
injury from the additional compensation paid to Guy Adams.

In sum, Plaintiff’s inability to demonstrate injury is fatal to all of his claims.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Individual Defendants respectfully request that the Court
grant them summary judgment as to the First, Second, Third, and Fourth Causes of Action set
forth in Plaintiff’s SAC, to the extent that they assert claims and damages related to the Estate’s
Option exercise, appointment of Margaret Cotter as Executive Vice President, Ellen Cotter and
Margaret Cotter’s compensation packages, the additional consulting fee compensation to

Margaret Cotter, and the additional compensation to Guy Adams.
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Dated: September 23, 2016

COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|[EDWARDS

By:

H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson{@cohenjohnson.com
MICHAEL V. HUGHES, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 13154
mhughes(@cohenjohnson.com

255 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

Telephone: (702) 823-3500

Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
SULLIVAN, LLP

CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ.
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice
christayback@quinnemanuel.com
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ.
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice
marshallsearcy(@quinnemanuel.com
865 South Figueroa Street, 10" Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 443-3000

Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen
Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams, Edward
Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak
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DECLARATION OF COUNSEL NOAH S. HELPERN IN SUPPORT OF
INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT
(NO. 6) ON PLAINTIFE’S CLAIMS RELATED TO THE ESTATE’S OPTION
EXERCISE, THE APPOINTMENT OF MARGARET COTTER, THE COMPENSATION
PACKAGES OF ELLEN COTTER AND MARGARET COTTER, AND THE
ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION TO MARGARET COTTER AND GUY ADAMS

[, Noah Helpern, state and declare as follows:

1. I am a member of the Bar of the State of California, and am an attorney with the
law firm of Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP (“Quinn Emanuel”), attorneys for
Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Guy Adams, Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, Judy
Codding, and Michael Wrotniak. I make this declaration based upon personal, firsthand
knowledge, except where stated to be on information and belief, and as to that information, 1
believe it to be true. If called upon to testify as to the contents of this Declaration, I am legally
competent to testify to its contents in a court of law.

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of a Form 10-K filed by
RDI on or about April 29, 2016.

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of the Minutes of the
September 21, 2015 meeting of RDI’s Compensation Committee.

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of the 1999 Stock Option
Plan.

S. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of a form §-K filed by RDI
on or about March 15, 2016.

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from
the deposition of Douglas McEachern, taken on May 6, 2016.

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts from
the deposition of Margaret Cotter, taken on May 12, 2016.

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of the Minutes of the
Meeting of the Compensation and Stock Options Committee held on February 17, 2016.

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of the Draft Minutes of the

Meeting of the Board of Directors held on February 18, 2016.
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10.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy of the Minutes of the
Meeting of the Audit and Conflicts Committee held on February 29, 2016.

11.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts
from the deposition of Edward Kane.

12.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 11 is a true and correct copy of the Minutes of the
Meeting of the Board of Directors held on March 10, 2016.

13.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 12 is a true and correct copy of a form DEF 14A filed
by RDI on or about May 18, 2016.

14.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a truc and correct copy of Plaintiff’s Amended
Responses to the First Set of Requests for Admission.

15.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 14 is a true and correct copy of minutes of the Board
of Directors meeting that took place on May 15, 2014.

16.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts
from the deposition of Guy Adams, taken on April 28, 2016.

17.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 16 is a true and correct copy of a form 8-K filed by
RDI on or about November 13, 2015.

18.  Attached hereto as Exhibit 17 is a true and correct copy of transcript excerpts
from the deposition of James J. Cotter, Jr.

19.  This declaration is made in good faith and not for the purpose of delay.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the
foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on the 23rd day of September, 2016, in Los Angeles, California.

/s/ Noah Helpern
Noah Helpern
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, [.C. 20542
FORM 10-K
B ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year cnded Decembar 31, 2015 o

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Far the tramsition period from o
Commission File No, 1-8623
@ﬁm& AN
E Iariumerienan
52
B
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specificd i its charter
Nsvma 95-3585184
{State or ofber jurisdi i i {LR.5. Employer [dentification Number)
G100 (‘x.nh:rﬁr ive , Suite 900
Lot Angeles, CA 0045
{Address of prineipal exceutive offices) {Zip Code)
Registrant's tekephone number, including Arca Code: (213} 2352240
Securitics Registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of sach cluss Nume of each exchangs on which registered
Class A Noavoling Common Stoek, $0.01 par value NASDAQ
Class B Voting Common Stock, S0,01 par value NASDAQ

Seeurities registered pursuant to Seetion 12(g) of the Act: Nome
Indicare by chieck mak if the regiswan is a well-known ssasoned isuer, 2 defined in Rule 405 of the Securitiss Ac, Yes O No i@
If this pept B an annual of & 00 eeport, indi w check mark if i % mod eeuired to file reports pursuant 10 Section 13 oc 1 5(d) of the Sscurities Exchange Actof 194, Y& [0 Mo @

Elwehy %cdgmnd« uﬁuh«nE_‘uunl {1 has filed all reponts required 1o be filad by Section 12 0 15(d) of the Exchangs Act of 1934 during the peeceding 12 mooths (or for shomer period than the Repistrant was required (0 file such repoets), and (2) bas been subject 10 such filing requirements
the past 90 days. Yes &

Indicare by check moark whether the repistrant hus subminted eleceronically and posted on its cocporate Web site, if any, every Intemctive Duta File required 1o be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation $-T (§ 232,405 of tris chaper) curing the prececding 12 months for for such
shottér period that the regisrant was tequired 1o submit and post such Alesh Yes @ No [

Eidicare by chisck meark if dischosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Trem 405 of Regu ation $-K is nod conmined herein, and will net be contained, io the best of the repisirants knowladpe, in definitive provy ot i ion statements i d in Part 111 of this Form 10-K of any
amendments o this Form 10-K. 1
Endicate by check nvack whether the registrant i a lag 1 fil 1 files, a non-aceel fiker, or a smaller pepocting company. See definition of “laspe accelerated fikes,” “accelerated filer” and “smller reporting company ~ in Rule 120-2 of dhe Exchange Act,

Larg: filer 0 Accelerated filer @ N filer O poning company [l
Tdicate by check miark whether the repistrant i shell company (a5 defined i Rule 1262 of the Exchange Act). Yes 0 No @
Tndicate the munber of shares owtstanding of exch of the issuer’s classes of common stock, ws of the lniest peacticable dste. As of April 75, 2016, there were 21 654,312 shares of class A non-voting comman @ack, par value 3001 per share and 1,650,590 shares of clyss B voting comon stock, par
wvalue 30,01 per share, oussunding.  The aggrepate market value of voring ad nosvoting srnd: ekl by non: uﬂilm:crm Reyistrunt was $193,371 D16 a3 of December 31, 2015,

by

Certain portions of the registran 's definitive proy datsment, i connection with ita 201 6 annal mesting of stockboldecs, 10 be fled within 120 days of Decsmber 31, 201 5, are imeorporaed by rference into Pact 1T, Tiems 10-14, of this anmual report on Form 10K,
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lem ] Our Busingss
GENERAL

Reading Intermational, e, a Nevada corporation ("RDI™ and collectively with our licated sasbesidi and carporate pred the "Company,” "Reading” and "we,” "us,” or “ox™ ), was meorporated in 1999 incident 1o our reincerporation in Nevada, Our claas A
nan-voting common stock (*Class A Stock”) and class B voting comman stock {*Class B Stock”™) are listed For trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market (Nasdaq-CM) under the symbols RDI and RDIB, respectively, Our principal exceutive offices are located at 6100 Center
Drive, Suite %04, Los Angeles, Califomin 90045, Our generl telephons number s (213) 2352240 and cur website is wary rendinerdi com . 11 is our practice to make wvailable free of charge on our website our aomual report n Foem 10-K, quasterly repons oo Form 10-Q,

current reparts on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or fanished parsuant to Sections 13(a) or 15{d) of the Exchange Act as soon as after we have filed such material with or furnished it to the Securitics sod Exchange
Commission.
Weare an i lly diversified company principally focused on the development, hip and operation of i and rcal property assets i the United States, Australia, and New Zealand, Curmently, we have two business segmeats:

- Cinsma Exhibition, through our 5§ cincmas, and
+  Real Estate, including real estate development and the rental or licensing - of retail, commercial and live theater mascts,

We ically being togel tate based i and real estate and belicve that these two business segments complement oae another, 5 our cinemas have histoically provided the steady cash Rows that allow us to be opportunistic in scquiring and holding
real entm awts {umh.udmg non-income producing land) and sq:pm our real estate development activities. Our real estate allows us to develop an asset base that will and the test of time and develop a long term ass<t base that is capoble of being leveraged. More
the combination of these s follows:

emes can be used as anchors for barger retail (refered t0 a3 i . or ETCs). and our invelvement in the cinams business can give us an advandage over oiber real csiate developers or redevelopers who must identify and
negotiate with third-party anchoc tenants. We hive used cinems to create our own anchors in our Sydney, Australia, Belmont, Avstralin, and Wellington, New Zealand ETCs and are adding a new cinema o our Brishane, Avstralin shopping center , and, we huve
acquired the real estate undsrlying our cinems in Townsville, Australia,

#  Pure cinema operators can encounter financial difficulty as demands upon them to producs cinema-based camings growth tempt them i i their cash flow into i i marginal cinema sites or overpaying for existing cinemas. While we believe that

there will contie to be alimetive oppoctumitics o acquire cinema msets andlor to develop upper end specialty type theaters in the fiture, we do not feel pressure to bulld or sequire cincmas for the sake of sdding units or building gross revenues. This strategy has,

awver the years, allowed us to sequire cinemas at multiples of trailing theater cash Aow below those paid by third parties in recent acquisitions. We intend to focus our use of cash flow on our real sstate development and operating activitiss, to the extent that attractive

cincma oppostumitics arc oo available to s,

+ We e always open tothe idea of converting an eofertainment froperty 1o ancther use, i there is 2 higher and better use for the peoperty, or to sell individial asscts, if we are peesented with an atirsetive oppoctumity. Our fee interests on Union Square and on Third
Avenue {near 60 * Street) in New York City, eoch of which is now slated for redevelopment, were initially scquired as, and in the case of our Third Avenus property, continues to be used s, entertainment propertiss.

Insofar as we are aware, we are the only publicly trded company in the world to apgly this two-track, synengistic approach to the cinema snd real cstate
Theatres) have any material landholdings as they operate on  leased-Facility model

. i onm basis, Neme of the major cinema exhibition companics (other than Marcus

We have worked to maintain a balancs between our U , § . and cur Australia/New Zealand asacts. In recent periods, this has adversely impacted our reported revenucs and camings, s the Australian Dollar has since 2010 dropped 28 % from 10122 to 0, 7286 and the New
Zealand Dollar has ove ¢ that same period de creased 11 % from 0.7 6 87 1o 0.6842. However, we continue to believe that, over the long term, this is » prudent diversification of risk. [n recent periods, the Australian Dollar has traded 25 bigh as 1. 1001 and the New Zealand
Dollar has traded ss high as 0.8776. Australia has been identified by the United Nations % having the highest natural resources per person in the world . In 2013, the Organisation for Econom ie Co-operation and Development cated Australia s the best place to live and
wack inthe woeld . Dalian Wands Groug ("Wanda™) | the purchiaser of AMC Endetaiment Holdings, Ine. ("AMC"}, in Junc 2015, bas recently purchased Hoyt 5, the socond largest exhibiter in Australia and New Zealund,
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At December 31, 2015, the b ook value of owr asset 5 was $375 .1 million, and, ms of that same date, we bad a consolidated 5 tockholders” book equity of 313 7.2 million. Calculated based on book value, $107.8 million , or 20 % of our assels , relate to our cinema exhibition
activities and $219.% million , or 58 %, of our sssets | relate to our real estate activitics.

2018 e
Business Line Ascet Allscation B Lins Reveitos Allocston

pet Y

Goirama BReal Esae I:ICnrmmhzg i - ]

For additional scgment financial information, pleass scc Note | — Description of 8 usiness and Segments Reporting to our 2015 ¢ onaolidated £ inancial s tatamcnts.

We have diversificd our asscts among thres coundrizs: ths United State s, Australia, and Now Zealand, Based on book valuc, st December 31, 2015, we had approximately 35% of our asscts in the United Statcs, 46% in Australia and 19% in New Zealand compared to 35%,
44%, and 2 1% respective ly, ot the end of 2014,

At December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of $ 19.7 million, which are sccounted for as 3 corporate asset. Our cash inchuded § 9.3 million denominated in US. dollars, $6.8 million (AUS9.3 million ) in Australian dollars, and $3.6 million {NZ$5 2 millioo) in
Mew Zealand dollars, W e had noo-cumrent ssscts of §113.3 million & the United States, $16 1 2 million (AUS221.2 millian) i Australis and $63 6 million in New Zealand (NZ593.0 millian),

For 2015, our gross revenue in thess jurisdictions was §138.2 million, $93.5 million, and $25.6 million, respoctivaly, compared to §130.8 million, $97.2 million, and $26.6 million for 201 4, Thess changes are dus primarily to the increased box affics sales experienced in the
United States, dhe primacily to higher average ticket prices, compared 10 reduced revenne fn o Australia and New Zealand operations . Reveaues fell in Australin and New Zealand peimasily as o result of the strengthenions U5, dolbac when compared to the Austealian and
New Zealand dollars ; this was partially offset by greater box office ad concession sales in local curmencics as a result of higher sttendance. Measured in local currency, revenues in Australia and New Zealand both increased,

Blmhed Totes nAstaien  wNew Ze
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CINEMA EXHIBITION

We are dedicated 1o crenting inspiring cinema experiences for our gussts through hospitality-styled comfort and service, cinematic presentition, uniquely desigived venues, cursted flm iod evént progrimming. and crafted food and beverage options. We mansge our
Idhwide cinema exhibition business under vadious brands:

+  Inthe US : under the Rending Cinemas, Angelik Film Center, Consolidated Themres, and City Cinemaa beands;
+  In Australis: under the Reasding Cinemas brand; and
+  InNew Zealand: under the Resding Cinemas and Riako brands.

Historically, we have focused on the ownership al'or operation of three categories of civemas:

+  Modem stadim-seating mailiiplex cinemas Featudng cooventional Blm product;
#  Specialty and an cinemas, such as Angelika Film Centers inthe U.S. and Rialto Cinema in N:w Zealand: and

+  Conventicnal sloped-fooe cinemas in certain markets, including New York City with its p d i e small town mackets that will oot suppon the of a moddern stadium-design multiplex cinema.
Cusrrently, we tre focused on upgrading our existing cinemas and ping pew cinema opy with premium offerings, including hoairy seating, state-of-the-art presentation inchuding sound, lounges, cafEs and bar service, and other
omemities. In 2015, we pdded the first IMAX suditocium to owr cincuit, but endeavor, whene possible o |m|||\‘l= one or more large Formot TITAN XC sereen offerings,
We believe that the cinemn exhibiition business will continue to genernte rnw\ywuum-lcsﬁﬂmnd-cyﬂ-— ahead, even m i or nflat i because people will continue to spead o bl portion of thek i dollars on
entertainment outside of the homs. to other forms of outside-the continue to be a popular and iti priced option.
Although the cinema exhibition business is considersd a mature business, we sce growth opportmities in our cinerm exhibition business princi from (i) the of our exi i L Aiiythe in select markets of ant and specialty cinemas, (i) the
development of new state-of-the-trt cinemses on lord that o already owm o may i the futere sequire, and {iv) the development of new cinemas in selected markets. While i possible ities in third party we prefer to put oar capital
b woek oo properties that we own milser than teke on p ially bnaril lease obligati Our circuit bas b pletely converted 1o digital projection and sound systests,
We continue to expand and wpgrade our circuit on &n opportunistic basis. During 2015 we opened a new state-ofthe-art cinema (eight screens) in Auckland , New Zealand, and entered into a lease for 8 1o-be-built state-of-the art eight i in Kapolel, Hawaii, We

anticipate that the Kapolei thester will open in the fourth quarter of this year, We completed the re novation mnd rebramding 8s an “Angelika™ loxury st cinema of eur cooventional cinema at the Cannel Mountain Plaza in San Diego , Califomis and completely renovatzd our
fousteen -screen Ha ¢ bouroon cinema in Queen shand, Australia, cooverting an auditocium i that theater 10 8 TITAN  XC auditocium . We ndded the first IMAX 10 our circuit, which opened at our Bakersfield cinemn in time for the opening of “Star Wass: The Force
Awetkens” . We continue to progress the construction of o new state-of-the a ¢ight -soréen cinerma o our Newmarket Shopping Center in Brishane, Australia. We anticipate opening that cinems in the fourth quarter of 2017 .

In 2005 we upgended the Foad and beverage menu i 8 number of our LS, elnemas. We are focused on the rencvation and upgrading of our exiatiag U.S. cinemas, along the lings of our Carmel Mountain cineme,. Working with vetesmn Food Network Executive Broce Seidel
of Hot Lémon Productions ind chef Santos Loo we are upgrading our food and bevernge offerings. We hive obtained beer and wine, and in some cases liquor, licenses for six of our venues sod are in the application process for an sdditional 10 verues, 'We intend 1o be able
to offer alccholic bevernges at 16 ormoce of our venues by the end of 2017,

As discussed in grenter deinil below, 95 8 pant of our real estite operations, we sequired the fee interest inthe ETC in which our Townsville, Austrnlia cinema is located and in the sdjscent discoont center,

In Janweury of 2015 , we amended the lease of cur Ward Theater in Honoluhs 85 part of o planned ion ond further o8 t by The Howrd Hughes Company of i ts Ward Village development.

O Janusy 21, 2006, following our run of "Star Wars: The Force Awakens™ , we surrendered our Gaa lamp Cinena in San Dicgo. We paid the landloed a $1.0 million eegotinted sermination fee, which was less expensive thi i 10 Operte G unp
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theater ot this location. This cinems was acquired in 2008 a3 a part of the acquisition of o package of 15 Jo cations from Pacific Theatres. The cinemm was , af that ime, a substantial money loser and the purchase peice was cabeulated taking into account the losses generated by
theat cinema and the likelhood that such losses would continue into the future,

In 2014, we campleted an upgrads of our Cinemas 1,2,3 in New York City, which included the installaticn of luvury recliner seats. This property is slated For redevelopment. No determination has been mads as to whether a cinema use will be maintained as a part of that
redevel opment. it & net, then the cquipment used ot this propedy will be used clsewhere in our circuit.

In 2014, we cotered into 3 long-term leass for 2 now, state-of-the-at Angelika Film Center in the Union Market district of Washington D.C. Howsver, the lease was terminated as the i Bocation for this ci

be femsible, We are currently fimlizing with Edens the terme and conditions of a new lease for a cinema in a different location in the Union Market area,

ubtimatcly was incd by the landlord. Edens, (o mot

REAL ESTATE

We engage in real estate development and the ownership and rental or licensing to third parties of retail, commercial and live theater asseta. We own the fee interests in all of our live theaters, and in 11 of our cinemas. Ouwr real estate business creates long-term value for our

theough th o and d " of our i and operating tics, inchuding owr ETCs,

Our real sstate activitics have historically consisted principally of:

the ownership of fec or long-term leaschold interests in propertics used in our cinema exhibition activities or which were acquired for the of cinems or ci bascd real cstote projects;
the scquisition of fee interest in land for general real estate development;

the licensing to production companies of our live theaters; and

the redevelop of our existing 4 o live theater sites to their highesi and best use.

Given the subs tantial merase in Manhattan rents and conenercial real estate values in recent periods, we are currently sdvancing plas for the redevelopment of our Union Square and Cinemas 1,2.3 properties,

W currently anticipate that cur Union Square property will be redeveloped inte approximately 70,200 squars fest of nct leaseabls area, comprised of retail aod office space. BKSK Architests has designed the building with an iconic glass dome which has been approved by
the City of New York Landmacks Prescrvation Commission. On March 22, 2016, cur application for 3 variance was agproved by the Board of Standards and Appeals. This was the last major regulatory hurdle to our commencement of comstruction at the site. While our
building plans still must be approved by the New York City Depanment of Buildings. we do not cumently anticipate sncountering any material issues in obtaining such approval. All tenancies bave been terminated. The building has been vacatzd. and we have begun intermal
demolition sctivities at the site, We currently anticipate that construction will be completed by the second quarter of 2018, We have retained Edifice Real Estate Padners, LLC w our development manager, Newmadk Grbb Knight Frank as our leasing agent, and, an affiliate
of CNY Comstruction LLC to provide pre-construction manngement services. BESK and Gensler have assisted with the internal layout and interior design of the building,

We bave completed o peelimiary feasibility study and are curently in negotiations with the owner of the spproximately 2,600 square foot comer pareel adjacent to our Cinemmas 1,2,3 property on the cormer of 60 ®Strect and 2 ™ Avesne for the joint development of our
propertics. A combination of the propertics would produce spproximately 121,000 square foot of FAR and appraximately 140,000 squars fect of gross buildable arca, N o assurances can be given that we will be able tocome to terms with the adjacent owners.

On April 11, 2016 . we purchase d for $11.2 million a 24,000 square foot Class B office building with 72 parking spaces located st 5995 Sepulveda Boulevard in Culver City, California, 'We intend touse approximately 50% of the leasable area for cur headquaners offices and
to lease the remainder to waffilisted third partics, Culver City has in recent years developed ns o center of entertainment and hightoch setivity in Los Angeles County, Major teninnts in the area include SONY and Google, with Facebook slated 1o take space in the near fture
. We anticipate, when the move is completz and the excess space is leased, we will be able to reduce our by imately §250,000 per snmum.

Chverscas, on Deeember 23, 2015, we sequired two adjoining ETC in Tewnsville, Quesnsland, Awstralia for 5 total of §2 4.3 million (AUS33 6 million) comprisinng spprosimately 5.6 neres. The total gress leassble are of the two properties, the Canmon Park City Centre and
ths Cannon Park Discount Cendre, is 133,000 square feet. Our muliiplex cincma at the Cannon Park City Cenire is the anchor isnani of thai center. This acquisition is consistend with our busingss plan to ewn, where practical. the land undeclying our endcriainment asssiz. For
additional information, see Note 4 - Aeguisitions, Disporals, and Azsets Held for Sale - 2015 I foms - Cammon Park, O Awstralia
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We coatione (o w ork oo the expansion of o Aubura ETC in Sydoey, Awstrmlia, our Newmarket Shopping Center in Brisbane, Australiz, sod our Courtenay Central ETC in Wellington, New Zealand.

At Al we hnve entered i 10 lense 15 000 square feed of to-be.constricted retail . Uy i letioa, this will increase the square foctage of that eenter from i 117,000 100 i 132 000 square Feet.
! q space. Upoa conpl q e g P ! z

At Newmarket, we have veceived all necessary land use apgeovals for the addition of a state-of-the art ¢ight.sereén cinema, sppeoximately 10,000 square feet of additional retail space and appeoximately 142 additioanl car parks. Coastriction is expected 10 commence in the
second quarter of 2006, with a peojecied opening in the fourth quader of 2007, Cha November 30, 201 5, we acquired an :ppruxunutly 23,000 aquare Foor prcel adjacent 1o our tenant Coles supermarket. This peoperty s currently imgroved with un office budlding. We intend,
over timé, 1o infégrate this property inie our Newmarket development. This will incnease our footprimt from 204,000 10 il 227,000 square feet.

At Conrtenay Central, we continue to advance ihe addition of an approximately 36,000 square foot Cowtdown supermacket and approximately 4. 0 00 square feet of geoeral retail space.  The agreement 10 kease the supermorket was signed in 2003, all necessary lind use
approvals have been obtamned, ion badgets for the have been appeoved by all parties, and we anticipate beginning construction in the  third quarter of this year and occupancy by the fouth quarter 2017 . Simailtaneously, we are working oo the renovation
of our existing center and the seismic upgrading of the contiguous 9-sory packing stucture.

In addition 1o certaim historic rilrond propentics (such as our 2.1 acre Viaduct Property in downtown Philadelphin) and certain expansion space associated with our existing ETC pons, W bave (v unis 4 dies that we ncquired for . and are currently being held
for, development: our 202-a cre parcel in Coachella, California (near Palm Springs) and our 704 acre parcel in Manukau,  a suburb of Auckland, New Zealand (located adiscent vo the Auckland Airpor). 'm: Coachella propenty is currently zoned for residentinl and mixed-
use uses, The Manukau propenty is currently zoned foe sgricultural pumposes, bt we are in the process of seeking » zoning change to industrial .

Ower the past 4 months, we bave culled our real estate holdings to focus on those projects which we believe offer more upside potential 10 us. As pant of this process we sold our property in Lake Tatpo, New Zealand, for $2.5 million (NZ33.4 million ), which close d in two
tranches, with o balnce of $321,000 (NZ$1.2 mi ) received on March 21, 2016, We sold our land holdings in Moonee Ponds, Auwstralia on Apeil 15, 2015 for $17 2 million {AUS23.0 million), for which all monies have now been received nnd our land holdings in
Burwood, Australia, for $47.4 million (AUS65.0 millicn) on May 12, 2014, with a balance du¢ of $42.6 million (AUSSE.S million) seheduled to be paid at closing in December 2017, O Burwood agreement provides for mandatory pré-payments in the event ihat any of the
land is sold by the buyer, any sich prepayment being in an amount equal to the grester of (a) 90% of the net sales price or (b) the balance of the purchase price multiplied by o fraction the sumerator of which is the square footage of property being sold by the buyer and the
denominator of which is the original squan footags of the property being sold to the buyer. The buyer has informed us that it is under contract to s21l a portion of this property and a potential prepayment of approximately $18.2 million {AUS25 million) iz possible in 2016, We
sold our Doheny Drive Cond im in Los Amgeles for $3.0 million, which closed on Febnrary 25, 2015, Thes e sales were made based on our belief that the assets involved bad reachied the highest value that we could reasonably achieve without jnvesting substantial
additional sums for land use plasning, construction, and marketing.

OPERATIN G INFORMATION
Al Devember 21, 2015 , our peincipal tangible sssets inchided:

+  interests in 57 currently operational cinemas comprising some 472 sereens ;

«  fecinterests in three live theaters {the Orphewm and Minetta Lane in Manhattan and the Royal George in Chicago);

+  fos interedt in oo¢ cingma (the Cinemas 1,2.3), in New Yok City ¢

»  Fee interest in ol Union Square propeny, previously used by ws as a live theater venue and foe rental 10 thicd parties and now being redeveloped for retail and office uses:

+  ourETCs and shopping centers in Sydney {Aubun Center), Brisbane (Newmarket Center), Townsville (Canoon Park) snd Wellington {Courtenay Central);

»  Inaddition to the fee interests described diately above, foe hip of i 20,700,000 squiare feet of develo ped and undéveloped real estate in the United States, Australia and New Zealand ; and
+  coshond cash cquivalenss, aggregating $19.7 million.
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Cinema Exhibition
We own and/oc msnnge cinema msets 8: follows:

Dcembser 31, 1015

olly Owned &

Uscossadldated “otal owsed Tatal cwsed and operated

Cinemas 9 - 2 1 - 1

Toul Clnsat

Toul Sorcens

- Cisemas owad it operd throgh conao . bl ol wholly owned, ubsidiasics
through lutermst in Joint venrure azp0ciates.

*q.um.nwnm s have s ownership aerest, but whish are operied by us

33,38 unincorporated joint venrure Interet.

*30¥% usincorporaied joint veniure Wierest.

Although we opemie cinemas in three jurisdictions, the genersl nature of our operstions and operating stregies doés not vary materially fro m juri In ench purisdiction, our gross réceipts are primarily from box office receipts, food and bevernge sales,
ion sales, and sereen advertising. Our ancillary revenue is crented principally from theater rentals {for exmple, for fln festivals and special e»a-l.'.). and mcillary programming (such 2 s concens and spoding evenls),

Chir i generated 5% of their 2015 revene from bos office receipts. Ticket prices vary by bocation , and we offer reduced mites for senior citizens, children and, in certain mirkets, military and students.

Show times and festures mre placed in adveértisments on our virious websites, on intemet sites and, in some markets, in local newspapers. Film distributocs may also sdvertise certain feature films in various print, rdio and t<levision media, ss well ns oo the intemet, sod those
costa are generally paid by dissributors. We are increasing our presence in social media, thereby reducing our dependency on pring advertising -

Concession sales sccounted for appeaximately 29% of our el 2015 cinema revenss. Although certain cinemis have licenses for the sale and consumgtion of nlcoholic beverges, historically concession products have been primarily popeorn, candy, and soda. This is
changing, & moee of our themers e offering expanded food md beverage offerings. One of our focuses fore 2016 and 2017 & towpgmde our existing cineras with expsded food sl beverage offenings . We intend 10 have alechiolic beverage licenses for at least 16 of our
domestic cinemis by 2017 .

Screem and other il imately 6% of cur total 2015 cinema revenue. With the exception of cenain rights that we have retained to sell 1o local advestisers, geonerally speaking , we are oot in the screon advertising business and naticoally

i il ies provide such ing for us.

In New Zealand, we also own a one-third interest in Rinlto Distribution, an unincorported joing ventre engiged in the business of distributing srt film in New Zealand and Australia. The remaining two-thirds interest in Rialto Distribution is owned by the founders of Rislto
Distribution, who have been in the ant film distribution business since 1993,

Mumgssmrent of Closmss

With the exception of our three unconsolidated cinemas . we manege all of our cinemas with ex ecutives loeated in Los Angeles; Munbattan; Melboume, Australi o, and Wellington, New Zealand. Approximately 2,206 individuals were employed (on o full-time of part- dme
basish in our cinema operations 4z of December 31, 2015 . Our two New Zealand Rialto cinemis are owned by o joint venmns
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i which Reading New Zealand is 4 50% joint venture partner. While we are principally responsible for the booking of the sc two cinemas, our joint venture partner, Event Cinemus, mamages their day-to-day operations. [n sddition, we have a onc-thind interest in a 16-sereen
Brisbane cinema managed by Event Cinemas.

Lissui Pisi

Film product is available From a varicty of sources, rnging from the major flm distributors, such os Parsmount Pietures, Twenticth Century Fox, Wamer Bros, Bucna Vista Pietures {[DHaney ), Sony Pichres Relensing, Universal Pictures and Lionsgate, to a varlety of smaller
mdependent film distributors. [n Avstralia and New Zealand, some of thoss major distribators distribwte through local unaffilisted distributors. Worldwids, the major film distribators dominate the market foc mainsiream conventional films. In the US. art and specialty film is
distributed through the art and specialty divisions of these majer distributors, such @5 Fox Searchlight md Sony Piehwres Chissics, and theough independent distributors such as The Weinstein Company. Generally speaking, film payment terms are based upon an sgreed-upon
percentags of box office receipts that will vary from film-to-film.

Comesi

In certain markets i the U.S. in which we operate, flin may be allocated by the distributoc among competitive cincmas, conunonly known as “cleamoce™, while in other US, markets we have access to all available film, This is discussed in greater detail below
. Accordingly, we, from time-to-time, are wrable to licenss every film that we may desire to play. In the Auaralian snd New Zealand markets, we generally have aceess to all available film product.

We belicve that the succes of o cinema depends on its access to popular film product beease Alm patrons tend Lo decide on a film they would like 10 sec firg wnd then a cinema where the film is available, IFa particular flm is only offered at oo cinema in o given murket,
thven customers wishing to see that film will, of necessity, go to that cinema. [ftwo or moee cinemss in the same masket offer the same film, then customers will typically take into sccount factoss such 35 the relative convenience, quality and cost of the various cinemmas. For
example, meoit ¢ incma palrons seem to peefier o modem stadium-design multiplex to an older sloped-Moor elema, and to prefer a cinena that cither offers convenient aceess 1o free packing (or public transpot ) over a cincmm that does nel,

This view is being challemged by some exhibitors, who are now promoting a "dine-in" concept, These exhibitors believe that if offered the right covis llch the vesme Rirst, and the miovie second. We believe that the pary i3 out a3 to the economsc
viability of this concept given, among other things, the space s fit-oir costs involved, the necessarily reduced sest count where food i3 served a2 the seat, the split between consumers who want and whe oppose having in-auditorium dining (some people just want to see the
maovie, and find in-suditocium service and dinning to be a digraction from the movie itself), and the pricing of such offerings. [t also sppears tous, that one still needs (o at Jeast offer top film product. So, even with these dine-in theaters, aceess to film remains o principal
concem.

In the United States in certain mackets, distributess typically take the position that they are free to provide o not provide their films to paticular exhibitons, at their complete and absolute discretion, even though the number of "digital prints™ is theoretical ly unlimited and all
advenising for conventional film is paid for by the distibotors, Some compstitors, like AMC, are becoming increasing aggressive in their <ffors wo prevent competitors” access 1o film product in film zones where they have cinamas. We face clearance situations in several
markets in which we show film.

“The use of clesrances is currently under attack. Wi believe that, s the pol i For ¢l {the cost of ing an sdditional peint and the shared advertising cost) no longer exist, that ultimately clearances should (except in excepticnal eases — for
example where a disteibutor’s strategy i for a limited or staged releasc) go away. IFlhu- eccurred, on balance, we believe that this will be a pasitive development for us, a3 it will generally speaking incrense our aceess to film in competitive markets, Preasure on the major
«chains to stop using “chkarances” i increasing. An investigation by the United States Department of Justice, Antitrust Division, into the possible anticompetitive activitics of major chains has been initised.  Also, there have been private lawsuits by small chains to stop the
practice. For example, iPic Theaters has obtained a tempocary mpsction againg clenrance peactices by one major chain in Hardis County, Texas, and is secking further injunctions against other major chains in Texas as well as in other jurisdictions, such as the District of
Columbia .

For now, competiticn for films can be intense, depending upon the number of cinemas in a particular market. Our sbility to obtain top grossing first run feature films may be adversely impacted by our compatively small size, and the limited number of screens and markets
that we can supply to distcbutons, Morover, in the United States, because of the deamatic consolidation of sorcens inte the bands of a few very large and powerful exhibitoes sud- s Regal, AMC, Cinemadk and Canike, these mega-cxhibition companics are in o position 1o
offer distributors acesss lo many more sereens in major markets than we can. Also, the majors have a significant mumber of markets where they operate without material meaning that the diztri have no ive exhibitor for their films in these
mackets. Accordingly, distribators may decide to give peeference to these mega-cxhibitors when it comes to licensing top grossing Blme, rather than deal with independents such as oucselves. The situstion is different in Australia and New Zealand, where typically every
major multiplex cinema has acccss to-all of the film currently in distribution, regardicss of the
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ewnership of that multiplex cinema, However, on the reverse side, we have suffered somewhat in these markets from competition from boutique operntors, who are able 1o book Lop grosing commercial filma for limited nms, thas increasing competition for customers
‘wishing toview such top gressing films .

Grenerally speaking, our cinemas are modem multiplex cinemas with good snd convenicat parking. The availability of state-of the-art technology and/or kocury seating can also be a factor in the peeference of one cinema over another |, In recent periods, » number of cinemas
have been opened or re-opencd featuring lory scating and/or expanded food and bevernge service, mcluding the sale of alcoholic beverages mnd food served 1o the seat. We have for a pumber of years offered alcobolic beverages in centain of oue Awstralia mnd New Zealand
cinemas and a certain of our Angelika Film Centers in the US. We are currently working to upgrade the seating and food and beverage offerings (inchuding the offering of skcoholic beverages) at 2 mumber of cur existing cinemas,

The film exhibition markets in the United States, Australin, and New Zeabind are 10 3 certain extent dominated by o limited mumber of major exhibition companics. The principal exhibitors i the United States are Regal (with 7,361 sroens in 577 cinemas), AMC (with 4,937
sercens in 348 cinemas), Cinemark (with 4,489 screens in 334 cinemas), and Carmike (with 2,881 sereens in 270 cinemas). As of December 31, 2015 , we were the 1 Lth largest exhibitor with 1% of the box office in the United States with 252 soreens in 27 cinemas under
manage meid, AMC and Carmike bave recently announced the scquisition of Carmike by AMC, 1F this acquisition goza through, AMC/Cannike will be the largest exhibitor in the United States with 9,426 scrcens in 682 theaters.

“The prinipal sxhibitors in Australia are Greater Union, shich doss busitess under the Event Cinemas nas (a subsidiary of Annlgansted Holdings Limied). Hoyts Ciocmes (“Hayts"), and Village Cinemas . The major sxhibitors control approxinaiely 65% of the total
cinemm box office: Event 21% . Howts 19% , and Village 15% . Event has 503 screens natsonally, Hovts 344 sercens, and Village 214 serecms. By our 141 sereens any theaters) represent appeaximately 7% of the total box office.  [n June
2005, Heytz was acquired by Wanda, which also holds a controlling intereat in AMC.

“The princi pal axhibitors in New Zealand ar Event Cinemaa with 105 soresns nationally and Hoyts with 63 screans, Rending has 54 screans (sxchuding ita intersst in uncansolidated joint venturss). The major exhibitors in New Zealand control appraximataly 56% of the total
b office; Event 35% and Hoyls 21% . Reading has 13% of the mackst {Event md Reading mmack <t share figres exclude any partocrship theaters .

In Australia and New Zealand , the industry i somewhat vertically inlcgrated in that Roadshow Film Disiributocs. a subsidiary of Village. serves as a distnibuter of film in Australia and New Zealand for Warner B rothers. Films produced or distributed by the majority of the
Bocal intemitional independent producers are also distri by Film D U

Masmry of our competitors have substantial financial resources which could allow them to operate in a more competitive mmanner than we can,

fn-Home and Mobile Device Competition

The “in-home™ and mobile deviee industey has experieneed significant leaps in reeent periods in both the quality and affordability of in-home and mobile deviee i systems and in the ibility to and quality of entertalmment programming through
eable, satcllite, internet distribution channcls, and Bhu-tayDVD. The success of these aliemative distribition channzks puts additional peessure on film duslnl:ulm 1o reduec and/or eliminate the time period between theatrical and secondary releass daics and the willingness of
comsumers to take the time and pay the admission price to go to the mowvic theater. To a certain extent, it appears th are willing 1o trod for i, Thise are issu o 1o both our US. and international cinemea operations.

Competitive issues are discussed in greater detail under the eaption, ltem LA - Risk Factors |

Scnlity

Major filme are generally relea sed to coineide with holidays, With the cxception of Christmas and New Year's Days, this fact provides some balaocing of our revenus because there is no matenial overbap between holidays in the United States and those in Australia and New
Zealond, Distributors will delay, in czriain cases, relcassa in Australia and New Zzaland to take advantage of Australian and New Zzaland holidays that arc not ¢z kbated in the United Statcs. Howevar, the daferral of rlcases is becoming increasing less common, given the
need to address intemct and other channels of dissribation that operate on o workdwide basis,

Real Estate

Our real estate activities have historically consisted principally of:
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the owmership of fee or long-teom leaschold interests in properties used in our cineimm exhibition activities or which were scquired for the de velopment of cinemas oc cinemn- based real estate development projects;
the operation of cur various ETCs and shopping centers and propertics,

the acquisition of fee interests in land For general real estate development;

the Ieazing to production comganics of our live theaters; and

the re development of our existing fee- owned cinema or live theater sites to their highest and best use.

v e e

While we report our real estate i 3 separate segment, it has historically operated a5 an integrl potion of our overall business and, historically, bas principally beea in sugpont of that business. We have, however, scquired or developed certain properties that do not curently
have any cinema or other entertainment componicnt.

e real estate activitics, holdings amd developments are described in greater detail in ltem 2 - Properiies .

Employees

As of December 31, 2015, we had 88 full- time sxscutive and i and 2,506 ci A small numbsr of our cinema employees in New Zealand are union members, a5 are our projectionists in Hawaii. None of our Australian-based
employees o oher employees are subject 1o union contracts, Overall, we are of the view that the existence of these collective-bargaining asgreements docs not mmterially increase our cods of labor or our ability to compete. We believe our relations with our employees to be
generally good.

ltem LA - Risk Factors

Investing in our securitics imvobves dsk. Set forth below & o summany of vrows sk factors that you sheuld consider i icnn with your i in the Ci This sunmumary should be conidered i the context of our ovenll Annual Report on Foom 1K, 3 many
of the topics addressed below are discussed in significantly greaer detail in the context of specific discussions of our business plan, our operating resubis, and the various competitive forces that we face.

BUSINESS RISK FACTORS
We are currently engaged peincipally in the einema exhibition and real estate businesses, Becouse we operate in two business segments {einema exhibition and real estate), we discuss sspacately below the rigks we believe to be material to our involvement in each of these

segmenis, We have discwssed separtely certain risks relating to the inmemational nature of our busineas activities, our use of leverage, and our status as 3 contr olled corporation, Please note that . while we repert the results of our live theater operations as real eatate
operations — because we are principally in the busincss of rending spoce to producers rather than in licensing or producing plays ourssives — the cinema exhibition and live theater busingsses share certain risk factors and are, accordingly, discussed together below,

Cinema Exhibition and Live Theater Business Risk Factors

We apeate in a highly with el are sig i larger and may have si  betier aceess to funds than we do .

We are a comparatively small einema operator and face competition from mach larger cinemn exhibitors. These larger exhibitors are able to offer distributors more sereens in more markets - inchuding markets where they may be the exclusive exhibitor — than can we. F aced
with saxch competition, we mmay not be able 1o get aceess o all of the Flins we want, which may adversely affeet our revenue and profitability.

These larger competitors may also enjoy (i) grenter cash flow, which can be used to develop additional cinemas, including thit sy b Lt with our
developers; and {iv) better ceonomics of scals, than we do .

(i) better to equity capital and debt, (i) better visibility to lndlocds mnd real estate

In the case of our live theaters, we compete for shows not only w ith other “foc profit™ O fF-Broadway theaters, but also with * not-for-profit ™ operators and, increasingly, with Brosdway theaters, We believe our live theaters are ge nerally competitive with other O £
Broadway venmes. However, dus to the increased cost of staging live theater productions, we are sezing mn increasing tendency For plays that would historically have been st aged in an Off-Broadway theater moving directly to larger Broadway vemes.

We face competition from other sources of entertainment and other ewtertainment delivery sysiems,

Both = and live theater eperations [ @i from “in-home” and mobile deviee sources of i These include ition feom netwock, cable and satellite television, infernet stremming video services, Video on Demand, Blu-ray/DVD,
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the intermet. video games and other sources of entertainment, The quality of in-house r systems, as well ns jing available onan in-home and mobile basis, has increased, while the coat to consumers of such systems {and such programming) has decreased
im recent periods, and some consnmers mly pcef:r the :ecumy and/or comvenience of an "in-home” or mobile entertainment expericoce to the moee public and presentation oriented experience offered by our cinemas and live theaters. Film distribators have been responding to
theae devel, by, in o eliminating the peried of time between cincma release and the date such product (s made available 1o “in-home™ forms of distribution.

The narvowing and/or climination of this se-called “window™ for clivcma exhitbition may be problematic for the cincima cxbibition industry. However, to date, attcmpts by the major film disteitaitors to contines to namew or climinate the window have been stienuowsly resisted
by the cinema exhibition industry, and we view the total elimination of the cinema exhibition window by mmajor film distributors, while theoretically possible, to be unlikely.

Hovwrever, there is the risk that, over time, distributors may move towards simubtancous release of motion picture product in ch ks of distribution. Also, some trad itk n-home and mobile di have begun the o of fiull-length maovies, s

for the purpase of direct or simultaneous release to the in-home and mobile markets. These fctors may adverscly affect the competitive advantage enjoyed by cinemas over “in-home™ and mobile forms of ¢ ntertainment, as it may be that the cinema market and the *in-home™
and mobilke markets will bave simultancows access 1o the smme motion pieture product. In receant times a oumber of movies were released on a simultancous basis to movie cxhibitors and o k-home and mobile markes, 1t is Hkely that this teead will contiue, making it
increasingly important for exhibitors to enhance the comvenicnee and quality of the theater-going expericnce.

We also face competition from various other forms of "beyond-the-home” entertainment, including sporting events, concerts, restaurants, casines, vide o gume arcades, and nightchibs. Our cinemas also face competition from live theaters and viee versa.
Dur cimema and live theater business o may be vulnerable io fears of ierrorism, other watural disasiers which could cause customers 1o avoid public axsembly seating

Political events, such as terrorist sttacks, and health-related epidemics, sech s flu outbreaks, could cause patrons to-avoid our cinemas or otfier public places where large crowds are in sttendance. [n addition, o natural disaster, such as 3 typhoon or an canhquake, could impact
aur ability to operate ecrtain of our ¢inemas, which could adversely alfeet our reaulls of operations,

Dhar cimema aperations deped wpon access to il drat i atractive to our patrons, and our fve theater operations deperid wpon the continued attractivesess of our theaters to producers,

Chur ability to generate revenus and profits is langsly dependent on factors ouiside of our control, specifically. the continued ability of motion picture s live theater producsrs te produce filmns and plays that ars atirsctive to sudicnees, the ameount of moncy spent by film
disribunons and ihcatrical prodhucers topromete their motion picires snd plays, wd the willingness of these producers to lienss their flis on e that are fnmcially visble o our cinemas s 10 rent our theaters for the presentation of their plays. To the extent that popular
movics and plays are produced, our cinems and live theater octivities are ultimately dependent upon our sbility, in the face of competition from other cinema and live theater operators to book these movies and plays inte our focilities, and Lo provide o superior customer
offering.

We rely on film distributors to supply the films shown in our theatres. In the 1S, the film distribution business is highly concentrated, with scven major film distrit for immtcly #9.5% of 1.5, box office revenues, Numerous anfitrust cases and the
comsent decree resulting from these antitrust cases affect the distrbution of films. Consequently, we cannot gunmntes 3 supply of films by entering into long-tean arrangements with major distributers. We are therefore required to negatiate licenses for cach film and For each
theatre. A deteriocation of our relaionship with any of the seven major film distributors could sdversely affect our ability to obtain commercially successful films and to negotiste favorsble licensing terms for such films, both of which could sdversely affect our business and
operating results .

I the US. | at least wtil recently, distribators have had broad diseretion not fo show the same film o competitive cinems,  This bas, in many situations, given the bger exbibitors {as a result of their market power) power to influence disteibutons to exercise their discretion
i this regard in faver of the larger exhibitors. In this industry, this is called “clearance.”  Recent judicial decisions, however, have thrown doubt on the extent o which this peactice will continus to be permitied under applicable antitruss kaws,

Adverse economic condiions could materially affect our business by reducing discretionary income and by limiting or reducing sources of film and live theater funding.

Cinema and live theater attendance is 2 luxury, not a necessity. Accordingly. a decline in the economy resulting in a decrease in discretionary income, or a perception of sueh a decline, may result in deereased discretionary spending, which could adversely affect cur cinema
and live theater businesses. Adverse sconomic conditions can also affect the supply side of our business, s reduced
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liquidity can adversely uffect the availability of Rmding for movies and plays, This is particularly true in the case of Off-Broadway plays, which are often times finnncad by high net wonh individuals (or groups of such individuals) and that are very risky dus to the absence of
any ability to recoup investment in secondary markets like Blu-ray/DVD, cable, satellite or intemet distritustion .

Our screen aidvertising revenue may decline,

Ohver the past xunl vears, cinema. gxh.b.tm Inw been looking Ecceasingly to screen advertising s awiry 1o improve income, No maurances can be given that this soucce of incams will be continuing , or that the use of such advertising will net ultimately prove tobe
. by giving a tochoose going to the movies over “in-home™ or mobile entertaimment alternatives.

W face uncertainiy as to the tming and direction of technological imnovadons in the cinema exhibiion business and ax to our access to these technologies.

We have converted all of cur cinema auditoriums o digital However, e given that other echnological advances will not require us to make further material invesments in our cinemas or face loss ofbusiness. Also, equipment is currently being

devalaped for holographic or las r projection. Th futurs of these technalogies in the cinema exhibition industry is inesrtain.

We face competition from new competitors offering food and beverage ax an integral part of theis cinema offerings.

A nurber of new entrants , such as Alamo Drafihouss and i Pic, offering an expanded food and beverage mena {including the sale of alcoholic beverages), have emerged in recent periods. In addition, some i 1o provide such
expanded menu offerings and in- theater dining options. The existence of such cinemma may alter traditional cinemn selection practices of moviegozrs, us they seek out cinemay with such expaded offerings a5 2 p—:{m:d altermative ln l-nidll-lﬂlﬂ cinemms.

W may be sultject to imereaved labor and benefits costs.

We aire subject to laws goverming such matters as minimum wages, working conditions and overtime. As minimum wage mtes increase, we may need to increase not only the wages of sur minimom wage employees, but also the wages paid to employees a8 wage rates that are
above minizm wage. Labor shorages, incrensed employes tumover and healih care mandates could also merease our labor costs. This in tem could lead us 10 increase prices which could imgact our sales. Conversely, if competitive pressures oc other factocs prevent us from
offsetting increased labor costs by increases in prices, our results of operations may be adversely impactzd.

€ yber securily ihreats and our failure iv protect eur elecironically stored data could adversely affect our busivess,

We stors s maintain electronic iformation and data ne cessary to conduct our business, Diata nmintsinied in <lectronic form is subject to the risk of intrusion, tmpering and thefl. While we bave adopted industry accepted seeurity meusurss and technology to proteet the

and the o and of these systems is costly and require ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures becoms more sophisticated. As such, we may be unable to
anticipate and implement adequate preventive meusures in time. This may sdversely affect our business, including sxpomire 1o gavernmént enforcament actions and peivate liigation, and eur reputation with cur customars and employess may b injured. In addition to
Company-specific cyber thress or attacks, our business and results of operations could also be impacted by breaches affecting our peers and partners within the entertainment industry, as well as other retail companies.

Real Estate Development and Ownership Business Risks
We operate in a highly competitive environment in whiclh we st compete againsi companies with muck geeater finawcial and human resources than we have.

We have limited financial and human resources, compared o our peincipnl real estate competitors, In recent periods, we have relied heavily on catside professionals in comnection with our real estate development sctivities. Many of our competitors have significantly greater
resources and may be sble to achieve greater economies of scale than we can .

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry Generally
Our financial performance will be affected by risks arsociated with the real estate induestry generaily.

Events and conditicns genemlly applicable to owners, and operators of real propesty will affect our performance 15 well. These include (i) changes in the natioml, regional and local economic climate, (i) local conditions, such 1 an oversipply of, or  reduction
i demand for, ial space andior i iented properties, (iii} reduced sttractiveness of our properties to
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tenants, {ivk the rental mies and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in which we operate and the quality of propertics that we own, (v) compretition from other propeties, {vi) inability to collect rent from tenants, (vil) imcreased operting costs, including labor,
materials, real estats taxes, inawance premiums, and wtilitiss, (viii) costs of complying with changes in govermment regulations, {ix) the relative illiquidity of real sstate investments, and (x) decrenses in sources of both construction and long-term lending s traditional sources
of ssch Rmding leave or reduce their commitments to real catate based lending. [n addition, periods of cconomic slowdeawn or roccasion, Haing interesl mies or deelining demund for real catate, or the public pereeption that any of these events may eceur, could resull in
declining renta or increased lease defaulis

e may incur coses. ing with the i with Disabilities Act and similar kws.

Undeethe Americars with Disskilities Act and similac stasory regimes in Australin and New Zealand or under applicable state oc local law, all phaces of publlic sccammadation (ineluding eincias and theaters) ace required 10 meet censin goveraments) sequirements related
to sccess and use by persons with disabilities. A ion that we are not in i with those g i ‘with respect to any of our propertics could result in the imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants. The cost of addressing
theae fasues could be substantial .

Hiiguidity of real estate invesimenis could impede our ability io respond tv adverse changes in the performance of eur properiies.

Real estale investments are relatively illiquid and, thersfore, tend vo limit our ability o vary our pontfolio prompely in response to changes in sconomic or other conditions. Many of our properties are cither (i) "special purposs™ propertics that could not be readily converzd o
gencral residential, retail or office wse, or (i) undeveloped land, In addition, certain with real estate i such s real estate taces and mraintenance costs, are generally not reduced when cimimstances eause 1 reduction in income
from the investment , and compstitive factors may prevent the pass-through of such costs to temm

Real estate development involves a variety of risks.

Real catate development mivobves a vasicty of riska, incleding the following ©

»  The ideniif and isition of sullable properiies . C ition for suitable propertics is intense. Our ability to idontify and scquire development propertics may be limited by our size and resourees. Also, as we and our affiliates arc
eonsidered 1o be “foreign owned” for parposes of certain Australian and New Zealnd statutes, we bawe been in the past, snd may inthe Euunc e, subject to rc;;ulmum that arz ot applicabls to n'lu:r persons doing basiness in those countrics.
*  The procurement of vecessary land use entitlements for the praject . This p take many years, parti if opposed by competing interests. Compx d groups funded by such competitors) may object based on various factors,

including, for cxample, imgacts on density, parking, traffic, notse levels nmi the historic or architeetural nature of the building bunsrcplmd If they are wnsuccessful at the local govemmental kevel, they may seck recourse to the courts or other tribunals, This can
delay projects and increass costs.

o The comstruction of the projoct om time and en budget | C risks include the illity and cost of fimancing; the mvailability and costs of material and labor; the costs of dealing with unknonm site conditions (including sddressing pollution or
environmental wastes deposited upon the property by prior owners); inclement weather conditions; and the ever-present patential for labor-related disruptions.

s The leasing or sell-out of the project . Ultimately, there arc risks involved in the leasing of a rental property of the sale of a condominium or built -for-sak property. For cur ET Cs, the extent to which our cinemns can contimc to serve as an anchor tenant will be
influgnced by the same factors as will influsncs generally the results of our cinema cperations. Leasing or sale can be influenced by sconomic factors that are neither known nor knowable at the commencement of the development process and by local, national, and
even intermational ceanomic conditions, both real and pereeived.

+  The refinancing of compleied properties . Propartiss are often developed using relatively short-term loans, Upon completion of the projest, it may be necessary to find replacement financing for these loans, This process involves risk as to the availability of such
pecarmcat or other take-out financiog, the interest rates, and the paymen lepm -npplu:dak o such ﬁnmc\ng. which may be advessely influcnced by local, national, o intermational Factocs, To date, we have been successful in negatiating developmxent loans with "roll
aver” or ather provisions mitigating our need to refinance i of

]
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The ownership of properties involves rivk.

“The ownership of investment properties imvolves risks, such a5 (i) ongoing leasing and re-leasing risks, (i) aagaing | it ing e re-financig risks, (i) market risks o5 to the multiples offred by buyers o inve diment properties, fiv) risks reloted to the ongoing complinnce
with changing governmental regulation (inchiding, without limitation, envi | laws and inaticn that msy exist on a property (such as, bywayotmmp]k asbestos), even though not deposited on the property by ush, (v}

eelative liquidity comprred 1o some other types of assets, and (vi) ibility of asets Lo unk be risks, such as biclegical, chemical or nuclear terrortsm, or rsks that are subject Lo capr tied to the concentrution of sch mscts in cedaln geopraphic anza, sauch o
earthquakes. Furthermone, a5 our properties are typically developed sround an entertainment use, the sttractiveness of these properties 1o tenants, sources of firance mnd real estate investors will be influenced by market perceptions of the benefits and detriments of such
entertainment Lype propertiss ,

A mumber of aur asseis are in active areas, p g risk of and land

W have cinsmas in California and New Zealand, sreas that present a greater dsk of canbquake andlor land movement than cther locations, New Zealand has in recent periods had several mujor carthquakes damaging our facilities in Christehurch mnd Wellingtoo. The abiliy
o insure For such casualties is limited and may become more difficult and/or more expensive in future periods.

We may be swhiect 1o iiability under environmental laws and regulations.

We own and operate & large number of cinemas and other properties within the U S, and intermationally, which may be subject to various foreign, federal, state and local krws and regulations relating o the protection of the environment oc buman health. Such enviroomental
laws and regulations include those that impose lisbility Foc the imvestigation and remedintion of spills o relenses of hazardows materials, We may incur such liability, inchiding foc amy currently or formerly owned, leased or operated property, oc For any site, to which we may
bhave disposed, or srrangad for the disposal of, hazardows materials or wastes. Centain of these lows md regulations may impose lability, meluding on o joint sod several lisbility, which can result in a liable party being obliged to pay for greater than &3 share, regardless of
fault or the legality of the original disposal, Envircamental conditions relating to our properties oc operations could have an sdverse effect on our busingss and results of operations and cash flows.

o related to global Inglelimate chawge eoncems may negatively impact aur business.

Recently, there has bean an incrensing focus mnd continuous debate on global elimnte change including increased attention from regulatory agencies and legislative bodies. This incrensed focus may kead to new initiatives directed at regnlating an o3 yet unspecified amy of
environmentol matters. Legiskative, regulatocy or other efforts in the U.S, to combat climate change could result in fisture ivereases in the cost of raw materials, taves, transportation and utilities for our vendors and for us which would result i higher operating costs for the
Company, Also, complime by our cinemas i sccompanylag real eitats with new and revised envicommzntal, zooing, lad-use or building codes, lows, rules or cegulations, could have a matzrial and adverie effect oo cur busivess. However, we are unable to predict o this
time. the potential effiects, if sy, that any fitwre environmental initiatives may have on cur busingss.

International Business Rivks
Our internations] operations are subject to & variety of risks, including the following:

Ciwrrency Risk : w hile we report our eamings and net assets in U . § . dollars, substantial portions of cur revenne and of our obligations are denominated in either Aust ralisn or New Zealand dollars. The value of these currencies can vary significantly compared tothe U . S .
dol lar and compared to each ather. We donot hedge the currency risk | but mther hove relied upon the natural hedges that exist ns n result of the fact that our film costs are typically fixed us 2 percentage of the box office, and our local opersting codts and obligations are
likewise typically d enominated in local currencies, However, we do have debt a8 our parent company level that i serviced by our overseas cash flow , and cur ability to service this dett could be adversely impacted by declings in the relative value of the Australisn and New
Zealwd dollor compored tothe U . S . doflar. Also, our use of local bommowings 1o mitigate the business risk of carrency Auchmtions s reduced our exibility 1o move cash batvreen jurisdictions, Set forth below is a chart of the exchange ratios between these thnee
curmencies over the past twenty years:

(R}
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Exchange Rates

anesy s oeNew Veadne &

1555 Ve Usiit of Fuansign Sarconty

FhEERHRTERRRRY
& ¥ Fuatage Vaaty Rate

W i ouplte bnefine e g Anonnobin seteadions
ggs Teriial capibad dectivs frder Tew Seatend sobadiany
«  Risk of adverse governmeni regulaion : curently . we believe that relations between the United States, Australia. and New Zealand are good. However. no sssurances can be given that this relationship will continue and that Australia and New Zealand will not in

the future seak to regulate more highly the busines dooe by U . S, companies in their countries,
+  Risk of adverse labor relations : deteriocation in labor relati id fead to an i dcost of lobor {including fiuturs govemment requirements with respect o pension lisbilities, disability insursace and health coverage, and vacations aad leave).

Risks i with Certain

roperties that are currently owned or may have in the past been owned by these subsidiaries may prove to have environmental issues. Where we have knowledge of such environmental
dan own protlems inay be di Thase fiaries are also exposed to potential claims

Certain of our idiaries were { i industrial il As
Essases and nre @0 @ position ko make an sssesment a5 (o our exposure, we have establishad what we balieve o be sppropriate reserves, bt we are exposed (o the risk that current]
related to sxposurs of former cmployees to coal dust, asbestos, and other materials now considered to be, or which in the fture may be found to be, carcineganic or atherwise injurious to healih,

Operating Resulis, Finaneial Strueture and Borrowing Risk
From fime io time, we may have negaiive working capital,
In recent years, as we have invested our cash in new scquisitions and the development of our existing properties, we bove from time-to- tim ¢ had negative working capital. This negative working capital is typical in the cinema exhibition industry bscause our shoet-term

Hiabilities are in pant fmanciog our loog-term xssets instead of loag-tanm liabilities Gnancing shor-tenm assets , 25 i the case in other industries such as manufacturing and distrbution.

15

JA2910



We have subsianial Short 10 medium serm debt.

Generally speaking, we have histonically financed our operations through relatively shoct-term dett. No sssurnnces can be given that we will b2 able to refinance this debt, or if we can, that the terms will be However, s 1 tothis debt, we have
significant urencumbered real property assets, which could be sold 1o pay debt or doered bo pisist in the refi of existing debe, ifnecesary,

We have subswantal loase Babilies.

icn business might. dépending on its severity, adverscly
255 we can increase our revenue sufficiently to offset

Most of our cinemas openite in leased focilities, These leses typically have “cost of living™ or other rent adjusiment features nd require that we opente the propertics #s cinemas. A downtum in cur cinema exhil
affect the ability of our cinema operating sul aries to meet these reatal obligations. Even if our cinema exhibition business remains relatively constant, cinema level eash Now will likely be adversely affected u
Encreases inour rentol lisbilities. Unlike propenty rental kases, our newly added digital equipment lenses do nothive “eost of living” or other letse adjustment features

Oher stock i thinly traded

O stock is thinly traded, with an sverage daily vohume in 2015 of cnly spproximately 56,000 Class A Common shares. “This can result in significant volatility, as demand by buyers and sellers can eaily get out of balance.
Orwnership and Management Structure, Corparate Governanee, and Change of Conirol Risks

Pending disputes among the Cotier family raise uncersaingy regarding the ongoing control of the Comparny and may distract the time and atiendion of our officers and directors from our business and operations or imterfere with the effective management of the
Campan .

Up uati] his denth on Seprember 13, 2014, Jomes 1, Couter, Sr, the father of Ellen Cotter, James J. Cotter, Jr. mnd Margarer Cotter, wos our il kholder, having the sole power to vete fmmmtely 66.9 % of the outstanding voting stock of the Company, Under
applicable Nevada Law, a stockholder holding more than 2/3rds of the Company's voting stock ha s the power at oy time, with o r withowt cause, to meve @y ons or more dinsctors (up to and ivcluding he entire boand of directors ) by witien consent taken without 4
meeting of the stockbolders.

Since his death, dispates have sisen smong Ellen Cotter, James J. Cotter, Jr. and Margaret Cotter conceming the voting control of those shares and regarding the exercise by the Estate of James J. Colter, Sr, Deceased (the *Coticr Estate™) of options to acquire an additional
100,000 shares of Class B Stock. At the present time, Elken Cotter is the Chair, President and Chief Exe cwmtive Officer of our Company. James J. Cotter, Jr. iz @ director snd from June 2013 until June 12, 2015 was the Pr esident and from August 7, 2014 until June 12, 2015
was the Chief Exeentive Officer of our Campany, hirvisg been removed from those positions by B oard action on June 12, 2015, Margaret Cotter is the Vice.Chair of our Company snd the President of Liberty Thenters, LLC, the company th r ough which we own and opernte
aur live theoters, She heads up the management and redevelopment of our New York properties.

As of December 31, 2015, sccording o the books of the Company, the Living Trust established by Declaration of Trust dated June 3 . 2013, by James ], Couter, Sr. (the “Comer Trust™), held of rec ord 696,080 shares of our Class B Voting Stock (“Voting Stock™) constituting
approximately 41.4% of the vating power of our outstanding capital steck, According to the books of the Company, the Cotter Estate s of that date held of record an additional 427,808 shares of Veting Stock, constiniting approximately 25.5% of the voting power of our
outstanding capital stock. W e are ndvised, based upon public Filings made by oné or moce of Ellen Cottér, Murgaret Cottér nnd Jumés I, Cotter, Jr. {the "Cotter Filings"} that the Voting Stock cumrently held of record by the Cotter Estate will eventunlly pour over into tive
Cotter Trust. We are futher advise d from the Cotter Filings that the Cotter Trust also provides for the establishment of 8 vating trust (e "Cotter Veting Trust™) which will eventually hold the Voting Steck cusrently held by the Cotier Estate and the Cotier Trust. At the
present time, however. such Voting Stock is held of record by the Cotter Trust and the Cotter Fstate, respactively.

Elken Cotter, James I, Cotter, Jr. and Murguret Cotter arc cumently the trustess of the Cotter Trust. On December 22, 2014, the District Court of Clark County, Nevada sppointed Ellen Cotter tnd Margarét Cotter & co-execu tors of the Cotter Estate. Accordingly, ot the
present time, Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotrer acting a3 8 majority of the Trustees of the Coter Trust with respect to the shares held by the Coster Trust and as the co-executors of the Cotter Estate with respect to the shares held by the Cotter Estate {including the 100,000
shies of Voting Stock ncquired by the Cotter Estate through the exercise of stock options previowsly granted to Mr. Cotter, Sr.), and voting in their individual capacity their dirzet holdings of $0.000 shargs and 35, 100 shares respectively of the Voting Stock, have the power to
vote Vating Stock representing 71.9% of cur outstanding Veting Stock.
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The identity of the trustez(s) of the Cotter Voting Trust and the terms of thit trust sre in dispute s between Ellen Cotter, James 1. Cotter, Jr, and Margaret Cotter.

We aire advised by the Cotter Filings that the 2013 amended and restated declamtion of trust for the Cotter Trust numes Margaret Colter s the sole trustes of the Cotter Voting Trust and numes Jumes J, Cotter, Jr., 58 the First altemate trustee in the event that Morgares Cotter is
unable or wwilling to act as irustee. We are further advised by ibe Cotizr Filings that a 2014 pariial amendment (o he declartion of tnust, signed by Mr . Cotter, Sr. while be was in the hospital, nmames Margaret Cotter and James 7. Cotter, Jr. 35 co-nmsizes of the Cotter
Vating Trust and provides that, in the event they are unable 10 sgree upon an important tnist decision, they shall retate the voting of the Voting Stock betoreen them annually on each Juruacy st [t futhier directs the trustees of the Cotter Voting Trust 1o, amaong other things,
wvaote such shares of our Voting Stock held by the Cotter Voting Trust in favor of the clection of Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter and James 1. Cotter, Jr. to our board of directors and to rotate snnually the chainmanship of our beard between Ellen Cotter, Morgaret Cotter and
James 1, Cotter, Ir.

On Febeuary 6, 2015, Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter filed 2 Petition in the Superor Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, caplioned i re James J. Conter Living Truse dated Auguse 1, 2000 {Case No, BP159755) {the "Trust Case™}. The Petition, among
ather things, secks relief that could determine the validity of the 2014 partial amendment and who, as between Margarst Cotter and James J, Cotter Jr., has suthority as trustes or co-trustess of the Cotter Voting Trust to vots the Cotter Voting Trust's shares of our Viting Stock
fin whole oc in part) and the scope and extent of such mubority. James J. Cotir, Jr. has filed an opposition to the Petition and ks filed pleadings in that procecding secking the removal of Ellen Colier and Margaret Cotier s trustess of the Cotter Trust. The Trust Case is
currently scheduled to be tried in July of this year,

In addition, Jumes I, Cotter, Jr, and certain other stockholders have filed two derivative actions (dismussed in greater detail below) against Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter and certain of our Directors and officess, alleging a variety of misconduct on their pad, and among
atfier things sseking the reinstatement of James J. Coter, Jr. 35 president and chief executive officer of our Company. challenging the voting by Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter of the shares hebd by the Cotter Estate, and secking to void the result of the election of directors
held o8 our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. See discussion under the heading, Legal Proceedings: Derivative Litigation and James J. Cotter, Jr. Arbitration, fnfra.

Although the Company & not a party to the Trust Case and takes no position 2: to the clains msseried or the relicf sought thercin, the matters rised in the Trust Cose create uncertainty regarding the ongolg control of the Company. Until these matters can be resolved, it is
unclzar whether, upon the creation of and the transfer of ownership of the Vating Stock 1o the Cotier Voting Trust, Margaret Cotter will be the sole tastee of the Cotter Voting Tnit or whether Margaret Cotter and James J. Cotter, Ir. will be co-tnstees of the Comer Voting
Trust. It is likewise uncertain, in the event that the court should determine that Margaret Cotter and James J. Cotter are cotrustess of the Cotter Voting Trust, how the power-sharing muhority would be applicd in practice.,

“These pending mutters could, in the Futire, potentially distract the time md mtention of Ellen Cotier, James J. Cotter, Jr. and Margaret Cotter from the business and operions of cur Comgrany snd thus petentially have an adverse effect on the effective mansgement of our
Company. the ity as to the futurs 1 of cur Company could potentially adversely impact. among other things (i) our ability to develop and maintain favorable business relationships, (i) ouwr ability to attract and retain talented and
peri | directon, and employees, (i) the comp i and other b eded 1o attract and retain such individuals, (iv) our sbility to borrew mency on Frvorable long-term terms, and (v) cur ability to puesus and complete 1 ong term business objectives |

The intevests of our contralling stockhwlder may conflict with your inferests,

As of December 31, 2015, the Cott er Estoc and the Cotter Tt ially own 66.9% of our g Class B Stock. At the present time, according to the books of the Company, Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter vote (including their direct holdings of 30,000 sharcs
and 35,100 shares respectively of the Class B Stoc k), Class B Stock representing 71 9% of our outstanding Class B Stock. Our Class A Stock is non-voting, while our Class B Stock represents all of the voting power of our Company. For a3 long as the Cotter Estate, the
Cotter Trust andior the Cotter Voting Trest {referred to herein collectively as the “Cotier Entitics™ ) continue to own shares of Class B Stock rpresenting moce than 50% nl'lln: vm-r-swuwufnrzwummua:k the Cotter Entitics will be able to clect all of the members of
our Board of Directors and determing the outcoms of all matters submittcd to a vote of our stockholders, including masters involving mergers or other business i the of asscts, the i of indebtedness, the suance of any additional
shvares of common stock or ether cquity seouritics and the payment of dividends on common stock, The Cotter Entitics will also have the power to prevent or cause a change in control, :lldouuld take other actions that might be desimble 1o the Cotter Entitics bat not 1o odier
stockholders. Tothe extent that the Cotter Entities hold more than 2/3rds of our cutstanding Class B Stock, the Cotter Entities will have the power at any time, with or without cause, to remove any oo or more Directors (up to and inchiding the entire board of directors) by
written consent taken without a mecting of the stockholders.
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In addition, the Cottar Estate or the Cotter Trust and for their  respective affiliates have controlling terasts in comganies in rzlated and uncelated industrizs. [nthe future, we may n ions with these {see Note 18 ~ Related Parties and
Transoctions ).

may in fidduciary duties to the company and/or minerity steckholders, these dutivs ars limited, No assurances can be given that the Cotier Entitics will not take action that. while bensficial to them and legally enforceable, would not
necessarily be in the best interests of our Comgrany andlor our stockholders generally.

We are a “Cantrolied Compary” under applicable NASPAQ Regulations. As permitied by those Regulations, our Board has elected io opt out of ceriain corporate rules applicable to fled canp

Generally speaking, the NASDAQ requires listed companies to mest certain minimui corporate govemance provisions. However, 3 “Controlled Compony”, such a5 we, may slect not 10 be governed by centain of these provisions. O Board of Directors s ehocted 1o

exempt our Company from requirements that (i) at least a majority of cur Directors be independant. (ii) nominees 10 our Board of Directors be i bya isad entirely of i dent Directors or by 3 majonty of our Company's independent Directors,
and (iii) the compensation of our Chisf Exsctive Officer ba determinad or reconmended to our Bourd of Directoes by antirely of Dirsetors oe by 3 mjority of our Companys independent Direetors, Netwithstiding the
determination by our Board ufmm-s to opt-out of these NASDAQ requirements, we believe that a majority of cur Board of Directors is ly ised of independent Directors, snd our is heless currently comprised
enticely of ind: daat Dirsctors, N are dered by the Boand, actig as a whole,

We depend om key persanned for our current and future performance.

Our current and future performance depends to  significant degree upon the continised contritations of our senior team and other h'y personnel. The loss o unavailability to s of any member of our senior team ora key
b us, We eannod assurs you that we would be able to locate or employ qualified rep Fox semior o key empl } term. Dus to the uncentainty of e control situation, the ongoing svailability of these employees and our ability 1o
replacs thom is uncertain.

Mone.
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Liem 2 - Properties.

EXECUTIVE AND ADMINIS TRATIVE OFFICES

We lease spproximately 11,700 square feet of office space in Los Angeles . Califomia o serve 3 our executive headquarters. This lease expires on December 31, 2016 and we will not rencw i, sinee a5 discussed below we have purchase d 3 headquarters building in Cubver
City, Califormia, We awn an 8,100 square Fool office building in Melbowme, Ausiralia, spprosimately 5,200 squarc fect of which serves s the headquanters For our Australian and New Zealand operations (the remaimder being leased 1o an unrclated thied party), We maintain
our accounting personnel and certain IT and operational persoonel in spproximately 5,500 square foot of offices located in our Wellington Courtenay Central ET C. We occupy spproximately 3,500 square foct at our Village East lcaschold property for sdministrative
purpases

O Apeil 11, 2016, we paschase d a 24,000 square foot Class B office building with 72 parking spaces located s 5995 Scpulveda Boulevard in Culver City, Califomia. We intend to use approximately 50% of the casable arca for cur headquarters offtees and 1o lease the
remainder to unaffilisted third panies.

ENTERTAINMENT PROPERTIES
Entertainment Use Leasehold Interests

As of December 31,2015 , we lease approximetely | 800,000 square feet of completed cinsms space in the United States, Australis, and New Zealand as follows:

Approximate Range of Remalulog Lease Terms
nclu e b

In 2014, we entered into a long term lease for a mew statc-of-the-an Angelika Film Center in the Union Market distri ot of Washington DC. However, the lease was terminmed as the anticipated location for this cinema ultimacly was determined by the landlord, Edens, to not
be feasible. We are currently finalizing with Edens the terms and conditions of a new lease for a cinema in a different location in the Union Market area.

In December 2014, we enfered into a bease For a new sy cinerm, under the Consolidated Thentres brand, of the new Ka Makans A
cinema complex in Avckland, New Zealaad, which opened in November 2015,

hopping Center being developed in Kapoler, Hawaii by an affiliste of DeBartolo Development and fimalized terms foe new eight -sereen

Fee Interests

In Australia, & of December 31, 2015, we own od  approximately 120,000 square fect of land ot nine locations, Mest of this land is locsted i the greater metropolitan arcas of Brisbane, Melbourne, Perth, and Svdney. The foregoing docs not inchade the 50.6-acre
Burwood, Australia site, which has been sold but not yet recognized a5 3 sale under sccounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP™) . OF these fee interests, approximately 165,000 square fect are currently impeoved with cinemas . This
fgure includes an spproximately 23,000 square foot parcel currently improved with an spproximately 22,000 square foo t office building  that v istend to integrte with s into our New market Shopping Center and that , sccordingly, is not listed above us w separate
locaticn.

In MNew Zealand, as of December 31, 2015, we owned  approximately 3,400,000 square fect of land ot seven bocations, The foregoing exclude 5 the  0.5-acre Taupo, New Zealmnd site, which has been sold but not yet recogaized as a sake under US GAAP, The forcgoing
includss the Count enay Central ET C in Wellington, the development kand behind the Counenay Central ETC, the 70. 4 -acre Manukau site. and the fee imerests underlying four cinemas in New Zealand, which propenics includs approsimately 21,000 squars fest of ancillary
retail space.

In the United Stales, as of December 31, 2005, we own od approximately 74,000 square Fect of improved real catade compeised of theee live theater buildings, which include appeoximeately 16,00 square Ffeet of leasable space, the fec intereat in the Union Square gropedy
Formally used as a live theater, and the fes interest in cur Cinemas 1, 2, 3 in Manhattan (beld theough a limited liability company in
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which we have a 75% managing member intereat), We also own 202 acres of unimproved ld in Conchella Valley, Californin, held through a limited I ability comgpany inwhich the Cotter Estate has n 50% non-maaging member interest,

As discussed shove we parchase d a property in Culver City 10 house our exeentive offices.

Live Theaters

Inchaded among our real eatate holdings are three OF Brondway style live thesters, operated theough our Li berty Theaters subsidiary, We liesnes theater a udtoriums to the producers of O Broadway theatrical productions and provide various box o fee and cooesssion

sirvicss, The tenns of aur licenss ars, naturally, principally dependent upon the comm <reial succsss of our tenanta. Whilc we attempt to choose productions that we belicve will be ful, we have aver the ion its<lf. At the current time, we have t we
single- auditorium theaters in Mansttan;

. the Minena Lane (399 sents); and
. the Cwpheum (347 seats);

We also own a four-muditocium theater complex, the Roval George in Chicago (main stage 452 seats, cabret 199 seuts, great room 100 scats and gallery 60 seats), which has sscillary retuil and offics space.
At the cnd of 2015, we closed our Union Squarc Theater as 2 part of our redevelopment of that propecty,

Liberty Theaters is primarily in the busingss of renting theater space. However, we may from time-to-time participats as an investor in a play, which can help facilitate the production of the play &t one of our facilitics, and do from tims-to-time reot space on a basis that allows
s to share na production’s cevenue or profits, Revenue, expense, and peofits are reported as apart of the real estate segment of our business .

Jaint Venture Interests
We also hold real estate through s everal unincorporaed joint ventures, two 75%-owned subsidiarics, and one majocity-owned subsidiary, as described below:
+ o Australia, we own 8 75% inferest in a subsidiary company thal leases two cinsmas with 11 seceens in twe Australian country lowns, and a 33% wmcomporats d joiol ventues inderest in o 16 -sereen leaschold cincmm in 2 mibuch of Brisbane.
New Zealand, we own a 50% unincorporated joint venture interest intwo cincmas with 13 screens in the New Zealand citics of Auckland and Dunedin, This Duncdin joint venturs interest is in addition to our foc interest in our Duncdin six-screen Cinema,

»  Inthe United States, we own a 75% monaging member interest in the limited linbility compoany thae owns our Cinemas 1,2.3 property and 2 50% managing member interest in Shadow View Land & Farming, LLC . which owns an approximately 202 -acre property in
Coachella , Califomia that is currently zoned for residential and mixed use, and approved for approximately 550 single-family Lots -
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OPERATING PROPERTY
As of December 31, 2018, we own oo interests i approximately 1,300,000 square feet of focame - producing propertics (ineluding certaln propertics principally sccupicd by our einermma) o Follows:

Gross Book Value ®
Property Square Fert of Percentage Leased * il 15D} Address

1 Unlted States
ko

T6000 /23000
phis & 55.4pane parking strisbire

Flus & 871-space parking sircrare

€ York Strect Office. 3000/ 5000 WA 3 Atk 98 York Sereet, South Meltoune, VIC

& Busdsbery 0/14000 NA H 15961301 fohinsa Boulsvard, Busdiber, QLD

1 Counrasy Ceinl 4000 76000 o H 3344516 100 Courvenay Flacy, Wellingioa

R : e o e et o thnd ariln & imberof gt e e boklings nvhde eersiament homontass ot o o mie of ot st il ke . The el are o suchboiiis o e the enmeulamst iquire onge
» wmmwelmnlumm ctmrently leased 1o pastie:

* Refea rg' d‘lll:hmiwtbnwlwwﬂupm

owmby. Veed RaEiliny anropuy in ehich we ol 75% managing aember nteres, The seanalsing 25% s avvmed by Sution | Capial LLE ("SHE"), a compazy owed n equalpars by the Cone Bstwie o the Coter Trustand s i parry.

For furher " Prmperties, refer 10 suae e ading sertion * brvesiwent and Development Properiy .
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L ONG-TERM LEASEHOLD OPERATING PROPERTY

In nddition, in cestain ases we have 100g term lenses that we view moce akin (0 real estate investments than einemn lenses. As of December 31, 2015 , we hd appecximately 155,000 square foot of spaee subjeet 10 such o term leases i Follows:

Gross Book Value ®

#Rental square footape refer b the amountef ey availsble to berented to thisd parties. A nursb estute boldings includ somponents renied 10 ane ar moce ofeur subtidiaries at fale murket rent. The sentsl ares to suth sibsidiaries | neted under the enwstalnment square footige.

% Represcn thepenestie o el squue Iootage cureaty lesed i i pis.

7 Befea o e s camy coiof e d g of e gy,

* The lease of the Village Extt provades for a call opion pureuast & which Read < clncron grouad lease for 35,9 million at e ead of the [eaz< torm 1n 2000, Addith Seaze ha 3 put opton p 20 which SHC may require Reading 10 purchase all or » portion of SHC's intercst in the exivéing
cinems lease ane the inema ground lease at any fime between July 1, o sas R S o a Rt Samior ot ToomAnet o v o T3 e s Mo

INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY

We are engnged in severnl imvestment wd deve lopment projeets celative to our currently undeveloped parcels of land. In addition, we anticipate thit redevelopment of one or more of our existing developed properties muy also oecur, The Following toble summarizes our
mvestment md development progects as of December 31, 2015 :

Crom Book Value ™
USH

027 3 SHARER  We toied 6w 1he ve desivebisless and FTIateoter i Fary el 6680 10X 1 aSEVeLy AT the Gevelopientof
is progeny,

0 clght-pareea sinem,

jing the deveiopment of
16257 mmiomr.sa. ional retail and 142 car parks. 1t ia anticipaed that natian vl arienenon e thie year and be
completed by the fourth quarter 2017, I addition, we have acquired an addiforal 23,000 square foot parcel of land locsted sdjacent to
the oener, which is currenly imgroved with a 22,000 square foor offise buliding. We intend, over ime. o inoorporate this property o
o center.
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Wakefiel! ud'hr‘n-h‘) " n\lp(rmxkr\bbcrkﬂdﬁ'pﬂl o this site. The construstion budgets have been sgreed between the par m“muyammmn
comatnuzton will svmmence i the thixd qm:ummu.ng towards 8 completion date of the bm quanies 2017, In acdifon, we are
aidi 4,600 1

™ A number of our mal extate holdings inzlude addifiona] land held fordevelopment. In addition., we have soquired certiin pareels for futue development .
* Includea, ax pplicsble, the land, building, development coa. and capit alized imematof the propery.

Some of our incoms opsrating propertics and our investmend and development propentics carry vasious debt cocumbrances based on their icoms st reams and geographic locations, For an explanation of our debt and the associsted security collateral please sec Note | 0 — Debi
toour 2015 ©onsolidated  Fmancial s tmements.

OTHER PROPERTY INTERESTS AND INVESTMENTS

W own the fee interest in 11 parcels comprising 195 scres in Pennsybemia and Delaware, These acres consist primaily of vacant lnd. With the exception of certain propertics located in Philadelphia (including the rised railroad bed leading to the old Reading Railroad
Station), the peoperties are peincipally located in rural areas of Pennsylvania and Delaware - These properties are unencumbered by any debt .

liem 2 Legal Procesdings

TAX AUDIT/LITIGATION

The Indernal Revenue Service (the "IRS™) examined the tax retum of Craig Corpocation {"CRG") for its tax vear ended June 30, 1997, CRG was a stand-aloac entity in the year of audit bt &5 now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, In Tax Court, CRG and the RS
agreed 1o compromise the claims made by the IRS against CRG, and the court order was entered on Jauary 6, 2011, As of December 31, 2015, the remaining federal tax cbligation was $2.5 million, reflecting additional interest accnied during the term of th four year
Estalbment plan . For additional information, see Note 9 - Jncome Taxes .

ENVIRONMENTAL AND ASBETOS CLAIMS

Certain of our subsidiarics were histocically involved in milroad ions, coal mining, and ing. Also, certain of thess s ubsidisrics appsac i the chain-of- il of properti that may suffer from palution. Accordingly, certain o these sl have, from
time-te-time, been mmed in and muy i the fahre be naumed i ln aricus nctions brought under spplicable envirommental bvws, Also, we arein the real estate development business and may encounter from ti i i it it propertics that
“we have scquired for These envi i «can increass the cost of such projects and adversely affect the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not curent by believe that our exposure under applicable environmental kaws is material in
amousd.,

From time-to- time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are gensrally covered by an insurance aeﬂ'lemﬂnlmﬂled in September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However,
this insuranee scttlement does not cover litigation by people who were not our cenployees and who may claim second-band exposire 10 asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or elements now ially causing cancer in humans. Cur knewn expoiurs to
these types of elaims, assented or probable of being asserted, is not matzrial.
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DERIVATIVE LITIGATION AND JAMES J. COTTER, JR. ARBITRATION

On June 12, 2015, the Board of Directors terminated Jmnes J. Colter, Jr. s the President and Chicf Executive Officer of our Company. That same day, Mr. Cotter, Jr. filed o lawsuit, dyled 25 both an individual ond a derivative sction, and titled James 1. Cotter, Jr.,
individually and desivatively on behalf of Reading Intermaticnal, Inc. va. Margaret Cotter, <t al.” Case No,: A-15-T19860-V, Dept X1 (the “Cotter Jr. Derivative Action” and the “Cotier, Jr. Complaint,” respectively) against the C ompasry and each of our other tha n sitting
Directors (Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, Guy Adams, William Gould, Edwacd Kane, Douglas McEachem, snd Tim Stocey, the *Defendant Directors™) in the Eighth Judicial District Count of the State of Nevada for Clark County {the *Nevada District Count™). On October 22,
2015, Mr. Cotter, Jr.. amended his complaint to drop his individual claims (the " Amended Cotter Jr. Derivative Complaint ™). Accordingly, the Amended Cotter, Jr. Complaint peesently purports to assert oaly purportedly derivative chaims and to seck remedies only cn behalf
of the Company, The lowsuil currently alleges, among other things, thet the Defendant Directors breached their fiduciany dutics to the Company by tenminating Mr. Cotter, Jr. a2 President and Chicf Executive Officer, continuing to make use of the Exceutive Committee that
has been in place for more than the past ten years, making alkgedly potentially misleading statements in its press releases and filings with the Sceuritics and Exchange Commission ("SEC™), paying certain compensation to Ms. Ellen Coticr, and allowing the Cotter Estate to
muke wse of Class A Common Stock to pay for the exereise of certain long outstanding stock options held of record by the Cotter Estate. He secks reinstatement as President and CEC and alleges s duomages fluctuntions in the price for our Company’s shares after the
announcement of hiz termination as President and CEO and certain unspecified damages to our Company’s reputation.

In o dertvative action, the stockholder plaintift sceks damages o other relief for the benefit of the Company, and not for the stockholder plaintiffs individual benefit, Accordingly, the Company is, ot least in theory, only @ nominal defendant in such 1 derivative

action, However, as a practical matter, because Mr. Cotter, Jr. is also secking, mmong other things, an order that our Beard's determination to terminate Mr, Cotter Jr. was ineffective and that be be reinstaled as the President and CEO of the Company and also that cor Beard's
Exccutive Committce be disbanded (an injunctive remedy that, if granted, would be binding oo the Comgany), and a3 he mserts potentially misleading stafemicnts in certain press releases and flings with the SEC, the Comgany is -r-:wnng nlmnﬁ:ank bncl and expeiss
defending the decision to terminate Mr. Cotter. Jr. as President and Chief Executive Officer, its board committee stracture, and the adequacy of those peess releasss and filings. Also, the Compary continues to incur costs. very demands
and satisfying indemnity obliga 10 the Defendant Directors.

e d frectors and officers liability Bmurer is peoviding insuranee covernge, subject to 2 500,000 deductible (which has now been exhaisted) and its standard reservation of rights, with respect to the defense of the Director Defendants, Chr new Directors, Dr. Tudy Codding
and M. Michacl Wrotniak, arc not mamed in the Cotter Jr. Derivative Action as they were not Directors it the tims of the breaches of fiduciary duty alleged by Mr. Coticr, Jr,

FPursunnt to the terms of Mr. Cotter Jr."s cployment agreement with the Comguny, disputes relating to his employment rc to be ahitmted.  Accordingly, on July 14, 2003, the Company filed an arbitmtion demond with the American Arbitration Associstion against Mr,
Cotter, Jr. The demand seeks declaratory relict, among other things, that Mr. Cotter, Jr's and with the Company have been validly terminated and that the Board of Directors validly removed him from his positions as Chicf Executive

Officer and President of the Company and positions with the Company's subsidiares.
M. Catter, Jr. has filed a counter complaing in the arbitration, asserting elaims for breach of his contract, decl relick, and indemmification. Mr. Cotter, Jr."s counsel has advised that Mr. Cotter is secking a varicty of damages. including
ial dasnages, aod that such claimed damages total not less than $1,000,000. On Apdl 19, 2016, Me, Cotter, I, fiked an action in the District Court, Clack County, Nevada secking to recover his couts of defending the Arbitration, phes compensatocy damages and

interest at the maximum legal rate. The Company intends 1o vigorously defend these claimes.

On August 6, 2015, the Company received notice that 3 Motion to Itervens in the Cotte r Jr Derivative Action and 3 proposed derivative complaint bad been filed in the Nevada District Court eaptioned T2 Partners Management, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, doing
business ws Kase Capital Management; T2 Aceredited Fund, LP, 8 Debware limited pastnesship, doing business as Kase Fund; T2 Qualified Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, doing business ns Kase Qualified Fund; Tilson Offshore Fund, Led, s Cayman [shads
exempted company; T2 Pariners Management I, LLC, 3 Delaware limited liability comgpany, doing business 5s Kase Management: T2 Pastncrs Maoagement Group, LLC, 3 Delaware |imited liability company, doing business as Kase Group: IMG Capital Management, LLC, 5
Delaware limited liability company, Pacific Capital Maagement, LLC, a Delaware limited Iulalllly company, derivatively on bebalf of Reading Intermational, Inc. vs. Margaret Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Guy Adams, Edward Kane, Doughis McEachem, Timothy Storcy, William
Gould and Doss | through 100, inchusive, a5 and, Reading ional, Inc., a ion, as Nominal Defendant (the “T2 Derivative Action” ). On August 11, 2015, the Court granted the motion of T2 Partners Management, LP et. al. (the “T2
Plaintiffs"), allowing these pliintiffs to file their complain (the T2 Derivative Complaint™).

28

JA2919



On September 9, 2005, certain of the Defendant Directors filed a Motion to Diamiss the T2 Derivative Complaint. The Company joined this Motion to Drsmiss on Scptember 14, 2015, The bearing on this Moticn toe Dismiss was vacated o8 the T2 Plaingiffs volustarily
withdrew the T2 Derivative Complaint, with the partics agreeing that T2 Plaintiffs would kave leave to amend the Complaint. On February 12, 2016, The T2 plaintift filed an amended T2 Derivative Complaint {the "Amended T2 Derivative Complaint™).

The T2 Plaintiffs allege in their Amended T2 Derivative Complaint vanious viclations of fiduciary duty, sbuse of control, gross mismanagement and corporate wasts by the Defendant Directors. Mors specifically the T2 Derivative Complaint secks the reinstatement of James
1. Cotter, Ir, a5 President and Chicl Excoutive Officer and certain monetary damanges, as well o3 equitable injunctive relicf, attomey fees and costs of suit. Once again, the Company has been eamed w2 nominal defendmnt. However, because the T2 Derivative Complaint alio
secks the reinstatement of Mr. Cottzr, Jr., a8 our President and CEO, i is being defended by the Company. [n addition, the Company continues 10 incur costs promulgating and responding to discovery demands and satisfying indemmity obligations to the Diefendant

Directors. The Defendant Directocs are the same as gamed in the Cotter Jr, Derivative Action a5 well as sur two new Directors Dr. Judy Codding and Michas] Wretniak and Company legal counsel, Craig Tomphing, The cost of the defenss of Directors Codding sad Wrotniak
s likewisc being covered by our Dircctors and officsr’s liability insurancs carricr with the sams reservations of right as in the Cotter Jr. Drivative Action, but without any scparate deductible. The cost of the defense of M. Tompkins is being coversd by the Company under
#s indemnity agrecment with him.

The Amended T2 Derivative Complaint has delsted its request for an order disbanding our Excoutive Commminee and for an order “collapsing the Class A and B stock structure into a single class of voting stock.” The Amendsd T2 Complaing has added a request for an onder
seiting aside the election results from the 2015 Anmul Mecting of Stockholders, based on an allegation that Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter were net enfitled to vote the shares of Class B Common Stock held of record by the Cotter Estate and the Cotter Trust. The Company
and the other defendants contest the allegations of the T2 Plaintiffs. The Compoay followed applicsble Nevada kaw in recognizing that Ellen Cotser and Margaret Cotter had the legal right and power to vote the shares of Class B Commmon Stock held of record by the Cotter
Estate and the Cotter Trust, and the independent Inspector of Elections has cetificd the resubts of that cluci-on. lutdwnnm even ifthe election l!:‘ulli were 1o be overtumed or voided, this would have no impact on the current conprasition of cur Board o sy action taken by
our Boand since our 2015 Anmal Meeting of Stockholders, as all of the nominees were standing for re-el retain their di until their are elected . The Comgany will vigorously contest any assertions by the T2 Plaintiffs challenging
e voting at the 2015 Anmual Mecting of Stockholders and believes that the count will mibe for the Comnpasry ulmnld this issue ever reach the court. The case is current ly set for trial in November, 2016, The T2 Plaintiffs have not sought any expedited miling from the Count.
with respect to their assertions that Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter did not have the night and pewsr to vote the shares of Class B Common Stock held of record by the Cotier Estate and the Cotier Trus.

“The Company belicves that the claims set foth in the Amended Cotter Jr. Derivative Complaint and the Amended T2 Derivative Complaint are entirely without merit and seck equitable remediss for which no relicf can be given, The Company intends to defend vigorously
aganst ay chims sgainst our officers and directors and sgainst any attemgt to reinstate Mr, Cotter, Ir. 28 President and Chief Exceutive Officer or 1o effect any changes in the rights of cur Comgpany s stockhoders.

THE STOMP ARBITRATION

In Apeil 2005, Liberty Theatres, LLC {*Liberty”), 2 wholly owned subsidinry of the Company, an American (Case No.:01.15-0003.3728) The Stomg mn-pc--y Limited Fmrshlp Elhc Prodlm ) in
response to the Producer’s purported termination of their license agreement with Liberty relating to the long playing show STOMP. Liberty sought specific performanee, injunctive and declaratory relief and damages. The Prc
alleging that Liberty bas intefered with the Producer’s cadeavors to move the show to another Off-Broadway theater. The Producer based its purposted teonination of the lioense agrecment upon the alleged deficicnt condition of the Crrm:quhmu‘ in which S‘I‘OMP Ima
bezn playing for more than the past 20 years,

On December 18, 2015, the Arbitratoc issued his Partial Final Award of Arbitration, providing for, smong cther things {i}the issuance of a permanent injunction prohibiting the Producer from “tmnsferring or taking sctions to mmarket, promote, or otherwise facilitate any
trnsnsfer of, STOMP to ancther theatre in New York City having fewer thao 500 seats without Liberty's price written consent”, (ii) the Producer’s Notice of Termination purpertedly termirating the partics’ license agrecmeat was fovalid, oull and void aod the Licensc
Agreement remains in full force and cffect, and (i) the award to Liberty of #s remsonable sttomeys” fees in an amount to be determined by the Arbitrmor. The Companry expeots the final avward of mtorneys” fees to be decided during the second quarter of 2016,

i cxplaming his decision to award Liberty its reasonabile attomeys’ fecs, the Arbiteator stated as Follows: ™ Liberty is cotitled 1o such an award [of attorcys” fees] not only becanse it is the prevailing party in this proceeding, but becase [the Producer] unfairdy disparaged the
Orpheum and eaused Liberty to incur attomeys” fees in order to address and resobve [the Producer’s] groundless and
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MARKET [INFORMATION

The following tsble sets forth the high and low chosing prices of the REN and RDIB commoen stock for each of the quasters in 2015 and 2014 a2 reponed by NASDAQ:

Class A Stock. Class B Stock

1023
As of December 31, 2015, the appeoximate number of common stockholders of record was 2200 for Class A stock and 350, for Class B stock. Do Apxil 25, 2016 | the elosing peice per share of cur Class A Steck and Class B stock ona 812 .79 and $1 1. 65, respectively.

We have never declared 2 cash dividend on our common stock and we have no cumrent plans to declare a dividend; however, we review this matter on an ongoing basis.

The following tsble summarizes the sccunities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans:

Number of secaritics (0 be Baned upon cxercie of ontstanding options, Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding Number of securities cemaining available for future fssn
swarrants, and righi optlons, warrants, and rights cquity plans

we under
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Performance Graph

total

o0 Reading

e s eattmen stock for the five. vear period ended December 31, 2015 agninst the eumailative total retim 1 ealeulated by the NASDAQ compodite, u peer group of public

“The Followitsg line graph comgares th

companies engaged in the motion picture theater operator industry  and o peer group of public companiss engaged in the real estate operator industry. Measwrement points are the last irading day for cach of the five vear s ended D scember 31,201 5. The graph sssumes
that $100 wis Envested on Decamber 31, 20 10 in our comumon stock, the NASDAQ composite and the moted peer group 3, and assumes ceivvestment of any dividends. The stock price pedonmance on the following graph is not mecessarily indicative of fture sock price

performance.
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES; USE OF PROCEEDS FROM REGISTERED SECURITIES

Mone.

PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

In May 2014, our Board of Directors suthorized a stock buy-back program to spend up to an aggregate of $10.0 million o acquire shares of the Company's common stock. As part of this program, during 2015, we purchased 240,102 Class A Non - voting shares on the

open macket for $3.1 million £ o n weighted avernge price of $12.95 per sbaare. As of December 31, 2015, spproximately $2.8 million may vet be purchused under the prograsm,

Alsoin 2015, a numbsr of sxceutives ch as to nat s<tile their shar options with the Company, as allowsd by our shars option plan. T his resulted in the € ompany issuing 52,777 Class A Noa-vofing sharss. A 3 part of this transaction th € ompany also remiticd $201,000 of

taxes on their behalf, The C ompany also acquired an additional 141,288 Class A Non-voting shares as payment oo the excise of 185,100 class B voting stock options that had 3 combined exercise price of $1.8 million.
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Ltem 6 - Selected Financial (ata

The tabile below sets focth certain histocical finac ol data reganding cur Company. This nfocmation is derived i part Fram, and should be read pnction with , our i Fanancial included in Item B of this Anoual Report oo Form 10-K For the year
ended December 21, 2015 (the * 2015 Annual Report™), and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements,

ms

Both EBIT and EBITDA are non- US GAAF measures and are presented for informationnl purposes. They should not be construed as an altemative to net eamings (loss), 15 an indicator of operating performance o a3 an altemative to cash Aow provided by operatiy
potivities s o measure of liquidity (as determined in sccordance with US GAAP) . Theae measures should be reviewed in conjunction with the relevant US GAAP finanial measures, EBIT and EBITDA os we have calculated them may not be camporable to ||lmlarly titled
s repored by other comganics,

EBIT preacntcd above reprasents net incomes (boss) adjusted for interest sxpenss (et of intersst income), income tax cxpenss and an adjustment of intcrest sxpense for discontioucd operations, ifany . EBIT is uscful in evaluating our operating resubis for ihe following ressons:

+  EBIT removes the impact of the varying tax rates and tax regimes in the jurisdictions where we operate and the imgmact of tax timing differences that may vary from ti ime and from jurisdicti
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+  EBIT removes the impact from our effective tax rate of fictors not directly related 1o our business opertions, such as whether we have acquired operating asscts by parchasing those wssets directly, or indirectly by purchinsing the stock of o company that hold s such
operating ssets,

»  EBIT removes the imgact of our histercally significant net loss camry-Forwards |

+  EBIT allows a better performance comparizon between RDI and other companics, For examgle. it allows us to compare ourselves with other companics that may have more or less debt than we do.

We define EBITIXA as nst iocoms adjusted for intersst expenss (nst of interest incoms ), income tax expenss. depreciation and amortization cxpense, ad an adjustment of interest expense, and amortization for discontinued fon, if any, EBITDA is usclisl

peineipally for the Following resoms:

+  EBITDA is an industry comparative measure of fnancial performance . A nalysts and financial commentstors who report oo the cinema exhibition and real estate industries often use EBITDA to determine the valustion of a comgany in such industries.
+  EBITDA & a measurs wied by fnancial satitutions to determing the ersdit rting of companics in cinema cxhibition and real catale industries.

Reconcilintion of EBTT and EBITDA to net incorme is presented belony:

18 In thowsands) 2015 2014 2013 2012 ; i

2 o i aisoetizaic
Adpusimcnds for disomtimeed operations.
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Organization of Information

Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides a narrative on the Company's financial performance and coadition that should be read in coajunction with the npanying financial It includes the following sections:
. Forwand Looking Statements
. Company Overview

Cinema Activitics
Coasolidated Results and Non-Segment Results

Business Segment Reaults
Buainess Plan, Liquidity and Capital Resources
Contractunl Obligations, Conmitments nnd Contingencies.
Financial Risk Management
Critical Accounting Policics and Estimates

ot s s e

FORWARD LODKING STATEMENTS

Our statements i this annual report, inchuding the documents incorporated herein by reference, contain o variety of forward-looking statements as defined by the Securitics Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Forward-looking statements reflect only our expectations regarding
fisturs cvents and operating perfonmance and necsasarily speak only as of the date the information was prepared, No guarantess can be given that our expectation will in fact be realized, in wholc or in part. You can recognizs thess statements by our use of words such as, by
wary of example, “may,” “will,” “expect,”™ “beliove,” and “anticipate™ or other similar terminclogy.

“These forward-looking atements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current belicfs, expectations and assumptions regarding the future of our basingss, futurs plans and strategics after having considered a
variety of risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are necessarily the peoduct of intemal and do not reflect the views of individual members of our Board of Direetors o of cur management team. [ndividual Board mermbers and
individual members of our management team may have a different view as to the risks and weertainties involved, and may have different views as to fisture events or our operating performance.

Among the factors that could cause actual reaubis and our financial condition to differ materially from thess xpressed in or underlying our forward-looking statements ar the following:

0 with respect to our cinen operations:
©  the number and attractiveness to mavie gosrs of the films mlm:dlu future periods:
the mmoud of mooey spent by film Lo peomole. ORio P
the licensing fees and terms required by film distribautors from motion picture exhl'bltors in order to exhibit their films;
the comgurative attractivencess of motion pictres as a source of cotertainment and willingness sndor ability of consanmers [|J to spend their dollars on catertaimment and (i} to spend theic entertainment dollars on movics in an outside-the-home cnviconment;
the extent to which we encounter competition from other cinema exhibitors, from other sources of outside-the-h and from inside-the-h options, such a6 “home theaters™ and competitive film peoduct distribution
technology, such a5, by way of cxample, cable, satellite broadeast and Blu-ray/ DV rentals and sales, and so called “movies on demand;™ and
o the extent to, and the <fficicncy with, which we ars abls to integrate acquisitions of cinema circuits with our cxisting operations.
»  with respect to our real cstae development and operation activities:
the rental rates and eapitalization rates applicable to the markets inwhich we operate and the quality of properties that we own;
the extent to which we con chisin on o timely basis the tanqn Iund use spprovals snd cotitlements needed to develop our propestizs:
the risks and inted with real cstate d :
the ility and cost of labor and materiaks;
competition for development sites and tenants;
environmental remedintion issucs;

a
o
o
o

cao0o0o0

n
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o the extent to which our ciemas con continuc 10 serve o3 an anchor et that will, in tum, be infhienced by the same &m—s as w:ll nfluence gm:r.-lly Ih: results of our cinems operntions; and
o certain of cur activities are in geologically active m creating a risk of damage and/or disruption of real estate and b
«  with respect o our ions generlly a o i pnny mvelved in both the development nnd eperation of cinemas and the development and operation of real estnte; and previculy engaged for masy yeors in the eailrond busiess in the United States;
our engoing access to borrowed funds and capital and the interest that must be paid on that debt and the retuns that must be paid oo such capital:
the relative valies of the currency used in the countries in which we operate;
changes in government regulation, including by way of example, u:eeeas resubting from the implementation of the requirements of Sarbanes Oxley;
our labor relations mnd costs of labor (including futire go with respect to pension liabilitics, disability isurance and healh coverage, and vacations sod leave);
our exposurs from time-to-ime to legal claims Ildl.oumnsumﬂem}.s such a5 those related to our historic milroad operations, including potential covis claims and healiby |aims relating to alkged exposure to asbestos o ather substances
new oc in the future recognized as being possible cammes of cancer o other health related peoblems;
o changes in fumres effective tax mizs and the resubis of currently ongoing and fisture potential audits by taxing shorities having jurisdiction over our vanious companies; and
o changes in spplicable accounting policics and practices.

cooo0o0

The above list & not necessarily exhaustive, ws business is by definition wgrediciable and risky, and it is subject to inflicnce by numerons Fctors ouside of our control, such a5 changes in govemment regulation or policy, competition, intcrest rtes, supply, techmological
Emnovation, chia nges in comsumertaste , the westher, and the extent to which consumers in our marksts have the economic wherewithal to spend money on beyond-the-home entertainment.

Given the vasiety snd unpredictability of the Factors that wi ately influcnee our businesses and cur results of operstion, it tatucally follows that no guaretecs can b given that any of our forscard loaking statements will ultimately prove to be corrset. Actual results will
undoubtedly vary and thers is no guarantee a3 to how our securitics will perform <ither when considered in isolaticn or when compared to other securitics o investment opporuunitics,

Finally, we undertaks no cbligation to update publicly or to revise any of our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future cvents or otherwise, cyeept as may be required under applicable law. Accordingly, you should always note the date 1o
which our forsard looking stements speak.

Additionally. certain of the presentations included in this annual report may contain “non-US GAAP financial measures. ™ In such case, a reconciliation of this nformation to our US GAAP financial statements will be made available in connection with such statements.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

W arc an i Iy diversificd compaay pris focused on the ds ip, and op<ration of P and real estalc asscts in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. Cwrrently, we operate in two business scgmsnts:
s  Cinema cxhibition, through our S8 multiplex cincanas; and
s Real estate, inchiding real estate development and ¢ he rental of retail, commercial and live theater assets.
We believe that these two business segments can complement onz another, a: we can use the comparatively consistent cash flows generated by our cinema operations to fimd the front-end cash demands of our real estate development business.
W manage our worldwids cinema exhibition busincsscs under various brands:
»  mthe US, under the following brands: Readiog Cineia 5 , Angelika Film Center 5, Consolidated Theat ¢ ¢ 5, and City Clocimas;
«  in Australia, under the Reading Cinema s brand: and
- inNew Zealand, under the Reading Cinema s and Rialto brands.
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CINEMA ACTIVITIES

We believe t he ciner business 10 be one that will likely coatine to generate fairly coasistent cash flows in the years shead, evenina This is based on our belief that people will continie 1o spend some reasonable poetion of their
entertainment dollir on entertainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other forms of outside-the-home entertsinment, movies continug 1o be 8 popular and competitively priced option. Becsuse we believe the cinema exhibition business to be o manire bisiness
with mvost mackets cither sdequately screened or over-sercened, we sec growth in our cinemia business coming peincipally from (i) the eshancement of our existing cinems {for example, by the nddmo" of hueury seating and expanding our food aed beversge offerings), (i) the

development in select markess of specialty cinemas, and (iii) the oppormnistic scquisition of alrendy existing cinemas, rather than from the of new i cinemas. From , we invest in the securities of other companies, where we believe the
business oc assets of those comganies tobe smve orto clﬁ:r synurg-u to urmsms entertainment and real estate businesses, We continue 10 focus oo the development and redevelopenent of our existing assets (padicularly our New York assets and our Angelika Filin
Center chain), as well m inwie to be 2 10 Bequine Ba5ety, parti a38¢ts with proven cash flow and that we believe to be resistant 10 recessionnry trinds.

W e sec ourselves prncipally as a hically di fied real estate and ci exhibition company and intend 10 add o stockivolder value by lidldluslllc value of our porifolio of tangible assers, .cludmgl.mtl. entectainment i other types of land and “brick and morar™
mases, We endenvor 1o maintuin o ressonable asset allocation between our domestic and international assers and operations, and berween ourcash imemn and our cash g renl estate and Betivities. We believe tha . by
blending the cash geoerating capabilities of & cinema operation with the and of our real estate operations, our business sirategy is unique among public companies,

Business Climate

i Exbibition G

Along with the majority of our industry, we have completed the conversion of all of our LS., Austrlin, and New Zenland cinemn operatioas to digital exhibition. W e nticipate that the cost of this conversion will be covered in substantinl part by the receipt of “virual print
fives™ paid by film distribugors for the use of such digitol projection equipment,

The “in-home™ industry has expers ignificant leaps in recens periods in both the quality mnd of in-home s systems and in the pecessibilny to and qualivy of i through ive film distribasion channels,
such a3 network, cable, satellite, internet distribution channels, and Blu-ry/ DV, The success of these altemative dissritution channels puts additional pressure on fl o reduce andior sliminate the fime period between theatrical s secondary relense dates,
These are issues common to both cur U.S, and intemational cinema operations.

Certakm new eotaots to the cinems exhibition macket, a3 well as centain of o historc competitons, have begun w develop new, mod 10 reposition existing, cmemas that offer a broader selection of premium scatig and food and bevermge chokoes. These iclude, i some cases,
food service 1o the seat and the offening of aleoholic beverges. We have for some yvears offered premium seating . café food selections and aleobolic bevernges incenain cinemas, Accordingly, we are experenced in, and believe that we can compete effectively with, this
emerging competition. We are currently reviewing the potentinl foe further expanding our offerings at a variety of our cioemas.

Citma Exbibitio - Avstcali * e Zealipd

“The film exhibition industry in Australia and New Zealand & highly concentroted in that Village, Em and Hoyts {the “Major Exhibitors™) cootrol spproximately 65% oru.e cinema box office in Auwstralin, while Event and Hoyts control appeoximately 56% of New
Zealand's cinema box office. The industry §5 also vertically integrated in that oe of the Major E: dslsow Film Distrib {past of Village), al as adistrik of film in Australia and New Zealand for Warer Bros, Films produced or distribaged by the
mmjocity of the local intemmionsl independent producers sre also dismibuted by Roadshow. Typically, the Major Exhibitors own the newer multiplex aod megnplex cinemas, while the independent exhibitors typically have older and smaller cinemss. In sddition, the Major
Exhibitors have in recent periods built & number of new multplexes s joint venture partsers or under shared faciliy arrangements, and have histosscally nod engaged in head-1o-head competition.

Cinern Exbibition - Noc .

In North America, distributors mayy find it more commercially uppealing to deal with mujor exhibitors, rather thin to deal with independents like us, which tands to compeess the supply of sereens in  very limited number This competitive di uge has
ereased significantly in recont periods , with the development of mega-clrcuits like Regal and AMC | who are able
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b eoffer distribagons acoess to soreens on a truly sationwide basis, or, on the other hand, te deny mocess i their desires with resgect to film supply wre not satisfied,

Thess consolidations can adversely affoct our ability to get Film in certain U.S. markets where we compete sgninst msjoc exhibitor. With the ing and
it by our LS, operation have and can contina to be a way to combat such a competitive disadvantage.

industry, nnd the emergence of incrensingly stretive "in-home” entertaitment

Real Estone - i Zealund
Ohver the past few years, there has been a noted gabilization in real estate market activity resulting in some increas<s to commercial and retail property vabucs in Australia and to a ksser extent in New Zealand. Both countries have relatively stable economics with varying
degrees of coonomic growth ot are mostly influenced by global trends. Also, we have noted that our Australion snd New Zealwd developed propertics have had consistent growth in reatals and values , and we have a number of projects commencing. Once developed, we:
remain confident that our Australian and Ne w Zealand holdings will contimse to provide value and cazh flows 1o our operations.

Raol Ectots_Norih America

“The commercial real estate market has improved significantly over the past three years , and we have noted strengthening rental mcome associsted with our real ctate located in large usbun enviroaments.
Busingss Scements

As indicated above, our bwo primary busincss segments s cinema sxhibition and real sstatc. Thess ssgments are summarized as follows:

Cimemra Exhibition

One of owr primrary businesses conalats of the ownership and operation of cinemas. For o breakdown of our current cinerm assets that we own and/or mamage please see [tem | = Qur Business of this 2015 Annual Repont under the subheading ™ Operating Dyfearmeation -
Cinenta Exhibition ™

In ber 2015, we d detcly refurbished stadc-of the-art cmema complex in Harbourt own, Austsalia, [n Octeber 2015, we re opencd the twelve- serecn Angelika Film Center & Cafe, a state-of the-art hixury ¢inema, located at Carmel Meuntain Plazs in San
Dicgo. Finally, in November 2015, we op cned the new state-of the-art cight-scre en Reading Cincmas LynnMall, our first Reading branded Anckland cinéms complex, in New Lynn, New Zealad ,

In October 2005, at the end of our lease period, we closed our Redbank cincm, i Queenshind Australia.
During 2014, we opencd a three-screen Angelika Pop-Up! at Union Market in Washington, D.C. | as well as o six-scroen complex in Dunedin, New Zealand,
In December 2013, we acquired a five -scresn cinema in Plano, Texas that we previously had masaged since 2003

Our cincma revenue consists primanly of sdmizssions, concessions, advertising and theater rentals. The cinema operating expense consists of the coats directly attributable to the operation of the cinemas, including film reot expense, operating costs, and occupancy
costs. Cinema revemss and expense fuctuste with the wvailability of quality first-nun films and the nnmbers of weeks the first-ran films stay in the market.

Real Estate
For 2015 , cur income operuting peoperty congisted of the following:

«  ourBelmont, Westem Australia ET €, our Auburm, New South Wales ET € and our Wellington, New Zealaad ET C:

. our shopping center in . (h a subust of Brishane;

«  three singke- auditorium live theaters in Manhattan (Minetta Lane, Orpheun, and Union S quare) and a four-auditoeium live theater complex in Chicago (The Royal George) and, in the case of the Union Square and the Royal George, their sccompanying ancillary
retail and commercial tenants ; at the cod of December 2015, the Union Square building was closed in connection with the proposed redevelopment of the building ;

+  Australion commercial propertics rented to unrelated thind partics, 1o be held for current income and long-term sppreciation; and
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«  theancillary retail and commercia | enants w some of our noo-ET C cinema propertics.

In addition, we had various parcels of unimgroved real estate held for development in Australin and New Zealand and certain unimproved land in the United States inchiding some that was used in our historic activities. We also oan an 8,100 square foot commercial bu
in Melboume, which serves as ouwr administrative headquarters for Australia and New Zealand, spproximately 26% of which is leased to an wnrelated third party.

Aeauiitions

Coerating Assels

Cannon Park, Austratia

In December 2015, w ¢ acquired two adjoining i h d in Towmville, O Austealia for a total of § 24.3 million { AU $33. 6 million). The total gross leasable arca of the two sdjoining propertics. the Cannon Pack Ciity Centre und the Cannon
Park Discount Centre, is 1 33,000 square feet. The Cannon Park City Cendre is anchored by a Reading Cinema, which is owned by Reading [nternational s 75% owned sul ary, Australia Country Cinemas , and has three mini-msjor tenants and ten specialty family
eeiented restaurant tenanta. The Cannon Park Discount Centre is anchored by Kingpin Bowling and supperted by four other retailers, The peopertics are located spproximately 0.6 miles from “Towmsville, the seeond largest city in Queensland, Austealia. For
additional information, ses Nots 4 — Aoguisitions, Disposals, and Azsets Held for Sale - 2015 foms — Cannon Park, (h tard, Australia .

Newmsarket, Awsiralia

In Movember 20135, we sequired 2 ial building in sdjacent to our shopping complex currently improved with an office building. The total cost of the acquisition was $5.5 millica (AUS7.6 million). Our intention is that this parcel will ultimately
be integrated into our Newmarket Shopping Center. See Note 4 — Acguisitions, Dispesals, and Assets Held for Sale — 2015 T fons - Cannon Park, {eeraland, Australia .

Plana, Texas

In December 2013, we setiled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas cincma that we bad managed since 2003 for a cash receipt of §1.9 million, As pat of the scttlement, we scquired that catity, and through the purchase ofthat eof
scquired the undsrlying cinsma's lease and the sssocisted personal property. squipmend, and trds fodures, Because the fair valus of the lease, in light of anticipated reot payments, resulied in a lease lisbility of 320,000 and the acquired net asssts, including cash recsived in
connection with the settlement, were valued at $1.7 million, we recorded 2 niet gain oo sequisition and settlement of $1.4 million which is inchuded m * other income ™ in our consoliduted statement of operati ons for the year ended December 31, 2013, We also scquired in
2012 the 50% interest we did not own in Angelika Film Centers, LLC.

Land Held for Sale - Burwood

O May 12, 2014, we entered into a contract to s<ll our undeveloped 50.6-acce parcel in Burwood, Victoria, Australia, to an affiliate of Australand Holdings Limited for a purchase prics of § 47, 5 million {AU$65.0 million). Reading recsived $5.5 million {AUS6.5 million) on
May 23, 2014 closing. The balance of the purchase price is due on December 31,2017,

Taupe

On Maech 31, 2015, we entered into sale agreements to sell both of our Lake Tuupo properties to the sume purchaser. 138 Lake Terrace , an impeoved 20 unit motor inn, settled on May 6. 2015 for §1.7 million (N £52.2 million). Setttement of 821,000 (NZ51.2 million) was
reeeived on March 31, 2006 for 142 Lake Terrace , an wnimproved vacant p scel of land .

Moanee Pords Proerty
In 2013, we entered into 3 purchase and sake agreement to sell our 3.3 -acre propestics in Moonee Ponds for $21.4 million (AL $23.0 mil
Invesument and Developmen Propey

o) which close d on Apel 16, 2015,

‘We are engaged in several real estate development projects. For a complete list of these propertics with their size. status. and gross book values see Item 2 — Properties under the heading of * Invesiment and Development Property .~

3

JA2930



CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND NON-SECMENT RESULT §

Change
FaviUnfav)

LDollar in tousrds s 014 2013

Consolidated Resulis - 2015 vs. 2014

Met income ta RDI com mon was bower by $2, 9 million or 11 % to$2 2, & million. This reduction was mainly dus to 2 §14 .7 million increase in income tax expense, a $2.7 million decresse in Real Estate segment income . 3521 million
reduction in other incame mnd a $638,000 increasc in & eoncral and administrative expense, These were offsct by an $11.0 million gain on sake, a $4.2 millica increase in Coema segment income and a §1.7 - million reduction in et interest expenac, These arc
discussed in more detail below.

Non-Segment Results - 2015 vs. 2004

General and administrative expense
Ciemeral and ad. trative expense for 2015 increased by $639 000 or 4%, muinly dus to higher legal, consulting and Board of I irector 5 fees in the U5, , offset by lower payroll expenses and forzign exchangs rate movements resulting in lower Australia and New Zzaland
general nd administration expense in US. dollars. For more informmtion shout legal expenses, please refer to ltem 3. Legal Proceedings

Anterest expense, net
Interest expense, net for 2015 , de creased by $1.7 million or 19%, mainly due to 3 reduction in interest rates, lower net borrowing, favorable revalustions of interest rte swaps . as well as foreign exchange rate movements.

Gain on sale of assets
TNet gain oo sale of asseta for 2015 increased by §11.0 million, primarily due to the finalization of the sale of our Moonee Ponds sits in Australia, our Los Angeles condominium and our Lake Taupo Motel in New Zealand.

Okher income | expense )
Other income and cxpense changed by $2.1 million or 127% , mainly duc 1o a $1.6 million (NZS 2 0 million) reduction o business mterniption income from the Counenay C cntral capark building , as well asa § 495,000 (AU $700,000 ) seulement relating to a historial

accident 5t one of our Australian sites.
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Equity earniugs
Equity eamings fr om unconsolidated investments i nereased by S189 000 or 19% | primarily related toa incresse in income from our M. Gravatt investment .

Income tax benefit { expense }
Income b exps 4 d by 514 . 7 milli ced to 2004, smaioly due to the reversal in 2004 of the US. valuation allowance that had been recorded against defemed tax msets |

Consalidated Results 200 4 vs. 201 3

MNet income attributable to RDI common stockbolders increased by $16. 7 million or 1 £5 % to $25. 7 million. This increase wis nminly due to 3 $14.7 million change in income Lax expense, s $1.3 million increase in segment operating incomse , a5 well 3s 3 $1.0 millica
reduction innetintersst expense, These an discussed i more detail below,

Non-Sepment Resul(s - 2014 vs, 2013

Genaral and administrative expense
General and administrative expenses for 20 14 incr inally by $149,000 ar 1.1%, from 2013 .
Fnteresi expense, wet

MNet interest expense decrensed by $1.0 million compared to 2013, The decrease in interest expense during 2014 resulted from our ability Lo refinance certain debt
thve 2014 duc to a decrease in the fair vahus of our interest rate swap lisbilitics in 2014 compared 10 2012,

at Fvorable rates o

parison Lo the existing mied, Additionally, our interest expenss was lower in

Ohlrer incame [ expense |

The 1.6 millicss in other income during 2014 was primanily relatad 1o the receipt of insurnce procesds received during 2014 for the Courtenyy Central parking structurs business intermiption recovery elaim, The 819 millicn in ather income during 2013 was primarily relatsd
toa $1.4 million gain on the acquisition of a cinema and the receipt of insurance proceeds from cur busingss intermption claim for the temporry closurs of our cinema in Chaistchurch, Now Zealand dug to the February 22, 2011 canthquake {see Note 19 - Casnalty Lass to our
«© onsolidated finmcial s tatements).

Equity carmings
Equity camings fromunconsolidated investments decreased by $354.000 or 26% primarily related toa  decrease in income from our M. Gravatt imvestment.

Income tax benefit { expense |
Income tax benefit of 9.8 million in 2014 compared to o $4.9 million expense in 2013 was o result of the reversal of the valsation allowasce in the United States. The valuation allowance reversal i a result of the tax banefit that we now expect to realize.
BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS

At December 31, 2015, we wholly owned mnd oparated 59 cinemns with 443 screens, had terests in certain unconsolidated joint ventures and entities that own an additional 2 cinemas with 29 sereens and managed | cinema with 4 sereens, Dharing the period, we also (i)
owned and operated five ET Cs that we developed in Australia and New Zealand, {ii) owned the fee interests in three develaped commercial peoperties in Manhstian and Chicago improved with live theaters , which have s ix stages and ancillary retail and commercial space,

(i8) ewned the Fee intersits in the Union Square bululnﬁ in Manhattan that we are redevelop i mﬁ Jwhich had, undi] the end of this Rscal yeur, eperaled s o live theater amnd rental propeity, (iv) owned the fee inferests underdying one of our Mank i { v beld Foe
development an additional four parcels 74 acres located prif in urbarnized areas of Australia and New Zealand (calculated net of our Lake Taupo and Burwood Propertics), and (v i ) owned 50% of a 202-scre property that is zoned for the
¥ of approxis 550 sing) ily residentinl units in the TS In addition, we continue to bold various propenties that hiad been previowsly used in our historse rilroad operations.

“The Company transscts business in Australia and New Zealand and is subject to risks associated with changing foeeign eurrency exchange rates. During the current year, compared 1o the prioe-vear, the Australian dollar and New Zealand dollar weakened against the U.S.
dollacs by 11% and 12 %, respectively,
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Business Segment Resulls - 2015 vs. 2014

% Change
2018 2014 Betieri{(Wosse)

(Dollaz in thousards

Real Bstate Real Estate Clsems Beal Estate

14,873
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2005 vs. W14

Mew Zealand Admisaion roveane 15489 7% 15908 74 W%

Total coat of vervices

40

JA2934



Cinema x egmeni eperating inceme

Cincma segment eperating income Bereased by 15%, or $4.2 million, te $31.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to Decembier 21, 2014, primarily deiven by | d admissio | offact by ble Foreign curr
further sxplanations.

¥ + Ralfer below fore

Revemue

The revenue in the United States for 2015 increased by $7.2 million or 6%, primarily driven by a higher average admission price. Awstealia o cinema revenue decreased by $2.3 million, o 3%, peimaily duc to higher sdmission revenue and higher concessicn revenue in local
currencies as result of higher stendance . mors than offsst by unfavorsble forcign  exchange movements. [n New Zealand, ¢i nema revenue decreased by $4E5.000 or 2% , mainly due te higher admissicn revenus and higher coneession revenue in local curencics as a
resailt of higher sitendance and the opening of our Diedin cinerre in the last week of Tune 2014 ad our LynnMall ciner in November 2015, more than offict by unfrvorable Foreign exelange movements

Cost of services and products (excludin g depreclation and amoriization)
Cost of services and products  for 2015 incressed by 564 8 000, which was mainly 4 duie to inceemsed issions , which include d  higher film rental, payroll , occupancy and other costs . We also had additional costs associated with the

refurbishment of our A pgelika F ilm C enter Carmel Mountain Plaza , Ihecpemngufuuruewlhem LynnMall in Auckiand , New Zealand , and cost relating to the prepamtion £ or closing our Gasbimp T heater; these increased costs were mostly offsst by movements in
Forcign cumrency,

LS. ¢ ost of services and products  increased by 6.0 milli on or 6% , primarily driven by higher filin rent associated with increased box office sales . Australia and New i a6t off services and peoducts  both decreased by 6% . peimarily due to the favaeable
Tt of forsign exchige mls movements.
Cost of services and products a5 a percentage of gross rovene improved by 1% dova to BL%, makaly attdbutable to the of fixed costs comparcd to the increases in our revese strcuns.
. i i gemeral and i expense
Ix i gemeral and administrstive expense for 2015 decrensed by $461.000, or 3%, wlhlm&wnﬁlmﬂndinllw::xmbvmsllznmnhm Genernl and adminisieati ve expense decreased by $574,000, or 16% . malnly deiven by cost

reductions from o favorable curreney effect for expenses in Australia and New Zealand , an d some cos savings in the 1S,
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2005 vs, W14
Fav ! {Unfav

[Dollars In thovsarels) 56 if Rveme. 2014 B cof Revenie

New Zealand § s j69% 3 st it 2%

Total operating income

q2
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Real Estate 5 egment operating incom ¢

Real estate segment oparal ing income decransed by $2.7 million or 28% | to $6_& million for 2015 comprared to 2014, the decrense was primanily aftritutable to 11% lower revenue, which was pemarily caused by Ay i Total op g
decreased by $90,000, moi nly due to savings caused by  Foreign currency exchangs fhuctustions , partially offsat by increased legal costs due to the "STOME" acbitration. See, "ltem ? - Legal Proceedings”,

Revemue

Real estate reverme for 2015 decreased by 1%, oc $2.8 million, mainly due o an unfiversble currency Auctiations in our forsign opertions,

Cost of services and products fedhing e fation and
Cost of services and products. for 2015 inc reased by 12%, oe 1.2 milllion. W e had lower operating coats afler the sale of our Burwood and Moones Ponds peoperties , and costs also b d from the sppreciation of the LS. against the New Zealand and the
Australian dollar s . However, t hese lower casts were more than offset by higher legal costs in our live theater business. The legal expenses relate to the costs {litigation and i with the p ion of certain claims against the producers of STOMP, which
s playing ot our Orphewm theater . See, "[tem 3 - Legal Proceedings”,

r gemeral and e expense
Depreciati ion, general and administrative expense for 2015 d d by 25%, oc 1.3 million . Depeaciation and amortization expense for the twelve moath period decreased by 23%, or $954,000, mainly due to the appeeciation of the U.S. doll r against the

Mew Zealind and Awstralian dolbac 5 . General and administrative expense for W15 decrensed by 30%, or $315,000, mamly aticutable to bower consult ing Fees in 2015, and the Faverable lmpct om forsign exchange rate movements.

Business Segment Results - 2014 v 2013

% Change
2014 013 Beiter{(Wosse)

Caems Relboinie

Fasig
(214573

2004 va. W13

Adverdsing azd other revenus

a3
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Total operating tacome s P e s 24545 1% 1%
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Cinema s egment operating income
C inema segment operating mcome  inereased by 11% , or $2.8 million , 1o $2 7. 2 million for 2004 compared to 2013 , prmasily driven by 2 % lower operating expenze, Refer below for futher detalled explanation.

Revemue

Cinema revenus for 2014 decremsad by $1L6 iem or 0,7% when compared 1o 2013, primarnily atirilagable to higher attendances in Australia and New Zealand, more than offszt by the unfavorablz impact from foreign exchange movements, Conguaring the twelve months.
of 2014 to the twelve months of 2013, the Australian dollar weakened by 6.8% in 2014 from 2013 while the New Zealand dollar strengthened against the U.S. dollar by 1.2%.

The revenue in the United States for 2014 de creased $602,000, oc 0 % This decrexse was partially driven by o reduction in box office revenue of $1.5 msllion, i 0 tum driven by an 82,000 admissions reduction , together with o 1.0% reduction in average ticket price, offset
by incrensed concession and café revemies of spproximataly $524,000 . Revere in Australia deceeased by $2.9 millica or 3.2%. This decrease was primarily due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar agninst the Australian dollar in 2014. Local currency bax office was
comsistent with 2013, with a decrease in average ticket price of 4.5% being offset by increased ticket sales of 4.9%. Exchading currency effeets, concession revemse was up 7.0%, reflecting increased admission volume aod spend per admit. Revenue in New Zealand increased
by 52,0 million or 9.1%. Attendance incressed by BB 000 or 5.1%. The mujority of this increase vwas schisved through the opening of our Dunedin cinama, The attendance incraume more than offset the bocal currency reduction in sverage ticket price of 1.8%. Concession
revene increased by $57%,000 dus to the combined positive effect of incrensed admission volumes, improved spend per patron, and  pasitive U.S. dollar to N.Z. dollar exchangs rate movement

Cast of s d producis
Cost of services and products  for 2014 decrensed by 8 5.0 million or 2% , mainky tor Forei .+ Cost dsmms:ﬂdm&:&hmﬂnumbdw' incremsed by $1.3 million or 1.2% q,rnlu:nly related toa $773000 decraase in film rent and
advertising , together with a decrsase of $280,000 in occupancy related costs , offset by an increass orsz | millian in other operating expense , which includes not caly i nersases in labor related costs but also increases in inswrance and utilitics . Cost of services and products
i Australin decreased by $7.0 million or $ 4%, As with revenue, o significant contributor to the decraxe was the strengthening of the US, dollar against the Australian dollar in 2014, Film rental costs were also lower duz to a lower film rental percentage being achisved.
Other operating costs were reduced by $3.2 million o 14.4%, with many incremental cost improvements , most notably 3 reduction in marketing costs . Cost of services and products  in New Zealand incressed by $743,000 or 4.1%. This increase was in line with the above-
mantioned inerease in cinemn revenue, which dirsetly affects Rlm reatal costs and with the above-mentioned year-over-year inerease in the value of the Mew Zealand dollar compared 1o the 1S dollar

and

Coat of services and products s n parcentirge of gross revemss imgroved by 2 % 10 8 2 % , mainly attrbutable to the percentage of fixed costs compared to the increnses in our revemss reams.
general and adminisirative expenve
Depeoviation expense increased in 2014 by $306,000 or 2.8 compared to 2013, This primarily related to digital peojection assetz recsiving thir first full yeor of depreciation in 2014 in Australia and New Zealand,
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2014 vs, W13
Fav ! {Unfav

[Dollars In thovsarels) 56 if Rveme. 2013 B cof Revenie

CIME:
Ualied Siates 5 274 43% % 1%
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Real Estate 5 egment operating fncome

Real estate  segment operating income deceensed by § 1.5 million or 14% , to$ 9.5 million for 2014 comgpared to 2013 | primarily aitributable to £ % lower revenue, partially offsat by 4 % lower operating expense . Refer balow for further explanation.
Revenae

Raal estate revenue decrensed by $2.1 millics or 8.0% , compared 10 2013 , this primvily due to the cloauire of the Courtney Centrald car park buibding in Wellington, New Zealand. The car pack building re-opened i November 2014,

€ o5t of services and produces

C ost of services and products for the real estate segment decreased by $1.1 million or 10 %, , compared to 2003 . The main reduction in real estate operating expense was achieved in Australia and was a5 g result of the sale of our Burwoad property, which led to significantly
reduced propesty taxes comgared 10 2013

general and i eXpense
[ L ization, general and administrative axpenss For 2004 ineveased by $436,000 or 9% . This was primasly driven by g eeral and admi

trfive costs increasing by § 446 000 in Australia , due mainly to personne] changes in the Australian real estade

BUSINESS PLAN, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Business plan

Our cinema exhibition busness plan is to enhance our current cinemas where it i3 fnancially visble to do so; develop our specialty cinemas in select markets | expand our food and beverage offering and; continue on an opportunistic basis, to identify, develop, and scquire
cinema properties that allow us to kevermge our cinema expertise and technology over a larger opemting base,

Our real estate business plan, g iven the ial increase in Mank: rends and ial real estate vabues inrecent periods, is to progress the redevelopment of our Union Square sad Cinemas 1,2,3 propertics in the US; to build-out our Newmarket and Auburn sites in.
A usaralin as well o3 our Countenay Central site in N ew £ ealond ; and inue to be sensitive 1o ities 1o convert our enterainment msets to higher and better uses, or, where appropriste, o dispose of such nssets.
We will al inue 1o i ligate potential it isitions that may not readily fall into either our cinema or real estate segment .

Liguidity and eapital resourees

Liquicity risk is the risk relating to our ability to meet our financial obligations when they come due, In toduy s enviroament, our finmocial obligations arise mainky from capital ure neads , working capital

the liquidity risk by ensuring o ur ability to generate sufficient cash flows from operting activities and 1o obtain adequate, ressonable financing and/or to convert noo-performing or non-strategic assets intocash,

i Land debl servicing cequi . W manage
The clrnge in cash and caoh equivalants s s follows:

% Change

[Dollan in thougard,
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Operating acivides

20fve 2004 Cashpeovided by operating activities for 2015 increased by $ 231,000 or 1 %, to $24.6 million, peimarily driven by a'$ 6.2 million change in operating assets and liabi lities, pantially offset by 1 $6 . 0 million decrease in operational cash flows
20fd v 20/%; Cashpeovided by operating sctivities for 2014 increased by $3.2 million or 13% , to $25.3 million, primarily driven by an increase of $2.3 million increase in operational ¢ ash flows and a $900,000 change in operating assets and liabilities.
Investing activities

In 2015, the $29.7 million of cash u sed by investing activitics was mainly ralated to the $53.1 million spent oo fixed asscts , which included the $2 4.3 million {AU$33 .6 m illion) purchass of the two Cannon P ark centers in Queensland, Australia , as well as enhancements to
our existing properties, offset by $21.9 million dollars received from the sale of the Moonee Fonds  properties, the Los Angeles condo and the Laks Taupo sites.

The $9.9 million of cuh used by lnvesting activities in 20014 was prmanily related 1o $14.9 mallion in property enhancements Lo our existing properties, partially offset by the § 54 million depoait from the salz of our Burweod property.
Financing activitics
The $2 &0 millicn of cash used in financing activiti ¢ in 2015 was primarily dus to a repayment of debt in the smoumt of $24.7 million , a5 we Il as $3.1 million used in our stock buyback program  and $201,000 a5 pa rt of shar: option traasaction s ,
In 2004, the 52,2 million cash used in financing activities was primarily due toa $4.1 million used in our stock buyback program, offset by $1.0 million of procesds from the exercising of employes stock options,
I i

We manage our cash, investments and capital stichire 50 we are sble to mect the short-term and long-term obligations of our business, while maintaining financial flexibility and liquidity. We foreeast, analyze snd monitor our cash flows to ensble investment and financing
within the overall constraints of our Anancial strtegy.

At December 31, 2015, our consolidated cash an 4 cash equivalents totaled $19.7 million. OF this smount, $6.8 millicn and $3. § millicn were beld by our Australia n and New Zeala nd subsidiaries, respectively. Char intention is to reinvest indefinitely Australia n earnings but
not pzinvest inded Iy New Zealand eamings. 1Fihs Australian eambngs wees used 1o fund US. operations, they would be subject 1o additional incoms taxes upon repatiation.

Our working capital deficiency increns ed from $15.1 million at December 2014 to §% £.3 million s December 2015 . This was due 1w a $30.5 million reduction in cash primarily due to surphus cash being used w0 poy down long term debx, This was partially offset by o
reduction in short term debt dus to the refinancing of the Westpac Cosporate Credit facility and the Union S quare Loan, which is no longer current

W have historically Finded our working capital req uirements, eagital expenditives and investments in individial propertias peimarily from 3 combination of iMermally genersted cash fows mnd debt | The Company bad $59.9 millicn unused copacity of svailable corporate
credit focilities st Decamber 31, 2015, In addition. we bave 6.0 million and $10.3 milliea unused eapacity for cetain Cinema 12,2 uses and construetion funding for New Zealnd, respectivaly.

We axpect to refinance the $15.0 mill oo Cinema 1,2.3 Term Loan prior to its manity date of July 1, 2016.
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C ONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

“The following table provides informntion with respeet o the maturitics and & prineipal repry of eurrecorded 1 abli a3 of December 31, 2015:

{Dollam in thouzasds) “Thereafier

U 161,317 411,17

A1y Estimated incemston debe iz baedon the antcipatad Joan balances for funire pesiods ad curmar spplicsble ntesest rges,
Litigation
Weare currenaly invoheed i cemtain legal procezdings and, as requived, have scerued eatimutes of probuble s estimable losses for the resohation of these claims.

Whers we are the plaintiffs, we expense all legal fess on an on-going basis and make no provision for sy potential settlement amownts until received. In Australia, the prevailing pany is usually entitled 1o recover its snomsys' fees, which recoveriss typically work omo be
approximtely 60% of the amo unts sctually spent where first: cluss legal comnsel is engaged st customary rates. Whese we are a plaintiff, we bave likewise made no peovision for the [i for the defendant’s sttormeys” fees in the event we are determined ot to be the
prevailing party.

Whers we ans the defendants, we acerus for probable damages that insursscs may not cover as they becoms kmown and can be reasonably cstimated, In our opinion, any claims and Eitigation in which we ars currently involved am not reasonably liksly to have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. [ 1is possible, bowever, that fiture results of the operations for any particulur quaniedy or anmusl period could be materially affected by the ultimate outcome of the legal proceedings. Plase
referto ltem 3 — Legal Preceadings in this repost for more information.

Off-Balanee Sheel Arrangements

“There are no off-balance sheet or obligations {including gent obli that have, o are boly likely ta have, 3 current or futuse material effeet om our fnaneial condition, ehanges in the finsncial condition, revenue or expense, results of operations,
liquidity, capital expendifurcs o capital resources.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Currency and interest rate risk

The Company's objective in managing exposurs to forei; and interest rate ions is to reduce volatility of eamings and cash flows in arder to allow management to focus on core business issues and challenges.

We currently manage our currency expasire by creating, whenever possible, ratueal hedges in Australia and New Zealand. Thils involves local country sourcing of goods and services, #s well a3 bocrowing in local currencies to match revenues and expenses, Sinee we intend
to conduct business on o s<lf-funding bosis, { except for funds used to pay an op propriote share of cur U.S. corporate oversead), we do not believe th ¢ curency Auctustions present o material sk to the Company. As such, we do not use derivative financial nstnunents to
hedge against the risk of forsign cumency expose,

Crur U.S. operations are funded in part by the operational results of Australia and New Zealand, and fluctuations in these forcign cumreneies affect such funding. As we continus to progress with our acquisition and development activitics in Awstralia and New Zealand, the
effect of variations in cusrency values will likely incremse,
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Our exposure to interest mie risk arbses out of our long-term Meoating-rate borrowings. To manage the risk, we utilize interest rate derivitive contrcts to convert cetain floating-rite borrowings into fixed-rite borrowings. It s the Company's policy 1o coter into interest rate
derivative transsctions only to the extent considered necessary 1o meet its ohjsctives 2 stated above. The Company docs not enter into thess transactions or any other hedging transactions for speculative purposes.

Inflation

We continually moniter inflation and the <ffeets of chaging prices. Inflation mereases the coat of goods and serviees used, Competitive conditions in mrany of our markets restrict our ability o recaver fully the higher costs of sequired goods and services through price
ircases. We alismpt to mitlgats the impact of inflation by i i inuous process i solutions to <ub ity and cfficicocy and. as a result, lowsr costs and operating cxpenses. In our opinion. we have managed the <ffccts of inflation
sppropristely, and, w5 a cesult, it bs not had 2 material impnct on cur aperations and the resuling financial pesition or liquidity.

Aeaunting Pronouneements Adopted and Issued During 2015,

Please sec Note 2 - Summary of Significant A ing Palicies — A 5 P Adapted and Essued During 2015 ta our finaneial For i ion reganding naw i adopted and isard in 2015,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

We belicve that the application of the Following accounting policics, which are important to our financial position and  cesults of op . requirs significant and cstimates on the part of managemsnt. For a summary of our significant  accounting poliics,
including the accounting policics discussed below, see Note 2 tothe ¢ cnsolidated Finmncial s ttements .

Impairment of lang-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets

We review long-lived asscts, meluding goodwill and intangibles, for impaioment s pant of our wnml budgeting process, at the beginning of the fourth quister, and whenever events or changes in elmanmstances indicate that the camying amount of the assel may not be fully
regoverable.

Pursuant to US GAAP, we review intemal management reports on a monthly basis us well as monitoring current and potential fisure competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. We cvahite our loag-lived assets using historical and projected data of
cash flow 15 our primary indicator of potential impairment, and we also take into consideration the seasonality of our business. If the sum of the estimated, undiscounted fisnure cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, then impainnent is recognized for the
amoust by which the carrying value of the et exceeds ils estineed fair value based on an appeaisal oc  discouted cah flow ealeulation.

For certain non-income producing propertics, we oblain appeaisals or ather evidence to evabate whether there are ispainment indicators for thiese asets. No impainment losses were recorded for the years cnded December 21, 2015, 2014 o7 2013

Pursuant to US GAAP, goodwill and intangible assets are evaluated annually on a reporting unit basis, The impainment evaluation s bascd on the present value of cstimated futurs cash flows of the segment phus the expected terminal value, Thers are significant assumgtions
and estimmtes wsed in determining the present value. The most significant assumptions inchede our estimated future cash flow, cost of debt and cost of cquity assumgtions that comprise the weighted sverage coat of capital for cach reporting wnit. Accordingly, actual results
could vary materially from such estimates. There was no impairment for the gaodwill s intangible sssets for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013,

Tax valuation allowance and obligations

We revord our estimted future tas benefits and liabilitics arising from the temponry diffecnces between the tas buses of asscts md liabilitics and smowits rported in the sccongpanying consoliduted balance sheets, w well as operating loas curry frwards, We catimte the
recovarability of any tax asscts recorded on the balancs shest and provide any neccssary allowanees s required. 4s of December 31, 2015, we had recorded approwimately § 371 million of defered tax asssts (ot of § 13,4 million defemed ta liabilitics) related o the
temporary differcnces between the b bases of wssets and liabilities and ameunts reported in the sccompanying consolidated bakwee sheets, 5 well s operating | el s 1 eredit earry-Forwards, These defesred tax assets were offset by a valuation allowanee
of § 11 . S million resulting in 3 net deferred tax ssset of § 2 5 . 6 million. The recoverbility of deferred tax assets is dependent upan our ability fo gencrate Future taxabls incams. Thers is no asauranes that sufficient fafure taxsble income will be genersted to benefit from our
st lovss earey-forwards and tas eredit carry- forwards,
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Legal and envirommental obligations

Certain of our subsidiaries were histocically involved in rilroad operations, conl mining. and ianufactiring. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chiain of tile of propertis that ey suffer from contamination. Accordingly, certain nﬂhm subsidiarics have, from
tims-te-time, been named in. and may in the funire be nmncd m. ~various actions brought under applicabls environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development business and may encounter from time-to-ti itions at proparties that
Laps “Theae cnvi fnceeme the cost of such projects and adverscly affect the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do ot currently belicve that our expoaure under spplicable covironmental brws ia nmterial in

e have acquired for d
AU

our insurance earriers. However,

Feom time-to- time, we have claims brought against s relating to the exposure of former employees of our rikrosd operations to asbe stos and conl dut, These are generally eavered by an insuranee setlement reached in September 19 90
this insurance sstflement do<s not cover litigation by people who were not our smp loyees and who may claim sscond- hand expasurs to asbestos, coal dust, and/or ather chemicals or lements now recognized as potenti ally causing cancer in wmans. Cur Jnown exposure to
theese types of claims, asscied or probable of being asserted, is not material.

tax elaims, smpl madicrs, and anti-trust issuss, among other matters .

From fime-to- tims, we are iovolved with claims and lawsuils arising in the ordinary courss of our business that may includs
of these matters requirs that we make judgments based on the Facts known 1o us. These judgments are inherently upcertain and can changs significantly when additional facts becoms known. We provide scomals for matters that are gither probably o reasonably possible
and ean be properly catimated 1 (o their expected negative outeome. We do net record expeeted gains until the proceeds are recsived by us,
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Ltem 7A - O ifat i abaut Market Risk

“The Securitics and Exchange C jion requires that imelude i ot potential effects of ehanges in currency exchange and iterest rates in their Form 10K flings. Severl alte
discussion is based on a sensitivity analysis, which models the ¢ffects of fluctuations in currency exch ange rates and interest rates. This analysis is constrained by several factors, including the following:

ives, all with some limittions, huve been offered. The following

itis based on # single peint in time; and
+ it doss net inelude the efficts of other comples market reactions that would ariss from the changes medcled.

Although the results of mch an analysis may be useful ws o benchmack, they should not be viewed as forecasts.

At December 31, 2015 | approximatehy 46% and 19% of our asscts were invested in assets denominated i Augralian dollars { Reading Auwstealin) and New Zealand dollars (Reading New Zealand), respectively, including approximately 3 10.4 milli
equivalents. At December3 1, 2014 , approximately 44% and 21% of our assets were imvested in sssets denominated in Australion and New Zealand dollacs, respectively, including appeoximately $40.1 million in cash and each equivalents.

in cash and cash

O policy in Australia and New Zealand is to mateh revemics and expenses, whenever possible, in local currencies. As a resull, we have preeured in local eurrencics a majority of our expenses in Australia and New Zealand, Duc 1o the developing natire of cur opsrations in
Australia and New Zealand, our revenue is not et significantly greater than our operating and interest expenscs. Despite this natural hedge, recent movements in forcign currencics have had an cffect on our current camimgs. Although forcign camency has bad an effect oo
our current camings, the effect of the translation adjustment on our asscts and liabilities noted in our other comprebensive income was a decrease of 5 16 . 5 million for the vear ended December 3 1, 2015, As we continue isition wnd

activities in Australia and New Zealand, we cannot assure you that the forcign currency <ffect on our camings will be negligible in the Fiturs.

Historically, our policy has been to borrow in local currencics to finance the development and construction of cur long-term assets in Australia and New Zealand whenever possible. As a result, the borrowings in local currencics have provided somewhat of a natural hedge
agamnat the foreign currency exchange exposurs. Even ao, and a3 arcsult of ou fssuance of fully subordinated Trust Prefeared Secritics in 2007, and their sul pastial rep Iy 75% amd 52% of our Autralion and New Zealand asscts, respectively,
remain subject to such exposure, unless we lect 1o hedge our foreign currency exchange between the U .S . and Australian and New Zealand dollars. [fthe foceign currency rates were to fluctuate by 10%, the resubting change in Australian and New Zealand assets would be
F13.0 million snd $3.7 million, respectively, and the change in cur net income for the venr would be $1.9 millice and $102,000 , respectively. Presently, we have no plan 1o hedge such exponure

We record ized foreign ion gains or losses that could materially affect our financial position. We have foreign currency ion gains of i $14.6 million and $31.1 million as of Decamber 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

Historically, we maintained most of cur cash and cash cquivalent balances in short-term money market instnuments with original maturitics of six months or less. Some of cur moncy market investments may decline in vabsc if interest rates increase, Duc to the shor-term
nature of such i achange of 1% in sh interest rates would not kave o material effect on our financial conditio n.

We have a combination of fixed and varisble interest rate loan 3 . [n conmeetion with cur variable intercst rae loans, a elmnge of approximetely 1% in short-term interest rtes would have resulted in appeoximately $658.000 inerense or doerease in our 215 interest expense,
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Lem 8 - Financial and Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading Indemmational, loc.

We have sudited the saccompanying consolidated balance sheets of Reading International, [nc. and subsidiaries (the “Company™) & of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the related i Of operations, fve income (loss), stockivolders” equity,
and cash fAlows for each of the three yeans in the period ended December 31, 2015 , Our sudits of the basic consolidated financial statements inchided the financial satement schedule listed in the index appearing wnder ‘kbedul: I1. These finoncinl statements ond financiol
aatement schedule ace the Wility of the Company's O abillty i 10 express an opinion on these financial statements and financial satement schedule based on our sudits .

We conducted our mudits in sccordance with the stendards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan md perfoom ihe audit 1o obtain reasonable assurance sbout whether ibe finmcial statcments are fres of

smmterial misstatement. An audit inclides examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures ¢ financial ststements. An sudit also mcludes assessing the sccounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well a3

evaluating the overnll financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a ressonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated fnanciol statements referred 10 abive present fairly, in all moterial respects, the finmeial position of Rending Intemational, In¢. ond subsidiories a5 of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the results of their operstions and their cash flows for

ench of the three vears in the period ended December 31, 2015 in conformity with sceounting principles generlly sceeptad in the United States of Americs. Also in our opinion, the relited financial ststement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated

Fnancial stsements taken &2 8 whole, presents Fairy, in all maderial respects, the information set Foh therein.

w= allso Inw= mudited, in accordance with the standirds 0F|I= Puhhc- Company Accounting Orversight Board (United States ), the Company's intermal control over finmncial reporting a5 of December 21, 2015, based oo eriteria estoblished in the 2012 fnsernal Contral—
issucd by the Committes of § i of the Teeadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated Apeil 22, 2016 expressed an adverse opinion .

3l GRANT THORNTON LLP

Los Angeles, Californin

Apeil 20, 2016
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Reading International, Inc. and Subshtiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheels as of December 31, 2015 and 2014
(LS. dallars in thoasands . excepd sharve duin )

December 31, December 31,
2015 a4

Tivvestment and development property, net

Other current liabiliics 640 6,969

5
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143,815 140,237

15478y SEED

13,529 5552

St b Hime 11,506 2209

“Total Reading International, Inc. stockholders’ cquity 122,865 127,656
Déonisoro fhngy intenests R : : 4,617
Total stockholders’ cquily 132,79
Wbl lrabiibties and stockhlders’ cquity £ 3 ADEE86

smtemente .

See sncompanying sotes o sonsolidaind

ymt A cconting Poticies - Rectosifioaiions .

0 couform 1 the curment period precentation (see Note 2 = 5

* Cestain prior pesiod Amoinis have been rclas
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Reading International, Ine. and Subsidiaries
C of Op. ions for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2015
(U5, dollars in thousands, except share aml per sharce data)

242,281 239418

Diluted income per share Reading Tnic. 3 097 § 108 3 0.38
11,85,

Welghied lV“tmbwﬂmwN“‘lE—ﬂllw 23,495,618 23,749,121 23,520,271

Sex panying nows o daied faancial statement

* Cestain prior period umounts have been realassifiad % conform i the surmnt period presentation (see Mote 2 ~ Sigiffane Aocvousring Policfer - Rectoarifications |
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Reading International, Ine. and Subsidiaries
Ci El of O h Ineamse (Loss) for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2015
(UL5, dollars in thowsamds)

W15 wa™ 213

{1648%) (14,255)

(R
5 (10813}

See accompanying nows w wonsolidaind fnanclal sttements

' Castaln prior pesiod amounts have been reclassifisd 1o conform 1 the surmn period presentation (see Note 2 = Signiffoons docounting Policies = Reclossiffontions )}
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Reading Internatiomal, 1sc, and Subsidiaries
Consalidated Statements of Stockboldess” Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31, 015
(18 thosands)

(1hd38)

At Becaber 1, 3018 T4 [ 2] e | 3 ul 3 Mazy 3 ezl 3 Gosn 3 LY 13g85 3 agi: 3 112396
o sk ) : ; ; ; 09
Ot

See accompanying noies to sonsolidnd fiaanclal stiment e .
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Reading International, Inc. and Subshilares
Comsolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2015
(1.5, dellars in thoasands)

vind ventures and entities

20148
19,702

In-kind exchange of stock for the sxercise of options, net 1223 01

Bee dscompanylng noies 10 consolidaied Fnancial statemente.
0 Ceain prior period umounts have been eclasslfied to.conform i the curment period presentaion (see Note 2 = Siguiflonss Aocouting Polictes = Reclossficosians )
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Reading International, Ine. and Subsidiaries
Nates to Consolidated Finaneial Statements
December 31, 2015

NOTE 1 - Deseription of Business and Segment Reporting

Reading ional, Inc.. a Nevada ion (“RDI™ and ively with cur consolidated subsidi d the “Comgany,” “Reading” and “we.” "us.” or “our™), was incorporated in 1999, and. following t ion ofa
trnsaction on December 31, 2001, is now the owner of the consolidated businesses and assets of Rending Entertaimnent, Ine. ("RDGE™), Craig Corporation {"CRG), and Citade] Holding Corporation (“CDL”). Our busineses consist primarily of

+  Development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand; and
»  Development, ownership, md operation of retail snd commercial real satate in Austealia, New Zealand, and the United States

Reparted below are the opcrating scgments of the Company for which separite francial information B wvailable and for which scgment reaulls sre evaluated regularly by the Chicf Exceutive (Hlcer, In addition 1o the elmenm exbibition md real catate activitics, we bave
acquired, and continus to hold, mw land in wbaen and suburban ceniers in Australia, New Zsaland, and the Unitsd Siatcs as pari of our real cstais aciivitics,

The tables below sunmarize the results of opertions For cach of ourbusiness scgments, Operating expense includ ot inted with the d day ions of the cinemas and the management of rental propertics, including our live theater asscts,

[Dollas In thouseds)

Deprealation aod amorizafion (11,161 2,107y (14268 (11.047) (K1) {15,108 {10,741) (a.023) (14,760)

Wnter-segment climinntions relates to the intemal change bebween the two scgments where the cinenm operates within real cstale owned within the group,
[
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A recancilistion of segment opermting income ta incams befars incams taxes is ns follows:

lar In thouzeds) Decomber 31,301 . % December 31, W14 Decomber 31, 2013

Teal usens i 173091, 5 401,586 i §56,307

"ntudes cash nnai cash equivalents of 519.7million, $50.2 millien, and $37.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respecfively,

“The following table sets forth our operating properties by country:

December 31, 2015 Diecember 31, 013

s

3 210298 5

Total opertiing poperty

“The table below summarizes capital expenditures for the three years ended December 31, 2015:
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NOTE 2 - Sumurary of Signifieant Aceounting Policies
Signifieant Aceonnting Policies

Basis of Convaiidagon
Th i financial OFRDI and its whall d idiaries include the sccounts of RDGE, CRG, and CDL. Also consolidated are Awstralia Country Cinemas Py, ited, n comprany i which we own o 75% interest and whose ooly assets are our
keaschold cinemas in Townsville and Dubbe, Ausiralia, Sutton Hill Properties, LLC, a company in which we own a 75% interest and whose caly asset is the fee interest in the Cinemas 1,2,3, and Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC in which s own a 50 % controlling
membership interest and whose oaly asset is o 202 acre land parcel in Conchella, Califomnia.

Our investment interests are accounted for as unconsolidated joint ventures and cnotitics, and accordingly, our unconsolidated joint ventures and entitics in 20% to 50% owned companics are sccounted for co the equity method. Thesc investment interests includs our:

»  25% undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns 205-209 Eagt 57th Street Associates, LLC a limited liability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 East 57th Strect in Manhattan;
«  333% undivided interest in the unincorpocated joint venture that owns the Mt Grvatt cinema in 2 suburb of Brishane, Australia;
» 2229 undivided intersst in Rialte Distributicn, an unincorporated joint venture engaged in the business of distributing art film |nN=wZeelnnd and Australia; ond
* 50% un Entercat in the unincosporated joint ventire that owes Rialie Cinemas.
Avcounting Principies
Our consolidated financial statements hive been prepared in sccordance with sccounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP™).
Reclassifications
Cartain reclassifications bave been mad in the 2014 and 2013 financial and notes iform ta the 2015 p i Th:le changss include combining certain long-term debt items in the 20 l4 consolidated bu'lm sheet, changing the line item presentation of
“Equity carmings of unconsolidated joint ventures and entitics”™ in the 7014 and 2013 i of i i mnounts in the 2014 i statement of income, in current deferred tax balances {sec
Accaumting Pronouncements Adopted and [ssued Durirg 2013 ) and combining certain amortization items in the 2014 and 2013 i of cash flows. iges had no impact on our 2014 financial position, or our 2014 and 2013 results of operations and
cish flows as previeusly reported.
Lse of Estimates
The. of lidated Financial i formity with US GAAP requires mansgement to nmke cstimates and asungrions that affect the mmounts reported in the comolidated financial statements and frotootcs thereto, Significant catimates include
projections we make regarding the recoverability of our msets, valuations of our interest swaps and the recoverability of our defered tax asets. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
W coasider all highly liquid investmens with original maturities of three moaths or less when purchased to be cash equivalents for which cost approximates Fair value.
Receivables
Chur reccivables balance i composed peimarily of credit card receivables, mprescating the purchase price of tickets, concessions, or coupen books sold of our vasions busi les charged on customer crodit card: llected when the credit card trmsactions are

processed. The remaining receivables balance is primarily made up of the goods and services tax refimd recaivable from our Australian trving suthorities and the mansgement fee receivable from the managed cinemas and groperty damage insurnce recovery proceads . We
have oo histocy of sigrificant bad debt losses and we have established an allovance for secounts that we deem uncollectible,

Anvestment in Marketable Securities

Our investment in Marketable Securitics inchides equity mstruments that are classified as available for sake and are recorded ot Inﬂu using the :pu(lrlc identification mcthod. Available for sale sccwritics are carricd ot their fair market value and any difference between cost
and market valug is reconded a6 unrealized gain or loss, net of income taxes. and is reponed a5 ather Ecoms in statement of " equity. Premiums and discounts of any debt instruments are recognized in interest income
using the effective interest method. Realized guins and losses and declines in value expected to be other-than-tempocary on available for sabe securitics are included in other expense. We evalunte our availsble for sale seourities for other than
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temporary impaiments at the end of each reporting period, These i have 3 i ized gain of $12,000 includzd in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2015. Forthe years ended December 21, 2015, 2014, and 2013, cur net unrealized losses
were $2,000, 51,000, and $0 , respectively, The eoat of securities sold b based on the speeific Mentifieation method. Interest and dividends on securitics clussified a3 availible for sale are included in interest income,

Ivventory
Inventory is composed of concession goods used in theater operations and is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-oat method) or net realizable vahe.

Rextricted Cash
We clussify restricted eash as thoss eash accounts for which the use of funds is reatrieted by contract or bank covenant. At December 31, 2015 and 2014 , our restricted cach balance was $160,000 and $1,433,000 , respectively.

Fair Value Measurcments

Fair vahic is defincd a the prics that would be reccived to sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between mmarket participants at the mexurement date. [f quoted prices in an active market arc available, fair value is determined by referznee to these
prices. If quoted prices are not mvailable, value s determined by valuation models that primanly use, as mputs, market-based o independently sowrced parameters, includiog but oot limited o interest mtes, volatilitics, and credit curves. Additionally, we may reference
prices For similar instruments, quoted prives or recent trsctions in less sctive mirkets, We use prices aod inpasts that are current w of the measursment date.

Level 1: Quoted {unadjusted ) prices in active markets that are sccessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or lisbilities.
Level 2: Quoted prices in active mackets For similar assets and liabilitics, or ingaits that are observable, cither directhy or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by linle or no market activity may require significant judgment in order to determine the fair valoe of the assets and liabilities.

The use of observable and unabservable inputs is reflocted in the Fair value hicrarchy assessment disclosed in the tables within this document.

Recurrine Fair §

Cash Equivalents
O cash equivalents matnly inchide money market funds and tean deposits.

Muvestments in Markesable Securities
Investmeats in mardketable socurities primarily consist of mvestments ssociated with the comership of marketable securitics in U.S. and New Zealand, These investments are valued based on observable market quotes on the kst tmding date of the reporting period

Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are valied based on i h flow models that incorp observable inputs such as interest rates and yield from the derivatin ies. The credit valuation adjustments associated with owr non-performance risk and
counterpaity credit risk are incorposated in the Fair vahie cstimates of cur derivatives.

Fair Value

Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets, and Lowg-Lived Assets
Refer o the ™ Goadwill, Orher faiangible Assers ard Long-Lived Azzets™ below for a description of valuation methodology used for fair value measurements of goodwill, inangible assets and long-lived assets.

Debt

Dett includes our securcd and unsccured notes pavable, tust preferred securitics and other debt instruments, The bormowings are valucd bascd on di h flow models that imte market discount mtes. We calculated the market discount ruie by
obtaining period-end tressury rates for fixed-rate debt, or LIBOR for varisble-mate debt, for maturities that correspond 10 the maturities of our det. adding appropriate credit spreads derived from information obtained from third-paty financial institutions. These credit
spreads take into sccount Factors such as o credit cate, debt matuity, types of borowings, and the lean-to-valus rtios ofths debd.
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Fair Valwe of Financial Fustruments
“The carrying amounts of cur cash equivalents, sccounts receivable, scoounts payable and film rent payable approximate fuie value due to their short-term maturitics.

Derivative Financial Iustruments

We carry all derivative financial instnments on our comsolidated balance sheets s fair value, Derivatives are generally executed for interest rate mansgement purposes but are nos designated as hedges. Therefore, changes in market values are recognized in current eamings.
Operating property

Operating peoperty consists of land, buildings and imp . leaschold imp fintures and equi which we us¢ to derive operating incoms associated with our two business segments, cinema exhibition and real estate. Buildings and improvements, leasshold

improvements, fixtures snd cquipment are initially recorded at llw Icmururtr.ml o falr market value and depreciated over the uscful lives of the related asscts. Land is oot degreciated.

Anvesnnens and Development Property
Investment and development property consists of land. new buil dings aod i under 1 and their {3 italized mterest and other d:v:lapm:n( coats that we are either holding for :um:lly ing. or holding for i

appreciation puspases, These properties are initially recorded atthe lower of coat or Fair market value, Within investment and development property are buil uns xn v casts directly ated with the devel, ial ci (whiether for sale or leasc),
the developmen t of cotertainment-themed centers ("ETCs™), or other improvements to real property. As incurred, we expenas up {such as pr dvertizing and training cxpensc) and other costa nnl dlm:d) related to the acquizition and development
of beg-term assets. We ceasc copitalization on o development property when the property is complete and ready for its intended use, or if activities necessary to get the property ready for #ts intended use have been substantially curtailed.

Goadwill, Cther Intangibie Assers and Long-Lived Asers
We review long-lived assets, meluding goodwill and intangibles, for ingaicment a1 part of our sl budgeting process, at the beginning of the fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in cicumetances indicate that the camying amount of the asset may not be fully
recoverable.

We review intemal management eports on a monthly besis as well a5 moniter current and poteatial fiuture competition in film madkets for indications of potential inpainmeat. We evaluate our lomg-lived msets and finite lived intangible asscts using historical and projected
data of cazsh flow as our primary indicater of potential impairment and we taks into consideration the seasonality of our business. If the sum of the estimated, undi future flows ks less than ing amount of the asset, then an impairment is recognized for the
amount by which the carrying value of the assct exceeds its estimnted Fair value based on an appeaisal o¢ o discounted cash Alow caleulation.

For certain i producing properics, we oblain appeaisals or other evidence to evahmte whether there are impainment indicators for these assels. No impainnent losses were recorded for long-lived and finite lved intangible assets for the years ended December 31,
2015, 2014 ac 2013,

Goodwill and intangible asscts with indefinite wsefial lives are not amortized, but instead, tested for impaimmcnt o lexst smsnilly on a ceporting unit basis, The Inguaicment evaluation is based on the prescnt vahic of estimated Rturc cash Mowa of the scgment plus the expecied
terminal vabee. There are significant assumptions and estimates used in detenmining the future cash flows and terminal value. The most significant assumptions include our cost of debt and coat of equity assumptions that comprise the weighted average cost of capital for each
reporting umit. Accordingly, setial results could vary materially from such estimates. No impirment losses were recorded for goodwill and indefinite lived intmgible assets For the years ended December 31, 015, 2014, and 2013

Variable Interest Entity
“The Company enters into relationships or investments with other cntitics that may be a variablz interest entity (“VIE™). A VIE iz consolidated in the financial statements if the Company has the power to direct acti
of the VIE and has the obligation to absorb lesscs or the right to reccive benefits from the VIE that could potentinlly be significant to the VIE.

¢3 that most significantly impact the cconomic performance

Reading Intemational Trust [s a VIE. It ks not consolidated i our financial statements but instead sccounted for under the equity methiod of socounting becmss we are not the primary beneficiary. We cany our investment in the Reading Intemational Trust I using the equity
micthad of accouting becmue we have the ability to exercise significant influcnes (but not control) over epemting and Bnancial policics of the entity, We climinate trnsactions with an equity method satity to the extent of our ovwnership in such an entity. Accocdingly, o
sharc of net income/{loss) of this cquity method catity is included in consolidated net income/{loss). We have no implicit or explicit abligation to further fund our isvestment in Reading Intemational Trust 1.
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Properiies Held for Sake
Wihen o property is elussified as held for sale, we peesent the respeetive aascts and labilitics related to the propenty held for sale separately on the bulance sheet and cease to record depreciation and amodization expense. Propenties held for sale are reported at the lower of their

carying vabse o their estimmted fair valuc less the cstimated costs to scll.

Revernue Recognition
Ravenue from eimeima ickel sales and concedsion sales are recopnized when sold. Revenue From gilt cenificate sales is defemed and recognized when the cortilicates ar redeemed, Renlal revenue is recognized an a stmight-line basia,

Deferred Leasing Financing Costs
Direct costs incurred in connection with obtaining tenants and'or financing acc amortized over the respective term of the lease or loan on a steaight line busis. Dircet coats incurred in connection with financing arc amortized over the respective term of the lom utilizing the
effective intsrest method. or straight-line methed if the result is not materially different. In addition, interest on loans with increasing interest rates and scheduled principal pre-payments are also recognized on the effsctive interest method . Net deferred financing costs are
included in peepaid wnd other assets (see Note § - Prepaid and Other Assets )

Adversising Expense
We expense our advertising as incurred, The amount of our advertising expense was $2.3 million, $2.1 million, and $3 4 million for the years ended December 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

Legal Setthemens dco e
For the years ended Docember 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, we recorded gaina/(losses) on the settlement of litigation of (§495.000) . ($83,000) , and {$285,000) . respectively, included in other income/{expense ). Alsoincluded in other incomse/{expense) for the year ended
Decembser 31, 2013, was 3 $1.4 mill t gain on sequisition and (s2e Note 4 — Acquisitions, Dispocals, and Assets Held for Sale )
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and mmostization are provided wsitng the straight line method aver the catimated usefil lives of the assets. The estimated wschsl lives are gencrally as follows:
Building and improvements 15 - 40 years
Leaschold inprovements Shoiter of the lifc of the [casc or wehul life of the mprovement
Theater equipment 7 yeurs
Fumiture and fixres 5= 10 years
Translation Pelicy

and New Zealand cinemna and real estate operations are reported in their functional cwrencies, namely Australian and New Zealand dollars, respectively, and are then translated into U.S. doliars, Assets and liabil

The financial wd of aur.
af these operations are denominated in their Amctional curencics and arc then irnslated ab exehange rates in effcet at the balance sheet date, Revenue and expenses arc tmnslited al the average eachange rte For the reporting period, Tranalation adjustments are reported in
4 Chher Cs ive Income,” 2 ders' Equity.

The carrying value of our Australizn and New Zeahad assets fluctuntes due to changes in the exchmnge rate between the U,S. dollar and the Austrlian and New Zealand dollirs, The exchange mtes of the Australinn doflor 1o the US, dollor were 50,7286, 508173 and
$0.8929 15 of December 31, 2015, 2014 znd 2013 respectively. The exchange rates of the New Zealand dollar tothe U.S, dollar were $0.6842, $0,7796 and $0.8229 a5 of December 31, 2015, 2014 s 2013 respectively.

Hncome Taxes
We account foc income taxes under an assct and lisbility apgeoach. Under the asset and linbility method, deferred tax asscts and liabilities are recognized for the expected fsture tax consequences aftributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of

cxisting asscts and lisbilitics and the rspeetive tax bascs. Deforred tax asscts and liabilitics are measured wing enacted tax raiss experied to apply 1o taxabls income in the years in which thoss emporary differsnees are expecied (0 be recoversd or seiiled, and arc classifisd
a5 nancurrent on the balance sheets in aceacdance with current US GAAP {see Accounting Pravanmcentenis Adopred and frsed During 2015 below). Valuation allowances arc established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets 10 the smount experted tobe realized.
Incomne tax expense (benefit} is the tax payable refundable) for the period and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and lisbilities.

In evaluating our ability o recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they aise, we comider all available positive and negative evidence, inchuding scheduled reversnls of defesred tw lisbilitics, projected future twsable income, tax planning stritegics
and recent firancial operstions. In projecting futire toxble incoms, we begin with historical results adjusted for the results
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of discontii perations and changes in ing policics. We then include assumptions about the smount of peojected fuure state, Federal and foreign pretax operating income, the reversal of temporary di and the i ion of Feasible and prudent tax
plunning =Lnl¢.;.r_| These n.:-wn«u require significant judgment shout the Forcemsts of future taxable income and are consistent with the plans and estimates we use 1o manage the underlying busincaacs, In evalusting the objective evidenee that histordcal reaults provide,

wder three years of operating i In the cvent we wers 10 dstcrmine that we would be able torealize our defered income tax ssscts in the fisture in excess of their net recorded amouwnt, we would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance,
“which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

A tax benefit from an uncertam L position may be recognized when itis moce likely than not that the position will be sustamed upon examination, inchsding resolutions of any related appeals or ltigation processes, based on the technical merits,

W recagnize tax liabilifies for wncertain trs p ositions and odjust these lisbilitics when our jud gment changes as o result of the evahistion of new information nat previously available. Dus to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in
apayment that i materally differcit from o current citimate of the tax labilities. These differcoces will be reflected as incezases or docrcascs to income tax cxpenac inthe period in which they s determined.

Farnings Per Share
“The Comprany presents both basic and diluted :nmmgs per share nmn; Basic EPS is cabculsted by dividi lng net income attributable to the (‘mmw by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the yeor, Diluted EPS is based upon the weighted
average oumber of common sod shares o during the year, which is caleubated using the k method For eq d wwards. Commen equivalent shares wre exeluded from the compastation of diluted EFS o periods for which they bave

an anti-dilutive cffect, Stock options furwhucu the cxercise price emxuli the average markst price over the period arc anti-dilutive and, accordingly, are eachided from the cakoulation

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation
We allocate the purchase peice to tangible assets of an acquired peoperty (which includes laod, buikding and tensnt fprovements) based on the estimated fair values of those taogible assets assuming the building was vacant. Fatimates of faie vahie for land aes based oo factors

sich m eomparizons (o cther propertics sold in the same phiic wea adjusted for umiq Estisrates of Fair values of buildings aod tenant improvements are based on present values based upon the oy of leases with market
rates and terms,

We record above-market and below-market in-place lease values for scquired propertics bised on the prescnt value (usiog an interest rte which reflocts the ciks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i} the contractial amnounts 1o be paid pursuand 1o
the in-place leases and (i) mansgement’s estimate of fair market leass rates for the comesponding in-place leases, measured over a period cqual te the remaining non-cancelable term of the leass. We amontize any capitalized above-market lease values a5 a reduction of rental
mcome over the remuining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases. We amortize any capitalized below market lease values a5 an incremse to rental income over the mitial term and any fixed.rate renewal periods in the respective leases.

We measure the sggregate value of othee intangible assets scquired based on the difference between (§) the property valied with existing in-place leases adjusted to market rental rites and (i) the property valued  iF vacant, Mansgement's estimates of value sre made using
methods similar to those used by independent appraisers (c.g., discounted cash flow analysis). Factors considered by managament in its analysis include an cstimate of camying costs during hypothetical expected bease-up periods considering current market conditions, and

oot 10 exeoute similar leases. We also consider informmtion obtained about cach property as a result of our pe isition due diligence, ing, and leasing nctivitics in r_wm-tms the fuir value of the tangible and intangible mssets scquired. In estimating carying costs,
management inchides real estate taces, insumnce and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals st market rates during the expected leass-up periods. coats similar leases including beasing commissions. legal, and other related
expenses tothe extent that such costs are not already incumred in connection with 2 new lease origination as part of the tmnsaction.

The total amoeunt orndm mlangi:le ansets acquired is further allocated io in-place leass values and customer relationship intangible valuss based on s evaluation of the specific ch istics of each tenant"s lease and our overall relationship with that respective
tenant. Cl d by in allocating these values include the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenunt, growth prospects for developing new basiness with the teamot, the tenant's coedit quality and cxpectations of kase

renewals (including those existing under the terms of the lease agreement), among other factors.

We amortize the value of in-place leases to expense over the initial term of the respective leases, The v:lue ofcmtmnenelmanshup intangibies is amortized to expense aver the initial term and any renewal periods in the respective leases. but in no event may the amortization
fpertid for intangible msets exceed the remaining depreciabile life of the building, Should a tenant © lc s leme, the d portion of the in-place lease value and customer relationship intangibles would be charged Lo expenac,
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Thes< assessments have a direct impact on revenue and net income, If we assign mors Fair value 1o the in-place leases versus buildings and tenant improvements, assigned casts would generlly be deprecisted overa sharter period, resulting in more deprecistion expense and o
Bewer net income on an anmual basis. Likewise, if we estimate that more of our leases in-plice a8 sequisition are on lerms believed tobe sbove the eurrent market rates for similar propertics, the caleulated prescnt value of the amount above. madet would be amortized
meonthly & a direct reduction to rental revenus and uliimately reducs the amount ofnet incoms.

Business Acquisition Valuations.

“The ssscts and liabilities. of businesses acquired are mdnd at !h:urrwspmw: preliminary Bir values a8 of the acquisition date. Upon the acquisition of real properties, we allocate the purchase price of such properties to scquired tangible msets, comsisting of land and
building, and identificd intangiblc asscts and li: isting of the valuc of abd kit and bel, ket leascs and the value placs leass, bmd in cach case on their fair valucs. We use md.epend:m apmlaah 10 assist in the determination of the fair valuca of
the tangible nssets of an acquired propenty (which includes lund nmi busilding). We also perform valuations and physical counts of property, plant and valiations of i and the i af s neccasary, Coats in excess of the net
fair values of assets and lisbilities scquired are recorded a5 goodwill.

We record and amortize above market and below-market operating leases assumed in the scquisition of n business in the same veay 23 those under real estate scquisitions,

The fair values of any other intangible aets acquired are based on the expected discountzd cash flows of the identificd intangible assets. Finite lived intngible asscts arc amortized using the straight-line method of amartization over the expected period in which those asscts
e expected to contribute to our futwre cash flows, We do not amortize indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill.

Qut-of-Perivd Adjustment
In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2015, we recorded out-of-period adjustments of $514,000 to decrease our income tax expenses in our i of ions. The which increased deferred tax ssset by $2, 116,000 , increased additional paid in
capital by € 793 000, increased other compeehensive income by $1.E59,000 and dc crensed other noo-current liabilitics by $1,050000 , were made (o comeet our come tax and related equity and libility sceounts. OFthe S514,000 adpstment to decrease the income tax
cxpense in 2015, $1,286,000 relates to the adjustment that should have been recorded in 2014, thus reducing our incoms tax benefit by this amount. The remaining $1,800,000 relates to incoms taxes pertaining to years peioc to 2014 cumulatively, that would have increased
our deferred tax st by such amount. We determined that the adjustments did not have 3 material impact to owr curment or prior period consolidated fmancial statements

Aecounting Pronsuncements Adopted and Issued Daring 2015

Adupied:

On Jasusry 1, 2015, the Comprany adopted chiwages jsaned by the Finowial Accouniing Standards Board's (*FASE") o reposting diseontnsed eperations and diselouces of fsposals of compoccass of  cality. Thess changes requies a disposal of 3 compenced (o meet 3
higher threshold in erder to be reported a5 a discontinucd opration in an cotity's financial statemenis. The threshold is defined as a stratcgic ahn& that haa, or will In\‘a 3 major etfen on an enfity’s operations and financial results such as a disposal of a major geowraphical aca
or a major line of business, In addition, the following two criteria have been removed fr fon of whether mect: lh: For di ion; (i) the operations and cash flows of 2 disposal component have been or will be
eliminated from the ongoing operations of an entity as a result of the disposal tranzaction, and (i) an entity will not have any sis inthe tions of the disposal after the disposal transaction. Furthenmore, equity method mvestments
nery wmay qualify for discontinued operations presentation. The guidance spplics peospectively to new disposals and mw:l.usnﬁcmau of disposal groups a2 held For sale afler the effective date. The adoption of these changes had no material impuct on the consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASE issucd Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2015-17, dicame Taves (Tapic 740) -Balance Sheer Classification of Deferred Faves, which simplifics the presentation of deferred income taxes by requiring deferred tax assets and labilitics be
classified 33 moncurrent oo the balance sheets. The amendments in this ASU are effective for firancial statements issued for anmual periods beginning afier December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those sl periods. Early adoption is pemitted and the amendmznts
sty be applied cither prospectively to all deferred tax msets and liabilities or cetrospectively toall periods presented. We early adopted this ASU ais of December 31, 2015 on s retrogpective basis and ncluded the current portion of deferred tax assets within the noocument
portion of deferred tax asscts within our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, There was ne impact on our results of opsrations aa a result of the adoption of this ASU,

Fsswed:
On Febniary 25, the FASB released ASU 2016-02, Leases , completing its project 1o everhnul lease accoumnting. The ASU codifics ASC 842, Leases , which will replace the guidance in ASC 840, The new guidance i3 effective for public business entities in fiscal
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years beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted for all entitics, The Company is evaluating the impact of sdopting this new ing guidance on the idated financial

In Jamsary 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall iSubtapic $35-10) - Recogrition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities , effective for the Company oo Januacy 1, 2018, The ASU mainly relates to sccounting for
equity investments (except those accounted for wnder the equity method or those that result in consolidation of the fnveatze), financial lisbilities under the fair value option, and the ion and disclosure requi for centain financial instnunents. In addition, the
FASE clurified guidance related to the valuation allowsnce assessment when recognizing deferred tax assets resulling from unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities. The Company is evaluating the impact of adopting this new sccounting guidance on the
consolidated Rnuncial statements.

In September 2015, the FASE issued ASU 2015-16, Simplif ing for Period Adj , effective for the Company on January 1, W16, Under the ASL, an scquirer in a business combination transaction must recognize adjustments to provisional
oS Llw ave \dennﬁe\l chirtarg th= mensuremend period in xh: mpoalm; previod in which the adpstment amounts are detemmined. The =fect on camings of changs: in depreciation o amontization, or other Bcome effects, iFany, as a result of the changs 1o the poovisional
AT, ifthe had as of the isition date, must be recarded in the reporting period in which the adj AMoUNs are ined rather than ively. The ASU wquires that the acquirer present separately on the face

of the mcome statement, o disclose in the notes, the portion of the amount recordad i current-period earnings by line item that would have been recorded in previous reporting periods iFthe adjustment (o the provisional amounts hisd besn recognized as of the acqui
dhate. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements,

In April 2013, the FASE issued ASU 201503, Srterest-foputation qﬂﬂmar .r.smm §35-03) - Simplifuing the Presentation of Debt dsiuaree Casts which requires unamortized debt isssance costs to be presented as a reduction of the comesponding debt lability rather thas
o separate asset. [n August 2015, the FASE issued ASU 2015-15, af Dl tssuarce Cosis Associaed with Live-of-Credit Arrangemens . This ASU states that the Securities mdf‘a:hnnv.: Cnmnualm (“SEC™) staff would not object
to an entity deferring ing debt i s a0 acset and izing deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of credit amangement, regardiess of whether there are ingzs under the lime-of-credit

These changes become effective for the Company on January 1, 2016, The adoption of these standards is not expected to have s material impact oo the Company’s consolidated finmmcial statements,

In May 2014, the FASE issued a new standard to achieve of revenus recognition within the U.S. resulting in a singhe revenus model to be applied by reporting companics under US GAAP. Under the new model, recognition of revenues ocows when a
customer obtaing control of promised goods or services in an wmount tht reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods orservices, In addition, the new standard requires that reporting compuanies disclose the nature, xmow,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The new standand becomes effective for the Company on Jumeary 1, 2018, Early sdoption is permitted but cannot be enlier than January |, 2017. The new standand is required to be
applied retrespectively to ench prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying i recopnized o the date of initial spplication. We have nel vat selected o transition methed noe have we detenmined the ingmct of the new
standard o cur conaolidated financial statements. While we beligve the proposed guidance will not have 3 material inpact oo our business because our revenus predominantly comes from movie ticket sabes and concession purchases, we plan to complete the analysis to
ensume thit we are in complice peior to the effective dute.
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NOTE 3 - Earnings Per Share

The Following table seta forth the computation of bsic and diluted EPS and u reconciliation of tha weighted averuge umber of common and comumon squivalant shares cutstanding f or the theea yours ended December 31, 2015

(Dxlbars i thousands, except share and per share duia) s : 24 2 213

Weighted average shares of common stock — basic

23,520,271

Diluted EFE aitributable o RDI common sockhalders 5 097 5 1.0E 1 038

NOTE 4 - Acquisitions, Dispesals, and Assets Held for Sale

2005 Transactions

Derbieny Condo, Lot Angeles

On Fabruary 25, 2005 we sold our Los Angeles Condo for $3.0 million resulting in a 2.8 million gain oo sale.

Taupo, New Zealand

On Apeil 1, 2015, we entered into two definitive purchase and sale agresments (o sell our properties in Toupo, New Zealand for o combined sales price of 2.3 million ( NZ33.4 million}, The first agreement relates to o property with a sales price of $1.6 million { NZ$2.2
million) and a book vakue of $1.3 millicn ( NZ$1 .2 million), which closed on Apal 30, 2015 when we received the sales peice in full, The ather agrecment relates to a property with a sales peice of $821,000 ( NZS1.2 million) and a book value of $421,000 { NZS615.000 )
with o closing date of March 31, 2016, This property is classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2015, O nly the first wasaction qualifies as a sale under US GAAP and New Zealand tax,

Newmsarke!, Atestralia

On November 30, 2015, we completed the parchase of an spproximately 23,000 square foot parcel adjacent to our existing Newmarket shopping center in Brishane, Australia for a total consideration of $5.5 million ( AUS7.6 million). The acquired land has an existing office

building which was vacant of the time of purchaze completion. We intend, over time, to integrate this property into our Newmarket development thereby increasing our footpeint from sppeoximately 204,000 to 227000 square feet, The tesms and cireumaances of this
ion were not considered to mest the definition of 2 business combination in accordance with US GAAP,

acqu
Clanram Park, Queerstand, Australia
On December 22, W15, a 100% scquisition of two adjoining ETC 5 in Tewnsville, Quesnsland, Australin for a total of $24.3 million {AU $23.6 million ) in cash. The total gross leassble aren of the two adjoining properties, the Cannon Park City Centre and the

Cannon Park Discount Centre, is 133,000 square feet. The Cannon Park City Centre ia anchoced by a Reading Cinema, which is operated by Reading International ‘s 75% owned subsidiary . Australia Country Cinemas, in which we have a 75% iterest, and has three mini
smajoc tenants and ten specialty Funily oriented restournnt tenants. The Cannon Park Discount Cenre is snchored by Kingpin Bowling snd supporied by four other retailees, The propentics ar located spproximately 6 miles from downtown Tewnaville, the second largest ity in
Quecnsland, Australis. This scquisition is consistent with our business plan 1o own, where practical, ihe laod underying our enfertaimment assts.

“The acquired assets consist primarily of the land and buildings, which i spproximataly 98% leased to existing tenants. Tenancies range from having % mocths to § years |eft to ru on their leases,
0
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fisble assets acquired and lisbilities xssumed based on our preliminary estimates of their fair values on the scquisition date. The Company is in the process of finlizing its allocation and this may result in potential adjustments
within the |-year measurement period from sequisition date |, These Fair value catimates of the bind and building sssets sequired have been allocated to the acquired tangible asscts, We did not identify any intangible asscts oc liabilitics {abeve anl below -market leases) al the
date of scquisition. There was no goodwill recorded as the purchase price did not excezd the Fair value cstimates of the net acquired assets. Our preliminary  parchase price allocation is as follows:

(Dollas i thousands) US Dallars AU dollars
Froperty & Equipmens:

The revene s camings from this scquisition, sinee ihe scquistion dute as included in the consolidated statement of operations for the yeur ended December 31, 2013, were not significant. Bssed on the available infocmation provided to s wnd afler exhmssting significant
cfforts to satisfy the pro-forma diselosue requircments assuming the business acquisition happened at the beginning of the year, the Company concluded it to be impracticable to determing and discloss the full-year pro forma combinzd revenus and samings for 2015 and
20014

2014 Transactions

Brirwend, Australia

On May 12, 2014, we entered into o contmet 1o sell our undeveloped 50.6 acre pareel in Burwood, Victoris, Awstralia, to s affiliste of Awstralnd Holings Limited (now known a5 Frausers Propesty Awstralia) foc a purchase price of $47 . § millics { AUSES.0 million).

We rceeived §5.9 million { AUSE.S million} on May 23, 2014, The remaining purchase price of $42. 6 million { AUSSE.S million} is duc on December 31, 2017, The agreement provides for mmndatory pre-payiments in the cveot that any of the land s sold by the buyer, sy
such prepayment being in an amount cqual to the greater of (a) 90% of the net sales price or (b) the balance of the purchase price multiplicd by a fraction the mimerator of which is the squars footage of property being sol by the buyer and the denominator of which ds the
original square foctage of the propenty being sold ta the buyer, The sgreement docs not provide for the payment of interest on the balce owed,

Our book value in the property is $38.0 million { AUS52.1 million) and while the transaction was treated as 3 current sale for tax purposes in 2014, it does not qualify as 2 sale under US GAAP until the receipt of the payment of the balance of the purchase price due on
December 31, 2017 (or cardicr depending upon whether any pre bligation is triggered), The assct is clagsificd as loog-term land held for sale on the consolidated balance sheats s of December 31, 2015 and 2014,

20013 Transactions
Plane Cinema

On December 31, 2013, we scttled o mnagement fec claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas cinemm that we had managed since 2003 for o cash receipt of §1.9 million. Az part of the scitlement, we soquired thu entity, and through the purcimsc of thag entity
acquired the undertying cinema's lease and the associsted personal property, equipment, and teade fixtures, Becausz the fair vahie of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted in a lease liability of $320,000 and the acquired net assets, inchuding cash received in
conneetion with the settlement, were valued at §1.7 million, we reeorded 2 net gain on scquisition and settlement o 1.4 million.

Moanee Ponds, Australia

on Apeil 16, 2015, In accordance with the requirements under US GAAP,

On October 15, 2013, we entered info a definitive purchase and sak sgrecment to scll this property for a sales price of $17.5 million {AUS 23.0 milli bl in fisll losing of the
we recogized a gain of $8.0 million (AUS 10.3 million) in the second quarter of 2015 pon the receipt of sale procesds on Apeil 16, 2015,
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NOTE 5 - Praperty and Equipment

Operating Properiy, Net

Property associated wilh our operating sctivitics i summanized as follows:

(Dalbars in thousands) December 31, 2015 Drecember 31, 2014

‘Kand B
Buikding and anprovements 126,622 120,912
' 6, S AGRIE
112423 107,256

Operating propeny, net

Depreciation expense for operating propery wis $12.6 million, $14.4 millic, and $14.0 million for 2013, 2014, and 2013, respectively,
Invesamens and Develspment Property

and propenty is ized as follows:

(Dolkars i thousands) : December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
R = i — SRRRERE -

Constction-in-progress
devshopsoces Hy

NOTE 6 - Invesiments in and Advanees to Unes

idated Joint Ventures and Entities

L i and advances i  joint ventures and entitics arc scounted for under the equity method of accounting, except For Rialto Distribution as described below. The table below izcs our i n i d joint ventures and entitics,

(Dolkars @ thousands)

December 31, 2014

We revorded our shars of equity camings from our investments in upconsolidated joint venhares and entitics as follows:

(Dolisrs i thousands) 2015 2014 2013
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Rialto Distribution
Due 1o significant loases in yeurs past, we d incd that the goodwill ibution's i i the il distrib impaired, As a result of thesc losses, as of January 1, 2010, we treat cur interest &3 a cout method fntercst in an
unconsolidated joit venture, and record income based on the distributions we recsive. We have also fully provided for any losses that may reault fhcin thi bk wuarantcs that bas been given (o Rialto D isributicn,

Rialto Cinemas
We own an undivided 50.0% interest in the asscts and Inabilities of the Rialto Entertainment joint venturs that owns and operates 2 movic theaters, with |3 wreens in New Zealand.

Mt Gravatt
We own an undivided 23.3% imerest in Mi, Gravat, an wsincorporated joint venturs that owns and operes & sixtesn -screea multiplex cinema in Australia.

Malnlani Investmenis, Limited
On June 26, 2006, we scquired for § 1.8 millioa, an 18.4 % interest in o peivale real estate company. On July 2, 2009, Magoon Acquisition and Development, LLC {"Magoon LLC™) and we entered into a settlement agreement ithe “Settlement Terma™) with respect to a

Fawaasit againet certain officers s divectors of Makabani fnvestments, Eimited {“MIL”), Under the Setlement Terme, Magocoa LLC and we ceczived § 2.5 million in cash, 2 § 6.8 million thres -year .25 % secwred promissocy note issued by The Makibuni Groug (“TMG"}, and
aten -year “tail interest” in MIL and TMG in cxchangs for the transfer of all ownership inferests in MIL and TMG held by both Magoon, LLC and RDland for the rekase of all claims against the defendant in this matter. A gain on the trnsfer of our awncrship interest in
MIL of § 268,00 was recognized during 2009 as 2 result of this transaction. The tail interest allows us to porticipate in certain distributions made or reecived by MIL, TMG, and in certain cases, the sharcholders of TMG. The tail interest, however, continucs cnly for a period

of ten years and we cannot assure that we will receive any distributions from this tail interest. Duning 2013, we received § 191,000 in interest on the promissory note, and, on June 14, 2011, we received § 6.8 million of principal and interest owed on this note. We belicve that
isgation to collest sueh amounts. Any futher colleetions will be recognized when reecived |

finstlser smouets nre ewed under the note and we have begy
NOTE 7 - Goodwill and Intangible Assels

The table below summarizes goodwill by business segment:

(Dxkers in thousands)
Balance ot Janaary 12004
Foreipn cursency tmnslaion ad just

Forerpn curnency translaon adjustroent
Batanee af Dicember 112015

The Comprsny is required to test goodwill ad other intengible assets for impairment oo an aemial basis and, if current events or circumatances require, on an interim basis. Totest the impainment of goodwill, the Company compares the Fair vakie of sach reporting unit to its
earying amount, including the goodwill. to determing if thers is potzntial goodwill impainnent. A reporting unit is generally ons level below the operating segment. The most recent annual sssessment occurred in the fourth quarter of 2015, The assessment sults indicated
that there is o imguirment to our goodwill as of December 31, 2015,

“The tablea below amumarize intangible asscts other than goodwill:

December 31, 2005

Other Intangible Assets

Trade Name

46 (24,854
= = S
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December 31, 2004

Oiher Intangibl

We amartize our beneficial leases over the kease period, the longes of which is approximately 24 years; our trade name using an accelerated amontization method over its estimated useful life of 45 years: and our option fes and other intangible asssts over 10 years. For the
vears ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, cur amorization expense was $1.7 million, $2.0 million, and $2.2 million, respectively, As of December 31, 2015, the estimmted amortization expense in the five suceeeding years and thereafter is as follows:

(Dollars @ thousands)

Estimated Fainee Amortizatio ]Z:Enne

NOTE 8 - Prepaid and Other Assels

Prepaid and other assets are summarized as follows:

(Dollar in thoussnds) December 31, 2015 TDiecember 31, 2014

™
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NOTE 9 - Incame Taves

Income befors incoms tax expens includss the following:

Income before | expense, net of g Interests 3 27716 s 5916 3 351

Significant components of the provision foc income taxes are as follows:

[Dollars in thowsands) 2015 2014 2013
Chrron Hicomt (35 Spease

Drferred income txes reflect the “iemporary differsness” between the financial statement camying amounis of asscis and liabilitics for fimancial reporiing puposcs snd the amounts used for income tax purposss, adjustsd by the relsvant tax mis. The compoenents of ihe
deferred tax assets and labilities are as follows:

(Tollars in thousanda) — Decomber 31, 2005 ) Deceniber 31, 2014
Datrred:

et operatin loss cary- forwards

kr

JA2969



We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such it ider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax lisbilities, projected future
taxable income, tax planning strategies mnd recent fnmcial performance. US GAAP presumes that o vohsition allowance is required when there is substantial negative evidence about the realization of deferred (i assets, such ns p pattern of comprebensive losses in recent
vears, coupled with fiscts that suggest such losses may continug, Beomse sch negative evidenes is available  for our Puerie Rico . New Zealand and US sisis operitions a5 of December 31, 2015, we recorded a vahsation allowancs of § 11 . 5 million.

As of December 31, 2015, we had the fol lowing carry- forwands:

nin LS. aliemative

«  appeoximately $ 1.1 mil i (X credit carry-forwards with no expirstion date -
+  opproximaotely $ 17, 5 million in available New Zealand loss cury-forwands with no expiration date;
»  appeoximately 345 millioo in New York loss carryfocwards expinng in 2034; and,
+  approximately $40 million in New Yok city loss carryforwards expiring in 2034,
We disposed of our Puerto Rico operations during 25 and plan no Ruther investment i Puesto Rica for the fumre, We have i y § 14 . | million in Puerto Rico 1083 carry-forwards expiring o later than 2018, No material future 1ax benefis from

Puerto Rico loss carry-Forvards can be recognized by the Comgpany unless it re-enters the Puerto Rico market for which the Company has no curvent plans.
We expest no other substantinl limitations on the future we of U8, or foreign loss corry-forwards except as described above,

“The provision For income taxes |3 different Fom amounts computed by applying US. siatutory mites 10 consolidated losses befoce taxes, The significant reason For these differences is as follows:

“The undistribated esmings of the Company’s i o tobe i 0 provision for US. federnl and stite income mxanemmgn mlhhuldlug taxes has been provided on such undi enmings. Dk
of the potentinl amount of unrecognized defered US, income tax lability nnd foreign withbolding tmees is not p-ﬂ:ucnl-\le because of the complexities wated with a b bt

As part of current tases payable, we have acerued $2.5 million in connection with federnl and sate liabilitics ansing from the * Tax AuditLitigation ~ mutter which has now been setiled (sce Note 12 - Commritments and Contingencies ).

“The following table i3 & summany of the activity related 1o unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penaltics, (oo the years coded December 31, 2015, 2014, aod 2013,

(Dolbars in thousands)

i s o,
Gross inceeases — prior period Lax provisions 6679

recopnized 1ax benefits — sross ending balince . 3 |J,ua; 3 3,760 3 2,160

We reeord interest and penalties related to income tax matters @ part of income (% expense.

%
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